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Honorable Frank Keating Honorable Susan Savage
Governor of Oklahoma Mayor of Tulsa
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73105 Tulsa, Oklahoma 74119

Honorable Larry Adair Members of the City Council
Speaker of the House of Representatives City of Tulsa
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73105 Tulsa, Oklahoma 74119

Honorable Stratton Taylor
President Pro Tempore of the Senate
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73105

Dear Sir or Madam:

Pursuant to House Joint Resolution 1035 (1997), asamended, | have the honor to transmitherewiththe
Final Report of Findingsand Recommendationsof the1921 TulsaRaceRiot Commission. Thereportin-
cludes the commission’s findings on each specific item assigned it by statute, and it also explains the
methods and processes that led to those findings. In addition, the commission has exercised the option,
granted it by law, to make recommendations concerning reparations rel ated to the tragedy .

ThisCommissionfully under standsthat itisnei ther judgenor jury. Wehavenobindinglegal authority
to assign culpability, to determine damages, to establish aremedy, or to order either restitution or repara-
tions. However, inour interim report in February, 2000themajor ity of Commissionersdeclared that rep-
arationsto the historic Greenwood community in real and tangible form would be good public policy and
do much to repair the emotional and physical scars of thisterrible incident in our shared past. Welisted
severa recommended courses of action including direct payments to riot survivors and descendants; a
schol ar shipfundavail ableto studentsaf fected by theriot; establish ment of aneconomicdevel opmenten-
terprise zone in the historic Greenwood district; amemorial for theriot victims.

Inthefi nal reportissuedtoday, themajor ity of Commissionerscontinueto sup port these recommenda-
tions. While each Commissioner has their own opinion about the type of reparationsthat they would ad-
vocate, the majority has no question about the appropriateness of reparations. The recommendations are
not intended to be all inclusive, but rather to give policy makers a sense of the Commission’s feelings
about reparations and a starting place for the creation of their own ideas.
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Prologue

By State Representative Don Ross

Personal belongings and household goods had
been removed from many homes and piled in the
streets. On the steps of the few houses that re-
mained sat feeble and gray Negro men and women
and occasionally a small child. The look in their
eyes was one of dejection and supplication.
Judging from their attitude, it was not of material
consequence to them whether they lived or died.
Harmless themselves, they apparently could not
conceive the brutality and fiendishness of men who
would deliberately set fire to the homes of their
friends and neighbors and just as deliberately
shoot them down in their tracks.

Tulsa Daily World, June 2, 1921

A mob destroyed 35-square-blocks of the
African American Community during the eve-
ning of May 31, through the afternoon of June
1, 1921. It was a tragic, infamous moment in
Oklahoma and the nation’ s history. The worse
civil disturbance since the Civil War. In the af-
termath of the death and destruction the people
of our state suffered from a fatigue of faith —
some still search for a statue of limitation on
morality, attempting to forget the longevity of
theresidue of injusticethat at best canleavelit-
tle room for the healing of the heart. Perhaps
this report, and subsequent humanitarian re-
covery events by the governments and the
good peo pleof thestatewill ex tract usfromthe
guilt and confirm the commandment of a good
and just God — leaving the deadly deeds of
1921 buried in the call for redemption, histori-
cal correctness, and repair. Then we can
proudly sing together:

“We know we belong to this land.

“And the land we belong to is grand,

and when we say, ay yippy Vi ki yea,

“We're only saying, you're doing fine
Oklahoma.”

“Oklahoma, you're O-K-L-A-H-O-M-A,
Oklahoma OK.”

Hopefully with this report, the feeling of the
state will be quickened, the conscience of the
brutal city will be ignited, the hypocrisy of the
nation will be exposed, and the crimes against
God and man denounced. Oklahoma can set
such an example. It was Abolitionist Frederick
Douglass who reminded a callous nation that
“[A] government that can giveliberty initsCon
stitution ought to have the power to protect lib-
erty, and impose civilized behavior in its
administration.”

Tulsa’s Race Relations Are Ceremonial

In the 80 years hence, survivor, descendants,
and a bereaved community seeks that adminis-
tration in some action akin to justice. Tulsa's
race relations are more ceremonial — likentoa
bad marriage, with spouses living in the same
guarters but housed in different rooms, each es-
caping one another by perpetuating a separate-
ness of silence. The French political historian
Alexisd Tocqueville noted, “ Once the majority
has irrevocably decided a question, it isno lon-
ger discussed. Thisis because the mgjority isa
power that doesnot respondwell tocriti cism.”

| first learn about the riot when | was about 15
from Booker T. Washington High School
teacher and riot survivor W.D. Williams. In his
slow, laboring voice Mr. W.D. ashewas fondly
known, said on the evening of May 31, 1921,
his school graduation, and prom were canceled.
Dick Rowland, who had dropped out of high
school afew years before to become rich in the
lucrative trade of shining shoes, wasin jail, ac-
cused of raping awhite woman Sarah Page, “on
a public elevator in broad daylight.” After
Rowland was arrested, angry white vigilantes
gathered at the courthouse intent on lynching
the shine boy. Armed blacksintegrated the mob
to protect him. There was a scuffle between a
black and a white man, a shot rang out. The
crowd scattered. It wasabout 10:00 am. A race
riot had broken out. He said blacks defended



their community for awhile, “but then the air-
planes came dropping bombs.” All of the black
community was burned to the ground and 300
peopledied.”

More annoyed than bored, | leaped from my
chair and spoke: “Greenwood was never
burned. Ain’t no 300 people dead. We're too
old for fairy tales.” Calling ateacher aliar was
acapital offenseMr. W.D. snorted with atwist
that framed hisface with anger. Heignored my
obstinacy and returned to his hyperbole. He
finished his tale and dismissed the class. The
next day he asked me to remain after class, and
passed over a photo album with picture and
post cards of Mount Zion Baptist Church on
fire, the Dreamland Theater in shambles,
whites with guns standing over dead bodies,
blacks being marched to concentration camps
with white mobs jeering, trucks loaded with
caskets, and a yellowing newspaper article ac-
countingblock af ter block of destruction—"30,
75 even 300 dead.” Everything was just as he
had described it. | was to learn later that
Rowland was assigned a lawyer who was a
prominent member of the Ku Klux Klan.
“What you think, fat mouth?” Mr. W.D. asked
his astonished student.

After having talked to more than 300 riot
survivors over the years, | have pondered that
guestion for 45 years. The report raises the
same guestion Mr. W.D. asked me. | now ask
the Oklahoma Legislature, the City and
County of Tulsa: “What do you think?’” To un-
derstand the full context of Mr. W.D.’s ques-
tion is a travelogue of African American
history, Oklahoma blacks in particular. It in-
cludes, The Seven Year War and the birth of
the nation, the infamous Trail of Tears, the
Civil War, the alotment of Indian Territory,
statehood, segregation, black towns, and the
African American on Greenwood Avenue.
Each was a preponderance of the fuel that ig-
nited the 1921 race war in Tulsa.

A bit of American history with an
African-American perspective
During the Seven Year War, Indiansin the
Ohio Valley sided with the French against
Great Britain in a losing effort. Canada and
other territories were ceded to the British.

Treaties were sign with the tribes protecting
thelir right to hold their lands. The treaties were
ignore by the colonia governors. The colonies
also soon discovered that rum and slaves were
profitable commodities. One of the most enter-
prising— if unsavory — trading practicesof the
time was the so-called “triangular trade.” Mer-
chants and shippers would purchase slaves off
the coast of Africafor New England rum, then
sell the slaves in the West Indies where they
would buy molasses to bring home for sale to
thelocal rum producers. In debt after the French
and Indian War, England began to tax the colo-
niesto pay for occupation. The measure was re-
sisted, and the colonies began to prepare its
Declaration of Independence. In an early draft,
Thomas Jefferson wrote:

He (King George) has waged cruel war against
human nature itself, violating its most sacred rights
of life and liberty in the persons of a distant people
who never offended him, captivating and carrying
them into slavery in another hemisphere, or to incur
miserable death in their transportation thither. This
piratical war fare, the op pro brium of INFIDEL pow-
ers, is the warfare of the CHRISTIAN king of Great
Britain. Determined to keep open a market where
MEN should be bought and sold, he has prostituted
his negative for suppressing every legislative at-
tempt to prohibit or to restrain this execrable com-
merce. And that this assemblage of horrors might
want no fact of distinguished die, he is now exciting
those very people to rise in arms among us, and to
pur chase that lib erty of which he has de prived them,
by murdering the people on whom he also obtruded
them: thus paying off former crimes committed
against the LIBERTIES of one people, with crimes
which he urges them to commit against the LIVES of
another.

[This version was removed from the Declaration of Independ
ence after protest from southern colonies, and planted the seed
of the Civil War to come.]

The Revolutionary War was fought and a
constitution was presented and approved by the
colonies. It would sanction slavery and human
bondage as the law of the land. Broken treaties
and genocide slowly moved Indians for the
Ohio Valley, while other treaties settled them in
the rich farm lands of the south. The southern
tribes held slaves, but also offered the runaway



sanctuary, in some case tribal membership and
rights. During the administration of Andrew
Jackson, a direct assault on Indian lands was
launched. Phony treaties corrupts chiefs and
intra-tribal rivalry would lead to warring fac-
tions, assassinations and divide the tribal lead-
ers, instigating their removal from their
southern homelands. This odyssey, during the
1830s and before, the lives of blacks and Na-
tive Americans would be linked on the infa-
mous, cruel “Trail of Tears.” Onlong marches
under extreme du ressand hard ship, thetrail led
to present-day Oklahoma, Kansas and Ne-
braska. Indian Territory would be split by the
creation of the Kansas and Nebraskaterritories
and after the Civil War abolished in 1907 with
the entrance of Oklahomaas a state. Pressed by
rival chiefs many of the tribes officially sided
with the Confederacy. Afterward, many for-
mer black slaves, Freemen, were registered as
members of the tribes and offered sections of
the Indian land allotments. After the govern-
ment opened Oklahoma for settlement more
blacks came seeking freedom from southern
oppression and for new opportunities in the
Promised Land. Of the more than 50 all black
towns, more than 20 were located in the new
state, the more prosperous were Boley and
Langston.

Oklahoma history re-recorded

Attorney B.C. Franklin, one of the genuine
heroes in the aftermath of the race war heeded
the call to settle into Indian Territory. He was
the father of historian Dr. John Hope Franklin,
who served as consultant scholars for this re-
port and an earlier inspiration in my inquiry of
the riot. In his memoirs attorney Franklin
wrote of two men, whom he called “very rich
Negroes’ and the “greatest leaders” — O.W.
Gurley and J.B. Stradford. In 1908, Gurley,
constructed the first building, arooming house
and later the home of Vernon A.M.E. Church,
on amuddy trail that would become the Black
Wall Street of America. According to B.C.
Franklin, Gurley bought 30 or 40 acres, plotted
them and had them sold to “Negroesonly.” At-
torney Franklin's account of the settlement of
Greenwood, shattered earlier notions of blacks
being forced in a section of town. It now ap-

pears the division was self-imposed. “In the
end,” Attorney Franklin wrote, “Tulsa became
one of the most sharply segregated cities in the
country.” One of the possible errors| findinthe
report isthat Gurley lost $65,000 in theriot. In-
deed, heislisted in City Commission reports of
having lost $157,783. Today his fortune would
be worth more than $1 million.

J.B. Stradford, would later join Gurley on
Greenwood, and build the finest hotel in the
city, valued at $75,000. Before statehood, the
territory had been seen by blacks as not only the
Promised Land more notably asthe nation’ sfirst
al-black state, E.P. McCabe was the leading advo-
cate of all-black towns and had migrated from Kan-
sas and founded Langston, Oklahoma. A former
Kansas auditor active in Republican politics,
McCabe had also become the assistant auditor of
Oklahoma. He would lead a crusade to press Presi-
dent Benjamin Harri sonintobringing “IndianTer ri-
tory” intotheunionasan all-black state. Against that
back drop, Gur ley viewed hisacresasanat ural ur ban
evolution from the rura trend of organizing black
towns. White Demo cratsprepared for the State Cont
stitutional Convention by using the black statehood
issues and racist attacks against their Republican
“Nigger loving opponents.” Both Democrats and
Republicans would disenfranchise blacks during the
balloting for control of the convention. The Demo-
crats won and sometimes with the Ku Klux Klan as
alliesmaintains political control of the state into the
millennium. After statehood the first bill passed by
the Oklahoma L egislature was the infamous ‘ Senate
Bill One' that tightly segregated the state.

Stradford, and his friend A.J. Smitherman, pub-
lisher of the Tulsa Star newspaper, were brave tena-
cious advocates on behalf of their race. After
Stradford was acquitted for violating Oklahoma Jim
Crow laws, in 1912, the hotel owner filed alawsuit
in the State SupremeCourtsuingtheMidlandVal ley
Railroad for false imprisonment. In a narrowly in-
terpreted decision the court opined the unconstitu-
tionality of the Jim Crow law did not affect the right
of the conductor to rely upon it. Similarly, the court
rested upon acasefiled by E.P. McCabe challenging
Oklahoma’ s segregation dismissing the McCabe ar-
gument as irrelevant to the case. Four years later
Stradford petitioned the Tulsa City Commission
against its segregationist ordinance that “such alaw
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isto cast a stigma upon the colored race in the eyes
of theworld; and to sap the spirit of hopefor justice
beforethelaw from theraceitself.” The Tulsa City
Ordinance would remain on the books until the
civil rights movement of the 1960s. From his
unpublished memoirs, Stradford was accused
asbeing aninstigator of theriot, but contended
he was not present. He said initially the sheriff
contacted him and other black leadersfor their
assistance in protecting Rowland. However,
when they arrived the sheriff said he could
handle it and would call them when needed.
Thus, the men left. The courthouse mob grew
and there was no call to them for assistance.
Armed and filled with moonshine, the men re-
turned to the courthouse. According to
Stradford a white man attempted in take agun
from one of the blacks “our boys shot into the
crowd and anumber were killed and wounded.
Under the threat of lynching, Stradford es-
caped to Independence, Kansas and from there
to Chicago, where his descendants reside to
thisday.

A.J. Smitherman wrote passionately about
the rights of blacks from the daily newspaper
columns. In 1917, the brave and fearless pub-
lisher traveled to Dewey, Oklahoma in the
middle of a race riot where a white mob had
pulled the accused from the jail, lynched him,
and burned the homes and businesses in the
black section. Hisinvesti gationledtothear rest
of 36 white men including the mayor. In 1918,
he stood with black farmers and local law offi-
cersin Bristow averting alynching of aninno-
cent black man accused of raping a white
woman. Smitherman was involved in similar
incidents in Beggs, Okmulgee, Haskell, and
Muskogee, Oklahoma. He and Stradford were
among the leading black citizens arrested for
causing theriot. Both fled. Smitherman diedin
Buffalo, New York after publishing newspa-
pers there and in Springfield, Massachusetts.
His descendants now live in Florida and North
Carolina. From my view there were black and
whites that stood gallantly in face of a hostile
community. Among those were Judge L. J.
Martinwhocalledfor reparationsand set out to
raise $500,000 from the city’s wealthy €lite,
only to be ousted by the mayor from the city’s
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welfare committee; Cyrus Avery, treasurer of
the relief committee who raised funds to house
and feed the black refugees, Maurice Willow,
the Red Cross director whose work saved many
lives and through his effort food, shelter, medi-
cal and hospital care was provided; Franklin,
Stradford, Gurley, and Smitherman, aforemen-
tioned in his report.

From my Memories of early oral histories of
blue suits and Klan sheets

“| teach U.S. History and those decisions that
brought us to the riot,” Seymour Williams my
high school history professor said to me 45
years ago. He and W.D. Williams (no relations)
for many years tutored me on their experience
and prodded others of their generation to tell me
the story. “Theriot isn’'t known much by young
teachers. Many were born after the riot and it
was banned by book publishers,asmuchasU.S.
history about blacksand slavery. | could teach a
course on just what has been | eft out of history.”
Why the silence in our community? The old
man then introduced this student to his assess-
ment. “Blacks|ost everything. They were afraid
it could happen again and there was no way to
tell the story. The two Negro newspapers were
bombed. With the unkept promises, they were
too busy just trying to make it.” He added,
There were a lot of big shot rednecks at that
courthouse who ran the city and still do. Sinclair
Oil Company owned one of the airplanes used to
drop fire bombs on peopleand buildings.” Polite
white peoplewant to excuse what happen as be-
ing caused by trouble-making blacks and white
trash ruffians. “Nope,” he said, noting that
blacks did not like to talk about the riot. “The
killerswere still runninglooseandthey’ rewear-
ing blue suits as well as Klan sheets.” During
that time, whites seeking opportunity could not
circulate among the rich and powerful without
Klan credentials. “Hell, Robert Hudson, the
law yer assigned to Rowland wasachar ter mem-
ber of the Klan. In the aftermath of the riot,
where could Negroes find justice?” He further
noted, “Lot of people were killed. Many, many
Negroes.” | only vividly remember the stories
of Professor and Mr. W.D. The other 300 or
more voices have blended in to one essay. Still |
hold all their collective anger, fear, and hope.



Reparation?

Reparations: It happened. There was mur-
der, false imprisonment, forced labor, a
cover-up, and local precedence for restitution.
While the official damage was estimated at
$1.5 million, the black community filed more
than $4 million in claims. All were denied.
However, the city commission did approved
two claims exceeding $5,000 “for guns and
ammunition taken during the racial distur-
bance of June 1.” In his memoirs Stradford re-
called the guards acted like wild men. “The
militia had been ordered to take charge, but in-
stead they joined the rioter.” His view is sup-
ported by action of the governor in a concerted
effort torid the National Guard of the Ku Klux
Klan in 1922. The preponderance of the infor-
mation demands what was promised. Whether
it was Ku Klux Klan instigated, land specula-
tor’'s conspiracy, inspired by yellow journal-
ism, or random acts, it happened. Justice

demandsaclosureasit did with JapaneseAmer-
icans and Holocaust victims of Germany. Itisa
moral obligation. Tulsawas likely the first city
in the to be bombed from the air. There was a
precedent of pay mentsto at |east twowhitesvic
tims of theriot. Theissue today iswhat govern-
ment entity should provide financial repair to
the survivors and the condemned community
that suffered under vigilante violence? The Re-
port tells the story, let justice point the finger
and begin the reconciliation!

And Finally

Vigilantes under deputized and under the
color of law, destroyed the Black Wall Street of
America. Some known victims were in un-
marked graves in a city owned cemetery and
otherswere hauled off to unknown placesin full
view of the National Guard. The mob torched
the soul of the city, an evil from which neither
whites nor blacks have fully recovered.

viii



(Courtesy McFarlin Library, University of Tulsa).
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Final Report of the Oklahoma Commission to Study
The Tulsa Race Riot of 1921

Compiled by Danney Goble

The 1921 Tulsa Race Riot Commission origi-
nated in 1997 with House Joint Resolution No.
1035. The act twice since has been amended, first
in 1998, and again two years later. The final re-
writing passed each legislative chamber in
March and became law with Governor Frank
Keating' s signature on April 6, 2000.

In that form, the State of Oklahoma ex-
tended the commission’ sauthor ity beyondthat
originaly scheduled, to February 28, 2001.
The statute also charged the commission to
produce, on that date, “afinal report of itsfind-
ings and recommendations’” and to submit that
report “inwriting to the Governor, the Speaker
of the House of Representatives, the President
Pro Tempore of the Senate, and the Mayor and
each member of the City Council of the City of
Tulsa, Oklahoma.”

Thisisthat report. It accounts for and com-
pletes the work of the 1921 Tulsa Race Riot
Commission.

A series of papers accompanies the report.
Some are written by scholars of national Stature,
others by experts of internationa acclaim. Each
addresses at length and in depth issues of ex-
pressed legidative interest and matters of enor-
mous public consequence. As a group, they
compriseauniquely specia and auniquely signif-
icant contribution that must be attached to thisre-
port and must be studied carefully along with it.

Nonetheless, the supporting documents are
not the report, itself. The scholars essays have
thelr purposes; this commission’ sreport has an-
other. Its purposeis contained in the statutes that
first createdthiscommission, that | ater ex tended
itslife, and that each time gave it the same set of
mandates. That iswhy this report isan account-
ing, presented officially and offered publicly, of
how Oklahoma's 1921 Tulsa Race Riot Com-
mission has conducted its business and ad-
dressed its statutory obligations.

Its duties were many, and each presented im-
posing challenges. Not least was the challenge



of preparing this report. Lawmakers scheduled
its deadline and defined its purpose, and this
report meets their requirements. At the same
time, four years of intense study and personal
sacrifice surely entitlecommissionmembersto
add their own expectations. Completely rea-
sonable and entirely appropriate, their desires
deserve aplacein their report aswell.
Together, then, both the law’ s requirements
and the commissioners' resolves guide thisre-
port. Designed to be both concise and com-
plete, this is the report that law requires the
1921 Tulsa Race Riot Commission to submit
to those who represent the people. Designed to
be both compelling and convincing, thisalsois
the report that the 1921 Tulsa Race Riot Com-
mission choosesto of fer the peo plewhom both
lawmakers and the commissioners serve.

L 4 * *

The Commission shall consist of eleven
(11) members. ...

The legislative formula for commission
membership assured it appropriate if unusua
composition. As an official state inquiry, the
state’ sinterest was represented through the ex-
ecutive, legislative, and administrative
branches. The governor was to appoint six
members, three from names submitted by the
Speaker of the House, three from nominees
provided by the Senate Presi dentProTempore.
Two state officials — the directors of the
Oklahoma Human Rights Commission
(OHRC) and of the Oklahoma Historical Soci-
ety (OHS) — also were to serve as ex officio
members, either personally or through their
designees.

Reflecting Tulsa sobviousinterest, the res-
olution directed the city’s mayor to select the
commission’s final three members. Similar to
the gubernatorial appointments, they were to
come from names proposed by Tulsa's City
Commission. One of the mayor’s appointees
had to be “a survivor of the 1921 Tulsa Race
Riot incident”; two had to be current residents
of the historic Greenwoodcommunity, thearea
once devastated by the “incident.”

The commission began with two ex officio
members and ended with two others. After
Gracie Monson resigned in March 2000, Ken-

neth Kendricksreplaced her as OHRC' sinterim
director and its representative to the commis-
sion. Blake Wade directed the historical society
until Dr. Bob Blackburn succeeded himin 1999.
Blackburn had been Wade's designated repre-
sentative to the commission anyway. In fact, the
commission had made him its chairman, aposi-
tion he would hold until June 2000.

Governor Frank Keating's six appointeesin-
cluded two legidators, each from a different
chamber, each from an opposite party, each a
former history teacher. Democrat Abe
Deutschendorf’ spartici pationinthedebateover
the original house resolution echoed his linger-
ing interest in history and foretold his future de-
votion to this inquiry. As a history teacher,
Robert Milacek hadincluded Tulsa sraceriotin
his classes. Little did he know that he, himself,
would contribute to that history as a Republican
legislator, but he has.

Governor Keating turned to metropolitan
Tulsa for two appointees. T. D. “Pete”
Churchwell’s father serviced African-American
businesses in the Greenwood district, and
Churchwell hasmaintained con cernfor that com-
munity and with the 1921 riot that nearly de-
stroyed it. He was Blackburn’s replacement as
chairman during the commission’s closing
months. Although born in Oklahoma City, Jm
Lloyd and his family moved to Turley (the com-
munity just north of Greenwood) when he was
three. Raised in Tulsa, he graduated from Nathan
Hae and the University of Tulsa's College of
Law. He now practices law in Sand Springs and
livesin Tulsa

The governor’s other appointees entered the
inquiry lesswith geographical than with profes-
sional connectionsto Tulsaand its history. Cur-
rie Ballard lives in Coyle and serves
neighboring Langston University as histo-
rian-in-residence. Holding a graduate degree in
history, Jmmie White teaches it and heads the
social science division for Connors State Col -
lege.

Tulsa Mayor Susan Savage appointed the
commission’ sfi na threemembers. If only fivein
1921, Joe Burns met the law’ s requirement that
one mayoral appointee be asurvivor of the 1921
“incident.” He brought the commission not faint



childhood memories but seasoned wisdom
rooted in eight decadesof lifein the Green wood
community and with Greenwood’ s people.

Astheresolution specified, Mayor Savage's
other two appointees live in contemporary
Greenwood, but neither took a direct route to
get there. Eddie Faye Gates's path began in
Preston, Oklahoma, passedthrough Al abama’' s
Tuskegee Institute, and crisscrossed two conti-
nents before it reached Tulsa in 1968. She
spent the next twenty-four years teaching its
youngsters and has devoted years since re-
searching and writing her own memoirs and
her community’s history. Vivian
Clark-Adams's route took nearly as many
twists and turns, passing through one military
base after another until her father retired and
thefamily cameto Oklahomain 1961. Trained
at the University of Tulsa, Dr. Vivian
Clark-Adams serves Tulsa Community Col-
lege as chair of the liberal arts division for its
southeast campus.

In the November 1997, organizing meeting,
commissioners voted to hire clerical assistants
and expert consultants through the OHS. (The
legislature had added $50,000 to the agency’s
base appropriations for just such purposes.)
They then scheduled their second meeting for
December 5 to accommodate the most appro-
priate and most eminent of all possible authori-
ties.

John Hope Frank linisthe son of Greenwood
attorney B. C. Franklin, a graduate of Tulsa's
Booker T. Washington High School (Fisk and
Harvard, too), and James B. Duke Professor of
History Emeritus at Duke University. Recipi-
ent of scores of academic and literary awards,
not to mention more than a hundred honorary
doctorates, Franklin came back for another
honor. He received the Peggy V. Helmerich
Distinguished Author Award on December 4
and stayed to meet and help the commission on
the fifth.

Commissioners were delighted to learn that
Franklin was anxious to serve, even if he con-
fessed the contributions limited by age (he was
eighty-two at the time) and other obligations.
They enthusiastically made John Hope Frank-
lintheir first consultant, and they instantly took

hisadvicefor another. Dr. Scott Ellsworth, ana
tive Tulsan now living in Oregon, was a Duke
graduate who aready had written a highly re-
garded study of the riot. Ellsworth became the
second consultant chosen; he thereafter
emerged first in importance.

Asitswork grew steadily more exacting and
steadily more specialized, the commission
turned to more experts. Legal scholars,
archeologists, anthropologists, forensic special-
ists, geophysicists — all of these and more
blessed this commission with technical exper-
tise impossible to match and unimaginable oth-
erwise. As a research group, they brought a
breadth of vision and a depth of training that
made Oklahoma’ s commission amodel of state
inquiry.

Ten consultantseventually provided them ex-
pert advice, but the commissioners always ex-
pected to depend mostly on their own resources,
maybe with just a little help from just a few of
their friends. Interested OHS employees were a
likely source. Sure enough, a half-dozen or so
pitched in to search the agency’ s library and ar-
chivesfor riot-related materials.

That was help appreciated, if not entirely un-
expected. What was surprising — stunning, re-
ally — was something else that happened in
Oklahoma City. As the commission’s work at-
tracted interest and gathered momentum, Bob
Blackburn noticed something odd: an unusual
number of people were volunteering to work at
the historical society. Plain, ordinary citizens,
maybe forty or fifty of them, had asked to help
the commission as unpaid researchers in the
OHS collections.

At about that time, Dick Warner decided that
he had better start making notes on the phone
calls he was fielding for the Tulsa County His-
torical Society. People were calling in, wanting
to contribute to the inquiry, and they just kept
calling. After two months, hislog listed entries
for 148 local calls. Meanwhile, Scott Ellsworth
was back in Oregon, writing down information
vol unteered by someof thethreehundredcall ers
who had reached him by long distance.

Most commission meetings were in Tulsa,
each open to any and al. Oklahoma's Open
Meetings Law required no less, but this com-



mission’ s special nature yielded much more. It
seemed that every time the commissioners met
at least one person (usually several) greeted
themwith at least something (usually alot) that
the commission needed.

Included were records and papers long pre-
sumed lost, if their existence had been known
at all. Some were official documents, pulled
together and packed away years earlier. Un-
covered and examined, they took the commis-
sion back in time, back to the years just before
and just after 1921. Some were musty legal re-
cords saved from the shredders. Briefs filed,
dockets set, law suits decided — each opened
an avenue into another corner of history. Pages
after pageslaid open the city commission’ s de-
liberations and decisions as they affected the
Greenwood area. Overlooked recordsfrom the
National Guard offered overlooked perspec-
tivesand illuminated them with misplaced cor-
respondence, lost after-action reports, obscure
field manuals, and self-typed accounts from
men who were on duty at the riot. Maybe there
wasafamily’ streasuredcol lectionof yel lowed
newspaper clippings, an envelope of faded
photographs; afew carefully folded letters, al
handwritten, each dated 1921.

One meaning of al of thisisobvious, so ob-
vious that this report pauses to affirm it.

Many have questioned why or even if any-
one would be interested now in events that
happened in one city, one time, one day, long
ago. What business did today’ s state lawmak-
ers have in something so old, so local, and so
deservedly forgotten? Surely no one cares, not
anymore.

An answer comes from hundreds and hun-
dreds of voices. They tell us that what hap-
pened in 1921 in Tulsais as alive today as it
was back then. What happened in Tulsa stays
as important and remains as unresolved today
asin 1921. What happened there still exertsits
power over people who never lived in Tulsaat
all.

How else can one explain the thousands of
hours volunteered by hundreds of people, al to
get this story told and get it told right? How
else can one explain the regional, national,
even international attention that has been con-

centrated on a few short hours of a mid-sized
city’ s history?

As the introductory paper by Drs. Franklin
and Ellsworth recounts, the Tulsa disaster went
largely unacknowledged for a half-century or
more. After a while, it was largely forgotten.
Eventually it became largely unknown. So
hushed was mention of the subject that many
pronounced it the final victim of a conspiracy,
thisaconspiracy of silence.

That silence is shattered, utterly and perma-
nently shattered. What ever el sethiscommission
hasachieved or will achieve, it already has made
that possible. Regional, national, and interna-
tional mediamade it certain. The Dallas Morn-
ing News, the Los Angeles Times, the New York
Times, National Public Radio (NPR), every
American broadcast television network, cable
outlets delivering Cinemax and the History
Channel to North America, the British Broad-
casting Corporation — this merely begins the
attention that the media focused upon this com-
mission and its inquiry. Many approached it in
depth (NPR twice has made it the featured daily
broadcast). Most returned to it repeatedly (the
New York Times had carried at least ten articles
as of February 2000). All considered it vital
public information.

Some — including some commission mem-
bers — thought at least some of the coverage
was at least somewhat unbalanced. They may
have had a point, but that is not the point.

Hereis the point: The 1921 Tulsa Race Riot
Commission is pleased to report that this past
tragedy has been extensively aired, that it isnow
remembered, and that it will never again be un-
known.

¢ o o

The Commission shall undertake a study to
[include] the identification of persons. . . .

No one is certain how many participated in
the 1921 riot. No one is certain how many suf-
fered how much for how long. Certainty is re-
served for asingle quantifiable fact. Every year
there remain fewer and fewer who experienced
it personally.

Legidation authorizing this commission di-
rected that it seek and locate those survivors.
Specifically, it wasto identify any per sonableto



“provide adequate proof to the Commission”
that he or she was an “actual resident” of “the
‘Greenwood’ area or community” at the time
of the riot. The commission was also to iden-
tify any person who otherwise “sustained an
identifiableloss. . . resulting fromthe. .. 1921
Tulsa Race Riot.”

Some considered this the commission’s
most difficult assignment, some its most im-
portant duty, some its most compelling pur-
pose. They all were right, and had Eddie Faye
Gates not assumed persona and experienced
responsibility for that mandate, this commis-
sion might have little to report. Because she
did, however, it principally reports what she
and those who worked with her were able to
accomplish in the commission’ s name.

Commissioner Gates's presence gave this
commission a considerable and welcomed
head start. She already had included severa
riot victims among the early pioneers whom
she had interviewedfor They Came Searching:
How Blacks Sought the Promised Land in
Tulsa. The book finished, she had an informal
list of survivors, but the list kept changing.
Death erased one name after another. Others
appeared. Many were of old people who had
left Oklahoma years, even decades, ago; but
she heard about them and patiently tracked
them down. As lawmakers were authorizing
this inquiry, the count stood at thirteen, nine-
teen if al the leads eventually panned out. No
one presumed that even nineteen was close to
final, but no one knew what the accurate total
might be either.

At its very first organizing meeting on No-
vember 14, 1997, this commission established
a “subcommittee on survivors,” headed by
Commissioner Gates and including Commis-
sioner Burns and Dr. Clark-Adams. From that
moment onward, that subcommittee has ag-
gressively and creatively pursued every possi-
bleavenuetoidentifyevery poss blesurvivor.

Letters sent over Dr. Ellsworth’s signature
to Jet and Ebony magazines urged readers to
contact the commission if they knew of any
possibilities. From Gale’s Directory of Publi-
cations, Commissioner Gates targeted the na-
tion’s leading African-American newspapers

(papers like the Chicago Defender and the
Pittsburgh Courier), appealing publicly for sur-
vivorsor to anyone who might know of one. The
commission’s website, created and maintained
by the Oklahoma Historical Society, promi-
nently declared a determination to identify and
register every survivor, everywhere. For affir-
mation, it posted the official forms used as the
subcommittee’ s records, including instructions
for their completion and submission.

An old-fashioned, intensely personal web
turned out to be more productive than the thor-
oughly modern, entirely electronic Internet.
Like historical communities everywhere, mod-
ern Greenwood maintainsarich, if informal, so-
cia network. Sometimes directly, sometimes
distantly, it connects Greenwood’'s people,
sometimes young, sometimesold. Anchoring its
interstices are the community’s longest resi-
dents, its most active citizens, and its most
prominent leaders.

One quality or another would describe some
membersof thiscommission. After all, theseare
the very qualifications that lawmakers required
for their appointments. Others share those same
gualities and a passion for their community’s
history as well. Curtis Lawson, Robert
Littlejohn, Hannibal Johnson, Dr. Charles
Christopher, MableRice, Keith Jemison, Robert
and Blanchie Mayes — all are active in the
North Tulsa Historical Society, all are some of
the community’s most respected citizens, and
all are among this commission’s most valuable
assets.

Theinitial publishednoticeshadearly results.
Slowly they began to compound upon them-
selves. Thefirst storiesin the national and inter-
national media introduced a multiplying factor.
Thereafter, each burst of press attention seemed
to increase what was happening geometrically.
People were contacting commissioners, some
coming forward as survivors, more suggesting
where or how they might befound. Names came
in, first a light sprinkle, next a shower, then a
downpour, finally aflood.

Old city directories, censusreports, and other
records verified some claims, but they could
confirm only so much. After al, these people
had been chil dren, someof theminfants, backin



1921. Af ter eighty years, could any oneremem
ber the kind of details — addresses, telephone
numbers, property descriptions, rental agree-
ments, business locations — someone else
could verify with official documents? Not
likely. In fact, these were exactly the kind of
people most likely to have beenignored or lost
in every public record. Officialy, they might
have never existed.

Except that they did, and one who looked
long enough and hard enough and patiently
enough could confirm it — that is, if one knew
where to look and whom to ask.

That is what happened. Name-by-name,
someone found somebody who actually knew
each person. In fact, that is how many names
surfaced: a credible figure in the community
knew how to find older relatives, former neigh-
bors, or departed friends. Others could be con-
firmed with equal authority. Maybe someone
knew the claimant’s family or knew someone
that did. If a person claimed to be kin to some-
one or offered some small detail, surely some-
one else knew that relative or remembered the
same detail as well. Some of those details
might even be verified through officia docu-
ments.

It wasanecessary processbut slow anddel i-
cate, too. As of June 1998, twenty-nine survi-
vors had been identified, contacted, and
registered. (The number did not include six-
teen identified as descendants of riot victims.)
It took another fourteen months for the total to
reach sixty-one. It would have been higher, ex-
cept that three of the first twenty-nine had died
in those months. This deadline had an ominous
and compelling meaning.

Work immediately shifted through higher
gears. In March 2000, the identification pro-
cess finished for forty-one survivors then liv-
ing in or near Tulsa. Just a few more till
needed to be contacted. The real work remain-
ing, however, involved a remarkable number
of survivors who had turned up outside of
Oklahoma. Following arecent flurry of media
attention, more than sixty out-of-state survi-
vors had been located. They lived everywhere
from California to Florida, one in Paris,
Francel!

All of that work is complete. Asthe commis-
sion submits its report, 118 persons have been
identified, contacted, and registered as living
survivors of the 1921 TulsaRace Riot. (Another
176 per sonsalso havebeenregistered asdescen
dants of riot victims.)

The 1921 Tulsa Race Riot Commission
thereby has discharged the mandate regarding
the identification of persons.

¢
The Commission shall . . . gather information,
identify and interview witnesses . . . , preserve

testimony and records obtained, [and] examine
and copy documents . . . havinghistorical signif-
icance.

Whatever else this commission already has
achieved or soon will inspire, one accomplish-
ment will remainindefinitely.Until recently,the
Tulsaraceriot has been the most important | east
known event in the state’s entire history. Even
the most resourceful of scholars stumbled as
they neared it for it was dimly lit by evidence
and the evidentiary record faded more with ev-
ery passing year.

That is not now and never will be true again.
These few hours — from start to finish, the ac-
tual riot consumed less than sixteen hours —
may now comprise the most thoroughly docu-
mented moments ever to have occurred in
Oklahoma. This commission’s work and the
documentary record it leaves behind shines
upon them alight too bright to ignore.

The OklahomaHistorical Soci ety wassearch
ing its existing materials and aggressively pur-
suing more before this commission ever
assembled. By the November 1997, organizing
meeting, Bob Blackburn was ready to announce
that the society already had ordered prints from
every known source of every known photograph
taken of theriot. He was contacting every major
archival depository and research library in the
country to request copies of any riot-related ma
terialsthey might hold themselves. Experienced
OHS professionals were set to research impor-
tant but heretofore neglected court and munici-
pal records.

This was news welcomed by commission
members. It assured early momentumforthejob
ahead, and it complemented work that some of



them were already doing. Eddie Faye Gates,
for one, had pulled out every transcript of ev-
ery interview that she had madewith ariot wit-
ness, and she was anxious to make more. Jim
Lloyd was another. Lloyd already had found
and copied transcripts from earlier interviews,
including somewith Tulsapolice officers pres-
ent at theriot. He also had ahunch that afellow
who knew his way around a courthouse just
might turn up all sorts of information.

That ishow it began, but that wasjust the be-
ginning. In the months ahead, Larry O Dell
and other OHS employees patiently excavated
mountains of information, one pebble at a
time, asit were. They then pieced together tiny
bits of fact, carefully fitting one to another.
One by one, completed puzzles emerged. Ar-
ranged in different dimensions, they made
magic: avision of Greenwood long since van-
ished.

Master maps, both of the community on the
eve of theriot and of the post-riot residue, iden-
tified every single piece of property. For each
parcel, a map displayed any structure present,
its owner and its use. If commercial, what
firms were there, who owned them, what busi-
nesses they were in. If residential, whether it
was rented or owned. If the former, the land-
lord’s name. If the latter, whether it was mort-
gaged (if so, to whom and encumbered by what
debt.) For both, listsidentified each of itsoccu-
pants by name.

It was not magic; it was more. Larry O’ Dell
had rebuilt Greenwood from records he and
other researchers had examined and collected
for the commission. Every building permit
granted, every warranty deed recorded, every
property appraisal ordered, every damage
claim filed, every death certificate issued, ev-
ery buria record maintained — the commis-
sion had copies of every single record related
to Greenwood at the time of theriot.

Some it had only because Jm Lloyd was
right. Able to navigate a courthouse, he ran
across complete records for some 150 civil
suits filed after the race riot. No one remem-
bered that they even existed; they had been
misplaced for thirty-five years. When Jim

Lloyd uncovered and saved them, they were
scheduled for routine shredding.

The commission gathered the most private of
documents as well. Every form registering ev-
ery survivor bears notes recording information
taken from every one of 118 persons. With
Kavin Ross operating the camera, Eddie Faye
Gates videotaped interviews with about half of
the survivors. Each is available on one of nine
cassettes preserved by the commission; full
transcripts are being completed for all. Sympa-
thetic collectors turned over transcripts of an-
other fifty or more. Some had been packed away
for twenty, even thirty years.

Others, includingseveral resourceful amateur
historians, reproduced and gave the commission
what amounted to complete documentary col -
lections. There were sets of municipal records,
files from state agencies, reports kept by social
services, press clippings carefully bound, pri-
vately owned photographs never publicly seen.

People who had devoted yearsto the study of
one or more aspects of the riot supplied evi-
dencethey had found and presented conclusions
they had reached. Beryl Ford followed the com-
mission’ swork asaTulsan legendary for hisde-
votion to his city and its history. William
O’'Brien attended nearly every commission
meeting, sometimes to ask questions, some-
times to answer them, once to deliver his own
full report on the riot. Robert Norris prepared
smaller, occasiona reports on military topics.
He also dug up and turned over files from Na-
tional Guard records. Others located affidavits
filed with the State Supreme Court. The military
reports usually had been presumed lost; the le-
gal papers always had been assumed unimpor-
tant.

Commissioners were surprised to receive so
much new evidence and pleased to see that it
contributed so much. They were delighted to
note that so much came from black sources, that
it documented black experiences and recorded
black observations.

It had not always been that way. Too many
early journalists and historians had dismissed
black sources as unreliable. Too few early li-
brarians and archivists had preserved black
sources as important. Both thereby condemned



later writers and scholars to a never ending
game of hide-and-go-seek, the rules rigged so
no one could win.

This commission’s work changes the game
forever. Every future scholar will have access
to everything ev ery oneever had whentheorig
inal source waswhite. In fact, they will have a
lot more of it. They also will have more from
sources few had before when the original
source was black.

Because they will, the community future
scholars will behold and the property they will
describe was acommunity of black people, oc-
cupied by black people. The public records
they will examine involved black people and
affected black people. Objects they will touch
came from black people. Interviews they will
hear and transcripts they will read were re-
corded from black people. The evidence they
will explore reveals experiences of black peo-
ple.

Consider what so much new information
and what so many new sources can mean for
future historians. Consider what it already has
meant for one.

Read closely Scott Ellsworth’s accompany-
ing essay, “The TulsaRiot,” arather simple ti-
tle, astitlesgo. Much more sophisticated isthe
title he gave the book he wrote in 1982, Death
in a Promised Land: The Tulsa Race Riot of
1921.

It isfair that they have different titles. They
tell somewhat different stories in somewhat
different ways. The chief differenceis that the
onetitled so smply tells atale much more so-
phisticated.

For one thing, it is longer. The report at-
tached here filled 115 typed pages in the tell -
ing; the comparable portion of the book prints
entirelyin25pages. Thereport hastobelonger
becauseit hasmoretoreport, storiesnottoldin
thefirst telling. It offers more becauseit draws
upon more evidence. The report packs 205
footnotes with citationsfor its story; 50 did the
job for the first one.

Within that last difference is the difference
that causes every other difference. To write
this report, Scott Ellsworth used evidence he
did not have — no one had it — as recently as

1982. He cites that new evidence at least 148
times. He had information from black sources
accessible now because of this commission.
That knowledge contributed to Scott
Ellsworth’s citations from black newspapers,
black interviews, or black writings. He cites
black sources at least 272 times.

No wonder the two are different. From now
on, everything can be different. They almost
have to be.

Before there was this commission, much was
known about the Tulsa race riot. More was un-
known. It was buried somewhere, lost some-
where, or somewhere undiscovered. No longer.
Old records have been reopened, missing files
have been recovered, new sources have been
found. Still being assembled and processed by
the OklahomaHistorical Society, their total vol-
ume passed ten thousand pages some time ago
and well may reach twenty thousand by thetime
everything is done.

The di mensionsof twenty thou sand pagescan
be measured physically. Placed side-by-side,
they would reach across at |least ten yards of li-
brary shelving, filling every inch with new in-
formation. The significance of these twenty
thousand pages has to be gauged vertically and
metaphorically though. Stacked high, they
amount to atower of new knowledge. Rising to
reach a new perspective, they offer visions
never seen before.

The 1921 Tulsa Race Riot Commission
thereby has discharged the mandate to gather
and preserve arecord of historical significance.

L 4 * *

The Commis sionshall. .. develop ahistorical
record of the 1921 Tulsa Race Riot . . . .

The commission’s first substantive decision
wasto greet thisobligation with aseries of ques
tions, and there was compelling reason why.
Eighty years after the fact, almost as many unre-
solved guestions surround the raceriot asdid in
1921 — maybe even more. Commissioners
knew that no “historical record” would be com-
plete unless it answered the most enduring of
those questions— or explain why not. That was
reason enough for a second decision: Commis-
sioners agreed to seek consultants, respected



scholars, and other expertsto investigate those
guestions and offer answers.

Their findingsfollow immediately, al with-
out change or comment, each just as the com-
mission received it. Accompanying papers
present what scholars and others consider the
best answersto hard questions. The reports de-
fine their questions, either directly or implic-
itly, and usually explain why they need
answers. The authors give answers, but they
present them with only the confidence and ex-
actly the precision they can justify. Most re-
trace the route they followed to reach their
positions. All advance their positions openly.
If they sense themselves in hostile territory,
some stake their ground and defend it.

The commissioners harbor no illusion that
every reader will accept their every answer to
every question. They know better. Why should
everyone else? None of them do. All eleven
have reservations, some here, some there.
Some dispute this point; some deny that one.
Some suggest other possibilities. Some insist
uponposi tionssquarely oppositetheschol ars'.

None of that matters. However they divide
over specifics, they also are united on princi-
ples. Should any be in need, they endorse and
recommend the route they took to reach their
own consensus. The way around an enraged
showdown and the shortest path to a responsi-
ble solution is the line that passes through
points ahead. Each point marks a big question
and an important answer. Study them care-
fully.

What was the total value of property de-
stroyed in the Tulsa race riot, both in 1921's
dollars and in today’s? Larry O’ Dell has the
numbers. Any one of them could be alittle off,
probably none by very much. Could a lawyer
argue, and might a judge decree, that citizens
living now had aduty to make that good, had to
repay those losses, all because of something
that hap pened eighty yearsago?Al fred Brophy
can make the case, and he does.

Over eight decades, some Tulsans (mostly
black Tulsans) have insisted that whites at-
tacked Greenwood from the air, even bombed
it from military airplanes. Other Tulsans
(mostly white Tulsans)have denied those

claims, many have never even heard them. In a
sensg, it is a black-or-white question, but Rich-
ard S. Warner demonstrates that it has no
black-or-white answer.

He proves it absolutely false that military
planes could have employed mil i tary weaponson
Greenwood. He aso provesit absolutely true that
civilian aircraft did fly over the riot area. Some
were there for police reconnaissance, some for
photography, somefor other legitimate purposes.
He aso thinksit reasonable to believe that others
had less innocent use. It is probable that shots
were fired and that incendiary devices were
dropped, and these would have contributed to
riot-related deaths or destruction. How much?No
one will ever know: History permits no
black-or-white answer.

Can modern science bring light to old, dark
rumors about a mass grave, at least one, proba-
bly more, somewhere in Tulsa? Could those ru-
mors be true? If true, where is one? Robert L.
Brooks and Alan H. Witten have answers. Y es,
science can addressthose rumors. Yes, there are
many reasons to believe that mass graves exist.
Where? They can point precisely to the single
most likely spot. They can explain why scien-
tists settle on that one — explain it clearly
enough and completely enough to convince
non-scientists, too. Without making ascratch on
the ground, they can measure how deep it hasto
be, how thick, how wide, how long. Were the
site to be exhumed and were it to yield human
remains, what would any onelearn? Quiteabit if
Lesley Rankin-Hill and Phoebe Stubblefield
were to examine them.

How many people were killed, anyway? At
the time, careful calculations varied almost as
much as did pure guesses — forty, fifty, one
hundred, two hundred, three hundred, maybe
more. After a while, it became hard to distin-
guish the calculations from the guesses. By
now, the record has become so muddied that
even the most careful andthor oughsci entificin
vestigation can offer no morethan apreliminary
possible answer.

Clyde Coallins Snow’ s inquiry isjust as care-
ful and just as thorough as one might expect
from this forensic anthropologist of interna-
tional reputation, and preliminary is the word
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that he insists upon for his findings. By the
most conservative of al possible methods, he
can identify thirty-eight riot victims, and he
provides the cause of death and the burial site
for each of them. He even givesusthe names of
all but the four burned beyond recognition.

That last fact is their defining element.
Thirty-eight is only the number of dead that
Snow can identify individually. It says nothing
of those who lost their livesin the vicious riot
and lost their personal identities in records
never kept or later destroyed. An accurate
death count would just begin at thirty-eight; it
might end well into the hundreds. Snow ex-
plains why as many as 150 might have to be
added for one reason, 18 more for another rea-
son. What nei ther henor any one can ever know
is how many to add for how many reasons.
That iswhy there will never be a better answer
to the question of how many died than this:
How many? Too many.

For some questions there will never be an-
swers even that precise. Open for eighty years
and open now, they will remain open forever
be causethey aretoo largeto befilled by theev-
idence at hand.

Some of the hardest questions surround the
evidence, itself. Evidence amounting to per-

sona statements — things said to have been
seen, heard, or otherwise observed — raises an
entire set of questions in itself. Surely some
statements are more credible than others, but
how credible is that? Most evidence is incom-
plete; it may be suggestive but isit dispositive?
Evidence often inspires inference, but is the in-
ference reasonable or even possible? Evidence
isusuallyambiguous, doesit mean thisor doesit
mean that? Almost every piece of evidence re-
quiresan interpretation, but isonly oneinterpre-
tation possible? Responsibilities will be
assigned, decisions will be evaluated, judg-
ments will be offered — on what basis?

These are not idle academic musings. On the
contrary: This small set of questions explains
why so many specific questions remain open.
They explain how people — reasonable,
fair-minded, well-intended people — can dis-
agree so often about so much.

Consider aquestion asold astheriotitself. At
the time, many said that thiswas no spontaneous
eruption of the rabble; it was planned and exe-
cuted by the elite. Quite afew people — includ-
ing some members of this commission — have
sincestudiedthequestionandareper suaded that
thisis so, that the Tulsa race riot was the result
of aconspiracy. Thisisaserious position and a

10



provable position — if onelooks at certain evi-
dencein certain ways.

Others — again, including members of this
commission — have studied the same question
and examined the same evidence, but they have
looked at it in different ways. They see there no
proof of conspiracy. Selfish desires surely. Aw-
ful effects certainly. But not a conspiracy. Both
Sdes have evidence that they consider convinc-
ing, but neither side can convince the other.

Another nagging question involvesthe role of
the Ku Klux Klan. Everyone who has studied the
riot agrees that the Klan was present in Tulsa at
the time of theriot and that it had been for some
time. Everyone agrees that within months of the
riot Tulsa' s Klan chapter had become one of the
nation’s largest and most powerful, able to dic-
tate its will with the ballot as well as the whip.
Everyone agrees that many of the city’s most
promi nent menwereklansmenintheearly 1920s
and that some remai nedklansmenthroughoutthe
decade. Everyone agrees that Tulsa's atmo-
sphere reeked with a Klan-like stench that oozed
through the robes of the Hooded Order.

Doesthis mean that the Klan helped plan the
riot? Doesit mean that the Klan hel ped execute
it? Does it mean that the Klan, as an
organization, had any role at al?

Or does it mean that any time thousands of
whites assembled — especidly if they assembled
to assault blacks— that odds were there would be
quite a few klansmen in the mix? Does the pres-
ence of those individuas mean that the ingtitution
may have been aningtigator or the agent of aplot?
Maybe both? Maybe neither? Maybe nothing at
al? Not everyone agrees on that.

Nor will they ever. Both the conspiracy and
the Klan questions remain what they always
have been and probably what they awayswill
be. Both are examples of nearly every problem
inherent to historical evidence. How reliableis
this ora tradition? What conclusions does that
evidence permit? Are these inferences reason-
able? How many ways can thisbeinterpreted?

And so it must go on. Some questions will
aways be disputed because other questions
block the path to their answers. That does not
mean there will be no answers, just that there
will not be one answer per one question. Many

guestions will have two, quite afew even more.
Some answers will never be proven. Some will
never be disproved. Accept it: Some things can
never be known.

That iswhy the complete record of what began
in the late evening of May 31 and continued
through the morning of June 1 will never quite es-
cape those hours, themselves. They forever are
darkened by night or enshrouded by day.

But history has arecord of things certain for
the hours between one day’s twilight and the
next day’ s afternoon. These things:

» Black Tulsans had every reason to believe that
Dick Rowland would belynched after hisarrest
on charges later dismissed and highly suspect
from the dart.

» They had cause to believe that his persona
safety, like the defense of themsalves and their
community, depended on them aone.

 As hogtile groups gathered and their confronta:
tion worsened, municipal and county authori-
tiesfailed to take actions to cam or contain the
Stuation.

At the eruption of violence, civil officids se-
lected many men, all of them white and some of
them participants in that violence, and made
those men their agents as deputies.

* In that capacity, deputies did not stem the vio-
lence but added to it, often through overt acts
themselvesillegal.

 Public officias provided firearms and ammuni-
tion to individuals, again al of them white.

After loot ing black homes, the white ri ot ers set them on fire. Here,
Thomas and Lottie Gentry’s home at 537 N. Detroit—the third
house from the lefi—bursts into flame (Courtesy Department of
Spe cial Col lec tions, McFarlin Li brary, University of Tulsa).
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By the time the ad di tional Na tional Guard units from Oklahoma City ar rived in Tulsa the riot had pretty much run its course. Some
contemporary eyewitnesses, however, were critical of the time that it took for the State Troops to deploy outside of the downtown
business district (Courtesy Oklahoma HistoricalSociety).

Units of the Oklahoma Nationa Guard partici-
pated in the mass arrests of all or nearly al of
Greenwood's residents, removed them to
other parts of the city, and detained themin
holding centers.

Entering the Greenwood district, people
stole, damaged or destroyed personal prop-
erty left behind in homes and businesses.

People, some of them agents of government,
also deliberately burned or otherwise de-
stroyed homes credibly estimated to have
numbered 1,256, along with virtually every
other structure — including churches,
schools, businesses, even a hospital and li-
brary — in the Greenwood district.

Despite duties to preserve order and to pro-
tect property, no government at any level of-
fered adequate resistance, if any at al, to
what amounted to the destruction of the
neighborhood referred to commonly as “Lit-

tle Africa’ and politely as the “Negro
quarter.”

 Although the exact tota can never be deter-
mined, credi bleevidence makesit probabl e that
many people, likely numbering between one

Greenwood District prior to the riot (Courtesy Greenwood
Cultural Center).
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Despite being numerically at a disadvantage, black Tulsans
fought valiantly to protect their homes, their businesses, and
their community. But in the end, the city’s African-American
population was simply outnumbered by the white invaders
(Courtesy Department of Special Collections, McFarlin Li-
brary, University of Tulsa).

Identification card(Courtesy Bob Hower).
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(Cour tesy Greenwood Cul tural Cen ter).

and three hundred, were killed during theriot.

Not one of these crimina acts was then or
ever has been prosecuted or punished by gov-
ernment at any level, municipal, county, state,
or federal.

Even after the restoration of order it was offi-
cia policy to release a black detainee only

upon the application of a white person, and

then only if that white person agreed to accept

responsibility for that detainee’ s subsequent

behavior.

As private citizens, many whitesin Tulsaand
neighboring communities did extend invalu-
able assistanceto theriot’ svictims, and there-
lief efforts of the American Red Cross in
particular provided a model of human behav-
ior at its best.

Although city and county government bore
much of the cost for Red Crossrelief, neither
contributed substantially to Greenwood’s re-



Re building af ter the
destruction (Cour-
tesy Greenwood
Cultural Center).

building; infact, municipal authoritiesacted + Intheend, therestoration of Greenwood after
initially to impede rebuilding. its systematic destruction was left to the vic-
tims of that destruction.

i
iy e
| X

Maurice Wil lows Hos pital. While Tulsa of fi cials turned away some of fers of out side aid, a number of individual white Tulsans pro-
vided as sis tance to the city ’s nowvir tu ally home less black pop u la tion. But it was the Ameri can Red Cross, which re mained in Tulsa
for months following the riot, provided the most sustained relief effort. Maurice Willows, the compassionate director of the Red
Cross re lief, kept a his tory of the events. (Cour tesy Bob Hower).
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Aftermath of theriot (Cour tesy Green wood Cul tural Cen ter).

These things are not myths, not rumors, not
speculations, not questioned. They are the his-
torical record.

The 1921 Tulsa Race Riot Commission
thereby has discharged the mandate to develop
ahistori cal recordof the1921 TulsaRaceRiot.

* * *

The final report of the Commission’s
findings and recommendations . . . may con-
tain specific recommendations about
whether or not reparations can or should be
made and the appropriate methods. ...

Unlike those quoted before, these words
give this commission not an obligation but an
opportunity. Nearly every commissioner in-
tends to seize it.

A short letter sent toGovernor Frank Kesating
as a preliminary report in February, 2000 de-
clared the mgority’ s view that reparations could
and should be made. “Good public palicy,” that
letter said, requirednoless. Thisreport maintains
the same, and this report makes the case.

Case, reparations — the words, themselves,
seem to summon images of lawyers and court-
rooms, along with other words, words like cul-
pability, damages, remedies, restitution. Eachis
aterm used in law, with strict legal meaning.
Sometimescommissionersusethosewords, too,
and several agree — firmly agree — that those
words describe accurately what happened in
1921 and fit exactly what should happen now.

Those, however, are their persona opinions,
and the commissioners who hold them do so as
private citizens. Even the most resolute of its
members recognizes that this commission has a
very different role. This commission is neither
court nor judge, and its members are not ajury.
The commission has no binding legal authority
to assign culpability, to determine damages, to
establish aremedy, or to order either restitution
or reparations. In fact, it has no judicial author-
ity whatsoever.

It also has no reason or need for such author-
ity. Any judgments that it might offer would be
without effect and meaning. Its words would as
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well be cast to the winds. Any recommenda-
tions that it might offer neither have nor need
judicial status at all. Statutes grant this com-
mission its authority to make recommenda-
tions and the choice of how — or evenif —to
exercise that authority.

The commission’smajority isdetermined to
exerciseitsdiscretion andto declare boldly and
directly their purpose: to recommend, inde-
pendent of what law allows, what these com-
missioners believeistheright thingto do. They
propose to do that in adimension equal to their
purpose. Courts have other purposes, and law
operatesin adifferent dimension. Mistake one
for the other — let this commission assume
what rightly belongsto law — doesworse than
miss the point. It ruinsit.

Think of the difference this way. We will
never know exactly how many werekilled dur-
ing the Tulsarace riot, but take at random any
twenty-five from that unknown total. What we
say of those we might say for every one of the
others, too.

Considering the twenty-five to be homi-
cides, the law would approach those as
twenty-five acts performed by twenty-five
people (or thereabouts) who, with twenty-five
motives, committed twenty-five crimes
against twenty-five persons. That they oc-
curred within hours and within afew blocks of
each other is irrelevant. It would not matter
even if the same person committed two, three,
ten of the murders on the same spot, moments
apart. Each was a separate act, and each (were
the law to do its duty) merits a separate conse-
guence. Law can apprehend it no other way.

Isthere no other way to understand that? Of
coursethereis. Thereisafar better way.

Were these twenty-five crimes or one? Did
each have aseparatemotive, or wasthereasin
gle intent? Were twenty-five individuals re-
sponsible, those and no one else? The burning
of 1,256 homes — if we understand these as
1,256 acts of arson committed by 1,256 crimi-
nals driven by 1,256 desires, if we understand
it that way, do we understand anything at all?

These were not any number of multiple acts
of homicide; this was one act of horror. If we
must name the fires, call it outrage, for it was

one. For both, the motive was not to injure
hundreds of people, nearly all unseen,a mostall
unknown. Theintentwastointimi dateonecom:
munity, to let it be known and let it be seen.
Those who pulled the triggers, those who struck
the matches — they alone were lawbreakers.
Those who shouted encouragement and those
whostoodsi lently by —they wereresponsi ble.

These are the qualities that place what hap-
pened in Tulsa outside the realm of law — and
not just in Tulsa, either. Lexington, Sapulpa,
Norman, Shawnee, Lawton, Claremore, Perry;
Waurika, Dewey, and Marshall — earlier
purges in every one already had targeted entire
black communities, marking every child,
woman, and man for exile.

There is no count of how many those people
numbered, but there is no need to know that.
Know that there, too, something morethan abad
guy had committed something more than a
crime against something more than a person.
Not someone made mad by lust, not a person
gripped by rage, not a heartbroken party of ro-

b
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Lynching believed to be at Mannford, Oklahoma (Courtesy
Oklahoma Historical Sociery).
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Although Oklahoma had been plagued by lynchings since the territo rial days, with the com ing of statehood, more and more of the
victims were African American. Of the thirty-three lynchings that occurred in Oklahoma between 1907 and 1920, including this
one, which occurred at Okemah, fully twenty-seven of the vic tims were black (Cour tesy of Cur rie Ballard).

mance gone sour, not one or any number of in-
dividualsbut acollective body — acting as one
body — had coldly and deliberately and sys-
tematically assaulted one victim, awhole com-
munity, intending to eliminate it as a
community. If other black communities heard
about it and learned their lessons, too, so much
the better; alittleintimidation went along way.
All of this happened years before, most fifteen
or twenty yearsbeforeDick Rowlandlandedin
jail, but they remainedvividintherecent mem
ories of Greenwood' s younger adults.

This, or something quitelikeit, wasalmost a-
ways what happened when the subject was race.
Here was nothing as amorphous as racism. Here
were discrete acts — one act, one town — each
conscioudy calculated to have acollective effect
not against a person but against a people.

And is that not also the way of Oklahoma's
voting laws at the time? The state had amended
its constitution and crafted its laws not to keep
this person or that person or awholelist of per-

sonsfromvoting. Lengthen that list to theindef-
inite, write down names to the infinite — one
still will not reach the point. For that, one line,
one word is enough. The point was to keep a
race, as arace, away from the polls.

Jim Crow laws — the segregation commands
of Oklahoma' s statutesand of itsconstitution —
worked that way, too. Their object was not to
keep some exhausted mother and her two young
children out of a “white car” on atrain headed
somewhere like Checotah and send them walk-
ing six mileshome. (Even if John Hope Franklin
could recall that about his own mother and sister
and himself as he accepted the Helmerich
Award some three-quarters of a century after-
wards.) No, the one purpose was to keep one
race“initsplace.”

When LauraNelson waslynched yearsearlier
in Okemah, it was not to punish her by death. It
was to terrify the living. Why else would the
lynchers have taken (and printed and copied and
posted and distributed) that photograph of her
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(Courtesy Oklahoma Historical Society).

hanging from the bridge, her little boy dan-
gling beside her?

The lynchers knew the purpose; the photog-
rapher just helped it along. The purpose had
not changed much by 1921, when another pho-
tographer snapped another picture, along shot
showing Greenwood'’ sruin, smokerising from
fires blazing in the background. “RUNING
THE NEGRO OUT OF TULSA” someone
wroteacrossit, candor atoning for misspelling.
No doubt there. No shame either.

Another photograph probably was snapped
the same day but from closer range. It showed
what just days before must have been a human
being, maybe one who had spent awarmday in
lateMay work ingandtalk ingandlaughing. On
this day, though, it was only a grotesque,
blackened form, athing, really, itsonly sign of
humanity the charred remains of arms and
hands forever raised, asif in useless supplica-
tion.

Shot horizontally, that particular photo still
turns up from time to time in the form of an

.THE.NE@R' ©OUT.OF
JUNE, TH=L 19 21

early use: as a postcard. People must have
thought it a nice way to send a message.

It still sends a message, too big to be jotted
down in afew lines; but, then, this message is
not especially nice either. The message is that
hereisanimageof morethanasinglevictimof a
single episode in asingle city. This image pre-
serves the symbol of a story, preservesit in the
same way that the story was told: in
black-and-white.

(Courtesy Department of Special Collections, McFarlin Li-
brary, University of Tulsa).

18



See those two photos and understand that
the Tulsa race riot was the worst event in that
city’s history — an event without equal and
without ex cuse. Under stand, too, that it wasthe
worst explosion of violence in this state’s his-
tory — an epi sodelatetobeacknowl edgedand
still to be repaired. But understand also that it
was part of a message usually announced not
violently at all, but calmly and quietly and de-
liberately.

Who sent the message? Not one person but
many acting asone. Not a“mob;” it took forms
too calculated and rational for that word. Not
“society;” that word is only amask to conceal
responsibility within afog of imprecision. Not
“whites,” because this never spoke for all
whites, sometimesit spokefor only afew. Not
“America,” because the federal government
was, a best, indifferent to its black citizens
and, at worse, oblivious of them. Fifty yearsor
so after the Civil War, Uncle Sam was too
complacent to crusade for black rights and too
callous to care. Let the states handle that —
states like Oklahoma.

Except that it really was not “ Oklahoma” ei-
ther. At least, it wasnot all of Oklahoma. It was
just one Oklahoma, one Oklahomathat is dis-
tinguishable from another Oklahoma partly by
purpose. This Oklahoma had the purpose of
keeping the other Oklahoma in its place, and
that place was subordinate. That, after al, was
the object of suffrage requirements and segre-
gation laws. No lesswasiit the intent behind ri-
ots and lynchings, too. One Oklahoma was
putting the other Oklahomain its place.

One Oklahoma also had the power to effect
its purpose, and that power had no need to rely
on occasional explosions of rage. Simple vio-
lenceis, after all, the weapon of simple people,
people with access to no other instruments of
power at al. This Oklahoma had access to
power more subtle, more regular, and more
formal than that. Indeed, its ready access to
such forms of power partially defined that
Oklahoma.

No, that Oklahoma is not the same as gov-
ernment, used hereasarhetori cal trick tomake
one accountable for the acts of the other. Gov-
ernment was never the essence of that

Oklahoma. Government was, however, aways
its potential instrument. Having access to gov-
ernment, however employed, if employed at all
— just having it — defined this Oklahoma and
was the essence of its power.

The acts recounted here reveal that power in
one form or another, often several. The Tulsa
race riot is one example, but only an example
and only one. Put alongside it earlier, less publi-
cized pogroms — for that is what they were —
in at least ten other Oklahoma towns. Include
the systematic disfranchisement of the black
electorate through constitutional amendment in
1910, reaffirmed through state statute in 1916.
Add to that the constitution’s segregation of
Oklahoma's public schools, the First Legisla-
ture's segregation of its public transportation,
local segregation of Oklahoma neighborhoods
through municipal ordinancesin Tulsaand else-
where, even the statewide segregation of public
telephones by order of the corporation commis-
sion. Do not forget to include the lynchings of
twenty-three African-Americans in twelve
Oklahomatowns during the ten yearsleading to
1921. Stand back and look at those deeds now.

In some government partici patedinthedeed.

In some government performed the deed.

In none did government prevent the deed.

In none did government punish the deed.

And that, in the end, is what thisinquiry and
what these recommendations are all about.
Make no mistakeabout it: Therearemem bersof
thiscommission who are convinced that thereis
acompelling argument in law to order that pres-
ent governments make monetary payment for
past governments unlawful acts. Professor Al-
fred Brophy presses one form of that argument;
there doubtless are others.

This is not that legal argument but another
one altogether. This is a moral argument. It
holds that there are moral responsibilities here
and that those moral responsibilities require
moral responses now.

It getsdown to this: The 1921 riot is, at once,
arepresentative historical example and aunique
historical event. It has many parallelsin the pat-
tern of past events, but it hasno equal for itsvio-
lence and its completeness. It symbolizes so
much endured by so many for so long. It doesit,

19



Shock and despair accompany the aftermath of the Tulsa Race Riot

(Courtesy of the Library of Congress).

however, in one way that no other can: in the
living flesh and blood of some who did endure
it.

These paradoxes hold answers to questions
often asked: Why does the state of Oklahoma
or the city of Tulsa owe anything to anybody?
Why should any individual tolerate now
gpending one cent of one tax dollar over what
happened so long ago?

The answer is that these are not even the
guestions. This is not about individuals at al
— not any more than the race riot or anything
like it was about individuals.

This is about Oklahoma — or, rather, it is
about two Oklahomas. It must be about that be-
cause that is what the Tulsa race riot was al
about, too. That riot proclaimed that there were
two Oklahomas; that one claimed the right to
push down, push out, and push under the other;
and that it had the power to do that.

That iswhat the Tulsarace riot has been all
about for so long afterwards, why it has lin-
gered not as a past event but lived as a present
entity. It kept on saying that there remained
two Oklahomas; that one claimed the right to
be dismissive of, ignorant of, and oblivious to
the other; and that it had the power to do that.

(Cour tesy Bob Hower).

That is why the Tulsa race riot can be about
something else. It can be about making two
Oklahomas one — but only if we understand
that thisiswhat reparation is all about. Because
the riot is both symbolic and singular, repara-
tions become both singular and symbolic, too.
Compelled not legally by courts but extended
freely by choice, they say that individua acts of
reparation will stand as symbols that fully ac-
knowledge and finally discharge a collective re-
sponsibility.

Because we must faceit: Thereisno way but
by government to represent the collective, and
there is no way but by reparations to make real
the responsibility.

Does this commission have specific recom-
mendations about whether or not reparations
can or should be made and the appropri atemeth-
ods? Yes, it surely does.

When commissioners went looking to do the
right thing, that iswhat nearly al of them found
and what they recommended in last year’s pre-
l[iminary report. To be sure they had found the
right thing, they have used this formal report to
explore once more the distant terrain of the
Tulsa race riot and the forbidding territory in
whichit lies. Now, they are certain. Reparations
are the right thing to do.

What elseisthereto do? What elseisthereto
find?
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February 7, 2000

The Honorable Frank Keating
Governor of the State of Oklahoma
State Capitol building

Oklahoma City, OK 73105

Dear Governor Keating:

The Tulsa Race Riot Commission, established by House Joint Resolution No. 1035, is pleased to
submit the following preliminary report.

The primary goal of collecting historical documentation on the Tulsa Race Riot of 1921 has been
achieved. Attachment A isasummary listing of the record groups that have been gathered and
stored at the Oklahoma Historical Society. Also included are summaries of some reports and the
full text of selected documentsto illustrate the breadth and scope of the collecting process. How-
ever, the Commission has not yet voted on historical findings, so these materials do not necessar-
ily represent conclusions of the Commission.

At the last meeting, held February 4, 2000, the Commission voted on three actions. They are:
1) The Issue of Restitution

Whereas, the process of historical analysis by this Commission is not yet complete,

And Whereas, the archeological investigation into casualties and mass burialsis not yet com-
plete,

And Whereas, we have seen a continuous pattern of historical evidence that the Tulsa Race Riot
of 1921 was the violent consequence of racial hatred institutionalized and tolerated by official
federal, state, county, and city policy,

And Whereas, government at al levels has the moral and ethical responsibility of fostering a
sense of community that bridges divides of ethnicity and race,

And Whereas, by statute we are to make recommendations regarding whether or not reparations
can or should be made to the Oklahoma L egislature, the Governor of the State of Oklahoma, and
the Mayor and City Council of Tulsa,

That, we, the 1921 Tulsa Race Riot Commission, recommend that restitution to the historic
Greenwood Community, in real and tangible form, would be good public policy and do much to
repair the emotional aswell as physical scars of this most terrible incident in our shared past.



2) The Issue of Suggested Forms of Restitution in Priority Order

The Commission recommends
1) Direct payment of reparations to survivors of the Tulsa Race Riot.
2) Direct payment of reparations to descendants of the survivors of the Tulsa Race
Riot.
3) A scholarship fund available to students affected by the Tulsa Race Riot.
4) Establishment of an economic development enterprise zone in the historic area of
the Greenwood District.
5) A memorial for the reburial of any human remains found in the search for unmarked
graves of riot victims,

3) The Issue of an Extension of the Tulsa Race Riot Commission

The Commission hereby endorses and supports House Bill 2468, which extends the life of the
Commission in order to finish the historical report on the Tulsa Race Riot of 1921.

We, the members of the Tulsa Race Riot Commission, respectfully submit these findings for
your consideration.
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(Courtesy Special Collections Department, McFarlin Library, University of Tulsa).

History Knows No Fences: An Overview

By John Hope Franklin and Scott Ellsworth

As the centennial of Oklahoma statehood
draws near, it is not difficult to look upon the
history of our state with anything short of awe
andwon der. In ninety-three short years, whole
towns and cities have sprouted upon the prai-
ries, great cultural and educational institutions
have risen among the blackjacks, and the
state’ sagricultural and industrial output has far
surpassed even the wildest dreams of the
Boomers. Inlessthan acentury, Oklahoma has
transformed itself from a rawboned territory
more at home in the nineteenth century, into
now, as a new millennium dawns about us, a
shining example of both the promise and the
reality of the American dream. Inlooking back
upon our past, we have much to take pride in.

But we have also known heartaches as well.
As any honest history textbook will tell you,
the first century of Oklahoma statehood has
also featured dust storms and a Great De-
pression, politi ca scandasandJmCrowlegisla

tion, tumbling oil prices and truckloads of Okies
streaming west. But through it dl, there are two
twentieth century tragedies which, sadly enough,
stand head and shoulders above the others.

For many Oklahomans, there has never been
a darker day than April 19, 1995. At two min-
utes past nine o’clock that morning, when the
northern face of the Alfred P. Murrah Federal
Building in downtown Oklahoma City was
blown inward by the deadliest act of terrorism
ever to take place on American soil, lives were
shattered, lives were lost, and the history of the
state would never again be the same.

One-hundred-sixty-eight Oklahomans died
that day. They were black and white, Native
American and Hispanic, young and old. And
during the weeks that followed, we began to
learn a little about who they were. We learned
about Colton and Chase Smith, brothers aged
two and three, and how they loved their
playmates at the daycare center. Welearned about
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Per haps more than any thing else, what shocked most ob serv ers was the scope of the de struc tion in Tulsa. Practically the entire African
Amer i can dis trict, stretch ing for more than a mile from Ar cher Street to the sec tion line, had been re duced toa waste land of burned out
buildings, empty lots, and black ened trees (Cour tesy De part ment of Spe cial Col lec tions, McFarlin Li brary, Univer sity of Tulsa).

Captain Randy Guzman, U.SM.C., and how he
had commanded troops during Operation Desert
Storm, and we learned about Wanda Lee Howell,
who always kept a Bible in her purse. And we
learned about Cartney Jean McRaven, a nine-
teen-year-old Air Force enlistee who had been
married only four days earlier.

The Murrah Building bombing is, without
any question, one of the great tragedies of
Oklahoma history. And well before the last
memorial service was held for the last victim,
thousands of Oklahomans made it clear that
they wanted what happened on that dark day to
be remembered. For upon the chain-link fence
surrounding the bomb site there soon appeared
a makeshift memorial of the heart — of teddy
bears and handwritten children’s prayers, key
rings and dreamcatchers, flowers and flags.
Now, with the construction and dedication of
the Oklahoma City National Memorial, there
is no doubt but that both the victims and the
lessonsof April 19,1995will not befor got ten.

But what would have come as a surprise to
most of the state's citizens during the sad
spring of 1995 was that there were, among
them, other Oklahomans who carried within
their hearts the painful memories of an equally
dark, though long ignored, day in our past. For

seventy-three years before the Murrah Building
was bombed, the city of Tulsa erupted into a
firestorm of hatred and violence that is perhaps
unequaled in the peacetime history of the
United States.

For those hearing about the 1921 Tulsa race
riot for thefirst time, the event seemsamost im-
possible to believe. During the course of eigh-
teen terrible hours, more than one thousand
homes were burned to the ground. Practically
overnight, entire neighborhoods where families
had raised their children, visited with their
neighbors, and hung their wash out onthelineto
dry, had been suddenly reduced to ashes. And as
the homes burned, so did their contents, includ-
ing furniture and family Bibles, rag dolls and
hand-me-down quilts, cribs and photograph al-
bumes. In less than twenty-four hours, nearly all
of Tulsa's African American residential district
— some forty-square-blocks in all — had been
laid to waste, leaving nearly nine-thousand peo-
ple homeless.

Gone, too, was the city’s African American
commercial district, a thriving area located
along Greenwood Avenue which boasted some
of the finest black-owned businesses in the en-
tire Southwest. The Stradford Hotel, a modern
fifty-four room brick establishment which
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The Gurley Building prior to the riot (Courtesy Greenwood
Cultural Center).

housed a drug store, barber shop, restaurant
and banquet hall, had been burned to the

ground. So had the Gurley Hotdl, the Red Wing
Hotel, and the Midway Hotdl. Literally dozensof
family-run businesses—from cafes and
mom-and-pop grocery stores, to the Dreamland
Thester, the Y.M.C.A. Cleaners, the East End
Feed Store, and Osborne Monroe' sroller skating
rink — had aso gone up in flames, taking with
them the livelihoods, and in many cases the life
savings, of literally hundreds of people.

The offices of two newspapers — the Tulsa
Star and the Oklahoma Sun — had aso been de-
stroyed, aswere the offices of more than adozen
doctors, dentists, lawyers, redtors, and other
professonals. A United States Post Office sub-
station was burned, as was the all-black Frissell
Memoria Hospita. The brand new Booker T.
Washington High School building escaped the
torches of the rioters, but Dunbar Elementary
School did not. Neither did more than a
half-dozen African American churches, includ-
ing the newly constructed Mount Zion Baptist
Church, an impressive brick tabernacle which
had been dedicated only seven weeks earlier.

Harsher still was the human loss. While we
will probably never know the exact number of
people who lost their lives during the Tulsa
raceriot, even the most conservative estimates
are appalling. While we know that the
so-called “official” estimate of nine whitesand
twenty-six blacksistoo low, it isaso true that
some of the higher estimates are equally dubi-
ous. All told, considerable evidence exists to

suggest that at least seventy-five to
one-hundred people, both black and white, were
killed during the riot. It should be added, how-
ever, that at least one credible source from the
period — Maurice Willows, who directed the
relief operations of the American Red Crossin
Tulsafollowing theriot — indicated in his offi-
cia report that the total number of riot fatalities
may haveran as high as three-hundred.*

We also know a little, at least, about who
some of the victims were. Reuben Everett, who
was black, was alaborer who lived with hiswife
Jane in ahome along Archer Street. Killed by a
gunshot wound on the morning of June 1, 1921,
he is buried in Oaklawn Cemetery. George
Wal ter Daggs, who waswhite, may havedied as
much as twelve hours earlier. The manager of
the Tulsa office of the Pierce Oil Company, he

' Yours Fraternaliy,
' Dr. A, C. Jackson,
_f-‘q':l:lsulrfng Physician & Surgeon
Chmmmic ilisumees pied diseneas of Wemn & Bpegeny

Crlls made in b sy

Plces 5573 - O3 wffew 3i Might
Cut bt Givenwesd gpd Arches Tulan, Daln

(Courtesy of Greenwood Cultural Center).

was shot in the back of the head as he fled from
the initial gunplay of the riot that broke out in
front of the Tulsa County Courthouse on the
evening of May 31. Moreover, Dr. A. C. Jack-
son, a renowned African American physician,
was fatally wounded in his front yard after he
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The destruction affected the African American business section and the residential neighborhoods in
North Tulsa (Courtesy West ern His tory Col lec tions, Univer sity of Oklahoma Li braries).

had surrendered to a group of whites. Shot in
the stomach, he later died at the National
Guard Armory. But for every riot victim's
story that we know, there are others— like the
“unidentified Negroes’ whose burials are re-
corded in the now yellowed pages of old fu-
neral home ledgers — whose names and life
stories are, at least for now, still lost.

By any standard, the Tulsaraceriot of 1921
isone of the great tragedies of Oklahomahis-
tory. Walter White, one of the nation’s fore-
most experts on racial violence, who visited
Tulsa during the week after the riot, was
shocked by what had taken place. “1 am ableto
state,” hesaid, “that the Tulsariot, in sheer bru-
tality and willful destruction of life and prop-
erty, stands without parallel in America.”?

Indeed, for a number of observers through
the years, the term “riot” itself seems some-
how inadequate to describe the violence and
conflagration that took place. For some, what
occurred in Tulsaon May 31 and June 1, 1921
was a massacre, a pogrom, or, to use a more
modern term, an ethniccleansing. For others; it
was nothing short of a race war. But whatever
term is used, one thing is certain: when it was
al over, Tulsa's AfricanAmerican district had
been turned into a scorched wasteland of va-
cant lots, crumbling storefronts, burned
churches, and blackened, |eafless trees.

Like the Murrah Building bombing, the Tulsa
riot would forever ater life in Oklahoma. No-
where, perhaps, was this more starkly apparent
thaninthemat ter of lynching. Likesev eral other
states and territories during the early years of the
twentieth century, the sad spectacle of lynching
was not uncommon in Oklahoma. In her 1942
master’s thesis at the University of Oklahoma,
Mary Elizabeth Estes determined that between
the declaration of statehood on November 16,
1907, and the Tulsaraceriot somethirteen years
later, thirty-two individuals — twenty-six of
whom were black — were lynched in
Oklahoma. But during the twenty years follow-
ing the riot, the number of lynchings statewide
fell to two. Although they paid aterrible price
for their efforts, there is little doubt except by
their actions on May 31, 1921, that black
Tulsans helped to bring the barbaric practice of
lynching in Oklahomato an end.

But unlike the Oklahoma City bombing,
which has, to this day, remained a high profile
event, for many yearsthe Tulsaraceriot practi-
cally disappeared from view. For decades after-
wards, Oklahoma newspapers rarely mentioned
the riot, the state’s historical establishment es-
sentialy ignored it, and entire generations of
Oklahoma school children were taught little or
nothing about what had happened. To be sure,
theriot was still atopic of conversation, particu-
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larly in Tulsa. But these discussions —
whether among family or friends, in barber
shops or on the front porch — were private af-
fairs. And once theriot slipped from the head-
lines, its public memory also began to fade.

Of course, any onewho lived throughtheriot
could never forget what had taken place. And
in Tulsa's African American neighborhoods,
the physical, psychological, and spiritual dam-
age caused by the riot remained highly appar-
ent for years. Indeed, even today there are
placesin the city wherethe scars of theriot can
still be observed. In North Tulsa, the riot was
never forgotten — because it could not be.

But in other sections of the city, and else-
wherethrough out the state, theriot slipped fur-
ther and further from view. And as the years
passed and, particularly after World War 11, as
more and more families moved to Oklahoma
from out-of -state, more and more of the state’s
citizens had simply never heard of theriot. In-
deed, theriot was discussed so little, and for so
long, evenin Tulsa, that in 1996, Tulsa County
District Attorney Bill LaFortune could tell a
reporter, “1 wasborn and raised here, and | had
never heard of the riot.”*

How could this have happened? How could
adisaster the size and scope of the Tulsarace
riot become, somehow, forgotten? How could
such a major event in Oklahoma history be-
come o little known?

Some observers have claimed that the lack
of attention given to theriot over the yearswas
thedi rectresult of nothinglessthana“ conspir-
acy of silence.” And while it is certainly true
that a number of important documents relating
to the riot have turned up missing, and that
some individuals are, to thisday, still reluctant
to talk about what happened, the shroud of si-
lence that descended over the Tulsa race riot
can also be accounted for without resorting to
conspiracy theories. But one must start at the
beginning.

The riot, when it happened, was front-page
news across America. “85 WHITES AND
NEGROES DIE IN TULSA RIOTS’ ran the
headline in the June 2, 1921 edition of the New
York Times, while dozens of other newspapers
across the country published lead stories about

theriot. Indeed, the riot was even news oversess,
“FIERCE OUTBREAK IN OKLAHOMA” de-
clared The Times of London.”

But something else happened as well. For in
the days and weeks that followed the riot, edito-
rial writers from coast-to-coast unleashed ator-
rent of stinging condemnations of what had
taken place. “The bloody scenes at Tulsa,
Oklahoma,” declared the Philadelphia Bulletin,
“are hardly conceivable as happening in Ameri-
can civilization of thepresent day.” For theKen-
tucky StateJournal, theriot was nothing short of
“An Oklahoma Disgrace,” while the Kansas
City Journal was revolted at what it called the
“TulsaHorror.” From both big-city dailiesand
small town newspapers — from the Houston
Post and Nashville Tennessean to thetiny Times
of Gloucester, Massachusetts — came a chorus
of criticism. The Christian Recorder even went
so far as to declare that “Tulsa has become a
name of shame upon America.”®

For many Oklahomans, and particularly for
whites in positions of civic responsibility, such
sentiments were most unwelcome. For regard-
less of what they felt personally about theriot,
in ayoung state where attracting new businesses
and new settlers was a top priority, it soon be-
came evident that the riot was a public relations
nightmare. Nowhere was this felt more acutely
thanin Tulsa. “1 suppose Tulsawill get alot of
unpleasant publicity from thisaffair,” wrote one
Tulsa-based petroleum geologist to family
members back East. Reverend CharlesW. Kerr,
of thecity’ sall-white First PresbyterianChurch,
added his own assessment. “For 22 years | have
been boosting Tulsa," he said, “and we have all
been boosters and boasters about our buildings,
bank ac countsand other assets, but the eventsof
the past week will put astop to the bragging for a
while.”” For some, and particularly for Tulsa's
white business and political leaders, the riot
soon became something best to be forgotten,
something to be swept well beneath history’s
carpet.

What is remarkable, in retrospect, is the de-
greeto which thisnearly happened. For within a
decade after it had happened, the Tulsaraceriot
went from being afront-page, national calamity,
to being an incident portrayed as an unfortunate,
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Despite the aid given by the Red Cross, black Tulsans faced a
gargantuantaskintherebuilding of Greenwood. Literally thow
sands were forced to spend the win ter of 1921-22 liv ing in tents
(Courtesy Oklahoma Historical Society).

but not really very significant, eventinthe state's
past. Oklahoma history textbooks published dur-
ing the 1920s did not mention the riot at all —
nor did ones published in the 1930s. Findly, in
1941, the riot was mentioned in the Oklahoma
volumeintheinfluential American Guide Series
— but only in one brief paragraph®

Nowhere was this historical annesia more
startling than in Tulsa itself, especidly in the
city’s white neighborhoods. “For a while,”
noted former Tulsa oilman Osborn Campbell,
“picture postcards of the victims in awful
poses were sold on the streets,” while more
than one white ex-rioter “boasted about how
many notches he had on hisgun.” But theriot,
which some whites saw as a source of local
pride, in time more generally came to be re-
garded as a local embarrassment. Eventually,
Osborn added, “the talk stopped.”®

S0 too, apparently did the news stories. For
whileitishighly questionablewhether — asit
has been alleged — any Tulsanewspaper actu-
ally discouraged its reporters from writing
about the riot, for years and years on end the
riot does not appear to have been mentioned in
the local press. And at least one local paper
seems to have gone well out of its way, at
times, to avoid the subject altogether.

During the mid-1930s, the Tulsa Tribune —
the city’s afternoon daily newspaper — ran a
regular feature onits editorial page called “ Fif-
teen Years Ago.” Drawn from back issues of
the newspaper, the column highlighted events

which had happened in Tulsaon the same date
fifteen years earlier, including local news sto-
ries, political tidbits, and society gossip. But
when the fifteenth anniversary of the race riot
arrivedin early June, 1936, the Tribune ignored
it completely — and instead ran the following:

FIFTEEN YEARS AGO

Miss Carolyn Skelly was a charming
young hostess of the past week, having en-
tertained at aluncheon and theater party for
Miss Kathleen Sinclair and her guest, Miss
Julia Morley of Saginaw, Mich. Corsage
bouquets of Cecil roses and sweet peas
were presented to the guests, who were
Misses Claudine Miller, Martha Sharpe,
Elizabeth Cook, Jane Robinson, Pauline
Wood, Marie Constantin, Irene Buel,
Thelma Kennedy, Ann Kennedy, Naomi
Brown, Jane Wallace and Edith Smith.

Mrs. O.H.P. Thomaswill entertain for her
daughter, Elizabeth, who has been attending
Randolph Macon school in Lynchburg, Va

Central high school’s crowning social
event of the term just closed was the senior
prom in the gymnasium with about 200
guests in attendance. The grand march was
led by Miss Sara Little and Seth Hughes.

Miss Vera Gwynne will leave next week
for Chicago to enter the University of Chi-
cago where she will take a course in kinder-
garten study.

Mr. And Mrs. E.W. Hance have as their
guests Mr. L.G. Kellenneyer of St. Mary’s,
Ohio.

Mrs. C.B. Hough and her son, Ralph, left
last night for a three-months trip through
the west and northwest. They will return
home via Dallas, Texas, where they will
visit Mrs. Hough's homefolk. ™

Ten years later, in 1946, by which time the
Tribune had added a “Twenty-FiveY earsAgo”
feature, the newspaper once again avoided men-
tioning theriot. It wasasif thegreatestcatastro-
phe in the citly’s history simply had not
happened at all.*

That there would be some reluctance toward
discussing the riot is hardly surprising. Cities
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and states— just like individuals— do not, as
a genera rule, like to dwell upon their past
shortcomings. For years and years, for exam-
ple, Oklahoma school children were taught
only the most sanitized versions of the story of
the Trail of Tears, while the history of davery
in Oklahoma was more or less ignored alto-
gether. Moreover, during the World War I
years, when the nation was engaged in alife or
death struggle against the Axis, history text-
books quite understandably stressed themes of
national unity and consensus. The Tulsa race
riot, needlessto say, did not qualify.

But in Tulsaitself, the riot had affected far
too many families, on both sides of the tracks,
ever to sink entirely from view. But as the
years passed and the riot grew ever more dis-
tant, a mindset developed which held that the
riot was one part of the city’s past that might
best be forgotten altogether. Remarkably
enough, that is exactly what began to happen.

When Nancy Feldman moved to Tulsa dur-
ing the spring of 1946, she had never heard of
the Tulsa race riot. A Chicagoan, and a new
bride, she accepted a position teaching sociol-
ogy at theUniversity of Tulsa. But trained in so-
cia work, she aso began working with the City
Health Department, where she came into con-

tact with Robert Fairchild, arecreation specialist
who was also one of Tulsa's handful of African
American municipa employees. A riot survivor,
Fairchild told Feldman of his experiences during
the disaster, which made a deep impression on
the young sociologist, who decided to share her
discovery with her students*®
But as it turned out, Feldman also soon
learned something else, namely, that learning
about the riot, and teaching about it, were two
entirely dif ferent propositions.“Duringmyfirst
months at TU,” she later recalled:
| mentioned the raceriot in class one day
and was surprised at the universal surprise
among my students. No one in this all-
whiteclassroom of bothvet er ans, whowere
older, and standard 18-year-old freshmen,
had ever heard of it, and some stoutly de-
nied it and questioned my facts.

| invited Mr. Fairchild to cometo classand
tell of his experience, waking along the rail -
road tracksto Turley with hisbrothersand sis-
ter. Again, there was stout denid and, even
more surprisng, many students asked their
parents and were told, no, there was no race
riotat al. | wascaledtotheDean’ sof ficeand
advised to drop the whole subject.
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The next semester, | invited Mr.
Fairchild to come to class. Several times
the Dean warned me about this. | do not be-
lieve | ever suffered from this exercise of
my freedom of speech . . . but as a very
young and new instructor, | certainly felt
threatened.

For Feldman, such behavior amounted to
nothing less than “Purposeful blindness and
memory blocking.” Moreover, she discovered, it
was not limited to the classroom. “When | would
mention the riot to my white friends, few would
talk about it. And they certainly didn’t want to.”**

While perhaps surprising in retrospect,
Feldman’'s experiences were by no means
unigue. When Nancy Dodson, a Kansas native
who later taught at Tulsa Junior College,
moved to Tulsa in 1950, she too discovered
that, at least in some partsof thewhitecommu-
nity, the riot was a taboo subject. “I was ad-
monished not to mention the riot almost upon
our arrival,” she later recalled, “Because of
shame, | thought. But the explanation was
‘you don’t want to start another.’”*°

Theriot did not fare much better inlocal his-
tory ef forts. While Angie Debo did make men-
tion of theriotin her 1943 history, Tulsa: From
Creek Town to Oil Capital, her account was
both brief and superficial. And fourteen years
later, during the summer of 1957, when the
city celebrated its “ Tulsarama’ — aweek-long
festival commemorating the semi-centennial
of Oklahoma statehood — the riot was, once
again, ignored. Some thirty-five years after it
had taken the lives of dozens of innocent peo-
ple, destroyed a neighborhood nearly
one-square-mile in size in a firestorm which
sent columns of black smoke billowing hun-
dreds of feet into the air, and brought the nor-
mal life of the city to a complete standstill, the
Tulsa race riot was fast becoming little more
than a historical inconvenience, something,
perhaps, that ought not be discussed at al.

Despite such officid negligence, however,
there were dways Tulsansthrough the yearswho
helped make it certain that the riot was not for-
gotten. Both black and white, sometimes work-
ing aone but more often working together, they
collected evidence, preserved photographs, in-

terviewed eyewitnesses, wrote about their find-
ings, and tried, as best asthey could, to ensure that
the riot was not erased from history.

None, perhaps, succeeded as spectacularly as
Mary E. Jones Parrish, ayoung African Ameri-
can teacher and journalist. Parrish had moved to
Tulsa from Rochester, New York in 1919 or
1920, and had found work teaching typing and
shorthand at the all-black Hunton Branch of the
Y.M.C.A.. With her young daughter, Florence
Mary, she lived at the Woods Building in the
heart of the African American business district.
But when the riot broke out, both mother and
daughter were forced to abandon their apart-
ment and fleefor their lives, running northalong
Greenwood Avenue amid a hail of bullets.'’

Immediately following the riot, Parrish was
hired by the Inter-Racial Commission to “do
some reporting” on what had happened.
Throwing herself into her work with her charac-
teristic verve — and, one imagines, a borrowed
typewriter — Parrish interviewed several eye-
witnesses and transcribed the testimonials of
survivors. She aso wrote an account of her own
harrowing experiences during the riot and, to-
gether with photographs of the devastation and a
partial roster of property losses in the African
American community, Parrish published all of
the above in abook called Events of the Tulsa
Disaster. And while only ahandful of copies ap-
pear to have been printed, Parrish’ s volume was
not only the first book published about the riot,
and apioneering work of journalism by an Afri-
can American woman, but remains, to this day,
an invaluable contemporary account.™®

It took another twenty-five years, however,
until thefirst general history of theriot waswrit-
ten. In 1946, a white World War 1l veteran
named Loren L. Gill was attending the

Univergity of Tulsa. Intrigued by lingering sto-
riesof theraceriot, and armed with both consider-
able energy and estimable research skills, Gill
decided to maketheriot the subject of hismaster’s
thesis.”®

The end result, “The Tulsa Race Riot,” was,
al told, an exceptional piece of work, Gill
worked diligently to uncover the causes of the
riot, and to trace its path of violence and de-
struction, by scouring old newspaper and maga-
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zine articles, Red Cross records, and
government documents. Moreover, Gill inter-
viewed more than a dozen local citizens, in-
cluding police and city officials, about theriot.
And remarkably for the mid-1940's, Gill also
interviewedanumber of Af ricanAmericanriot
survivors, including Reverend Charles Lanier
Netherland, Mrs. Dimple L. Bush, and the
noted attorney, Amos T. Hall. And while a
number of Gill’s conclusions about the riot
have not withstood subsequent historical scru-
tiny, few have matched his determination to
uncover the truth,

Y et despite Gill’s accomplishment, the riot
remained well-buried in the city’s historical
closet. Riot survivors, participants, and ob-
servers, to be certain, still told stories of their
experiences to family and friends. And at
Tulsa' s Booker T. Washington High School, a
handful of teachers made certain that their stu-
dents— many of whose fami lieshadmovedto
Tulsa after 1921 — learned at least a little
about what had happened. But thefact remains
that for nearly a quarter of a century after
Loren Gill completed his master’s thesis, the
Tulsarace riot remained well out of the public
spotlight.#

But beneath the surface, change was afoot.
For as the national debate over race relations
intensified with the emergence of the modern
civil rights movement of the 1950s and 1960s,
Tulsa’'s own racial customs were far from
static. Asthe city began to addressissues aris-
ing out of school desegregation, sit-ins, job
bias, housing discrimination, urban renewal,
and whiteflight, therewerethosewho believed
that Tulsa's racial past — and particularly the
race riot — needed to be openly confronted.

Few felt this as strongly as those who had
survived the tragedy itself, and on the evening
of June 1, 1971, dozens of African American
riot survivors gathered at Mount Zion Baptist
Church for a program commemorating the fif-
tieth anniversary of the riot. Led by W.D. Wil-
liams, alongtime Booker T. Washington High
School history teacher, whose family had suf-
fered immense property loss during the vio-
lence, theother speak ers that eveningincluded
fellow riot survivors Mable B. Little, who had

lost both her home and her beauty shop during
the conflagration, and E.L. Goodwin, Sr., the
publisher of the Oklahoma Eagle, the city’s
black newspaper. Although the audience at the
ceremony — which included a handful of
whites — was not large, the event represented
the first Public acknowledgment of the riot in
decades.”

But another episode that same spring also re-
vealed just how far that Tulsa, when it cameto
owning up to the race riot, still had to go. The
previous autumn, Larry Silvey, the publications
manager at the Tulsa Chamber of Commerce,
decided that on the fiftieth anniversary of the
riot, the chamber’ s magazine should run a story
on what had happened. Silvey then contacted
Ed Wheeler, the host of * The Gilcrease Story," a
popular history programwhichairedonlocal ra
dio. Wheeler — who, like Silvey, was white —
agreed to research and write the article. Thus,
during the winter of 1970-71, Wheeler went to
work, interviewing dozens of elderly black and
white riot eyewitnesses, and searching through
archives in both Tulsa and Oklahoma City for
documents pertaining to the riot.®

But something el se happened as well. For on
two separate occasions that winter, Wheeler
was approached by white men, unknown to him,
who warned him, “Don’t write that story.” Not
long thereafter, Wheeler’ s home telephone be-
ganringingat all hoursof theday and night, and
one morning he awoke to find that someone had
taken abar of soap and scrawled acrossthefront
windshield of his car, “Best check under your
hood from now on.”

But Ed Wheeler was a poor candidate for
such scaretactics. A former United States Army
infantry officer, the incidents only angered him.
Moreover, hewasnow deep into trying to piece
together the history of the riot, and was not
about to be deterred. But to be on the safe side,
he sent his wife and young son to live with his
mother-in-law. *

Despite the harassment, Wheeler completed
his article and Larry Silvey was pleased with
the results. However, when Silvey began to lay
out the story — complete with never-before-
pub lished photo graphsof boththeriot anditsaf-
termath chamber of commerce management
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Representative Don Ross at Greenwood and Archer (Courtesy Greenwood Cultural Center).

killed the article. Silvey appealed to the cham-
ber’sboard of directors, but they, too, refused
to allow the story to be published.

Determined that his efforts should not have
been in vain, Wheeler then tried to take his
story to Tulsa stwo daily newspapers, but was
rebuffed. Intheend, hisarticle— called “Pro-
fileof aRace Riot” — was published in Impact
Magazine, a new, black-oriented publication
edited by ayoung African American journalist
named Don Ross.

“Profile of a Race Riot” was a hand-biting,
path-breaking story, easily the best piece of
writing published about theriotindecades. But
iswasalso astory whose impact was both lim-
ited and far from citywide. For while it has
been reported that the issue containing
Wheeler’ s story sold out “virtually overnight,”
the magazine's readership, which was not
largeto beginwith,wasal mostex clusively Af-
rican American. Ultimately, “Profileof aRace
Riot” marked a turning point in how the riot
would be written about in the years to come,
but at the time that it was published, few

Tulsans— and hardly any whites— even knew
of its existence.”

One of the few who did was Ruth Sigler
Avery, awhite Tulsawoman with a passion for
history. A young girl at the time of the riot,
Avery had been haunted by her memories of the
smoke and flames rising up over the African
American district, and by the two trucks carry-
ing the bodies of riot victims that had passed in
front of her home on East 8th Street.

Determined that the history of theriot needed
to be preserved, Avery begin interviewing riot
survivors, collecting riot photographs, and serv-
ing as a one-woman research bureau for anyone
interested in studying what had happened. Con-
vinced that the riot had been deliberately cov-
ered-up, Avery embarked upon what turned out
to be a decades-long personal crusade to see
that the true story of the riot was finally told.?®

Along theway, Avery met somekindred spir-
its — and none more important that Mozella
Franklin Jones. The daughter of riot survivor
andpromi nentAfrican Americanattor ney Buck
Colbert Franklin, Jones had long endeavored to
raise awareness of the riot particularly outside



of Tulsa's black community. While she was of -
ten deeply frustrated by white resistance to con-
fronting the riot, her accomplishments were far
from inconsequential. Along with Henry C.
Whitlow, Jr., a history teacher at Booker T.
Washington High School, Jones had not only
helped to desegregate the Tulsa Historical Soci-
ety, but had mounted the first-ever mgjor exhibi-
tion on the history of African Americans in
Tulsa. Moreover, she had aso created, at the
Tulsa Historical Society, the first collection of
riot photographs available to the public.?’

None of these activities, however, was by it-
self any match for the culture of silence which
had long hovered over theriot, and for yearsto
come, discussions of the riot were often cur-
tailed. Taken together, the fiftieth anniversary
ceremony, “Profile of a Race Riot," and the
work of Ruth Avery and Mozella Jones had
nudged theriot if not into the spotlight, then at
least out of the back reaches of the city’s his-
torical closet.?®

Moreover, these local effortsmirrored some
larger trends in American society. Nation-
wide, the decade of the 1970s witnessed a vir-
tual explosion of interest in the African
American experience. Millions of televison
viewers watched Roots, the miniseries adapta-
tion of Alex Haley’s chronicle of one family’s
tortuous journey through slavery, while books
by black authors climbed to the top of the
bestseller lists. Black studies programs and de-
partments were created at colleges from
coast-to-coast, while at both the high school
and university level, teaching materials began
to more fully addressissues of race. As schol-
arsstarted to re-examinethelong and turbul ent
history of race relationsin America— includ-
ing racial violence — the Tulsa riot began to
receive some limited national exposure .*

Similar activities took place in Oklahoma.
Kay M. Tedl’s Black History in Oklahoma, an
impressive collection of historical documents
published in 1971, helped to make the history of
black Oklahomans far more accessible to teach-
ers across the state. Tedll’ sbook paid significant
atention to the story of theriot, as did Arthur
Tolson's The Black Oklahomans: A History
1541-1972, which came out one year |ater.?

In 1975, Northeastern State University histo-
rian Rudia M. Halliburton, Jr. published The
Tulsa Race War of 1921. Adapted from an arti-
cle he had published three years earlier in the
Journal of Black Studies, Halliburton's book
featured a remarkable collection of riot photo-
graphs, many of which he had collected from his
students. Issued by a small academic press in
California, Halliburton’ s book received little at-
tention outside of scholarly circles. Nonethe-
less, as the first book about the riot published in
more than a half-century, it was another impor-
tant step toward unlocking the riot’s history >

Intheend, it would still take several years—
and other books, and other individuals — to lift
the vell of silence fully which had long hovered
over theriot. However, by the end of the 1970s,
efforts were underway that, once and for al,
would finally bring out into the open the history
of the tragic events of the spring of 1921.%

Today, the Tulsa race riot is anything but
unknown.

During the past two years, both theriot itself,
and the efforts of Oklahomans to come to terms
with the tragedy, have been the subject of doz-
ens of magazine and newspaper articles, radio
talk shows, and television documentaries. In an
unprecedented and continuing explosion of
press attention, journalists and film crews from
as far away as Paris, France and London, Eng-
land have journeyed to Oklahoma to interview
riot survivors and eyewitnesses, search through
archives for documents and photographs, and
walk the ground where the killings and burning
of May 31 and June 1, 1921 took place.

After years of neglect, stories and articles
about the riot have appeared not only in
Oklahoma magazines and newspapers, but also
in the pages of the Dallas Morning News, The
Economist, the Kansas City Star, the London
Daily Telegraph, the Los Angeles Times, the
National Post of Canada, the New York Times,
Newsday, the Philadelphia Inquirer, US. News
and World Report, USA Today, and the Wash-
ington Post. Theriot has a so been the subject of
wire stories issued by the Associated Press and
Reuter’s. In addition, news stories and televi-
sion documentaries about the riot have been pro-
duced by ABC News Nightline, Australian
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Broadcasting, the BBC, CBS News' 60 Min-
utes 11, CNN, Cinemax, The History Channel,
NBC News, National Public Radio, Norwe-
gian Broadcasting, South African Broadcast-
ing, and Swedish Broadcasting, aswell asby a
number of in-state television and radio sta-
tions. Various web sites and Internet chat
rooms have also featured the riot, while in nu-
merous high school and college classrooms
across America, theriot has become a subject
of study. All told, for the first time in nearly
eighty years, the Tulsa race riot of 1921 has
once again become front-page news.*

What has not made the headlines, however,
is that for the past two-and-one-half years, an
intensive effort has been quietly underway to
investigate, document, analyze, and better un-
derstand the history of theriot. Archives have
been searched through, old newspapers and
government records have been studied, and so-
phisticated, state-of-the-art scientific equip-
ment has been utilized to help reveal the
potential location of the unmarked burial sites
of riot victims. While literally dozens of what
appearedtobepromisingleadsforreli ablenew
infor mationabout theriot turned outtobelittle
more than dead ends, a significant amount of
previously unavailable evidence — including
long-forgotten documents and photographs —
has been discovered.

None of this, it must be added, could have
been possible without the generous assistance of
Oklahomans from al walks of life. Scores of se-
nior citizens — including riot survivors and ob-
servers, as wel as the sons and daughters of
policemen, National Guardsmen, andriotpartic
ipants have helped usto gain amuch clearer pic-
ture of what happened in Tulsaduring the spring
of 1921. All told, literally hundreds of Oklaho-
mans, of al races, have given of their time, their
memories, and their ex pertisetohelpusal gaina
better understanding of this great tragedy.

This report is a product of these combined
ef forts. Theschol arswho have writtenitareall
Oklahomans — either by birth, upbringing,
residency, or family heritage. Young and
not-so-young, black and white, men and
women, we include within our ranks both the
grandniece and the son of African American

riot survivors, aswell asthe son of awhite eye-
witness. We are historians and archaeologists,
forensic scientistsand legal scholars, university
professors and retirees.

For the editors of this report, the riot aso bears
considerable personal meaning. Tulsa is our
hometown, and we are both graduates of the Tulsa
Public Schools. And athough we grew up in dif-
ferent eras, and in different parts of town — and
heard about the riot, as it were, from different
sdes of the fence — both of our lives have been
indelibly shaped by what happened in 1921.

History knows no fences. While the stories
that black Oklahomans tell about the riot often
dif fer fromthoseof their whitecounter parts,itis
the job of the historian to locate the truth wher-
ever it may lie. Thereare, of course, many legiti-
mate areas of dispute about the riot — and will
be, without a doubt, for years to come. But far
more significant is the tremendous amount of
information that we now know about the trag-
edy — about how it started and how it ended,
about its terrible fury and its murderous vio-
lence, about the community it devastated and
the livesit shattered. Neither myth nor *confu-
sion,” the riot was an actual, definable, and de-
scribable event. In Oklahoma history, the
central truths of which can, and must, be told.

That won't always be easy. For despite the
many acts of courage, heroism, and selflessness
that occurred on May 31 and June 1, 1921 —
some of which are described in the pages that
follow — the story of the Tulsa race riot is a
chronicle of hatred and fear, of burning houses
and shots fired in anger, of justice denied and
dreams deferred. Like the bombing of the
Murrah Federal Building some seventy-three
years later, there is simply no denying the fact
that the riot was a true Oklahoma tragedy, per-
haps our greatest.

But, like the bombing, the riot can also be a
bearer of lessons— about not only who we are, but
aso about who we would like to be. For only by
looking to the past can we see not only where we
have been, but aso wherewe are going. And asthe
firsg one-hundred years of Oklahoma statehood
drawsto aclose, and anew century begins, we can
best honor that past not by burying it, but by facing
it squarely, honestly, and, above dl, openly.
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The Tulsa Race Riot

By Scott Ellsworth

His tory does not take place in a vac uum.

Historical events, be they great or small, do
not exist in isolation, but are a product of the
age during which they occurred. Often times,
the reasons why a particular historical incident
turned out theway it did can bereadily located,
while for others, the causes may be more diffi-
cult tolocate. In both cases, onerule still holds
true: that the events of the past cannot be sepa-
rated from the era when they occurred.

The same applies to the Tulsa race riot as
well. To understand the riot, one cannot begin
with the first shot that was fired, nor even with
the seemingly insignificant chain of events that
led to the first signs of redl trouble. Rather, we
must beginwiththespirit of thetimes. Only see-
ing the world as Tulsans did in 1921, and by
grasping both their passions and their fears, can
we comprehend not only how this great tragedy
could occur, but why, in the end, that it did.
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Of all the qualities that impressed
out-of-town visitors about Tulsain the days be-
foretheraceriot, one of them was just how new
and up-to-date everything seemed. From the
modern office buildings that were rising up out
of downtown, to the electric trolleys that rum-
bled back and forth along Main Street, to the
rows of freshly painted houses that kept push-
ing the city limits further and further into the
surrounding countryside, compared to other cit-
ies, Tulsawasnothing short of anover night sen+
sation. Indeed, Tulsa had grown so much and so
fast — in a now-you-don’t-see-it, now-you-do
kind of fashion — that local boosters called it
the Magic City.

The elixir which had fueled this remarkable
growth was, of course, oil. The discovery of the
nearby Glenn Pool — reputed to be the “richest
small ail field in the world” — in 1905, and by
the farsightedness of local leaders to build a
bridge across the Arkansas River one year ear-
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A birds eye view of Tulsa in 1918 (Cour tesy Mark Adkinson,).

lier, the sleepy rural crossroads known as
Tulsa, Indian Territory was suddenly cata
pulted into the urban age.

By 1910, thanks to the forest of derricks
which had risen up over the nearby oil fields,
Tulsa had mushroomed into a raucous boom-
town of more than 10,000. Astonishingly, its
real growth was only beginning. As the word
began to spread about Tulsa — as a place
where fortunes could be made, lives could be
rebuilt, and afresh start could behad— people
literally began to pour in from al over the
country. Remarkably enough, by 1920, the
population of greater Tulsahad skyrocketed to
more than 100,000.

The city that these newcomers had built was,
in many ways, equaly remarkable. Anchored
by the oil industry, and by its new role as the
hub of the vast Mid-Continent Field, by 1921
Tulsawas hometo not only the offices of more
than four-hundred dif fer ent oil andgascom pa
nies, but also to ascore of oil field supply com-
panies, tank manufacturers, pipe line
companies, and refineries. While the city also
enjoyed itsroleas a regional commercial cen-
ter, serving nearby farms and ranches, for good

reasonitwasal ready beingreferredtoastheQil
Capital of the World.

Despite itsyouth, Tulsaaso had acquired, by
1921, practically all of the trappings of older,
more established American cities. Four differ-
ent rallroads — the Frisco, the Santa Fe, the
Katy, and the MidlandV al ley — servedthecity,
as did two separate inter-urban train lines. A
new, all-purpose bridge spanned the Arkansas
River near Eleventh Street, while street repair,
owing to the ever-increasing numbers of auto-
mobiles, was practically constant. By 1919,
Tulsa also could boast of having its own com-
mercia airport.

A new city hall had been built in 1917, anew
federal building in 1915, and a new county
courthousein 1912. New schools and parks also
had been dedicated, and in 1914, the city
erected amagnificent new auditorium, the 3,500
seat Convention Hall. Tulsa had grown so
quickly,in fact, that even the old city cemetery
had to be closed to new burials. Inits place, the
city had designated Oaklawn Cemetery, located
at Eleventh Street and Peoria Avenue, as the
new city cemetery.’



In 1921, Tulsa could lay claim to two daily
newspapersthe Tulsa World, a morning paper,
and a newly renamed afternoon daily, the
Tulsa Tribune plusa handful of weeklies. Ra-
dio had not arrived yet, but the city was con-
nected to the larger world through four
different telegraph companies. Telephone ser-
vice aso existed — with some ten-thousand
phones in use by 1918 — although
long-distance service was still in its infancy.
Whilethe city waslinked both to nearby towns
and to the state capital at Oklahoma City by a
network of roads, rail travel wasby far thefast-
est and most reliable mode of transportation in
and out of town.

Seven different banks, some of which were
capitalized at more than one-million dollars
each, were located downtown, as were the of-
fices of dozens of insurance agencies, invest-
ment advisers, accounting firms, stock and
bondbroker ages, real estateagencies,andloan
companies. By 1921, more than two-hundred
attorneys were practicing in Tulsa, as were
more than one-hundred-fifty doctors and sixty
dentists.

Frequently awash in money, the citizens of
Tulsahad plenty of placesto spend it from fur-
niture stores, jewelry shops, and clothing
stores to restaurants and cafes, motion picture
theaters, billiard halls, and speakeasies. Those
who could afford it could find just about any-
thing in Tulsa, from the latest in fashion to the
most modern home appliances, including vac-
uum cleaners, electric washing machines and
Victrolas. For those whose luck had run dry,
the city had its share of pawnshops and sec-
ond-hand stores.?

Many Tulsans were especially proud of the
city’s residential neighborhoods — and with
good reason. From the workingman’s castles
that offered electric lighting, indoor plumbing,
and spacious front porches, to the real castles
that were being built by the oil barons, the city
could boast of block after block of handsome,
modern homes. While Tulsawas by no means
without its dreary rooming houses and poverty
stricken side streets, brand new neighborhoods
with names like Maple Ridge, Sunset Park,
Glen Acres, College Addition, Gurley Hill,

and Irving Heights were built year after year.
Somef the new homeswere so palatial that they
were regularly featured on picture postcards,
chamber of commerce pamphlets, and other
publications extolling the virtues of life in
Tulsa*

Sotoo, not surprisingly, wasdowntown. With
its modern office buildings, its graceful stone
churches, and its busy nightlife, it is easy to see
why Tulsans— particularly those who worked,
played, or worshiped downtown — were so
proud of the city’ sever- growing skyline. What
the pamphlets and the picture postcards did not
reveal was that, despite its impressive new ar-
chitecture and its increasingly urbane affecta-
tions, Tulsa was a deeply troubled town. As
1920 turned into 1921, the city would soon face
a crossroads that, in the end, would change it
forever.

However, chamber of commerce pamphlets
and the picture postcards did not revea every-
thing. Tulsawas, in some ways, not one city but
two. Practically in the shadow of downtown,
there sat a community that was no less remark-
able than Tulsa itself. Some whites disparag-
ingly referred to it as “Little Africa,” or worse,
but it has become knownin later yearssimply as
Greenwood.” In the early months of 1921, it was
the home of nearly ten-thousand AfricanAmeri-
can men, women, and children.

Many had ties to the region that stretched
back for generations. Some were the descen-
dants of African American slaves, who had ac-
companied the Creeks, Cherokees, and
Choctaws on the Trail of Tears. Others were the
children and grandchildren of runaway slaves
who had fled to the Indian nations in the years
prior to and during the Civil War. A few elderly
residents, some of whom were later interviewed
by WPA workers during the 1930s, had been
born into avery.®

However, most of Tulsa's African American
residents had come to Oklahoma, like their
white neigh bors, inthegreat boomyearsjust be-
fore and after statehood. Some had come from
Mississippi, some from Missouri, and others
had journeyed all the way from Georgia. For
many, Oklahoma represented not only a chance
to escapethe harsher racial realitiesof lifeinthe
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B. C. Franklin (Cour tesy John Hope Frank lin).

for mer states of the Old South, but wasliterally
aland of hope, a place worth sacrificing for, a
placeto start anew. And comethey did, inwag
ons and on horseback, by train and on foot.
While some of the new settlerscamedi rectlyto
Tulsa, many others had first lived in smaller
commu ni ties— many of whichwereall-black,
or nearly so— scattered throughout the state.

B.C. Franklin was one. Born in a small
country crossroads about twenty miles south-
west of Pauls Valley, Franklin’s family had
roots in Oklahoma that stretched back to the
days of the old Chickasaw Nation during the
Civil War. An intelligent and determined
young man, Franklin had attended college in
Tennessee and Georgia, but returned to Indian
Territory to open up alaw practice. He eventu-
aly settled in Rentiesville, an all-black town
located between Muskogee and Checotah,
where he became not only the sole lawyer in
town, but also its postmaster, its justice of the
peace, and one of its leading businessmen.
However, as his son John Hope Franklin later
wrote, “there was not a decent living in al
those activities.” Thus,inFebruary 1921,B.C.
Franklin moved to Tulsain the hopes of setting
up amore lucrative practice.’

Franklin’s experiences, how ever, werehardly
unique, and scattered about Greenwood were
other busi nessmenand busi nesswomenwhohad
first tried their luck in smaller communities. In
the end, however, their earlier difficulties often
proved to be an asset in their new home. Full of
energy and well-schooled in entrepre-
neurialism, these new settlers brought consider-
able business skills to Tulsa. Aided by the
buoyant local economy, they went to work on
building business enterprises that rested upon
sturdier economic foundations. By early 1921,
the community that they built was, by national
standards, in many ways quite remarkable.®

Running north out of the downtown commer-
cia district — and shaped, more or less, like an
elongated jigsaw puzzle piece — Greenwood
was bordered by the Frisco railroad yardsto the
south, by Lansing StreetandtheMidlandVal ley
tracks to the east, and by Standpipe and Sunset
Hills to the west. The section line, now known
as Pine Street, had for many years been the
northernmost boundary of the African Ameri-
can settlement, but as Tulsa had grown, so had
Greenwood. By 1921, new all-black housing de-
velopments — such as the Booker T. Washing-
ton and Dunbar Additions — now reached past
Pine and into the open countryside north of the
city.

The backbone of the community, however,
was Greenwood Avenue. Running north for
more than a mile— from Archer Street and the
Frisco yards all theway past Pine— it was not
only black Tulsa's primary thoroughfare, but
also possessed considerable symbolic meaning
as well. Unlike other streets and avenues in
Tulsa, which crisscrossed both white and black
neighborhoods, Greenwood Avenue was essen-
tial l% confined to the African Americancommu-
nity.

The southern end of Greenwood Avenue, and
adjacent side streets, was the home of the Afri-
can American commercial district. Nicknamed
“Deep Greenwood,” thissev eral block stretch of
handsome one, two, and three-story red brick
buildings housed dozens of black-owned and
operated businesses, including grocery stores
and meat markets, clothing and dry good stores,
billiard halls, beauty parlors and barber shops,



Centered along busy Green wood Av e nue, Tulsa’s Afri can-American com mer cial dis trict was a bona fide Amer i can suc cess story.

Home to literally doz ens of black-owned and op er ated busi nesses in the days be fore the riot, “Deep Greenwood” could also lay
claim to a public li brary, a postal sub sta tion, a Y. M. C. A. branch, and the of fices of two newspapers (Cour tesy Don Ross).

as well as the Economy Drug Company, Wil-
liam Anderson’s jewelry store, Henry Lilly’s
upholstery shop, and A.S. Newkirk’s photog-
raphy studio. A suit of clothes purchased at
Elliott & Hooker’s clothing emporium at 124
N. Greenwood, could befitted acrossthe street
a H.L. Byars tailor shop at 105 N. Green-
wood, and then cleaned around the corner at
Hope Watson's cleanersat 322 E. Archer.

There were plenty of placesto eat including
late night sandwich shops and barbecue joints
to Doc’'s Beanery and Hamburger Kelly’'s
place. Lilly Johnson’s Liberty Cafe, recalled
Mabel Little, who owned a beauty shop in
Greenwood at the time of the riot, served
home-cooked meals at al hours, while at the
nearby Little Cafe, “people lined up waiting
for their specialty — chicken or smothered
steak with rice and brown gravy.” A
Coca-Cola, a sarsaparilla, or a soda could be
bought at Rolly and Ada Huff’ s confectionery
on Archer between Detroit and Cincinnati. Al-
though both the nation and Oklahoma were
nominaly dry, there were also places where a
man or a woman could purchase a shot of
bootleg whisk%/ or a milky-colored glass of
Choctaw beer *
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For a community of its size, the Greenwood
business district could boast of anumber of im-
pressive commercial structures. John and Loula
Williams, who owned the three-story Williams
Building at the northwest corner of Greenwood
Avenue and Archer Street, also operated the
seven-hundred-fifty seat Dreamland Theater,
that offered live musical and theatrical revues as
well as silent movies accompanied by a piano
player. Across the street from the Dreamland
sat the white-owned Dixie Theater with seating
for one-thousand, which made it the second
largest theater in town. In nearby buildingswere
theof ficesof nearly all of Tulsa sblack law yers,
realtors, and other professionals. Most impres-
sively, there were fifteen African American
physicians in Tulsa at the time of the riot, in-
cluding Dr. A.C. Jackson, who had been de-
scribed by one of the Mayo brothers as the
“most able Negro surgeon in America’ .

The overal intellectual life of Greenwood
was, for acommunity of its size, quite striking.
Therewas not one black newspaper but two - the
Tulsa Star and the Oklahoma Sun. African
Americans were discouraged from utilizing the
new Carnegie library downtown, but asmaller,
al-black branch library had been opened on Ar-
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cher Street. Nationally recognized African
American lead ers, suchasW.E.B. DuBois, had
lectured in Tulsa before the riot. Moreover,
Greenwood was also home to a local business
league, various fraterna orders, a Y.M.C.A.
branch, and a number of women'’s clubs, the
last of which were often led by the more than
thirty teachers who taught in the city’s sepa-
rate— and, asfar asfacilities were concerned,
decidedly unequal — African American pub-
lic schools.

The political issues of the day aso attracted
considerableinterest. The Tulsa Star, in partic-
ular, not only provided extensive coverage of
national, state, and local political campaigns
and election results, but also devoted signifi-
cant column space for recording the activities
of the local al-black Democratic and Republi-
can clubs. Moreover, the Star dso paid atten-
tion to a number of quasi-political movements
aswell, including Marcus Garvey’s Universal
Negro Improvement Association, different
back-to-Africa  movements, and various na-
tionalist organizations. One such group, the
African Blood Brotherhood, later claimed to
hav%had a chapter in Greenwood prior to the
riot.

When it cameto religious activity, however,
therewasno questionat all where Tulsa’ sAf ri-
can American community stood. Churchmem-
bershipin Tulsaran high. On aper capitabasis,
there were more churches in black Tulsa than
there were in the city’s white community as
well asanumber of Bible study groups, Chris-
tian youth organizations, and chapters of na-
tional religious societies. All told, there were
more than a dozen African American churches
in Tulsa at the time of theriot, including First
Baptist, Vernon A.M.E., Brown’'s Chapel,
Morning Star, Bethel Seventh Day Adventist,
and Par adiseBaptist, aswell asChurch of God,
Nazarene, and Church of God in Christ congre-
gations. Most impressive from an architectural
standpoint, perhaps, was the beautiful, brand
new home of Mount Zion Baptist Church,
which was dedicated on April 10, 1921 — less
than eight weeks before theriot.™

The new Mount Zion Baptist Church build-
ing (constructed of brick and mortar) also was

atangi blesymbol, of thefact that Af ri can Amer-
icans had also shared, to some degree, in
Tulsa' s great economic boom. While modest in
comparison with the fortunes being amassed by
the city’s white millionaires, Greenwood was
home to some highly successful business entre-
preneurs. O.W. Gur ley, ablack real estatedevel-
oper and the owner of the Gurley Hotel,
reportedly suffered some $65,000 in losses dur-
ing theriot. Even more impressive was the busi-
ness resume of J.B. Stradford, whose assets
were said to be nearly twiceaslarge. Stradford,
a highly successful owner of rental property,
had borrowed $20,000 in order to construct his
own hotel. Opened on June 1, 1918, the
Stradford Hotel, a modern fifty-four room
structure, instantly became not only one of the
truejewelsof Greenwood Av enue, butwasalso
one of the largest black-owned businesses in
Oklahoma.**

Most of the black-owned businessesin Tulsa
were, of course, much more modest affairs.

One of the Mann Grocery stores of the Greenwood district
(Courtesy Greenwood Cultural Center).

Scattered about the district were numerous
small stores, from two-seater barber shops to
family-run grocery stores, that helped to make
pre-riot Greenwood, onaper capitabass, oneof
the most busi ness-ladenAfri canAmeri cancom-
munitiesin the country. Grit, hard work, and de-
termination were the main reasons for this
success, as were the entrepreneurial skills that
were imported to Tulsafrom smaller communi-
ties across Oklahoma.

There were other reasons as well. Tulsa's
booming economy was a mgjor factor, as was
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the fact that, on the whole, Greenwood was not
only the place where black Tulsans chose to
shop, but was aso practically the only place
that they could. Hemmed in by the city’ sresi-
dential segregation ordinance, African Ameri-
cans were generally barred from patronizing
white-owned stores downtown — or ran the
risk of insult, or worse, if they tried. While
many black Tulsans made aconsciousdecision
to patronize African American merchants, the
fact of the matter was that they had few others
placesto go.®

There was no dearth of African American
consumers. Despite the growing fame of its
commercial district, the vast majority of
Greenwood’ s adults were neither businessmen
nor businesswomen, but worked long hours,
under trying conditions, for white employers.
Largely barred from employment in both the
oil industry andfrommost of Tulsa’ smanufac
turing facil i ties, thesemen andwomentoiled at
difficult, often dirty, and generally menial jobs
— the kinds that most whites considered be-
neath them—as janitors and ditch-diggers,
dishwashers and maids, porters and day labor-
ers, domestics and service workers. Unsung
and largely forgotten, it was, nevertheless,
their paychecks that built Greenwood, and
their hard work that helped to build Tulsa.*®

Equally forgotten perhaps, are the housing
conditions that these men and women returned
to at the end of the day. Although Greenwood
contained some beautiful, modern homes —
particularly thoseof thedoctors, busi nessown
ers,andeducators wholivedinthefashionable
500 block of North Detroit Avenue along the
shoulder of Standpipe Hill — most African
Americans in pre-riot Tulsa lived in far more
meager circumstances. According to a study
conducted by the American Association of So-
cial Workers of living conditions in black
Tulsa shortly before theriot, some 95 percent
of the Negro residentsin the black belt livedin
poorly constructed frame houses, without con-
veniences, and on streets which were unpaved
and onwhich the drainagewasall surface.”*’

Not all black Tulsans, however, lived in
Greenwood. As the city boomed and the
newly-minted oil tycoons built mansions, pur-

chased touring cars, and in general sought to
mimic the lifestyles of their more established
counterparts back East, therewasa correspond-
ing boom in the market for domestic help. Such
posi tionswere of tenopento Af ri canAmeri cans
aswell aswhites, and by early 1921, upward of
two-hundred black Tulsanswereresidinginoth
erwise al-white neighborhoods, especially on

the city’s ever growing south side. Working as
maids, cooks, butlers, and chauffeurs, they lived
in servant’s quarters that, more often than not,
were attached to garages located at the rear of
their employer’ s property.

For the men and women who lived and
worked in these positions, avisit to Greenwood
— be it to attend Sunday services, or smply to
visit with family and friends — was often the
highlight of the week. Whether they caught a
picture show at the Dreamland or the Dixie, or
merely window-shopped along Greenwood Av-
enue, they, too, could take both pride and own-
ership inwhat lay beforethem.*® Its poverty and
lack of services notwithstanding, there was no
guestion that Greenwood wasan American suc-
cess story.

Yet, despite its handsome business district
and its brand-new brick church, and the
rags-to-riches careers of some of itsleading citi-
zens, neither Greenwood's present, nor its fu-
ture, was by any means secure. By the spring of
1921, trouble — real trouble — had been brew-
ing in Tulsafor some time. When it cametois-
sues of race— not just in Tulsaor in Oklahoma,
but all across American— the problemsweren’t
simply brewing. They had, in fact, aready ar-
rived.

In the long and often painful history of race
relationsin the United States, few periods were
asturbulent astheyears surrounding World War
I, when the country exploded into an era of a-
most unprecedented racial strife. In the year
1919 alone, more than two dozen different race
riots broke out in cities and towns across the na-
tion. Unliketheracial distur bancesof the1960s
and the 1990s, these riots were characterized by
the specter of white mobs invading African
American neighborhoods, where they attacked
black men and women and, in some cases, set
their homes and businesses on fire.*



These riots were set off in different ways. In
Chicago, long-simmering tensions between
blacks and whites over housing, recreation,
and jobs were ignited one Sunday afternoon in
late July 1919. A group of teenaged African
American boys, hoping to find some relief
from therising temperatures, climbed aboard a
homemade raft out on Lake Michigan. They
ended up drifting opposite an all-white beach.
The white beach-goers, meanwhile, who were
aready angered by an attempt by a group of
black men and women to utilize that beach ear-
lier that day, began hurling stones at the
youths, killing one, and setting off nearly two
weeks of racia terror. In the end, more than
thirty-eight people — both black and white —
were killed in Chicago, and scores and scores
of homes were burned to the ground.?

A race riot in Washington, D.C., which
broke out earlier that summer, followed amore
typi cal pattern. Af terrumorshadbeencir culat
ing for weeksthat rapists were on theloose, a
white woman claimed that she had been sexu-
ally assaulted by two young African American
men. Although she later admitted that her orig-
i nal story was false, thewhitepressbuilt upthe
incident, and racial tensions rose. Then, on
July 19, the Washington Post published yet an-
other story of an alleged assault —
“NEGROES ATTACK GIRL” ran the head-
lineg, “WHITEMEN VAINLY PURSUE.” The
next day, the nation’s capital erupted into ra-
cia violence, as groups of white soldiers, sail-
ors, and Marines began to “molest any black
person in sight, hauling them off of streetcars
and out of restaurants, chasing them up alleys,
and beating them mercilessly on street cor-
ners.” At least six peoplewere killed and more
than a hundred were injured. After whites
threatened to set fire to African American
neighborhoods, order was finally restored
when the secretary of war called out some
two-thousand federal troops to patrol the
streets.”

Alleged sexual assaults played arolein two
other race riots that broke out that year. In
Knoxville, Tennessee, a white mob gathered
outside the jail where a black male was being
held for supposedly attacking a white female.

Troops were called in to quell the disturbance,
but the sol diers— all of whomwerewhite—in-
stead invadedtheAf ri can Ameri candistrictand
“shot it up.” In Omaha, Nebraska, asimilar situ-
ation rapidly developed after William Brown,
who was black, was arrested for allegedly as-
saulting a young white girl. A mob of angry
whites then stormed the courthouse where
Brown was being held, shot him, hung him
from a nearby lamppost, and then mutilated his
body beyond recognition.?

The savage attack on William Brown brutally
demonstrated just how passionately many white
Americans felt about situations involving inter-
racial sexual relations. While this subject —
which has along and complicated history in the
United States — cannot be dealt with in a de-
tailed fashion here, suffice it to say that during
the post-World War | era, and for many years

African Americansrallied solidly be hind the nation’s war effort
during World War 1, and thousands of black soldiers served in
France. Upon their re turn to the U. S., how ever, many black vets
found that the democracy that they had fought to protect over-
seas was often unavailable to them back home (Courtesy
Oklahoma Historical Society).
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before and after, perhaps no crime was viewed
as more egregious by many whites than the
rape, or attempted rape, of awhite woman by a
black male?

Riots, however, were not the only form of
extralegal violence faced by African Ameri-
cans during the World War | era. In 1919
alone, more than seventy-five blacks were
lynched by white mobs— including morethan
a dozen black soldiers, some of whom were
murdered while still in uniform. Moreover,
many of the so-called lynchings were growing
ever more barbaric. During the first year fol -
lowing the war, eleven African Americans
were burned — alive — at the stake by white
mobs.?*

Across the nation, blacks bitterly resisted
theseat tacks, whichwereof ten madeworseby
the fact that in many instances, local police au-
thorities were unable or unwilling to disperse
the white mobs. Asthe violencecontinued, and
the death count rose, more and more African
American leaders came to the conclusion that
nothing less than the very future of black men
and women in America hung in the balance.

World War | had done much to clarify their
thinking. In the name of democracy, African
Americans had solidly supported the war ef -
fort. Black sol diers— whowereplacedin seg
regated units— had fought gal lantly in France,
winning the respect not only of Allied com-
manders, but also of their Germanfoes.Having
risked their lives and shed their blood in Eu-
rope, many black veterans felt even more
strongly that not only was it time that democ-
racy was practiced back home, but that it wasa
long time overdue.®

They returned home to a nation not only
plagued by race riots and lynchings, but also
by a poisonous racial climate that, in many
ways, wasonly grow ing worse. Thevery same
years that saw the emergence of the United
States as a major world power also witnessed,
back home, the rise of some aggressive and in-
sidious new forms of white racism.

Moreover, the new racial climate was far
from limited to the South. Less than fifty years
after the Civil War, anumber of northern cities
began to bar African Americans from restau-

rants and other public establishments, while in
the classrooms of Ivy League colleges and uni-
versities, a new scientific racism — which held
that whites from northern Europe were innately
superior to al other hu man groups— wasall the
rage. In Washington, the administration of Pres-
ident Woodrow Wilson proposed dozens of
laws which mandated discriminatory treatment
against African Americans. And across the
country, racist white politicians constantly
preyed upon racial fear and hostility.?® They
soon had anew ally.

Re-established in Atlanta in 1915, the
so-called second Ku Klux Klan had adopted
both the name and familiar hooded robes of its
nineteenth century predecessor, but in many
ways was a brand new organization. Launched
the same year that D.W. Griffith's anti-black
blockbuster, The Birth of a Nation, was rel eased
in movie theaters nationwide, Klan organizers
fanned out across the country, establishing
powerful state organizations not only in the
South, but also in places like New Jersey, Indi-
ana, and Oregon. While African Americans
were often the recipients of the political intimi-
dation, beatings, and other forms of violence
meted out by klansmen, they were not the only
targets of the new reign of terror. Klan members
also regularly attacked Jews, Catholics, Japa
nese Americans, and immigrants from southern
Europe, as well as suspected bootl eggers, adul-
terers, and other alleged criminals.

Although still a young state, many of these
national trends were well-represented in
Oklahoma. Like their counterparts elsewhere,
black Oklahomans had rallied strongly behind
the war effort, purchasing Liberty Bonds, hold-
ing patriotic rallies and taking part in home
front conservation efforts. Morethan afew Afri-
can American men from Oklahoma — includ-
ing alarge number of Tulsans— had enlistedin
the army. Some, like legendary Booker T.
Washington High School football coach Sey-
mour Williams, had fought in France.”®

But when Oklahoma's black World War |
veterans finally returned to civilian life, they,
too, came home to a state where, sadly enough,
anti-black sentiments were alive and well. In
1911, the Oklahoma state | egislature passed the
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The Ku Klux Klan gripped Oklahoma in the 1920s, this cer e mony was in Lone Grove (Cour tesy West ern His tory

Collection, University of Oklahoma Libraries).

infamous “ Grandfather Clause”, which effec-
tively ended voting by African Americans
statewide. Whilethe law wasruled unconstitu-
tional by a unanimous vote by the U.S. Su-
preme Court four years later, other methods
were soon employed to keep black Oklaho-
mansfrom the polls. Nor did the Jim Crow leg-
islation stop there. In the end, the state
legislature passed a number of segregation
statutes, including one which made Oklahoma
thefirst state |n the Union to segregate itstele-
phone booths.*®

Racial violence, directed against black
Oklahomans, aso was a grim reality during
thisperiod. Inlarge part owing to conditions of
frontier lawlessness, Oklahoma had long been
plagued by lynchings,andduringtheterritorial
days, numerous suspected horse thieves, cattle
rustlers, and outlaws, the vast mgjority of
whom were white, had been lynched by white
mobs. However, from 1911 onward, al of the
state’ s lynching victims, save one, were Afri-
can American. And during the next decade,

twenty-three black Oklahomans — including
two women — were lynched by whitesin more
than adozen different Oklahoma communities,
including Anadarko, Ardmore, Eufaula,
Holdenville, Idabel, Lawton, Madill,
Mannford, Muldrow, Norman, Nowata,
Okemah, Oklahoma Ci tg Purcell, Shawnee,
Wagoner, and Wewoka.®

The Sooner State also proved to be fertile
ground for the newly revived Ku Klux Klan. Es
timatesvary, but at the height of its power in the
mid-1920s, it is believed that there were more
than 100,000 klansmen in Oklahoma. Chapters
existed statewide, and the organization’s mem-
bership rollsincludedfarmers,ranchers, miners,
oil field workers, small town merchants, big city
businessmen, ministers, newspaper editors, po-
licemen, educators, lawyers, judges, and politi-
cians. Most Klan activities — including cross
burnings, parades, night riding, whippings, and
other forms of violence and intimidation —
tended to be local in nature, although at one
point the political clout of the state organization
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was so great that it managed to launch im-
peachment proceedings against GovernorJohn
C. Walton, who opposed the Klan.*

Tulsa, in particular, became a lively center
of Klan activity. While membership figures
are few and far between — one estimate held
that there were some 3,200 members of the
Tulsa Klan in December 1921 — perhaps as
many as six-thousand white Tulsans, at one
time or another, became members of the Klan
including several prominent local leaders. At
one Klan initiation ceremony, that took place
in the countryside south of town during the
summer of 1922, more than one-thousand new
memberswereinitiated, causing ahugetraffic
jam on the road to Broken Arrow. Tulsa also
was home to a thriving chapter of the Women
of the Ku Klux Klan aswell as being one of the
few citiesin the country with an active chapter
of the organization's official youth affiliate,
the Junior Ku Klux Klan. There were Klan pa-
rades, Klan funerals, and Klan fund-raisersin-
cluding one wildly successful 1923 benefit
that netted some $24,000, when 13 Ford auto-
mobiles were raffled off. In time, the Tulsa
Klan grew so solvent that it built its own brick
auditorium, Beno Hall — short, it was said, for
“Be No Nigger, Be No Jew, Be No Catholic”
— on Main Street just north of downtown.

Thelocal Klan also washighly activein pol-
itics in Tulsa. It regularly issued lists of
Klan-approved candidates for both state and
local political offices, that were prominently
displayed in Tulsa newspapers. According to
one student of the Klan in Tulsa Country dur-
ing the 1920s, “mayors, city commissioners,
sheriffs, district at tor neys, and many other city
and county office holders who were either
klansmen or Klan supporterswere €elected, and
reelected, with regularity.” In 1923, three of
the five members of the Oklahoma House of
Representatives from Tulsa Country were ad-
mitted klansmen.®

In addition to cross burnings, Tulsa Klan
membersalso routinely engaged in actsof vio-
lence and intimidation. Richard Gary, who
lived off Admiral Boulevard during the early
1920s, till has vivid memories of hooded
klansmen, a soon-to-be horsewhipped victim

sitting between them, heading east in open tour-
ing cars. Suspected bootleggers, wife-cheaters,
and automobile thieves were among the most
common victims — but they weren’t the only
ones. In May 1922, black Deputy sheriff John
Henry Smitherman was kidnaped by klansmen,
who dliced off one of his ears. Fifteen months
later, Nathan Hantaman, aJew ishmovieprojec
tionist, was kidnaped by Klan members, who
nearly beat him to death. The city’s Catholic
population also was the target of considerable
abuse, as Tulsa klansmen tried to force local
businessmen to fire their Catholic employees®*

Not all white Tulsans, of course, or even a
majority, belonged to the Ku Klux Klan in the
1920s. Among thecity’ swhite Protestants, there
were many who disdained both the Klan's tac-
tics and beliefs. Nonetheless, at least until the
mid-1920s, and in some ways all the way until
the end of the decade, there is no doubt but that
the Ku Klux Klan was a powerful force in the
life of the city.*

Less easy to document, however, is whether
the Klan was organized in Tulsa prior to the
1921 race riot. While there have been a number
of alegations over the years claming that the
Klan was directly involved in the riot, the evi-
denceisquite scanty — in either direction — as
to whether or not the Klan had an actual organi-
zational presence in the city prior to August
1921, some two months after the riot. However,
since thisis an area of continuing interest, it
may prove helpful toexaminethisevidenceabit
more closely.

According to the best available scholarship,
the first Klan organizers to officially visit
Oklahoma—George Kimbro, Jr. and George C.
McCarron, both from Houston — did not arrive
until the summer of 1920. Setting up headquar-
ters in the Baltimore Building in downtown
OklahomaCity, McCarron stayed onin the state
capital, and began looking for future klansmen
among the membership of the city’s various
whitefraternal orders. According to Carter Blue
Clark, whose 1976 doctoral dissertationremains
the standard work on the history of the Ku Klux
Klan in Oklahoma, McCarron “shortly had
twelve Kleagles [assistant organizers] working
out of his office selling memberships through-
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out the city, and very soon throughout the
state.” While Clark concluded that the Klan
“could not be credited with precipitating the
riot” — a finding shared by most scholars of
the riot — he also determined that Klan orga-
nizers had been activein the Tulsaregion be-
forehand.

Thefact that Tulsawould have been an early
destination for Klan organizers — who, like
their counterparts elsewhere, were paid on a
commission basis — is entirely reasonable.
Not only did Tulsaitself offer a large base of
potential members, but the city was a likely
jumpi ng-off placefor organizing the nearby oil
fields.?

Other evidence also points toward there be-
ing members of the Klan in Tulsa prior to the
riot. In the sermon he delivered on Sunday eve-
ning, June 5, 1921 — only four days after the
riot — Bishop E.D. Mouzon told parishioners
at Boston Avenue Methodist Church that,
“There may be some of you here tonight who
are members of the Ku Klux Klan.” Further-
more, research conducted by Ruth Avery inthe
1960s and 1970s also points toward pre-riot
Klan membership in Tulsa®

However, other evidence suggests that, if
anything, theKlan had avery limited presence
in Tulsa before the riot. Throughout the first
five months of 1921, for example, the Tulsa
Tribune did not hesitate to print stories about
Ku Klux Klan activities elsewhere, but gave
no hint of there being any in Tulsa®

Moreover, only one week beforetheriot, on
May 22, 1921, the Tribune carried an adver-
tissment for the May Brothers clothing store
which poked fun at the Klan. Announcing that
the downtown men’s clothiers had created its
own “Kool Klad Klan,” the advertisement
went on to explain that thiswas a* hot weather
society” whose members would receive dis-
counts on their purchases of summer clothing.
“Men who join the K.K.K. pay less for their
summer clothes and get more out of them,” ran
thead copy, “Palm Beachis thefavoritesuitof
most members.” What went unspoken, how-
ever, isthat the May brothers were Jewish im-
migrants from Russia, something that made
them likely candidates for Klan harassment.

The fact the brothers ran the advertisement
would seem to suggest that on the eve of the
riot, the existence of the Ku Klux Klanin Tulsa
was far from common knowledge, perhaps re-
flecting membership numbers that were still
low.*

The riot would change all of that. Beginning
with what one student of the history of the Klan
described as “the first open sign of the Klan's
presencein Tulsa’ in early August 1921, more
than two months after theriot, the Klan literally
exploded across the city. On August 10, more
than two-thousand people attended a lecture at
Convention Hall by a Klan spokesman from At-
lanta. Three weeks later, on the evening of Au-
gust 31, some three-hundred white Tulsa men
were initiated into the Klan at a ceremony held
outside of town. Three dayslater, masked klans
menkidnapedanal leged boot legger named J.E.
Frazier and took him to aremote spot outside of
Owasso and whipped him severely. After the
county attor ney sub sequently announcedthat he
would take no action against the klansmen, and
intimated that the victim probably got what he
deserved, more whippings soon followed. With
the attack on J.E. Frazier, Tulsa's Klan era be-
ganin earnest.

Despite the lack of convincing evidence link-
ing the Klan to the outbreak of theriot in the
months that followed, Klan organizers used the
riot asarecruiting tool. The Klan lecturer from
Atlanta who visited Tulsa in August 1921 de-
clared that “the riot was the best thing that ever
happened to Tulsa,” while other Klan spokes-
men preyed upon the heightened emotional
state of the white community after the riot.
However the pitch was made, it soon became
abundantly clear that Tulsawasprimerecruiting
territory for the Ku Klux Klan. Indeed, it had
been for quite some time.*

Despite the fact that segregation appeared to
be gaining ground statewide, inthemonthslead
ing up to theriot, more than afew white Tulsans
instead feared, at least in Tulsaitself, that the
opposite was true. Many were especialy in-
censed when black Tulsans disregarded, or
challenged, Jm Crow practices. Others were
both enraged at, and jealous of, the material
success of some of Greenwood's leading citi-



zens— feelings that were no doubt increased
by the sharp drop in the price of crude oil, and
the subsequent layoffs in the oil fields, that
preceded the riot. Indeed, an unidentified
writer for one white Tulsa publication, the Ex-
change Bureau Bulletin, |later listed “niggers
with money” as one of the so-called causes of
the catastrophe. During the weeks and months
leading up to the riot, there were more than a
few white Tulsanswho not only feared that the
color line was in danger of being slowly
erased, but believed that thiswas already hap-
pening.*

Adding to these fears was the simple redlity
that, at the time, the vast majority of white
Tulsans possessed almost no direct knowledge
of the African American community whatso-
ever. Although a handful of whites owned
businessesin Greenwood, and afew others oc-
casionally visited the areafor one reason or an-
other, most white Tulsanshad never set footin
the African American district, and never
would. Livingin al-white neighborhoods, at-
tending all-white schools and churches, and
working for the most part in al- white work
environments, the majority of white Tulsansin
1921 had little more than fleeting contact with
the city’s black population. What little they
knew, or thought they knew, about the African
American community wassuscepti blenotonly
toracial stereotypesanddeeply-ingrained pre-
udices, but also to rumor, innuendo, and, as
events would soon prove, what was printed in
the newspaper.

Such conditions, it turned out, proved help-
ful to the Klan, and both before and after the
riot, Klan organizers exploited the racial con-
cerns of white Tulsans as amethod of boosting
membership. However, the organizers also
used something else. Race relations was not
the only major societal issue that weighed
heavily on the minds of many Tulsans during
the months that led up to the riot. Rather, they
were also deeply concerned about something
else— something that, in the end, proved to be
agateway to catastrophe.

Of all the visitors who came to Tulsain the
months preceding the riot, not everyone left
town with a positive image. Despite the city’s

new skyscrapers and impressive mansions, its
booming oil industry and its rags-to-riches mil-
lionaires, somevisitors— likethefederal agent
who spent five days undercover in Tulsain late
April, 1921 — saw afar different side of local
life. In his “Report on Vice Conditions in
Tulsa’, the agent had found that:

Gambling, bootlegging and prostitution
are very much in evidence. At the leading
hotels and rooming houses the bell hops
and porters are pimping for women, and
also selling booze. Regarding violations of
the law, these prostitutes and pimps solicit
without any fear of the police, as they will
invariably remind you that you are safe in
these houses.

The agent concluded, “Vice conditionsinthis
city are extremely bad.”*®

Few Tulsans, in those days, would have been
surprised by the agent’s findings. In addition to
the city’ sgrowing fame asthe Oil Capital, Tulsa
also was gaining something of a reputation —
and not just regionaly, but also among New
York bankers and insurance men — as a
wide-open town, aplacewhere crimeand crimi-
nals were as much apart of the oil boom aswell
logs and drilling rigs.

Most certainly, there was plenty of evidence
to sup port suchaconclusion. Well-known gam-
bling dens — like Dutch Weete's place three
miles east of the fairgrounds, or Puss Hall's
roadhouse along the Turley highway — flour-
ished on the outskirts of town, while within the
city, both afortune in oil royalties, or a rough-
neck’ swages, could be gambled away, night af-
ter night, in poker games in any number of
hotels and rooming houses.

During the Prohibition era, both Oklahoma
and the nation were supposedly dry, athough
onewould not know it from avisit to Tulsa. One
well-known local watering hole flourished in
the Boston Building, less that two blocks from
police headquarters, while scattered across the
city were anumber of illegal bars offering corn
whiskey, choc beer, or the latest rage, “ Jake" or
jamaicaginger.InGreenwood, customerswitha
taste for live music with their whiskey might
frequent Pretty Belle s place, while on the south
side of town, the well-to-do oil set, it was said,
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purchased their liquor from awoman living at
Third and Elgin. Hotel porters and bellhops
regularly delivered pints and quarts to their
guests, while an active bootlegging network
operated out of the city’ s drug stores and phar-
macies. For customerswho placed a premium
on discretion, both bootleggers and taxi driv-
ers alike would also make regular home deliv-
eries.™

Illegal drugs were also present. Morphine,
cocaine, and opium could all be purchased in
Tulsa, apparently without much difficulty. In-
deed, one month before the riot, federal nar-
coticsof fi cer CharlesC. Post, declared, “Tulsa
is overrun with narcotics.”*

Hand-in-hand with thisillegal consumption
came a plenitude of other crime. Automobile
theft was said to be so common in Tulsa prior
to theriot, it was claimed, that “a number of
companies have canceledall pol i ciesoncarsin
Tulsa” Petty crimes, from housebreaking to
traffic violations, were common fodder in the
city’s newspapers during this period — but so
were more seri ousof fenses. Intheyear preced
ing theriot, two Tulsapolice officershad been
killed on duty, whilelessthan six weeks before
the riot, Tulsa police officerswereinvolved in
a spectacular shoot-out with armed bandits at
an east sideroominghouse. StateAssistant At
torney General George F. Short, who visited
Tulsa during this same period, even went so
far asto describe the local crime conditions as
“apparently grave.”*

While not everyone in town would have
agreed with such a bleak assessment, there
was no denying the fact that, on the eve of the
raceriot, the city had a serious crime problem.
However, it was equally true that, in many
ways, this was not only nothing new, but had
more or less been a constant since the first
heady days of the Glenn Pool and its attendant
land swindles and get-rich-quick schemes.
“Tulsans on the whole have had enough of the
slime and crime that characterize a new com-
munity which draws much of the bad with the
goodinarichstrike,” mused onelocal editorial
writer, “ But Tulsahas out grown that stage.”*’

A number of Tulsans had attempted, seem-
ingly without a great deal of success, for years

to do something about the local crime condi-
tions. In 1914, the Ministerial Alliance had
mounted acam paign agai nst gam bling and other
forms of vice. Five years later, a group of
well-known white leadersformeda“ Committee
of One Hundred” to combat local crime prob-
lems. Two years after that, in early 1921, the
group was revived, vowing to seethat a*“clean
sweep of criminals is made here and that the
laws are enforced.”*®

However, there was a dark side to local
anti-crime efforts as well. As young as the city
of Tulsawas in the spring of 1921, it could al -
ready claim along history of vigilante activity.
In 1894, a white man known as “Dutch John,”
who was suspected of being a cattlerustler, was
reportedly lynched in Tulsa. Ten years later, in
1904, a mob of whites gathered outside of the
local jail, intending to lynch an African Ameri-
can prisoner held inside, but were turned away
by the mayor, alocal banker, and, not the |east,
by the city marshall, who had drawn both of his
guns on the mob.*

Although violence had been averted, that was
far from the end of vigilantism in Tulsa. In
1917, after the United States had entered World
War |, asecret society calling itself the Knights
of Liberty unleashed aloca campaign of terror
and intimidation against suspected dackers,
Mennonitesandother paci fists, aswell aspoliti-
cal radicals. The group’s most infamous action
— that gained the attention of the national press
— camein November 1917 when, with the en-
cour agement of thewhitepressandtheap par ent
cooperation of the local authorities, masked
members of the Knights tarred and feathered
more than a dozen local members of the Indus-
trial Workers of the World, a radical union
movement, and forced them out of town at gun-
point.>

Even though the Knights of Liberty/I.W.W.
inci dent had beenanall-whiteaf fair, it provedto
be an important step aong the road to the race
riot. Not only did local law enforcement refuse
to actively investigate the incident, but the se-
cret society was praised by the white press for
taking the law into its own hands, an important
precedent for more such activities in the fu
ture.>



Nevertheless, it would not be until nearly
three years later, during the late summer of
1920, that Tulsawould experience an incident
that would prove to be the single most impor-
tant precursor to the race riot. While all of its
participants also were white, it, too, would
have profound reverberations on both sides of
the color line.

It beganon Sat ur day night, August 21, 1920,
when a Tulsa cab driver named Homer Nida.
was hired by two young men and one young
woman to drive them to a dance in Sapulpa.
Along the way, in the countryside past Red
Fork, one of the men pulled out arevolver and
forced Nida to pull over. Striking the terrified
cab driver with the pistol, the gunman de-
manded money. When Nida could not produce
a sufficient amount of cash, the gunman shot
Nida in the stomach and kicked him out onto
the highway, as the trio sped off in the
now-stolentaxi. A passingmotoristdiscovered
Nida a short while later, and rushed the se-
verely wounded driver to a hospital.>

The next day, police in Nowata, acting on a
tip, arrested an eighteen-year-old one-time
telephone company employee named Roy
Belton, who denied having had anything to do
with the affair. Belton was taken to Homer
Nida's hospital room in Tulsa, where the cab
driver identified him as his assailant. Again,
Belton denied the accusation.

Two days later, however, Roy Belton who
was now being held in the jail located on the
top floor of the Tulsa County Courthouse
changed his story. He admitted that he had
been in the taxicab, and that he and his accom-
plices had planned on robbing the driver. He
insisted the shooting had been accidental.
Belton claimed that the gun had been damaged
when he struck Nida in the head with it, and
that it had gone off accidentally while he was
tying to repair it.>®

Belton’s dubious account, however, only
added fuel to the already inflamed emotions
that many Tulsans already held about the
shooting, a situation made even more tense by
the fact that Homer Nida lay languishing in a
Tulsa hospital. Less than forty-eight hours af-
ter Belton's so-called “confession,” Tulsa

County Sheriff Jim Woolley had heard rumors
that if the cab driver died, the courthouse would
be mobbed and Roy Belton would belynched.>

Two days later, on Saturday, August 28,
1920, Homer Nida finally succumbed to his
wounds and died. In reporting the news of his
death in that afternoon’s edition, the Tulsa Tri-
bune quoted the driver’s widow as saying that
Belton deserved “to be mobbed, but the other
way is better.”>

Other Tulsans thought otherwise. By 11:00
p.m. that same evening, hundreds of whites had
gath ered out sideof thecourt house. Soon, adel e
gation of men carrying rifles and shotguns,
some with handkerchiefs covering their faces,
entered the building and demanded of Sheriff
Woolley that he turn Belton over to them. The
sheriff later claimed that hetried to dissuade the
intruders, but he appears to have done little to
stop them. For a little while later, the men ap-
peared on the courthouse steps with Roy Belton.
“We got him boys,” they shouted, “We' ve got
him.>®

Belton wasthen placed in Homer Nida staxi-
cab which had been stolen from the authorities
— and was driven out past Red Fork, followed
by aline of automobiles “nearly a mile long.”
Not far from where Nida had been shot, the pro-
cession stopped, and Belton wastaken from the
cab and interrogated. But when a rumor spread
that a posse was in hot pursuit, everyone re-
turned to their cars and set out along the road to
Jenks.

The lynch mob had little to fear. Tulsapolice
did not arrive at the courthousein any apprecia-
ble numbers until after Belton had been kid-
naped and the caravan of cars had left
downtown. “We did the best thing,” Police
Chief John Gustafson later claimed, “[we]
jumped into cars and followed the ever increas-
ing mob.”

By the time police officers finally caught up
with the lynching party, it had reassembled
along the Jenks road about three miles south-
west of Tulsa. Once again, Roy Belton was
taken from the cab, and then led to aspot next to
aroadside sign. A rope was procured from a
nearby farmhouse, a noose was thrown around
hisneck, and hewaslynched. Among the crowd
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— estimated to be in the hundreds — were
members of the Tulsapolice, who had been in
structed by Chief Gustafson not to intervene.
“Any demonstration from an officer,” he later
clamed, “would have started gun play and
dozens of innocent people would have been
killed and injured.”*

In the days that followed, however,
Gustafson practically applauded the lynching.
While claiming to be *absolutely opposed” to
mob law, the police chief also stated “it ismy
honest opinion that the lynching of Roy Belton
will prove of real benefit to Tulsa and the vi-
cinity. It was an object lesson to the hijackers
and auto thieves.” Sheriff Woolley echoed the
chief, claiming that the lynching showed crim-
i nals*that themen of Tulsamean busi ness.” >

Nor were Tulsa s top lawmen alone in their
sentiments. The Tulsa Tribune, the city’s af-
ternoon daily, aso clamed to be opposed to
mob law, but offered little criticism of the ac-
tual lynching party. The Tulsa World, the
morning daily, went even further. Calling the
lynching a “righteous protest,” the newspaper
added: “There was not a vestige of the mob
gpirit in the act of Saturday night. It was citi-
zenship, outraged by government inefficiency
and a too tender regard for the professiona
crimina.” The World went on to blast the cur-
rent state of the criminal justice system, omi-
nously adding, “we predict that unless
conditions are speedily improved,” that the
lynching of Roy Belton “will not bethelast by
any means.”®

With the death of Roy Belton, Tulsahad not
simply joined thelist of other Oklahomacities
and townswhere, sadly enough, alynching had
occurred. Of equal importance was the fact
that, as far as anyone could tell, the local law
enforcement authoritiesin Tulsahad done pre-
ciouslittletostopthelynching. Thus, theques
tion arose, if another mob ever gathered in
Tulsato lynch someone el se, who was going to
stop them?

The lynching of Roy Belton cast a deep pall
over black Tulsa. For even though Homer
Nida, Roy Belton, and the lynching party itself
had all been white, there was simply no escap-
ing the conclusion that if Belton had been

black, he would have been lynched just the
same, and probably sooner. What about the next
timethat an African American was charged with
a serious crime in Tulsa, particularly if it in-
volved a white victim? What would happen
then?

A.J. Smitherman, the outspoken editor of the
Tulsa Star, the city’s oldest and most popular
African American newspaper, was absolutely
resolute on the matter of lynching. “Thereisno

W. H. Twine and A. J. Smitherman at Twine’s law office in
Muskogee (Courtesy Western History Collection, University of
Oklahoma Libraries).

crime, however atrocious,” he wrote following
the Iynchiné; of Roy Belton, “that justifies mob
violence.”® For Smitherman, lynching was not
simply acrime to be condemned, but was liter-
aly a“stain” upon society.®

Nor was Smitherman alonein his sentiments.
If there was one issue which united African
Americans all across the nation, it was opposi-
tion to mob law. Moreover, that opposition was
particularly strongin Oklahoma, asmany blacks
had immigrated to the state in no small measure
to escape the mob mentality that was far from
uncommon insomeother partsof thecountry.

However, both the lynching of Roy Beltonin
Tulsa, and that of ayoung African American in
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Oklahoma City that same week, brought to the
surface some dire practical issues. In a situa-
tion where a black prisoner was being threat-
ened by a white mob, what should African
Americans do? Smitherman was quite clear on
the answer.As early as 1916, it has been re-
ported, “agroup of armed blacks prevented the
lynching of one of their number in
Muskogee.”® |n a similar situation, which
happened only five months prior to the Tulsa
riot, Smitherman had strongly praised a group
of black men who had first armed themselves,
and then set out in pursuit of awhite mob that
was en route to lynch an African American
prisoner at Chandler. “Asto the Colored men
of Shawnee,” Smitherman wrote,

. . . they are the heroes of the story. If
one set of men arm themselves and chase
across the country to violate the law, cer-
tainly another set who arm themselves to
uphold the supremacy of the law and pre-
vent crime, must stand out prominently as
the best citizens. Therefore, the action of
the Colored men in this case is to be com-
mended. We need more citizenslike them
in every community and of both races.”®

Five months later, when a group of African
Ameri cansinthestate capi tal had not gathered
until after ablack youth had been lynched by a
white mob, Smitherman was unsparing in his
criticism. “It is quite evident,” he wrote, “that
the proper time to afford protection to any
prisoner is BEFORE and during thetime heis
being lynched.”®

It also was clear that there were black
Tulsans who were prepared to do just that. A
little more than a year before Roy Belton was
lynched, an incident occurred in Tulsa that —
while it received little press coverage at the
time—- gave a clear indication asto what ac-
tions some black Tulsans would take if they
feared that an African American wasin danger
of becoming the victim of mob violence.

The incident began on the evening of March
17, 1919, when a white ironworker was shot
by two armed stick-up men on the outskirts of
downtown. Theironworker died of hiswounds
some twelve hours later, but before he suc-
cumbed, he told Tulsa police detectives that

his assailants were black, and he provided the
officers with a rather sketchy description of
each man. “Violenceisfeared,” wrote the Tulsa
Democrat of the shooting, “if the guilty pair is
taken in charge.” ®

Some forty-eight hours later, Tulsa police of-
ficersarrested not two, but three, African Amer-
ican men in connection with the shooting.
Despite proclamations by the police that the ac-
cused men would be protected, concerns for
their safety quickly spread across the black
community, and rumors began to circulate that
thetrio might bein danger of being lynched. The
rumors reached a crescendo the day after the
ironworker’ sfuneral, whenadel egationof Afri-
can American men — some of them armed —-ed
by Dr. R.T. Bridgewater, a well-known physi-
cian, paid an evening visit to the cit%/ jail, where
the accused men were being held.?

“We understand there is to be some trouble
here,” Dr. Bridgewater reportedly informed a
police captain.

The police officer was adamant that nothing
of thekindwasgoingto occur.“Thereisnot go-
ing to beany trouble here,” the captainal legedly
replied, “and the best thing you fellows can do
is beat it back and drop the firearms.” Despite
his confidence, however, the officer allowed a
small contingent to visit with the prisoners in
their cells. Apparently satisfied with the situa-
tion, Dr. Bridgewater and the other African
American men returned to Greenwood. There
was no lynching.®’

Whatever relief black Tulsans may have felt
following this affair did not last long. With the
lynching of Roy Belton some seventeen months
later, the door to mob vi olencein Tulsawassud
denly pushed wide open. If a white could be
lynched in Tulsa, why would a black not suffer
the same fate? Moreover, as editor Smitherman
observed, the Belton lynching had also clarified
another matter — one that would prove to be of
vital importance on May 3l, 1921. “The lynch-
ing of Roy Belton,” Smitherman wrote in the
Tulsa Star, “explodes the theory that a prisoner
is safe on the top of the Court House from mob
violence.” %®

The death of Roy Belton shattered any confi-
dence that black Tulsans may have had in the



abil ity, orthewill ingness, of local law enforce
ment to prevent a lynching from taking place
in Tulsa. It also had done something else. For
morethan a few black Tulsans, the bottomline
on the matter had become clearer than ever.
Namely, the only ones who might prevent the
threatened lynching of an African American
prisoner in Tulsa would be black Tulsans
themselves.

Despite the clarity of these conclusions, itis
important to note that white Tulsans were ut-
terly unaware of what their black neighbors
were thinking. Although A.J. Smitherman’s
editorials regarding lynching were both direct
and plainspoken, white Tulsans did not read
the Tulsa Star, and Smitherman’s opinions
were not reported in the white press. As dra-
matic and as significant as the visit of Dr.
Bridgewater and the others was to the city jail
during the 1919 incident, it received little cov-
erage in the city’s white newspapers at the
time, and was no doubt quickly forgotten.

Rather, when it came to the matter of lynch-
ing, black Tulsaand white Tulsa wereliketwo
separate galaxies, with one quite unaware of
what the other was thinking. However, as the
year 1921 began to unfold, events would soon
bring them crashing into one another.

In 1921, most Tulsans received their news
through either one or both of the city’s two
daily newspapers — the Tulsa World, which
was the morning paper, or the Tulsa Tribune,
which came out in the afternoon. While the
World went all the way back to 1905, the Tri-
bune was only two years old. It was the cre-
ation of Richard Lloyd Jones, a Wisconsin
born newspaperman who had also worked asa
magazine editor in New Y ork. Hoping to chal-
lenge the more established — and, in many
ways, more restrained — Tulsa World, Jones
had fashioned the Tribune asalively rival, un-
afraid to stir up an occasional hornet’s nest.®®
Asitturned out, Tulsa svexing crime problem
proved to beanidea local arenain which the
Tri bunecould hopeto makeanamefor it self

Sensing just how frustrated many Tulsans
were with the local crime conditions, the 77i-
bune launched avigorous anti-crime campaign
that ran throughout the early months of 1921.

In addition to giving broad coverage to both lo-
cal crimi nal activity, andtosensational mur ders
from acrossthe state, the Tribune aso published
a series of hard-hitting editorials. Using titles
such as “Catch the Crooks,” “Go After Them,”
“Promoters of Crime," “To Make Every Day
Safe,” “The City Failure,” and ‘Make TulsaDe-
cent," the editorials called for nothing lessthan
an aggressive citywide clean-up campaign.”

Not surprisingly,the Tribune’s campaign ruf-
fled the feathers of somelocal law enforcement
figures along the way, including the county at-
torney, the police commissioner, and several
members of the Tulsa Police Department. While
itis uncertain asto how much of the Tribune’s
campaign had been moti vatedby parti sanpoliti-
cal concerns, both the paper’ s news stories and
its editorials caused considerable commotion.
Allegations of police corruption — particularly
regarding automobile theft — received a great
amount of attention, andul ti mately ledtofor mal
investigations of local law enforcement by both
the State of Oklahoma and the City of Tulsa.”

By mid-May 1921, the Tribune’s anti-crime
and anti-corruption campaign seemed to be on
the verge of reaching some sort of climax.
Branding the city government’ sinvestigation of
the police department as a “whitewash,” the
newspaper kept hammering away at the alleged
inability of, or refusal by, local law enforcement
to tackle Tulsa scrime problem. “The peopleof
Tulsaare becoming awaketo conditionsthat are
no longer tolerable,” argued aMay 14 editorial.
Two dayslater, inan editorial titled “Better Get
Busy,” the Tribune warned that if the mayor and
the city commission did not fulfill their cam-
paign pledges to “clean up the city,” and “do it
quick,” that “an awakened community con-
science will do it for them.”"

Just what that might entail was al so becoming
clearer and clearer. The very same months dur-
ing which the Tribune waged its anti-crime
campaign, the newspaper also gave prominent
attention to news stories involving vigilante ac-
tivities from across the Southwest. Front-page
coverage was given to lynching threats made
against African Americans in Okmulgee in
March, Oktahain April, and Hugo in May. The
horsewhipping of an alleged child molester in



Dallas by a group of masked men believed to
be members of the Ku Klux Klan that also took
placein May, was also given front-page treat-
ment. Not surprisingly, the specter of Tulsa's
own recent lynching also re-emerged in the
pages of the Tribune in a May 26 editorial.
While asserting that “Lawlessness to fight
lawlessness is never justified,” the editorial
went onto claim “Tulsaenjoyedabrief respite
following the lynching of Roy Belton.” More-
over, the Tribune added that Belton’ sguilt had
been “practically established . . ..”"

A revived discussion of the pros and cons of
vigilante activity was not the only new ele-
ment to be added to the ongoing conversation
about crime that was taking place in Tulsain
late May. Despite latter claims to the contrary,
for much of early 1921, race had not been
much of a factor in the Tribune’s vigorous
anti-crime and anti-corruption campaign.
Crimes in Greenwood had not been given un-
due coverage, nor had black Tulsansbeen sin
gled out for providing the city with a
disproportionate share of thecity’ scriminal el-
ement.

But beginning on May 21, 1921, only ten
daysbeforetheriot, al that wasto change. Ina
lengthy, front-page article concerning the on-
going investigation of the police department,
not only did racial issues suddenly cometo the
foreground, but more importantly, they did so
in amanner that featured the highly explosive
subject of relations between black men and
white women. Commenting on the city’s ram-
pant prostitution industry, a former judge
flatly told the investigators that black men
were at theroot of the problem. “We' ve got to
get to the hotels,” he said, “We've got to kick
out the Negro pimps if we want to stop this
vice.”

Echoing these sentiments was the testimony
of Reverend Harold G. Cooke, the white pastor
of Centenary MethodistChurch.Accompanied
by a private detective, Cooke had led a small
group of white men on an undercover tour of
the city’s illicit nightlife — and had been, it
was reported, horrified at what he had discov-
ered. Not only was liquor available at every
place that they visited, but at hotels and room-

ing houses across the city. It was said, African
American porters rather routinely offered to
provide the men with the services of white pros-
titutes. Just beyond the city limits, the Tribune
reported, the group visited a roadhouse where
the color lines seemed to have disappeared en-
tirely. “We found whites and Negroes singing
and dancing together,” one member of Rever-
end Cooke' sparty testified, “Y oung, white girls
were dancing while Negroes played the pi-
ano.” "

Considering Oklahoma's social, political,
and cultural climate during the 1920s, the effect
of this testimony should not be taken lightly.
Many white Tulsans no doubt found Reverend
Cooke's revelations to be both shocking and
distasteful. Per hapsevenmoreimpor tantly, they
now had aconvenient new target for their grow-
ing anger over local crime conditions. African
American men who, at least as far as they were
concerned, had far too much contact with white
women.

As it turned out however, Tulsans did not
have much time to digest the new revelations.
Only five days later, on May 26, 1921, the city
was rocked by the news of a spectacular jail-
break at the county courthouse. Sawing their
way through their cell doors and through the
one-inch steel barsthat were set in an outer win-
dow, and then lowering themselvesfour stories
to the ground on aropethat they had made by ty-
ing their blankets together, no less than twelve
prisoners had escaped from the top floor jail.
Remarkably, however, that was not the last jail-
break that month. Four days later, early on the
morning of Memorial Day, May 30, 1921, six
more prisoners — sawing through the same
hastily repaired cell doorsandwindow bars also
escaped from the courthousejail.”’

Although some of the escapees were quickly
apprehended, the jailbreaks were one morein-
gredient in what had become, by the end of May
1921, an unstable and potentialy volatile local
atmosphere. For more than afew white Tulsans,
local conditions regarding crime and punish-
ment were fast becoming intolerable. Frustrated
over the amount of lawbreaking in the city, and
by the apparent inability of the policeto do any-
thing about it, they had helped turnthecity intoa



ticking time bomb, where anger and frustra-
tion sat just beneath the surface, waiting to ex-
plode. Moreover, during the last ten days of
the month, they also had been presented with,
however fleetingly, a compelling new target
for their fury, namely, black men who, to their
eyes, had an undue familiarity with white
women.

As Tulsa prepared to celebrate Memorial
Day, May 30, 1921, something else wasin the
air. Asnotions of taking the law into their own
hands began to once again circulate among
some white Tulsans, across the tracks in
Greenwood, there were black Tulsans who
were more determined than ever that in their
city, no African American would fall victim to
mob violence. World War | veterans and
newspaper editors, common laborers and busi-
nessmen, they were just as prepared as they
had been two years earlier to make certain that
no black person was ever lynched in Tulsa,
Oklahoma.

Precisely at this moment, in this highly
charged atmosphere, that two previously un-
heralded Tulsans, named Dick Rowland and
Sarah Page, walked out of the shadows, and
onto the stage of history.

Although they played a key role in the
events which directly led to Tulsa's raceriot,
very little is known for certain about either
Dick Rowland or Sarah Page. Rumors, theo-
ries, and unsubstantiated claims have been
plentiful throughout the years, but hard evi-
dence has been much more difficult to come
by.

Dick Rowland, who was black, was said to
have been nineteen-years-old at the time of the
riot. At the time of his birth, he was given the
name Jimmie Jones. While it is not known
where hewasborn, by 1908 heand histwo sis
tershad evi dently beenor phaned, andwereliw
ing “onthestreets of Vinita, sleeping wherever
they could, and begging for food.” An African
American woman named Damie Ford, who
ran atiny one-room-grocery store, took pity on
young Jimmie and took himin. “That’s how I
became Jmmie's ‘Mama,”’ she told an inter-
viewer decades afterwards.

Approximately one year later, Damie and her
adopted son moved to Tulsa, where they were
reunited with Damie’'s family, the Rowlands.
Eventualy, little Jimmie took Rowland as his
own last name, and selected his favorite first
name, Dick, as hisown. Growing up in Tulsa,
Dick attended the city’s separate all-black
schools, including Booker T. Washington High
School, where he played football.”

Dick Rowland dropped out of high school to
take a job shining shoes in a white-owned and
white-patronized shine parlor located down-
town on Main Street. Shoe shines usually cost a
dime in those days, but the shoe shiners — or
bootblacks, as they were sometimes called —
were often tipped a nickel for each shine, and
sometimes considerably more. Over the course
of a busy working day, a shoe shiner could
pocket a fair amount of money — especialy if
hewas ateenaged African Ameri canyouthwith
few other job prospects.

There were no toilet facilities, however, for
blacks at the shine parlor where Dick Rowland
worked. The owner had arranged for his African
American employees to be able to use a
“Colored” restroom that was located, nearby, in
the Drexel Building at 319 S. Main Street. In or-
der to gain access to the washroom, located on
the top floor, Rowland and the other shoe shin-
erswouldrideinthebuilding’ ssoleel evator. E-
evators were not automatic, requiring an
operatorigA job that was usually reserved for
women.

In late May 1921, the elevator operator at the
Drexel Building was a seventeen-year-old
white woman named Sarah Page. Thought to
have come to Tulsa from Missouri, she appar-
ently lived in a rented room on North Boston
Avenue. It also has been reported that Page was
attending alocal business school, a good career
move at the time. Although,Tulsa was still rid-
ing upon its construction boom, some building
ownerswere evidently hiring African American
women to replace their white elevator opera
tors.®

Whether - and to what extent — Dick
Rowland and Sarah Page knew each other has
long been a matter of speculation. It seems rea-
sonable that they would have least been able to
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recognize each other on sight, as Rowland
would have regularly rode in Page’s elevator
on his way to and from the restroom. Others,
however, have speculated that the pair might
have been lovers — a dangerous and poten-
tially deadly taboo, but not an impossibility.
Damie Ford later suggested that this might
have been the case, as did Samuel M. Jackson,
who operated afunera parlor in Greenwood at
the time of the riot. “I’m going to tell you the
truth,” Jacksontold riot historian Ruth Avery a
half century later, “He could have been going
with the girl. You go through life and you find
that somebody likesyou. That’s all thereisto
it.” However, Robert Fairchild, who shined
shoes with Rowland, disagreed. “At that
time,” Fairchild later recalled, “the Negro had
so much fear that he didn’'t bother with inte-
grated relationship[s].”

Whether they knew each other or not, it is
clear that both Dick Rowland and Sarah Page
were downtown on Monday, May 30, 1921 —
although this, too, is cloaked in some mystery.
OnMemoria Day, most— but not all — stores
and businessesin Tulsawere closed. Y et, both
Rowland and Page were apparently working
that day. A large Memorial Day parade passed
along Main Street that morning, and perhaps
Sarah Page had been required to work in order
to transport Drexel Building employees and
their families to choice parade viewing spots
on the building’'s upper floors. As for Dick
Rowland, perhaps the shine parlor he worked
at may have been open, if nothing else, to draw
in some of the parade traffic. One post-riot ac-
count suggests another alternative, namely,
that Rowland was making deliveries of shined
shoes that day. What is certain, however, is
that at some point on Monday, May 30, 1921,
Dick Rowland entered the elevator operated by
Sarah Page that was situated at the rear of the
Drexel Building.®

What happened next is anyone's guess. Af-
ter the riot, the most common explanation was
that Dick Rowland tripped as he got onto the
elevator and, as he tried to catch his fall, he
grabbed onto the arm of Sarah Page, who then
screamed. It also has been suggested that
Rowland and Page had alover’ squarrel. How-

ever, it ssimply isunclear what hap pened. Yet, in
the daysand yearsthat followed, everyonewho
knew Dick Rowland agreed on one thing: that
he would never have been capable of rape.®

A clerk from Renberg’s, a clothing store lo-
cated on the first floor of the Drexel Building,
however, reached the opposite conclusion.
Hearing what he thought was a woman's
scream, and apparently seeing Dick Rowland
hurriedly flee the building, the clerk rushed to
the elevator, where he found a distraught Sarah
Page. Evidently deciding that the young eleva-
tor operator had been the victim of an attempted
sexual assault, the clerk then summoned the po-
lice.

Whileit appears that the clerk stuck to hisin-
terpretation that there had been an attempted
rape — and of aparticularly incendiary kind —
no record exists asto what Sarah Page actually
told the police when they initialy interviewed
her. Whatever she said at the time, however, it
does not appear that the police officers who in-
terviewed her necessarily reached the same po-
tentially explosive conclusion as that made by
the Renberg’s clerk, namely, that a black male
had at tempted torapeawhitefemaleina down-
town office building. Rather than issue any sort
of anal-pointsbul letinforthe al legedassail ant,
it appears that the police launched a rather
low-key investigation into the affair.®*

Whatever had or had not happened in the
Drexel Building elevator, Dick Rowland had
become a justly terrified young man. For of all
the crimesthat African American men would be
accused of in early twentieth century America,
none seemed to bring a white lynch maob to-
gether faster than an accusation of the rape, or
attempted rape, of a white woman. Frightened
and agitated, Rowland hastened to his adopted
mother’s home, where he stayed inside with
blinds drawn.®

The next morning, Tuesday, May 31, 1921,
Dick Rowland was ar restedon Greenwood Av e
nue by two Tulsa police officers, Detective
Henry Carmichael, who was white, and by Pa-
trolman Henry C. Pack, who was one of a hand-
ful of African Americans on the city’s
approximately seventy-five man police force.
Rowland was booked at police headquarters,
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and then taken to thejail on thetop floor of the
Tulsa County Courthouse. Informed that her
adopted son wasin custody, Damie Ford seems
to have lost no time in hi ring a prominent
white attorney to defend him.®

Word of both the alleged incident in the
Drexel Building, and of the subsequent arrest
of the alleged perpetrator, quickly spread
throughout the city’ slegal cir cles. Black at tor
ney B.C. Franklin was sitting in the courtroom
during arecess in atrial when he overheard
some other lawyers discussing what he later
concluded was the alleged rape attempt. “I
don’t believe a damn word of it,” one of the
men said, “Why | know that boy and have
known him agood while. That’ snotin him.”®’

Not surprisingly, word of both the alleged
incident and of the arrest of Dick Rowland had
also made it to the offices of Tulsa stwo daily
newspapers, the Tribune and the World. Due to
the timing of the events, the Tulsa Tribune
would havethefirst crack at thestory. Not only
had the alleged Drexel Building incident gone
without notice in that morning's Tulsa World
— perhaps, one istempted to surmise, because
word of the alleged incident had not yet made
it to the paper’s news desk, which may have
been short-staffed due to the holiday — but
Rowland’ sarrest had apparently occurred after
that morning’s edition had already been
printed.® Being an afternoon paper, however,
the Tulsa Tribune had enough time to break
the news in its regular afternoon editions —
whichis exactly what it did.

Precisely what the Tulsa Tribune printed in
its May 31, 1921 editions about the Drexel
Building incident is still amatter of some con-
jecture. The origina bound volumes of the
now defunct newspaper apparently no longer
exist in their entirety. A microfilm version is,
however, available, but before the actual mi-
crofilming was done some years later, some-
one had deliberately torn out of the May 31,
1921 city edition both a front-page article and,
in addition, nearly all of the editorial page.

We have known what the front-page story,
titled “Nab Negro for Attacking Girl in Eleva-
tor”, said for some time. In his 1946 master’s
thesison theriot, Loren Gill printed the entire

text of the missing — and what he believed was
no less than “inflammatory” — story, which
read:

Nab Negro for Attacking
Girl in Elevator

A Negrodeliv ery boy whogavehisname
to the public as “Diamond Dick” but who
has been identified as Dick Rowland, was
arrested on South Greenwood Avenue this
morning by Officers Carmichael and Pack,
charged with attempting to assault the
17-year-old white elevator girl in the
Drexel Building early yesterday.

Hewill betried in municipal court this af-
ternoon on a state charge.

Thegirl said she noticed the Negro afew
minutes before the attempted assault |ook-
ing up and down the hallway on the third
floor of the Drexel Building as if to see if
there was anyone in sight but thought noth-
ing of it at the time.

A few minutes later he entered the eleva-
tor she claimed, and attacked her, scratch-
ing her hands and face and tearing her
clothes. Her screams brought a clerk from
Renberg’ sstoreto her assistanceandtheNe
gro fled. He was captured and identified
this morning both by the girl and the clerk,
police say.

Tenants of the Drexel Building said the
girl is an orphan who works as an elevator
operator to pay her way through business
college.®®

Since Gill’s thesis first appeared, additional
copies of this front-page article have surfaced.
A copy can be found in the Red Cross papers
that are located in the collections of the Tulsa
Historical Society. A second copy, apparently
from the “ State Edition” of the Tulsa Tribune,
could once be found in the collections of the
Oklahoma Historical Society, but has now evi-
dently disappeared.®

This front page article was not, however, the
only thing that the Tulsa Tribune seemsto have
printed about the Drexel Building incident in its
May 31, edition. W.D. Williams, who later
taught for years at Booker T. Washington High



School in Tulsa, had avivid memory that the
Tribuneranastory titled “To Lynch Negro To-
night.”®! In fact, however, what Williams may
be recalling is not another news article, but an
editorial from the missing editorial page.

Other informants, both black and white, but-
tressWilliams' sac count. Specifically, theyre
called that the Tribune mentioned the
possibility of alynching — something that is
entirely absent from the “Nab Negro for At-
tacking Girl in Elevator” story, and thus must
have appeared elsewhere in the May 31, edi-
tion. Robert Fairchild later recalled that the
Tribune “came out and told what happened. It
said to the effect that ‘there is likely to be a
lynching in Tulsa tonight.”” One of Mary
Parrish’s informants, whom she interviewed
shortly after the riot, provided a similar ac-
count:

The Daily Tribune, a white newspaper
that triesto gainits popularity by referring
to the Negro settlement as “Little Africa,”
came out on the evening of Tuesday, May
31, with an article claiming that a Negro
had experienced some trouble with a
white elevator girl at the Drexel Building.
It also said that a mob of whites was form-
ing in order to lynch the Negro.

Adjutant General Charles F. Barrett, who
led National Guard troops from Oklahoma
City into Tulsathe next day, recalled that there
had been a “fantastic write-up of the [Drexel
Building] incident in a sensation-seeking
newspaper.” %

Given the fact that the editorial page from
the May 31, Tulsa Tribune was also deliber-
ately removed, and that a copy has not yet sur-
faced, it is not difficult to conclude that
whatever el se the paper had to say about the al-
leged incident, and what should be donein re-
sponse to it, would have appeared in an
editorial. “To Lynch Negro Tonight” certainly
would havefit asthetitleto a Tribune editorial
inthose days. Moreover, given the seriousness
of the charges against Dick Rowland, the ag-
gressiveness of the paper’s anti-crime cam-
paign, and the fact that a Tribune editorial had
mentioned the lynching of Roy Belton only
four daysearlier,itishighly likely that any edi-

torial the paper would have run concerning the
alleged Drexel Building incident would have
surely mentioned lynching asapossiblefatefor
Dick Rowland. Exactly what the newspaper
would have said on the matter, however, can
only be |eft to conjecture.

The Tuesday, May 31, 1921 edition of the
Tulsa Tribune hit the streetsat about 3:15 p.m.
And whilethe “Nab Negro for Attacking Girl in
Elevator” was far from being the most promi-
nent story on the front page of the city edition, it
was the story that garnered the most attention.
Making his way through downtown toward his
office in Greenwood shortly after the Tribune
rolled off the presses, attorney B.C. Franklin
later recalled that “as | walked leisurely along
the sidewalk, | heard the sharp shrill voice of a
newsboy, “A Negro assaults awhite girl.”%

Indeed, lynch talk came right on the heels of
the Tribune’s sensational reporting. Ross T.
Warner, the white manager of the downtown of-
fices of the TulsaMachine and Tool Company,
wrote that after the Tribune came out that after-
noon, “thetalk of lynching spread like aprairie
fire” Similar memories were shared by Dr.
BlaineWaynes, an African Americanphysician
and hiswife Maude, who reported that after the
Tribune was issued that day, that rumors of the
“intended lynching of the accused Negro”
spread so swiftly and ominously that even “the
novice and stranger” could readily sense the
fast-approaching chain of events that was about
to unfold. By 4:00 p.m., the talk of lynching
Dick Rowland had already grown so ubiquitous
that Police and Fire Commissioner J.M.
Adkison telephoned Sheriff Willard
McCullough and alerted him to the
ever-increasing talk on the street.®

Talk soon turned into action. As word of the
alleged sexual assault in the Drexel Building
spread, acrowd of whitesbeganto gather onthe
street outside of the Tulsa County Courthouse,
inwhosejail Dick Rowland was being held. As
people got off of work, and the news of the al-
leged attack reported in the Tribune became
more widely dispersed across town, more and
more white Tulsans, infuriated by what had sup-
posedly taken place in the Drexel Building, be-
ganto gather out sidethe court houseat Sixthand
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Tulsa County Court house where al leged mur der Roy Belton was handed to an an gry mob. This event helped black lead-
ers decide to offer assistance to Tulsa officials when Dick Rowland was held in the same position (Courtesy Oklahoma
Historical Society).

Boulder. By sunset — which cameat 7:34 p.m.
that evening — observers estimated that the
crowd had grown into the hundreds. Not long
afterwards, cries of “Let us have the nigger”
could be heard echoing off of the walls of the
massive stone courthouse.”

Willard M. McCullough, who had recently
been sworn in as the new sheriff of Tulsa
County, however, had other ideas. Determined
that there would be no repeat of the Roy
Belton affair during his time in office, he
quickly took steps to ensure the safety of Dick
Rowland. Organizing his small force of depu-
ties into a defensive ring around his now terri-
fied prisoner, McCullough positioned six of
his men, armed with rifles and shotguns, on
theroof of the courthouse. He also disabled the
building’'s elevator, and had his remaining
men barricade themselves at the top of the
stairs with orders to shoot any intruders on
sight.

M cCullough a so went outside, on the court-
house steps, and tried to talk the would-be
lynch mob into going home, but was “hooted
down” when he spoke. At approximatley 8:20

p.m., in a near replay of the Belton incident,
three white men entered the courthouse and de-
manded that the sheriff turn over Rowland, but
were angrily turned away. Even though his
small force was vastly outnumbered by the
ever-increasing mob out on the street,
McCullough, unlike his predecessor, was deter-
mined to prevent another lynching.®

Word of the aleged incident at the Drexel
Building, and of the white mob that was gather-
ing outside of the courthouse, meanwhile, also
had raced across Greenwood. After reading the
stories in the afternoon’s Tribune, Willie Wil -
liams, a popular junior at Booker T. Washing-
ton High School, had hurried over to his
family’s flagship business, the Dreamland The-
ater, at 127 N. Greenwood. Inside, he found a
scene of tension and confusion. “We're not go-
ing to let this happen,” declared a man who had
leapt onto the theater’s stage, “We're going to
go downtown and stop this lynching. Close this
place down.”

Outside, similar discussions were taking
place up and down Greenwood Avenue, as
black Tulsans debated how to respond to thein-
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creasingly dire threat to Dick Rowland. B.C.
Franklinlater recalledtwoarmy vet er ansoutin
the street, urging the crowd gathered about
them to take immediate action, while perhaps
the most intense discussions were held in the
offices of the Tulsa Star, the city’ spremier Af-
rican American newspaper.

What went unspokenwasthefactan African
American had never been lynched in Tulsa
How to prevent one from taking place now was
no easy mat ter. It wasnot simply thecrimethat
Dick Rowland had been charged with — al -
though that, by itself, made the situation par-
ticularly dire. Rather, with the lynching of Roy
Belton only nine months earlier, there was now
noreasonat al to placemuch confi denceinthe
ability of thelocal authorities to protect Dick
Rowland from the mob of whites that was
gathering outside the courthouse. However,
ex actly how torespondwasof ut most concern.

For A.J. Smitherman, the editor of the Tulsa
Star, there was no question whatsoever that a
demonstration of resolve was necessary. Black
Tulsansneeded to let the white mob know that
they were determined to prevent this lynching
from taking place, by force of arms if neces-
sary. Others, including a number of war veter-
ans as well as various local leaders, the most
prominent being hotel owner J.B. Stradford,
vigorously agreed. Moreover, when Dr.
Bridgewater had led a group of armed men
downtown to where three accused African
American men were being held only two years
later, a rumored lynching did not take place.
“Come on boys,” Smitherman is said to have
urged his audience, “let’s go downtown.”

Not everyone agreed with the plan of action.
O.W. Gurley, the owner of the Gurley Hotel,
seems to have argued for a more cautious ap-
proach. So, too, apparently, did Barney
Cleaver, a well-respected African American
deputy sheriff, who had been trying to keep in
telephone contact with Sheriff McCullough,
and therefore have something of a handle on
theactual condi tionsdownat thecourt house.”

Despite some entredties to the contrary, at
about 9:00 p.m. a group of approximately
twenty-five African American men decided to
cast their lot not only with an endangered fel-

low member of therace, but also, literally, upon
the side of justice. Leaving Greenwood by auto
mobile, they drove down to the courthouse,
wherethe white mob had gathered. Armed with
rifles and shotguns, the men got out of their au-
tomobiles, and marched to the courthouse steps.
Their purpose, they announced to the no doubt
stunned authorities, was to offer their services
toward the defense of the jail — an offer that
was immediately declined. Assured that Dick
Rowland was safe, the men then returned to
their automobiles, and drove back to Green-
wood.*

The visit of the African American veterans
had an electrifying effect, however, on the
white mob, now estimated to be more than one
thousand strong. Denied Rowland by Sheriff
McCullough, it had been clear for some time
that thiswas not to be an uncomplicated repeti-
tion of the Belton affair. The visit of the black
veterans had not at all been foreseen. Shocked,
and then outraged, some members of the mob
began to go home to fetch their guns.®

Others, however, made a beeline for the Na-
tional Guard Armory, at Sixth and Norfolk,
where they intended to gain access to the rifles
and ammunition stored inside. Major James A.
Bell, an officer with the local National Guard
units — “B” Company, the Service Company,
andtheSani tary Detachment, all of theThirdIn-
fantry Regiment of the Oklahoma National
Guard — had already been notified of the trou-
ble brewing down at the courthouse, and had
telephoned the local authori tiesinor der tobetter
understand the overall situation. “I then went to
the Armory and called up the Sheriff and asked
if there was any indications of trouble down
there," Bell later wrote, “The sheriff reported
that there were some threats but did not believe
it would amount to any thing, that inany event he
could protect his prisoner.” Bell aso phoned
Chief Gustafson, who reported, “Things were a
little threatening.”'®

Despite such vague answers, Mg or Bell took
the initiative and began to quietly instruct local
guardsmen — who were scheduled to depart the
next day for their annual summer encampment
— to report down at the armory in case they
were needed that evening. Meanwhile, a
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guardsman informed Bell that amob of white
men was attempting to break into the armory.
As Bell later reported:

Grabbing my pistol in one hand and my
belt in the other | jumped out of the back
door and running down the west side of
the Armory building | saw several men ap-
parently pulling at the window grating.
Commanding these men to get off the lot
and seeing this command obeyed | went to
the front of the building near the south-
west corner where | saw a mob of white
men about three or four hundred strong. |
asked them what they wanted. One of
them replied, “Rifles and ammunition,” |
explained to them that they could not get
anything here. Someone shouted, “We
don’t know about that, we guesswe can." |
told them that we only had sufficient arms
and ammunition for our own men and that
not one piece could go out of therewithout
ordersfrom the Governor, and in the name
of the law demanded that they disperse at
once. They continued to pressforward ina
threatening manner when with drawn pis-
tol | again demanded that they disperse
and explained that the men in the Armory
werearmed with riflesloaded with ball am-
munition and that they would shoot
promptly to prevent any unauthorized per-
son entering there.

“By maintaining a firm stand,” Bell added,
“. .. thismob was dispersed.”

Major Bell’s actions were both courageous
and effective but as the night wore on, similar
efforts would be in exceedingly short supply.
With each passing minute, Tulsa was a city
that was quickly spinning out of control.

By 9:30 p.m., the white mob outside the
courthouse had swollen to nearly
two-thousand persons. They blocked the side-
walks as well as the streets, and had spilled
over onto the front lawns of nearby homes.
There were women as well as men, youngsters
as well as adults, curiosity seekers as well as
would-belynchers. A handful of local leaders,
including the Reverend Charles W. Kerr of the
First Presbyterian Church as well as a local

judge had tried unsuccessfully to talk the crowd
into going home.'%

Police Chief John A. Gustafson later claimed
that he tried to talk the lynch mob into dispers-
ing. However, at no time that afternoon or eve-
ning did he order a substantial number of Tulsa
policemen to appear, fully armed, at the court-
house. Gustafson, in his defense, would later
clam that because there was a regular shift
change that very day, that only thirty-two offi-
cers were available for duty at eight o’ clock on
the evening of May 31. As subsequent testi-
mony — as recorded in handwritten notes to a
post-riot investigation — later revealed, there
were apparently only “5 policemen on duty be-
tween courthouse & Brady hotel notwithstand-
ing lynching imminent.” Moreover, by 10:00
p.m., when the drama at the courthouse was ap-
proaching its climax, Gustafson was no longer
at the scene, but had returned to his office at po-
lice headquarters.'®

In the city’s African American neighbor-
hoods, meanwhile, tension continued to mount
over the increasingly ugly situation down at the
courthouse. Alerted to the potentially danger-
ous conditions, both school and church groups
broke up their evening activities early, while
parents and grandparentstried to reassure them-
selvesthat the trou blewould quickly blow over.
Down in Deep Greenwood, a large crowd of
black men and women still kept their vigil out-
side of the offices of the Tulsa Star, awaiting
word onthelatest devel opmentsdowntown.'™

Some of the men, however, decided that they
could wait no longer. Hopping into cars, small
groups of armed African American men began
to make brief foraysinto downtown, their guns
visible to passersby. In addition to reconnais-
sance, the primary intent of these trips appears
to have been to send a clear message to white
Tulsansthat these men were determined to pre-
vent, by force of armsif necessary, the lynching
of Dick Rowland. Whether the whites who wit-
nessed these excursions understood this mes-
sage is, however, an open question. Many,
apparently, thought that they were instead wit-
nessing a “Negro uprising,” a conclusion that
others would soon share.
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Inthemidst of al of thisactivity,rumorsbe
gan to circulate, particularly with regards to
what might or might not be happening down at
the courthouse. Possibly spurred on by afalse
report that whites were storming the court-
house, moments after 10:00 p.m., a second
contingent of armed African American men,
perhaps seventy-five in number this time, de-
cided to make a second visit to the courthouse.
Leaving Greenwood by automobile, they got
out of their cars near Sixth and Main and
marched, single file, to the courthouse steps.
Again, they offered their servicesto the author-
ities to help protect Dick Rowland. Once
again, their offer was refused.'®

Then it happened. As the black men were
leaving the courthouse for the second time, a
white man approached atall African American
World War | veteran who was carrying an
army-issue revolver. “Nigger,” the white man
said, “What are you doing with that pistol?’
“I’'m going to use it if | need to,” replied the
black veteran. “No, you give it to me.” Like
hell I will." Thewhitemantriedtotakethegun
away from the veteran, and a shot rang out.'®
America sworst race riot had begun.

While the first shot fired at the courthouse
may have been unintentional, those that fol-
lowed were not. Almost immediately, mem-
bers of the white mob — and possibly some
law enforcement officers— opened fire on the
African American men, who returned volleys
of their own. The initial gunplay lasted only a
few seconds, but when it was over, an un-
known number of people — perhaps as many
asadozen— both black and white, lay dead or
wounded.*’

Outnumbered more than twenty-to-one, the
black men began a retreating fight toward the
African American district. With armed whites
in close pursuit, heavy gunfire erupted again
aong Fourth Street, two blocks north of the
courthouse.'®

Dr. GeorgeH. Miller, awhite physician who
was working late that evening in his office at
the Unity Building at 21 W. Fourth Street,
rushed outside after hearingthegunshots, only
to come upon awounded black man, “shot and
bleeding, writhing on the street,” surrounded

by a group of angry whites. As Dr. Miller later
told an interviewer:

| went over to seeif | could helphimasa
doctor, but the crowd was gathering around
him and wouldn’t even let the driver of the
ambulance which just arrived to even pick
him up. | saw it was an impossible situation
to control, that | could be of no help. The
crowd was getting more and more belliger-
ent. The Negro had been shot so many
timesin his chest, and men from the onlook-
erswere slashing him with knives.

Unable to help the dying man, Dr. Miller got
into his car and drove home.*®

A short while later, asecond , deadlier, skir-
mish broke out at Second and Cincinnati. No
longer directly involved with the fate of Dick
Rowland, the beleaguered second contingent of
African American men were now fighting for
their own lives. Heavily outnumbered by the
whites, and suffering some casuaties along the
way, most were apparently able, however, to
make it safely across the Frisco railroad tracks,

A typical member of the white mob. Not only did they set Afri-
can-American homes and businesses on fire, but looted their
possessions as well (Courtesy Bob Hower).



Following the outbreak of violence at the courthouse, crowds of angry whites took to the streets downtown. There, according to
white eye wit nesses, a num ber of blacks were killed in the ri ots early hours. And even though the fight ing soon moved north to ward
Greenwood, groups of whites—in clud ing these at Main and Ar cher—were still rvoam ing the streets of down town the next morn ing
(Courtesy Oklahoma HistoricalSociety).

and into the more familiar environs of the Afri-
can American community.'°

At the courthouse, the sudden and unex-
pected turn of events had a jolting effect on the
would-be lynch mob, and groups of angry, ven-
geance-seeking whites soon took the streetsand
sidewalks of downtown. “A great many of these
persons lining the sdewaks,” one white eye-
witness later recalled, “were holding a rifle or
shotgun in one hand, and grasping the neck of a
liquor bottle with the other. Some had pistols
stuck into their belts.”***

Some were about to become, at |east tempo-
rarily, officers of the law. Shortly after the
fighting had broken out at the courthouse, a
large number of whites - many of whom had
only alittle while earlier been members of the
would-be lynch mob — gathered outside of
police headquarters on Second Street. There,
perhaps as many as five-hundred white men
and boys were sworn-in by police officers as
“Special Deputies.” Some were provided with
badges or ribbons indicating their new status.
Many, it appears, also were given specific in-
structions. According to Laurel G. Buck, a
white bricklayer who was sworn-in as one of
these ‘Special Deputies," a police officer
bluntly told him to “Get a gun and get a
nigger.”

Shortly thereafter, whites began bresking into
downtown sporting goods stores, pawnshops, and
hardware stores, stedling — or “borrowing” as
some would later claim — guns and ammunition.
Dick Bardon’s store on First Street was particu-
larly hard hit aswell asthe JW. MeGee Sporting
Goods shop at 22 W. Second Street, eventhoughit
was located literally across the street from police
headquarters. The owner later testified that a Tulsa
policeof fi cer hel ped to doleout thegunsthat were
taken from his store*®

M ore bloodshed soon followed, as whites be-
gan gunning down any African Americans that
they discovered downtown. William R.
Holway, a white engineer, was watching a
movie at the Rialto Theater when someone ran
into the theater, shouting “Nigger fight, nigger
fight.” AsHolway later recalled:

Everybody left that theater on high, you
know. We went out the door and looked
across the street, and there was
Y ounkman’s drug store with those big pil -
lars. There were two big pillars at the en-
trance, and we got over behind them. Just
got there when a Negro ran south of the al-
ley across the street, the minute his head
showed outside, somebody shot him.

“We stood there for about half-an-hour
watching," Holway added, “which | shall never



Groups of whites gath ered through out the city (Cour tesy West ern His tory Col lec tion, University of Oklahoma Libraries).

forget. He wasn't quite dead, but he was about
to die. He was the first man that I saw shot in
that riot.” '

Not far away, at theRoyal Theater —that was
showing a movie caled “One Man in a Mil -
lion” that evening — asimilar dramaplayed it-
self out. Among the onlookers was a white
teenager named William “Choc” Phillips, who
later became a well-known Tulsa police offi-
cer. As described by Phillips in his unpub-
lished memoir of theriot:

The mob action was set off when sev-
eral [white] men chased a Negro man
down the alley in back of the theater and
out onto Fourth Street where be saw the
stage door and dashed inside. Seeing the
open door the Negro rushed in and hurried
forward in the darkness hunting aplace to
hide.

Suddenly hewas on the stagein front of
the picture screen and blinded by the
bright flickering light coming down from
the operator’s booth in the balcony. After
shielding his eyes for a moment he re-
gained his vision enough to locate the
stepsleading from the stage down past the
orchestra pit to the aisle just as the pursu-
ing men rushed the stage. One of them saw
theNegroandyelled, “thereheis, heading

for theaisle.” Ashefinished the sentence, a
roaring blast from a shotgun dropped the
Negro man by the end of the orchestra
pit."*°

Not all of the victims of the violence that
broke out downtown were white. Evidence sug-
gests that after the fighting broke out at the
courthouse, carloads of black Tulsans may have
exchanged gunfire with whites on streets down-
town, possibly resulting in casualties on both
sides. At least one white man in an automobile
was killed by a group of whites, who had mis-
taken him to be black.*°

Around midnight, a small crowd of whites
gathered — once again — outside of the court-
house, yelling “Bring the rope” and “Get the
nigger.” But they did not rush the building, and
nothing happened. Because the truth of the mat-
ter was that, by then, most of Tulsa's rioting
whites no longer particularly cared about Dick
Rowland anymore. They now had much bigger
things in mind.

While darkness slowed the pace of the riot,
sporadic fighting took place throughout the
nighttime hours of May 31 and June 1. The
heaviest occurred alongside the Frisco railroad
tracks, one of the key dividing lines between
Tulsa's black and white commercial districts.
From approximately midnight until around 1:30
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am., scores of blacks and whites exchanged
gunfire across the Frisco yards. At one point
duringthefighting, aninboundtrainreportedly
arrived, its passengers forced to take cover on
the floor as the shooting continued, raking
both sides of the train.

A few carloads of whites also made brief ex-
cursions into the African American district,
firing indiscriminately into houses as they
roared up and down streets lined with black
residences. there were deliberate murders as
well. AsWalter White, who visited Tulsaim-
mediately after theriot, later reported:

Many arethe storiesof hor ror toldtome
- not by colored people - but by white resi-
dents. Onewasthat of an aged col ored cou
ple, saying their evening prayers before
retiring in their litttle home on Greenwood
Avenue. A mob broke into the house, shot
both of the old peoplein the backs of their
heads, blowing their brains out and spatter-
ing them over the bed, pillaged the home,
and then set fire to it.'%°

It appearsthat the first fires set by whitesin
black neighborhoods began at about 1:00 am.
African American homesand businesses aong
Archer were the earliest targets, and when an
engine crew from the Tulsa Fire Department
arrived and prepared to douse the flames,
white rioters forced the firemen away at gun-
point. By 4:00 am., more than two-dozen
black-owned businesses, including the Mid-
way Hotel, had been torched.***

The nighttime hours of May 31, and June 1,
also witnessed thefirst organized actionstaken
by the Tulsaunitsof the National Guard. While
evidence indicates that Sheriff McCullough
may have requested local guard officers that
they send men down to the courthouse at
around 9:30 p.m.,*?? it was not until more than
an hour later — about the time that the fighting
broke out at the courthouset—hat the local Na-
tional Guard units were specifically ordered to
take action with regardsto the riot. According
to the after action report later submitted by
Major James Bell to local National Guard
commander Lieutenant Colonel L.J.F.
Rooney:

During the nighttime hours of May 31 and June 1, groups of
armed whitesmade “drive-by” shootings in black residential
neighborhoods, firinginto African-American homes (Courtesy
Greenwood Cultural Center).

About 10:30 o' clock, I think it was, | had
acall from the Adjt. Genera asking about
the situation. | explained that it looked
pretty bad. He directed that we continue to
useevery effort togetthemeninsothat if a
call came we would be ready. | think it was
only a few minutes after this, another call
from the Adjt. Generd directed that “B” Co.,
the Sanitary Det. and the Service Co. be mo-
bilized at once and render any assistance to
the civil authorities we could in the mainte-
nance of law and order and the protection of
life and property. | think this was about
10:40 o' clock and while talking to the Gen-
eral you appeared and assume command.'?

At approximately 11:00 p.m., perhaps as
many as fifty local Nationa Guardsmen —
nearly all of whom had been contacted at their
homes — had gathered at the armory on Sixth
Street. Some were World War | veterans. It is
unclear whether any of the men had been
trained in riot control. Although various official
and unofficial manuals were available in 1921
on the use of National Guard soldiers during ri-
ots, it is uncertain whether the Tulsa units had
received any training in this area*

Another interesting aspect regarding the
guardsmen who gathered at the armory exists.
Not only were the Tulsa units of the National
Guard exclusively white, but as the evening
wore on, it became increasingly clear that they
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Some of the most intense fighting during the riot took place alongside the Frisco Railroad yards, as African-American defenders
tried to keep the white rioters away from Greenwood. But when dawn broke on the morning of June 1, the black defenders were
simpley overwhelmed (Courtesy Oklahoma His torical Sociey).

would not play animpartial rolein the “main-
tenance of law and order.” Like many of their
white neighbors, a number of thelocal guards-
men also came to conclude that the race riot
was, in fact, a“Negro uprising,” aterm used
throughout their various after action reports.
At least one National Guard officer went even
further, using the term “enemy” in reference to
African Americans. Given the tenor of the
times, it is hardly surprising that Tulsa's
al-white National Guard might view black
Tulsans antagonistically. Astheriot continued
to unfold, thisasowould proveto befar from
irrelevant.”

Ini tially, thelocal guardsmenweredeployed
downtown. Sometime before midnight, one
detachment was stationed in front of police
headquarters, where they blocked off Second
Street. Guardsmen aso led groups of armed
whites on “patrols’ of downtown streets, an
activity that was later taken over by members
of the— similarly al-white— local chapter of

the AmericanLegion. Tulsapoliceofficialsalso
presented the guardsmen with a machine gun,
which guard officers then had mounted on the
back of atruck. This particular gun, possibly a
war trophy, it turned out, was in poor operating
condition, and could only befired one shell at a
time. %

Taking the machine gun along with them,
about thirty guardsmen then headed north, and
posi tionedthemselvesalongDetroit Avenuebe
tween Brady Street and Standpipe Hill, along
one of the borders separating the city’s white
and black neighborhoods. Their deployment
was far from impartial, for the “skirmish line”
that the National Guard officers established was
set-up facing - or soon would be — the African
American district. Moreover, the guardsmen
also began rounding up black Tulsans, whom
they handed over — as prisoners — to the po-
lice, and they also briefly exchanged fire with
gunmen to the east. Far from being utilized asa
neutral force, Tulsa slocal National Guard unit
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North Tulsa burns while a white audience views the destruction from a safe distance (Courtesy Oklahoma HistoricalSociety).

along Detroit Avenue were, even in the early
hours of the riot, being deployed in a manner
whichwould eventually settheminopposition
to the black community.**

In Tulsa’ sblack neighborhoods, meanwhile,
word of what had happened at the courthouse
was soon followed by even more disturbing
news. A light-complexioned African Ameri-
can man, who could “pass’ for white, had min-
gled with the crowds of angry whites
downtown, where he overheard talk of invad-
ing the African American district. Carefully
making his way back home, the man then re-
lated what he had heard to Seymour Williams,
a teacher at Booker T. Washington High
School. Williams, who had served with the
army in France, grabbed his service revolver
and began to spread the news among his
neighbors living just off of Standpipe Hill.*®

All aong the southern edge of Greenwood,
in fact, agreat amount of activity wasin prog-
ress. Alerted to the news of the violence that
had broken out downtown, garage and theater
owner John Wesley Williams wasted no time
in preparing for the possibility of even greater
trouble. Loading his30-30ri fleand arepeating
shotgun, he positioned himself along a
south-facing window of his family’s second
floor apartment at the corner of Greenwood
and Archer. Later telling his son that he was

“defending Greenwood,” he was one of scores
of other African American residents who were
preparing to do exactly the same.*”

Other black Tulsans, however, reached a dif-
ferent conclusion on what was the best course of
action. Despite the fact that many of the city’s
African American residents undoubtedly hoped
that daylight would bring an end to the violence,
others decided not to wait and find out. In the
early hours of June 1, a steady stream of black
Tulsans began to leave the city, hoping to find
safety in the surrounding countryside. “Early in
theeveningwhentherewasfirst talk of trouble,”
Irene Scofield later told the Black Dispatch, “|
and about forty others started out of the town
and walked to alittle town about fifteen miles
away.” Others joining the exodus, however,
were not asfortunate. Billy Hudson, an African
American laborer who lived on Archer, hitched
up hiswagon as conditions grew worse, and set
out — with his grandchildren by his side— for

Nowlastoa_ He was killed by whites along the

way.

Adding to the confusion over what to do was
thesimplereal ity that, for most black Tulsans, it
was by no means clear as to what, exactly, was
going on throughout the city. This was particu-
larly the case during the early hours of June 1.
Intermittent gunfire continued along the south-
ernmost edges of the African American district
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Street by street, block by block, the white invaders moved northward across Tulsa’s African-American dis trict, loot ing homes and
set ting them on fire (Cour tesy De part ment of Spe cial Col lec tions, McFarlin Li brary, University of Tulsa).

throughout the night, while down along Archer
Street, thefires had not yet burned themselves
out. Yet, as far as anyone could determine,
Dick Rowland was till  safe inside the court-
house. There had been no lynching.

At approximately 2:00 a.m., thefiercefight-
ing aong the Frisco railroad yards had ended.
The white would-be invaders still south of the
tracks. As a result, some of Greenwood's de-
fenders not only concluded that they had
“won” thefight, but also that the riot was over.
“Nine p.m. the trouble started,” A.J.
Smitherman later wrote, “two am. the thing
was done.” 3!

Nothing could have been further from the
truth.

Regardless of whatever was, or was not,
happening down by the Frisco tracks, crowds
of angry, armed whites were still very muchin
evidence on the streets and sidewalks of down-
town Tulsa. Stunned, and then outraged, by
what had occurred at the courthouse, they had
only begun to vent their anger.

Like black Tulsans, whites were not exactly
certain asto what exactly was happening in the
city, a Situation that was, not surprisingly, tai-

lor-made for rumors. Indeed, at about 2:30 am.,
the word spread quickly across downtown that a
train carrying five-hundred armed blacks from
Muskogee was due to arrive shortly at the Mid-
land Valley Railway passenger station off Third
Street. Scores of armed whites including a Na-
tiona Guard patrol rushed to the depot, but
nothing happened. Therewas no such train.**

Approximately 30 minutes later, reports
reached the local National Guard officers that
African American gunman werefiring on white
residences on Sunset Hill, north of Standpipe
Hill. Moreover, it was said that a white woman
had been shot and killed. Responding to the
news, guardsmen including the crew manning
the semi-defective machine gun were deployed
along Sunset Hill, an areathat overlooked black
homes to the east.™®

In other white neighborhoods across Tulsa, a
different kind of activity was taking place, par-
ticularly during the first hours following mid-
night. Asword of what somewould later call the
“Negro uprising” began to spread across the
white community, groups of armed whites be-
ganto gather at hasti Iy-arrangled meeting places,
to discuss what to do next.
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White ri ot ers be gan set ting black homes and busi nesses on fire around mid night, largely along Ar cher Street. There were atrocities
aswell. One el derly Afri can-American cou ple, it was later re ported, was shot in the back of the head by whites as they knelt in prayer

insidetheir home (Cour tesy Oklahoma His torical So ciety).

For “Choc” Phillips and his other young
companions, word of thisactivity camewhile
they were sitting in an all-night restaurant.
“Everybody,” they weretold, “go to Fifteenth
and Boulder.” Phillips wrote:

Many peopleweredrifting out of theres-
taurant so we decided to go along and see
what happened at the meeting place.
Driving south on Boulder we realized that
many trucks and automobileswereheaded
for the same location, and near Fifteenth
Street people had abandoned their vehi-
cles because the streets and intersections
were filled to capacity. We left the car
more than a block away and began walk-
ing toward the crowded intersection.
There were aready three or four hundred
people there and more arriving when we
walked up.

Once there, a man stood up on top of atour-
ing car and announced, “We have decided to
go out to Second and L ewis Streetsand join the
crowd that is meeting there.”*®

Returning to their automobiles, Phillips and
his companions blended in with the long line

of cars headed east. He later estimated, the
crowd that had gathered was about six-hundred
strong. Once again, men stood up on top of cars
and began shouting instructions to the crowd.
“Men,” once man announced, “we are going in
at daylight.” Another man declared that they
would be having, right then and there, an ammu-
nition exchange. “If any of you have more am-
munition than you need, or if what you have
doesn’t fit your gun, sing out,” he said. “Be
ready at daybreak,” another maninsisted, claim-
ing that meetings like this were taking place all
over town. “Nothing can stop us,” headded, “for
there will be thousands of othersgoing in at the
sametime.”**

The Tulsa police aso appear to have been
scattered all over town. No doubt responding to
rumors that armed blacks were supposedly en
routeto Tulsafrom varioustownsacross eastern
Oklahoma, Tulsa police officers had been dis-
patched to guard various roads leading into the
city. Indeed, no less than a half-dozen officers
that by Chief Gustafson’s subsequent calcula-
tions, was nearly one-fifth of the regularly
scheduled available police force that evening,
had ap par ently been posted at theiceplant over-
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Sweeping past the black business district, now aflame, the
white rioters entered the heart of Tulsa’s African-American
residential area (Courtesy Oklahoma HistoricalSociety).

looking the Eleventh Street bridge. Some local
guardsmen also were deployed to stand guard
at various public works as well including the
city water works along the Sand Springs road,
and the Public Ser viceCom pany’ spower plant
off First Street.*®

Word of what was happening in Tulsa was
also making its way to state officials in
Oklahoma City. At 10:14 p.m., Adjutant Gen-
eral Charles F. Barrett, the commandant of the
OklahomaNational Guard, hadreceivedalong
distance telephone call from Major Byron
Kirkpatrick, a Tulsa guard officer, advising
him of the worsening conditions in Tulsa
Kirkpatrick phoned again at 12:35 am. At that
point he was instructed by Governor JB.A.
Robertson to prepare and send a signed tele-
gram, as required by Oklahoma state law, by
the chief of police, the county sheriff, and alo-
cal judge, requesting that state troops be sent
to Tulsa. Kirkpatrick, however, ran into some
problems as he tried to collect the necessary
signatures, particularly that of Sheriff
McCullough, whowasstill barricaded with his
men and Dick Rowland on the top floor of the
courthouse. However, Kirkpatrick persevered,

and at 1:46 a.m., the needed telegram arrived at
the state capital .**® It read:

WESTERN UNION TELEGRAM
Tulsa, Okla
June 1,1921

Govemor J.B.A. Robertson Oklahoma
City, Oklahoma. Race riot developed here.
Severd killed. Unable handle situation. Re-
guest that National Guard forces be sent by
special train. Situation serious.

Jno. A. Gustaftson,
Chief of Police
Wm. McCullough,
Sheriff

V.W. Biddison
District Judge

Twenty-nine minutes later, at 2:15 am., Ma-
jor Kirkpatrick spoke again by phone with Ad-
jutant General Barrett, who informed him that
the governor had authorized the calling out of
the state troops. A special train, carrying ap-
proximately one-hundred National Guard sol -
diers would leave Oklahoma Ci%, bound for
Tulsa, at 5:00 am. that morning.*

Tulsa slongest night wouldfi nally beending,
but its longest day would have only begun.

In the pre-dawn hours of June |, thousands of
armed whites had gathered in three main clus-
tersalong the northern fringes of downtown, op-
posite Greenwood. One group had assembled
behind the Frisco freight depot, while another
waited nearby at the Frisco and Santa Fe passen-
ger station. Four blocks to the north, a third
crowd was clustered at the Katy passenger de-
pot. While it is unclear how many people were
in each group, some contemporary observerses-
timated the total number of armed whites who
had gathered as high asfive or ten thousand.**

Smaller bands of whites also had been active.
One group hauled a machine gun to the top of
the Middle States Milling Company’ sgrain ele-
vator off of First Street, and set it uptofiretothe
north of Greenwood Avenue.*** Shortly before
daybreak, five white men in a green Franklin
automobile pulled up alongside the crowd of
whites who were massed behind the Frisco
freight depot. “What the hell are you waitin’
on?” one of the men hollered, “let’s go get
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The looting and burning of Af ri can -Amer i can homes was indiscriminate, both poor andwealthy families lost

their homes (Courtesy Greenwood Cultural Center).

‘em.” But the crowd would not budge, and the
men in the car set off aone toward Deep
Greenwood. Their bodies, and the bul-
let-ridden Franklin, werelater seeninthemid
dle of Archer Street, near Frankfort."*

Across the tracks in Greenwood, consider-
ableactivity also had beentaking place. While
some black Tulsans prepared themselves to
face the ondlaught, others decided that it was
time to go. “About this time officers Pack and
Lewis pushed up to usand said it would not be
safefor usto remain any longer,” recalled Mrs.
Dimple Bush, who waswith her husband at the
Red Wing Hotel. “So,” she added, “We rushed
out and found a taxi which took us straight
north on Greenwood.”'*

Not far away, along North Elgin, Julia Duff,
a teacher at Booker T. Washington High
School, faced a similar crisis. Awakened by
loud voices outside of her rented room shortly
before dawn, the young teacher was soon
nearly overcome with fear. As later described
inaletter publishedinthe Chicago Defender:

Mrs. S. cameinto her room and told her
to dress-there was something wrong for
soldiers were all around, and she looked
out the window and saw them driving the
men out of the houses on Detroit. Saw Mr.

Woods running with both hands in the air
and their 3-month-old baby in one hand and
three brutes behind him with guns.

“She said her legs gave way from under her,”
theletter continued, “and she had to crawl about
the room, taking things from her closet, putting
them in her trunk, for she thought if anything
happened she'd have her trunk packed, and be-
fore she got everything in they heard footsteps
on their steps and there were six out there and
they ordered Mr. Smart to march, hands up, out
of the house.**®

Several eyewitnesses later recalled that when
dawn came at 5:08 am. that morning, an un-
usual whistle or siren sounded, perhapsasasig-
nal for the mass assault on Greenwood to begin.
Although the source of this whistle or siren is
still unknown, moments later, the white mobs
made their move. While the machine gun in the
grain elevator opened fire, crowds of armed
whites poured across the Frisco tracks, headed
straight for the African American commercial
district.*® Aslater described by oneeyewit ness:

With wild frenzied shouts, men began
pouring from behind the freight depot and
the long string of boxcars and evidently
from behind the piles of oil well easing
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which was at the other end and on the
north side of the building. From every
place of shelter up and down the tracks
came screaming, shouting men to join in
the rush toward the Negro section. Min-
gled with the shouting were a few re-
bel-yells and Indian gobblings as the great
wave of humanity rushed forward totally
absorbed in thoughts of destruction.**’

Meanwhile, over at the Katy depot, the other
crowd of armed whites also moved forward.
Heading east, they were soon joined by dozens
of others in automobiles, driving along Brady
and Cameron Streets. As one unidentified ob-
server later told reporter Mary Parrish, “ Tues
day night, May 31, was the riot, and
Wednesday morning, by daybreak, was the in-
vasion.”*

While black Tulsans fought hard to protect
their homes and businesses, the sheer numeri-
cal advantage of the invading whites soon
proved to be overwhelming. After a valiant,
night long effort, John Wesley Williams had to
flee from his family’s apartment once whites
began to riddle the building with gunfire.
Squeezing off afew final rounds alittle further
up Greenwood Avenue, Williams then faced
the inevitable, and began walking north along
the Midland Valley tracks, leaving his home
and businesses behind.'*

He was hardly alone. Not far away, in her
apartment in the Woods Building at 105 N.
Greenwood, Mary E. Jones Parrish and her
young daughter Florence Mary had sat up
much of the night, uncertain of what to do.
“Finaly,” she later wrote,

My friend, Mrs. Jones, called her hus-
band, who was trying to take a little rest.
They decided to try to make for a place of
safety, so called to me that they were leav-
ing. By this time the enemy was close
upon us, so they ran out of the south door,
whichled out onto Ar cher Street, and went
east toward Lansing. | took my little girl,
Florence Mary, by the hand and fled out of
the west door on Greenwood. | did not
take time to get a hat for myself or Baby,
but started out north on Greenwood, run-
ning amidst showers of bullets from the

machine gun located in the granary and
from men who were quickly surrounding
our district. Seeing that they were fighting
at adisadvantage, our menhadtakenshel ter
in the buildings and in other places out of
sight of the enemy. When my daughter,
Florence Mary, and | ran into the street, it
was vacant for a block or more. Someone
called to me to “Get out of the street with
that child or you both will be killed.” | felt
that it was suicide to remain in the building,
for it would surely be destroyed and death
in the street was preferred, for we expected
to be shot down at any moment. So we
placed our trust in God, our Heavenly Fa-
ther, who seeth and knoweth al things, and
ran out of Greenwood in the hope of reach-
ing a friend's home who lived over the
Standpipe Hill in Greenwood Addition.”

For Dimple Bush, the flight from Greenwood
had bordered upon the indescribable. “It was
just dawn; the machine guns were sweeping the
valley with their murderous fire and my heart
was filled with dread as we sped along,” shere-
called, “Old women and men, children were
running and screaming everywhere.” >

Soon, however, new perils developed. Asthe
mobs of armed whites rushed into the southern
end of the African American district, airplanes
— manned by whites — also appeared over-
head. AsDr. R.T. Bridgewater, awell-respected
black Tulsaphysician, later described what hap-
pened:

Shortly after we left awhistle blew. The
shots rang from a machine gun located on
Standpipe Hill near my residence and
aeroplanes began to fly over us, in somein-
stances very low to the ground. A cry was
heard from the women saying, “Look out
for the aeroplanes, they are shooting upon

us.” 152

Numerous other eyewitnesses —both black
and white — confirm the presence of an un-
known number of airplanes flying over Green-
wood during the early daylight hours of June 1.
While certain other assertions made over the
years such as that the planes dropped streams of
“liquid fire” on top of African American homes
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and busi nessesap pear to havebeentechnolog
ically improbable, particularly during the early
1920s, thereis little doubt but that some of the
occupants of the airplanes fired upon black
Tulsans with pistols and rifles. Moreover,
thereisevidence, tosuggestthat meninat least
one airplane dropped some form of explo-
sives, probably sticks of dynamite, upon a
group of African American refugees as they
were fleeing the city.™*®

Gunfire soon erupted along the western
boundary of the black community. Sharpfight
ing broke out along Standpipe Hill, where the
local guardsmen positioned there traded fire
with armed African Americans, who had set up
defensive lines off Elgin and Elgin Place.
Nearby, on Sunset Hill, the white guardsmen
opened fire on the black neighborhood to the
east, using both their standard issue
thirty-caliber 1906 Springfield riflesaswell as
the semi-defective machine gun provided to
them by the Tulsa police.*

As the waves of white rioters descended
upon the African American district, a deadly
pattern soon emerged. First, the armed whites
broke into the black homes and businesses,
forcing the occupants out into the street, where
they were led away at gunpoint to one of a
growing number of internment centers. Any-
one who resisted was shot. Moreover, African
American men in homes where firearms were
discovered met the same fate. Next, the whites
looted the homes and businesses, pocketing
small items, and hauling away larger items ei-
ther on foot or by car or truck. Finaly, the
white rioters then set the homes and other
buildings on fire, using torches and oil-soaked
rags. House by house, block by block, the wall
of flame crept northward, engulfing the city’s
black neighborhoods.™

Atrocities occurred along the way. Accord-
ing to one account, published ten days after the
riot in a Chicago newspaper,

Another cruel instance was when they
[white rioters] went to the home of an old
couple and the old man, 80 years old, was
paralyzed and sat in a chair and they told
him to march and he told them he was crip-
pled, but he'd go if someone would take

him, and they told his wife (old, too) to go,
but shedid n’t want toleave him, and hetold
her to go on anyway. As she left one of the
damn dogs shot the old man and then they
fired the house.™®

There were near-atrocities as well. After
armed whites had led his mother away at gun-
point, five-year-old George Monroe was hiding
beneath his parents' bed with his two older sis-
ters and his one older brother when white men
suddenly enteredtheroom. Af ter ri flingthrough
the dresser, the men set the curtains on fire. As
the men began to |leave, one of them stepped on
George’ shand. George started to cry out, but his
sister Lottie threw her hand over his mouth, pre-
ventingtheirdiscov ery. A few minuteslater, the
children were able to esca>0e from their home
before it burst into flame.*®

Some of the fires in Greenwood appear to
have been set by whites wearing khaki uni-
forms. The actua identity of these men remains
unclear. Most likely, they were World War |
veterans who had donned their old army uni -
formswhen the riot erulpted, rather than an offi-
cially organized group.™®

They were not, however, the only uniformed
whites observed setting fires in Tulsa' s African
American neighborhoods. According to black
Deputy Sheriff V.B. Bostic, awhiteTulsapolice
officer “drove him and hiswife from hishome,”
and then “poured oil on the floor and set a
lighted match to it.” *°

Deputy Sheriff Bostic was not, however, the
only eyewitness to report acts of crimina mis-
conduct by Tulsa police officers during the
course of the riot. According to one white eye-
witness, a“uniformed [white] policeman on East
Second Street went home, changed his uniform
to plainclothes, and went totheNegrodistrict and
led a bunch of whites into Negro, houses, some
of the bunch pilfering, never offered to protect
men, women or children, or property.” This par-
ticular account was buttressed by the testimony
of an African American witness, who reported
that he had seen the same officer in question “on
the morning of theriot, June 1, kicking in doors
of Negro homes, and assisting in the destruction
of property.”*®
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Dedicated only weeks before the riot, the Mount Zion Baptist Church was a great source of pride for many black
Tulsans. But after a prolonged battle, the white rioters burned it—as well as more than a half dozen other African
American churches—to the ground (Courtesy Department of Special Collections, McFarlin Library, University of

Tulsa).

Despite the daunting odds against them,
black Tulsans valiantly fought back. African
American riflemen had positioned themselves
in the belfry of the newly-built Mount Zion
Baptist Church, whose commanding view of
the area just below Standpipe Hill allowed
them to temporarily stem the tide of the white
invasion. When whiterioters set up amachine
gun-probably the same weapon that had been
used earlier that morning at the grain elevator,
and unleashed its deadly fire on the church
belfry, the black defenders were quickly over-
whelmed. As “Choc” Phillips later described
what happened:

In a couple of minutes pieces of brick
started falling, then whole bricks began
tumbling from the narrow dlits in the cu-
pola. Within five or six minutes the open-
ingswere large jagged holeswith so many
bricks flying from that side of the cupola
wall that it seemed ready to fall.

The men stopped firing the machine
gun and al mostimmediately the houses on
the outer rim of the area that had been pro-
tected by the snipers, became victims of
the arsonists. We watched the men take
themachinegunfromthetri pod, wrapitin

a canvas cover then lay it on the bed of the
truck. They rolled up the belts with the
empty shell casings, put away those that
were still unused, and in what seemed less
than ten minutes from the time the truck
was parked at the location, drove away.

While standing on the high ground where
the machine gun had been firing, we
watched the activity below for a few min-
utes. Most of the houses were beginning to
burn and smoke ascended slowly in to the
air while people flitted around as busy as
bees down there. From the number that ran
in and out of the houses and the church,
there had evidently been a couple of hun-
dred who remained behind when the mob
bypassed the area.

A short while later,
torched.*®*

Attempts by black Tulsans to defend their
homes and property were undercut by the ac-
tions of both the Tulsa police and the local Na-
tional Guard units, who, rather than focus on
disarming and arresting the white rioters, took
steps that led to the eventual imprisonment of
practicaly al of the city’s African American
citizens. Guardsmen deployed on Standpipe

Mount Zion was
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Hill made at least one eastward march in the
early hours of June 1, rounding up African
Americans along the way, before they were
fired upon, apparently by whites as well as
blacks, near Greenwood Avenue. The guards-
men then marched to Sunset Hill, where they
handed over their black prisoners to local po-
lice officers.'®?

An arrest by awhite officer was not a guar-
antee of safety for black Tulsans. Accordingto
Thomas Higgins, a white resident of Wichita,
Kansas who happened to be visiting Tulsa
when theriot broke out, “1 saw men of my own
race, sworn officers, on three occasions search
Negroes while their hands were up, and not
finding weapons, extracted what money they
found on them. If the Negro protested, he was
shot.” 163

White civilians also took black prisoners.
When the invasion began, Carrie Kinlaw, an
African American woman who lived out to-
ward the Section Line, had to run toward the
fighting in order to help her sisters retrieve
their invalid mother. Reaching the elderly
woman in a “rain of bullets,” Kinlaw later
wrote:

My sistersand | gathered her up, placed
her on acot, and three of us carried the cot
and the other one carried a bundle of
clothes; thus we carried Mother about six
blocks, with bullets falling on al sides.
About six squads of rioters overtook us,
asked for men and guns, made us hold up
our hands.

Not all of her captors, however, were adults.
“There were boys in that bunch,” she added,
“from about 10 years upward, al armed with
guns.” 1%

Black Tulsans also faced dangers while in
the custody of whitecivilians. JamesT. West a
teacher at Booker T. Washington High
School, was arrested by whites at his home on
Easton Street that morning. “Some men ap-
peared with drawn guns and ordered all of the
men out of the house,” he recalled immedi-
ately after theriot,

| went out immediately. They ordered
me to raise my hands, after which three or

four men searched me. They told metoline
up in the street. | requested them to let me
get my hat and best shoes, but they refused
and abusively ordered me to line up. They
refusedtolet oneof the men put on any kind
of shoes. After lining up some 30 or 40 of us
men, they ran us through the streets to Con-
vention Hall, forcing us to keep our hands
in the air all the while. While we were run-
ning, some of the ruffians would shoot at
our heels and swore at those who had diffi-
culty keeping up. They actualy drove acar
into the bunch and knocked down two or
three men.*®

Harold M. Parker, awhite bookkeeper for the
Oklahoma Producing and Refining Corporation
a the time of the riot, later corroborated how
armed whites sometimes shot at the heels of
their black prisoners. “Sometimes they missed
and shot their legs,” Parker recalled a half cen-
tury later, “It was sheer cruelty coming out.” *®

The most infamous incident involving white
civilians imprisoning African Americans was
that which concerned Dr. A.C. Jackson, Tulsa's
noted black surgeon. Despite the increasing
gunfire, Dr. Jackson had decided to remain in-
side of his handsome home at 523 N. Detroit,
along theshoul der of StandpipeHill. Butwhena
group of armedwhitesarrived on hisfront lawn,
Jackson apparently walked out the side door of
his home with his hands up, saying, “Herel am
boys, don’t shoot.”*®" What happened next was
later recounted by John A. Oliphant, awhite at-
torney who lived nearby, in testimony he pro-
vided after theriot:

Q. About what time in the morning did you
say it was Dr. Jackson was shot?

A. Right close to eight o’clock, between
seven thirty and eight o’ clock.

Q. Dr. Jackson was a Negro?

A.Yes, dir.

Q. And he was coming toward you and these
other men at the time he was shot?

A. Yes, Sir, coming right between his house,
right in hisyard between hishome and the house
below him.

Q. What did these men say at the time he was
shot?
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A. They didn’'t say anything but they pulled
down on him; | kept begging him not to shoot
him, | held him a good bit and | thought he
wouldn’t shoot but he shot him twice and the
other fellow on the other side-and he fell-shot
him and broke his leg.

Q. One man shot him twice?

A. Yes, gir, thisismy recollection now.

Q. Then another one shot him through the
leg?

A.Yes, | didn't look at that fellow.

Q. These same men that shot him carried
him to the hospital ?

A. No, they didn’t.

Q. What did they do?

A. | have never seen them after that, | don’t
know athing about what became of them.

D{égJackson died of his wounds later that
day.

Not al black Tulsans, however, counte-
nanced surrender. In the final burst of fighting
off of Standpipe Hill that morning, a deadly
firefight erupted at the site of an old clay pit,
where several African American defenders
were said to have gone to their deaths fighting
off the white invaders. Stories also have been
passed down over the years regarding the ex-
ploitsof PegLeg Taylor, alegendary black de-
fender who is said to have singlehandedly
fought off more than a dozen white rioters.
Along the northern face of Sunset Hill, the
white guardsmen posted there found them-
selves, at least for awhile, under attack.'®

Black Tulsa, it was clear, was not going
without afight.

Despite their gallant effort, however,
Tulsa' s African American minority was sim-
ply outgunned and outnumbered. Asthe white
mobs continued to move northward, into the
heart of the black residential district, some of
the worst violence of the riot appears to have
taken place. “Negro men, women and children
werekilled in great numbersasthey ran, trying
to flee to safety,” one unidentified informant
later told Mary E. Parrish, “. .. themost horri-
ble scenes of thisoc cur rencewasto seewomen
dragging their children while running to
safety, and thedirty whiterascalsfiringatthem
asthey ran.”*"°

While the white rioters continued their assault upon the Afri-
can-American com mu nity, black Tulsans soon found them selves
subjecttoarrestby Tulsaofficialsand “special dep uties ’(Cour-
tesy Bob Hower).

In the wake of the invasion came a wall of
flame, steadily moving northward. “Is the
whole world on fire?” asked a young playmate
of eight-year-old Kinney Booker, who was flee-
ing with his family from their home on North
Frankfort. Not far away, afiery horror was un-
derway. As later recounted by Walter White in
The Nation magazine:

One story was told to me by an eyewit-
ness of five colored men trapped in a burn-
ing house. Four burned to death. A fifth
attempted to flee, was shot to death as he
emerged from the burning structure, and his
body was thrown back into the flames.

Humans, however, were not the only victims
of the conflagration. More than a few black
Tulsans kept pigs and chickens in their back-
yards in those days. They too perished in the
flames, as did some dogs and other family
petS.171

Efforts made by the Tulsa Fire Department to
halttheburningwereof littleef fect. Theearli est
attempts by firemen to put out fires in the Afri-
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While only the au thor i ties de tained a hand ful of white ri ot ers, most black Tulsans soon found them selves held un der guard. Even in
the pre dom i nantly white neigh bor hoods onthe city ’s south side, Afri can-American do mes tic work ers were rounded up and taken to
the various intern ment centers (Cour tesy Depart ment of Spe cial Col lec tions, McFarlin Library, Uni ver sity of Tulsa).

can American district were halted, at gunpoint,
by crowdsof whiterioters. Thereafter, what ef-
forts that were made appear to have been di-
rected towards keeping the flames away from
nearby white neighborhoods. This may also
have played a role in how another new black
church, the First Baptist Church located at Ar-
cher and Jackson, was spared. “Yonder is a
nigger church, why ain’'t they burning it?” a
white woman allegedly asked on the morning
of June 1. Because, she was told, “It'sin a
white district.”*"

As the morning wore on, and the fighting
moved northward across Greenwood, there
was a startling new development. On the heels
of their brief gun battle with African American
riflemen to their north, the guardsmen who
were positioned along the crest of Sunset Hill
then joined in the invasion of black Tulsa, with
one detachment heading north, the other to the
northeast. As later described by Captain John
W. McCuen in the after action report he sub-
mitted to the commander of Tulsa's National
Guard units:

We advanced to the crest of Sunset Hill
in skirmish line and then a little further
north to the military crest of the hill where
our men were ordered to lie down because
of the intense fire of the blacks who had
formed a good skirmish line at the foot of

the hill to the northeast among the
out-buildings of the Negro settlement
which stops at the foot of the hill. After
about 20 minutes “fire at will” at the armed
groups of blacks the latter began falling
back to the northeast, thus getting good
cover among the frame buildings of the Ne-
gro settlement. Immediately we moved for-
ward, “B” Company advancing directly
north and the Service company in a
north-easterly direction.*

More remarkable, the guardsmen came upon
agroup of African Americansbarricaded inside
astore, who were attempting to hold off a mob
of armed white rioter’s. Rather than attempt to
get the white invaders and the black defendersto
disengage, the guardsmen joined in on the at-
tack. Again, asdescribed by Captain McCuen:

At the northeast corner of the Negro set-
tlement 10 or more Negroes barricaded
themselvesin aconcrete store and dwelling
and a stiff fight ensued between these Ne-
groes on one side and guardsmen and civil-
ians on the other. Severa whites and blacks
were wounded and killed at this point. We
captured, arrested and disarmed a great
many Negromeninthisset tlement andthen
sent them under guard to the convention
hall and other Qoi ntswhere they were being
concentrated.*™

78



W ¢

b g m o5

- " 2o L0 e
i 1) g -
- S

E‘"" :‘-i".l- - =

Whites detained fleeing African Americans as well as those that stayed near their homes and businesses (Courtesy Department of

Special Collections, McFarlin Library, University of Tulsa).

No longer remotely impartial, the men of
“B” Company, Third Infantry, Oklahoma Na-
tional Guard, had now joined in on the assault
on black Tulsa.

As African Americans fled the city, new
dangers sometimes appeared. Mary Parrish
later reported that as the group of refugees she
was with “had traveled many miles into the
country and were turning to find our way to
Claremore,” they were warned to stay clear of
anearby town, wherewhiteswere “treating our
people awfully mean as they passed
through.”*” Similar stories have persisted for
decades.

Not all white Tulsans, however, shared the
racial views of thewhite rioters. Mary Korte, a
white maid who worked for a wealthy Tulsa
family, hid African American refugees at her
family’ sfarmeast of thecity."® Along the road
to Sand Springs, awhite couple named Merrill
and Ruth Phelps hid and fed black riot victims
in the basement of their home for days. The
Phelps home, which still stands, became some-
thing of a “safe house” for black Tulsans who
had man aged not to beim prisoned by thewhite
authorities. Traveling through the woods and
along creek beds at night, dozens of African

American refugees were apparently hidden by
the Phel pses during the daylight hours.*”’

Other white Tulsans also hid blacks, or di-
rectly confronted the white rioters. Mary Jo
Erhardt, a young stenographer who roomed at
the Y.W.C.A. Building at Fifth and Cheyenne,
did both. After a deepless night, punctuated by
the soundsof gunfire, Erhardt arose early onthe
morning of June 1. Heading downstairs, she
then heard a voice she recognized as belonging
to the African American porter who worked
there. “Miss Mary! Oh, Miss Mary!” he said,
“Let mein quick.” Armed whites, he told her,
were chasing him. Quickly secreting the man in-
side the building’ s walk-in refrigerator, Erhardt
later recalled,

Hardly had | hidden him behind the beef
carcasses and returned to the hall door
when a loud pounding at the service en-
trance drew me there. A large man was try-
ing to open the door, fortunately securely
locked, and there on the stoop stood three
very rough-looking middle-aged white
men, each pointingarevolverinmy general
direction!

“What do you want?’ | asked sharply.
Strangely, those guns frightened me not at
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The Zarrow Family. The parents of Jack and
Henry Zarrow, founder of Sooner Pipeling,
owned a grocery store in the riot-torn area. It 8l
was spared because they were white. The
Zarrow'’s hid many of the flee ing blacks in their
business (Courtesy Greenwood Cultural Cen-
ter).

al. | was so angry | could have torn those
ruffians apart-three armed white men chas-
ing one lone, harmless Negro. | cannot re-
call in al my life feeling hatred toward
any person, until then. Apparently my feel-
ings did not show, for one answered,
“Where did he go? “Where did WHO
go?’ | responded.

“That nigger,” one demanded, “did you
let him in here?’

“Mister,” | said, “I’'m not letting
ANYBODY in here!,” which was per-
fectly true. | had aready let in al | in-
tended.

“It was at least ten minutes before | felt
secure enough to release Jack,” Erhardt
added, “He was nearly frozen, dressed
thinly as he was for the hot summer night,
but hewas ALIVE!"'"®

Some whites, in their effortsto protect black
Tulsans from harm put themselves at risk.
None, perhaps, more so than ayoung Hispanic
woman named MariaMorales Gutierrez. A re-
cent immigrant from Mexico, she and her hus-
band were living, at the time of theriot, in a
small house off Peoria Avenue, near Independ-
ence Street. Hearing a great deal of noise and
commotion on the morning of June 1, Morales
ventured outside, where she saw two small Af-

rican American children, who had evidently
been separated from their parents, walking
along the street. Suddenly, an airplane appeared
on the horizon, bearing down on the two fright-
ened youngsters. Moralesran out into the street,
and scooped the little ones into her arms, and
out of danger.

A group of armed whites |ater demanded that
Morales hand the two terrified children over to
them. “In her English, she told them ‘No’,” her
daughter Gloria Lough, later recalled. “ Some-
how or other,” she added, “they didn't shoot
her." The youngsters were safe.*”

As the battle for black Tulsa continued to
rage, it soon became evident, even in neighbor-
hoods far removed from the fighting, that on
June 1, 1921, there would be very littlebus ness
asusual inthecity of Tulsa. When Guy Ashby, a
young white employee at Cooper’s Grocery on
Fourteenth Street, showed up for work that
morning, his boss was on his way out the door.
“The boss told me there would be no work that
day ashewas declaring it ‘Nigger Day’ and he
was going hunting niggers,” Ashby later re-
membered, “Hetook a rifle and told meto lock
up the store and go home.” **°

Downtown, normal activitieswereevenmore
in disarray, as business owners found them-
selves shorthanded, and crowds of onlookers
took to the streets, or climbed up on rooftops, to
stare at the great clouds of smoke billowing over
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Anyfleeingfamilies weredenied free dom by whites po si tioned
ones caperoutes (Courtesy Department of Spe cial Col lec tions,
McFarlin Li brary, Univer sity of Tulsa).

thenorth end of town. At the all-white Central
High School, several male students bolted
from class when gunfire was heard nearby.
One of the students later recalled, “struck out
for the riot area.” Along the way, he added,
they were met by a white man who handed
them anew rifleand abox of shells. “You can
have it,” the man told them, “I’m going home
and going to bed.”*®*
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The riot was felt along the southern edge of
the city as well, particularly in the well-to-do
white neighborhoods off of 21st Street, as car-
loads of armed white vigilantes went door to
door, rounding up live-in African American
cooks, maids, and butlers at gunpoint, and then
hauling them off toward downtown. A number
of white homeowners, however, fearing for the
safety of their black employ ees, stoodintheway
of this forced evacuation. When Charles and
Amy Arnold refused to hand over their house-
keeper, cries of being “nigger lovers’ werefol-
lowed by a brick being thrown through their
front window.*®

Even out in the countryside, milesfrom town,
people knew that something was happening in
Tulsa. Since daybreak, huge columns of black
smoke had been rising up, hundreds of feet into
the air, over the north end of the city.

The smoke was still there, some four hours
later, when the State Troops finaly arrived in
town.

The special train from Oklahoma City, carry-
ing Adjutant General CharlesF. Barrett and the

Shortly af ter the out break of vi o lence, the Tulsa po lice pre sented the lo cal Na tional Guards men with a ma chine gun—only it proved
to be de fec tive. A sec ond ma chine gun that was in the hands of white civil ians, how ever, was used to con sid er able ef fect dur ing the at-
tack on Greenwood (Courtesy Depart ment of Spe cial Col lec tions, McFarlin Li brary, University of Tulsa).



As moreandmore African Americans were de tained the “pro tec tive cus tody ” al ter nate holding lo ca tions had to be used including
McNulty base ball Park (De part ment of Spe cial Col lec tions, McFarlin Li brary, Univer sity of Tulsa).

approximately 109 soldiers and officers under
his command, pulled into Tulsa's bul-
let-scarred Frisco and Santa Fe passenger de-
pot at approximately 9:15 a.m. on the morning
of June 1, 1921. The soldiers, who arrived
armed and in uniform, were all-membersof an
Oklahoma City based National Guard unit. In
Tulsa, they soon became known, by both
blacks and whites, as the “State Troops,” a
term which had the intrinsic benefit of helping
todistinguishtheout-of-townersfromthelocal
National Guard units. Like the local guards-
men, the State Troops were also all-white.'®
By thetimethe State Troopsarrived, Tulsa's
devastating racia conflagration was already
ten-and-one-half hours old. Dozens of blacks
and whites had been killed, while the wards of
the city’s four remaining hospitals — the
al-black Frissell Memorial Hospital had al -
ready been burned to the ground by white riot-
ers — were filled with the wounded. Most of
the city’s African American district had al-
ready been torched, whilelooting continued in
those black homes and businesses that were
still standing. “One very bad thing was the
way whites delved into the personal belong-
ings of the Negroes, throwing their posses-
sions from trunks and otherwise damaging
them,” reported M.J. White, a Denver dental

supply dealer who wasvisiting Tulsaat thetime
of theriot. “Thislawlesslootingcontinuedfrom
about 9 until 11 o’ clock,” he added, “when mar-
tial law prevented further spoilation.”**

There were ongoing horrors as well. “One
Negro was dragged behind an automobile,
with arope around his neck, through the busi-
ness district,” reported the Tulsa World in its
“Second Extra’ edition on the morning of June
1." Decades later, both former Tulsa mayor
L.C. Clark, and EW. “Gene’” Maxey of the
Tulsa County Sheriff’s Department, con-
firmed this report. “About 8:00 am. on the
morning of June 1, 1921, Maxey told riot
chronicler Ruth Avery,

| was downtown with afriend when they
killed that good, old, colored man that was
blind. He had amputated legs. His body was
attached at the hips to a small wooden plat-
form with wheels. One leg stub was longer
than the other, and hung dlightly over the
edge of the platform, dragging along the
street. He scooted his body around by shov-
ing and pushing with his hands covered
with baseball catcher mitts. He supported
himself by selling pencils to passersby, or
accepting their donations for his singing of
songs.
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The street car tracksran north and south
on Main Street, and thetrackswerelaid on
pretty rough bricks. The fellow that was
driving the car | knew—an outlaw and a
bootlegger. But | won't give his name be-
cause he has some folks here. There were
two or three people with him. They got
that old col ored man that had been herefor
years. He was helpless. He'd carry an old
tin cup, sing, and mooched for money.
One of them thuggy, white people had a
new car, so he went to the depot, and came
back up Main Street between First and Sec-
ond Streets. We were on the east side of
the street. These white thugs had roped
this colored man on the longer stump of
hisoneleg, and were dragging him behind
the car up Main Street. He was hollering.
His head was being bashed in, bouncing
on the steel rails and bricks.

“They went on all the speed that the car
could make,” Maxey added, “. . . a new car,
with the top down, and 3 or 4 of them in it,

dragging him behind the car in broad daylight
on June 1, riqht through the center of town on
Main Street.”'®

When the State Troops arrived in Tulsa, the
majority of the city’ s black citizenry had either
fled to the countryside, or were being held — al-
legedly for their own protection — against their
will in one of a handful of hastily set-up intern-
ment centers, including Convention Hall, the
fairgrounds, and McNulty baseball park. There
were still, however, some pockets of armed
black resistance to the remnants of the white in-
vasion, especially along the northern reaches of
the AfricanAmericandistrict. Incertain bor der-
line areas such as the residential neighborhood
that lay just to the east of the Santa Fe tracks
wherethe Jim Crow line ran right down the cen-
ter of the street, anumber of African American
homes had escaped destruction, sometimes
throu%h the efforts of sympathetic white neigh-
bors.™®

Upon their arrival in Tulsa, the State Troops
apparently did not proceed immediately to
where the fighting was still in progress, al-
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Remarkably, a handful of Tulsa’s finest African-American homes were still standing when the State Troops arrived in town. But
about one-hour later, a small group of white men were seen en ter ing the houses, and set ting them on fire. By the time the State Troops
marched up Standpipe Hill, it was too late, the homes were gone (Courtesy Tulsa HistoricalSociety).



though it is uncertain how long this delay
lasted. The reasons for this seeming hold-up
appear to belargely dueto thefact that certain
steps needed to be fulfilled — either through
protocol or by law—inor der for martial lawto
be declared in Tulsa. Accordingly, after de-
training at the Frisco and Santa Fe station, Ad-
jutant General Barrett led a detachment of
soldiers to the courthouse, where an unsuc-
cessful attempt was made to contact Sheriff
McCullough. Barrett then went to city hall,
where, after conferring with city officials, he
contacted Governor Robertson in Oklahoma
City and asked to be granted the authority to
proclaim martial law in Tulsa County. Other
detachments of State Troops, meanwhile, ap-
pear to have begun taking charge of black
Tulsans who were being held by armed white
civilians.™®” However, another account of the
riot, published adecade later, allegesthat upon
their arrival in Tulsa, the State Troops wasted
valuable minutes by taking timeto prepare and
eat breakfast.'®®

Asit turned out, while the State Troops were
occupied downtown, not far away, some of the
finest Afri canAmeri canhomesinthecity were
still standing. L ocated along North Detroit Av-
enue, near Easton, they included the homes of
some of Tulsa's most prominent black citi-
zens, among them the residences of Tulsa Star
editor A.J. Smitherman, Booker T.Washing-
ton High School principal EllisW. Woods, and
businessman Thomas R. Gently and his wife,
Lottie.’®

For several hours that morning, John A.
Oliphant a white attorney who lived nearby,
had beentelephoning policehead quartersinan
effort to save these homes, that had been looted
but not burned. Oliphant believed that a hand-
ful of officers, if sent over immediately, could
seeto it that the homeswere spared. Ashelater
recounted in sworn testimony:

Q. Judge, when you phoned the police
station what reply did you get?

A. He said, somebody in there, |
thought | knew the voice but | am not cer-
tain, he said, | will do the best | can for
you." | told himwho | was, | wanted some
policemen, | says, “If you will send meten

policemen | will protect all this property

and save a million dollars worth of stuff

they were burning down and looting.” |

asked the fire department for the fire depart-
ment to be sent over to help pro tect my prop-
erty and they said they couldn’t come, they

wouldn’t let them.*®

Oliphant’ s hopes wereraised, however, when
he observed the arrival of the State Troops, fig-
uring that they might be able to save the homes
along North Detroit. “I sent for them,” he testi-
fied, | sent for the militiato come, send over fif-
teen or twenty of them, thatisall | wanted.” But,
instead, at around 10:15 am. or 10:30 am., a
party of three or four white men, probably
so-called ‘Special Deputies,” each wearing
badges arrived, and then set fire to one of the
very homesthat Oliphant had beentrying to pro-
tect. By thetimethe State Troopsarrived in the
neighborhood later that morning, it wastoo late.
Most of the homes were already on fire.*

One of the few that was not belonged to Dr.
Robert Bridgewater and hiswife, Méttie, at 507
N. Detroit. Returning to his home — after being
held at Convention Hall — in order to retrieve
hismedi cinecases, Dr. Bridgewater later wrote,

On reaching the house, | saw my piano
and all of my elegant furniture piled in the
street. My safe had been broken open, all of
the money stolen, also my silverware, cut
glass, al of the family clothes, and every-
thing of value had been removed, even my
family Bible. My electric light fixtures
were broken, all of the window lights and
glass in the doors were broken, the dishes
that were not stolen were broken, the floors
were covered (literally speaking) with
glass, even the phone was torn from the
wall.*%

The Bridgewaters, as they well knew, were
among the fortunate few. Most black Tulsans
no longer had homes anymore.

By the time that marital law was declared in
Tulsa County at 11:29 am. on June 1, the race
riot had nearly runits course. Scattered bands of
whiteri ot ers, some of whom had been awakefor
more than twenty-four hours straight, continued
to loot and burn, but most had already gone



As the riot wore on, African-American
families frequently became separated,
as black men were often the first to be
led away at gunpoint. For many black
Tulsans, it was hours—and, in some
cases, much longer—before they
learned the fate of their loved ones (De-
partment of Special Collections,
McFarlin Library, University of Tulsa).

home. Along the northern and eastern edges of
black Tulsa, where homes were mixed in with
stretches of farmland, it had become difficult
for the riotersto distinguish the homes of Afri-
can Americans from those of their white

neighbors. The home that riot survivor Nell
Hamilton shared with her mother out near the
Section Line was, perhaps, spared for just that
reason.*

A final skirmish appears to have occurred a
little after Noon, when the remaining members
of the white mob exchanged fire with a group
of African Americans not far from where the
Santa Fe railroad tracks cut across the Section
Line, just off of Peoria Avenue. The black de-
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fenders had apparently held off the whites who
were gathered aong the railroad embankment.
When a second group of whites, armed with
high-powered rifles, arrived on the scene, the
African Americans were soon overrun.***

Most of the city’s black population, mean-
while, was being held un der armed guard. Many
families had been sent, at first, to Convention
Hall, but asit filled to capacity, black Tulsans
were taken to the baseball park and to the fair-
grounds. As the day wore on, hundreds would
soon join them. As the men, women, and chil -
dren who had fled to the countryside, or had
taken ref ugeat Golden Gate Park, begantowan-
der back toward town, they too, were taken into

From their po si tions along Standpipe and Sun set Hills, mem bers of the Tulsa-based units of the Oklahoma Na tional Guard also took
black Tulsans into “protective custody.” And as the local guardsmen began making for ays into the African-American district, they
activelytookblackpris oners (Courtesy Oklahoma His torical Society).
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On the morn ing of June 1, most black Tulsans who were taken into cus tody were brought to Con vention Hall, on Brady Street. But as
the day wore on, and more and more African Americans were placed under arrest, new internment centers had to be established

(Courtesy OklahomaHistoricalSociety).

custody. While the white authorities would
later argue, and not without some validity, that
thiswas a protective measure designed to save
black lives, other reasonsincluding alingering
white fear of a“Negro uprising” undoubtedly
played arole in their rationale. In any event,
following the destruction of their homes and
businesses on May 31 and June 1, black Tulsa
now found itself, for all practi cal pur poses, un
der arrest.'®

Following the declaration of martial law, the
State Troops began to move into what littlere-
mained of Tulsa s African American neighbor-
hoods, disarming whites and sending them
away from the district. After the riot, a number
of black Tulsans, strongly condemned, in no
uncertain terms, the actions of both the Tulsa
Police Department and the local Nationa
Guard units during the conflict. However, the
State Troops were largely praised. “Everyone
withwhom | met wasloud in praise of the State
Troops who so gallantly cameto the rescue of
stricken Tulsa,” wrote Mary Parrish, “They
used no partiality in quieting thedisorder. Itis
the general belief that if they had reached the
scene sooner, many lives and valuable prop-
erty would have been saved.”**

Additional detachments of State Troops from
other Oklahoma cities and towns arrived in
Tulsathrough out June 1, and with their help, the
streets were eventually cleared. All businesses
were ordered to close by 6:00 p.m. One hour
later, only members of the military or civil au-
thorities, physicians, or relief workers were a -
lowed on the streets. It was later claimed that by
8:00 p.m. on the evening of June 1, order had
beenrestored.”®” The Tulsaraceriot wasover.

Doctors, relief workers, and members of the
military and civil authorities were not, how-
ever, the only ones who were activein Tulsaon
Wednesday evening, June 1, 1921. As Walter
White later reported:

O.T. Johnson, commandant of the Tulsa
Citadel of the Salvation Army, stated that
on Wednesday and Thursday the Salvation
Army fed thirty-seven Negroes employed
as grave diggers and twenty on Friday and
Saturday. During the first two days these
men dug 120 gravesin each of which adead
Negro was buried. No coffins were used.
The bodies were dumped into the holes and
covered over with dirt.'*
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Scene in front of Convention Hall as
African Americans are being incar-
cerated on June 1 (Courtesy Depart
ment of Special Collections,
McFarlin Library, University of
Tulsa).

Other written evidence, including funeral
home records that had lain unseen for more
than seventy-five years, would later confirm
that African Americanriotvictimswereburied
in unmarked graves at Oaklawn Cemetery.™
But oral sourceswould also point to additional
unmarked burial sitesfor riot victimsin Tulsa
County, including Newblock Park, along the
Sand Springs road, and the historic Booker T.
Washington Cemetery, located some twelve
miles southeast of the city.?®

Conducted, no doubt, under trying circum-
stances, the burial of Tulsa's African Ameri-
can riot dead would nevertheless bear little in
common with the interment of white victims.
Largely buried by strangers, there would be no
headstones or graveside services for most of
black Tulsa's riot dead. Nor would family
members be present at the burials, as most of
them were still being held under armed guard
at the various detention centers. It appearsthat
in some cases, not only did some black Tulsa
families not learn how their loved ones died,
but not even where they were buried.

In the week following the riot, nearly all of
Tulsa s African American citizenry had man-
aged to win their freedom, by one way or an-
other, from the internment centers. Largely
homeless, and in many cases now penniless,
they made their way back to Greenwood.
However, Greenwood was gone.
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What they found was a blackened landscape
of vacant lots and empty streets, charred tim-
bers and melted metal, ashes and broken
dreams. Wherethe African American commer-
cial district once stood was now a ghost town of
crumbling brick storefronts and the burned-out
bulks of automobiles. Gone was the Dreamland
and the Dixie, gone was the Tulsa Star and the
black public library, gone was the Liberty Cafe
and Elliott & Hooker's clothing store, H.L.
Byars cleanersandMabel Little sbeauty salon.
Gone were litera lifetimes of sweat and hard
work, and hard-won rungs on the ladder of the
American Dream.

Gone, too, werehun dredsof homes, and more
than a half-dozen African American churches,
all torched by the white invaders. Nearly

As black Tulsans won their release from the various internment
cen ters, and re turned to Green wood, most dis cov ered that they
no lon ger had homes any more (Cour tesy De part ment of Spe cial
Collections, McFarlin Library, University of Tulsa).



Stone and brick walls were all that were left of most of the
homes in the Greenwood section (Courtesy Oklahoma His-
toricalSociety).

ten-thousand Tulsans, practically the entire
black community, was now homeless.

Across the tracks and across town, in
Tulsa's white neighborhoods, no homes had
been looted and no churches had been burned.
From the outside, lifelooked much the same as
it had been prior to theriot, but even here, be-
neath the surface, there was little normalcy.

In one way or another, white Tulsans had
been stunned by what had happened in their
city. More than a few whites, including those
whose homes now featured stolen goods, had
undeniably, taken great joy in what had oc-
curred, particularly the destruction of Green-
wood. Some whites had even applauded as
black families had been led through the streets,

Many African Americans were
forced to spend the winter after
the riot in tents (Courtesy
OklahomaHistoricalSociety).

at gunpoint, toward the various internment cen-
ters.® Some would soon find anew outlet for
their racial views in the hooded order that was
about to sweep across the white community.

Other white Tulsans were horrified by what
had taken place. Immediately following theriot,
Clara Kimble, a white teacher at Central High
School opened up her home to her black coun-
terparts at Booker T. Washi ntogton High Schooal,
as did other white families® Others donated
food, clothing, money, and other formsof assis
tance. For many whites, the riot was a horror
never to beforgotten, amark of shame uponthe
city that would endure forevermore.

However, for black Tulsans, the trials and
tribulations had only just begun. Six days after
the riot, on June 7, the Tulsa City Commission
passed a fire ordinance designed to prevent the
rebuilding of the African American commercial
district where it had formerly stood, while the
so-called Reconstruction Commission, an orga-
nization of white business and political leaders,
had been fuming away offers of outside aid . In
theend, black Tulsansdid rebuild their commu-
nity, and thefire ordinance wasdeclared uncon
stitutional by the Oklahoma Supreme Court.
Y et, the damage had been done, and the tone of
the official local response to the disaster had al-
ready been set. Despite the Herculean efforts of
the American Red Cross, thousands of black
Tulsans were forced to spend the winter of




Iron bed frames were all that remained of many residences in North Tulsa (Courtesy Oklahoma Historical

Society).

1921-22 living in tents. Others smply left.
They had had enough of Tulsa, Oklahoma.

For some, staying was not an option. It soon
became clear, both in the grand jury that had
beenimpaneledtolook intotheriot, andinvar-
ious other legal actions that, by and large, lan-
guished in the courts, that African Americans
would be blamed for causing the riot. No-
where, per haps, wasthisstated moreforcefully
than in the June 25, fina report of the grand
jury, which stated:

We find that the recent race riot wasthe
direct result of an effort on the part of acer-
tain group of colored men who ap peared at
the courthouse on the night of May 31,
1921, for the purpose of protecting one
Dick Rowland then and now in the cus-
tody of the Sheriff of Tulsa Country for an
alleged assault upon a young white
woman. We have not been ableto find any
evidence either from white or colored citi-
zensthat any organized attempt was made
or planned to take from the Sheriff’s cus-
tody any prisoner; the crowd assembled
about the courthouse being purely specta-
tors and curiosity seekers resulting from
rumors circulated about the city.

“There was no maob spirit among the whites,
no talk of lynching and no arms,”" the report
added, “The assembly was quiet until the arrival

of armed Negroes, which precipitated and was
the direct cause of the entire affair.”*®

A few other court cases, largely involving
claims against the city and various insurance
companies, lingeredonfor anumber of yearsaf-
terward. In the end, while a handful of African
Americans were charged with riot-related of-
fenses, no white Tulsan was ever sent to prison
for the murders and burnings of May 31, and
June 1, 1921. In the 1920s Oklahoma court-
rooms and halls of government, there would be
no day of reck oningfor ei ther theper petratorsor
the victims of the Tulsa race riot. Now, some
seventy-nine years later, the aged riot survivors
can only wonder if, indeed, that day will ever
come.

Commem o ration of theriot con ducted by Ben Hooks (Cour tesy
Greenwood Cultural Cen ter).
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(Courtesy Oklahoma HistoricalSociety).

Airplanes and the Riot

By Richard S. Warner

There is no question that airplanes were in
the air over Tulsa during and after the Tulsa
raceriot. Thequestionis: what werethey being
used for?

We cannot entirely believe al the reports
that have appeared over the years in newspa-
pers, or asrecounted by survivors, descendants
of survivors, and others. The problemisto sep-
arate the probable from the improbable. For
example, in one unidentified newspaper ac-
count from June 12, 1921, it was alleged that,
“The planes used during the riot and which set
fireto brick buildings are owned by the United
States Government.”!  Subsequent research,
however, casts considerable doubt upon this
claim. While researching for his article, " Pro-
file of a Race Riot," that appeared in the
June-July, 1971 issue of [Impact Magazine,
Brigadier General Ed Wheeler (ret.) looked

into the possible involvement of U.S. military
aircraft in the riot. Wheeler, who had access to
military records which are no longer available,
learned that there were only six U.S. military
airplanes in Oklahoma at the time of the riot.
Based at Fort Sill, some 212 miles from Tulsa,
these six planes were World War | Jennys, with
arange of about 190 miles. Of the six planes, the
records showed that two were inoperable and
undergoing maintenance while two had just
been delivered and werenot yet in flying condi-
tion. Only two were serviceable planes and nei-
ther wasintheair on May 31 or June 1, 192121t
is, therefore, reasonableto conclude that the air-
planes reported over Tulsa during the riot were
not U.S. military aircraft, Hence, they must have
been privately or commercially owned air-
planes, probably based in Tulsa.
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The story of aircraft in Tulsa goes back to
July 4, 1903, when the first recorded local
flight, a balloon ascent, took place.® Three
years later, during the summer of 1906, Jimmy
Jones constructed an airplane of his own de-
sign at hishome in Tulsa. He and his partner,
Bill Stigler, disassembled the plane and took it
to a pasture near Red Fork. There they reas-
sembled it, except for the installation of the
control cablesto make atest flight. It wasa hot
day and Jones and Stigler decided to go home
and finish the job the next day. That afternoon,
however, astrong wind came up and destroyed
the plane.*

The next airplanein Tulsawas designed and
constructed by Herman DeVry, who owned a
machinery repair business. DeVry hired A. C.
Beach, an English pilot thenlivingin Tulsa, to
test the airplane. After four tries, it finally took
off from a field southwest of Sand Springsand
rose to 800 feet, staying aoft for 20 minutes.
After severa other attemptsto fly, the engine
blew up and DeVry quit the aircraftbusi ness.

Thefirst airfield in Tulsawas established in
1917 by Harold Breene on the south side of
Federal Drive (now East Admiral Place), at ap-
proximately South Hudson Avenue. A spur
railway line served as the field' s west border.
Therewasone hangar. Mr. Breene purchased a
number of surplus Curtis Jenny airplanes that
he later sold to aviation enthusiasts.®

In 1920, Mr. Breene sold his Tulsa aviation
interests to B.L. Brookins and Bill Campbell.
The new company, called the
Curtiss-Southwest Airplane Company, was
the agency for Curtis and Waco airplanes.’

In early 1921, the airfield was moved to a
new location on afarm owned by Mr. Brookins
located just east of North Memorial Avenue
and north of East Apache Street. It was situated
inwhat istoday acorner of Tulsalnternational
Airport. According to the January 1, 1922 is-
sue of the Tulsa Spirit, a Tulsa Chamber of
Commerce publication, the airfield contained
two large steel hangars, 90' x 60’ in size and
capable of holding eighteen airplanes, a motor
repair shop, a wing and fuselage shop, and a
gasoline and oil service station. Fourteen air-
planes were based there.®

Sometime in 1921, a second air field was es-
tablished in Tulsaby Paul Arbon, aWorld War |
British pilot and dealer for the Brit-
ish-manufactured, Bristol aircraft. Arbon’s air-
field was located at the northwest corner of
Federal Drive and Sheridan Road, and featured
only one hangar.’

Registration of airplanesby the U.S. Govern-
ment was not required in 1921. Thus, no records
exist of actua arplane ownership during the
time of the riot. Without government records,
one can assume that if there were fourteen
planes at the Curtiss-Southwest Air Field at the
end of 1921, and probably no more than one (a
demonstrator) at the Paul Arbon Air Field, the
total number of airplanes based in Tulsa at the
time of theriot would not have been more than
fifteen.

Most of these were probably owned by the
Curtiss-Southwest Airplane Company, but a
few were probably owned by individuals or
companies. Thereisreally no way to determine
the ownership of the planes, but it isvery likely
that at least one was owned by the Sinclair Qil
Company. A “St. Clair Oil Company plan€” is
mentioned in some ac counts of theriot and there
is a photograph in the files of the Tulsa Histori-
cal Society of a Jenny refueling at the
Curtiss-Southwest Air Field from barrels
marked “ Sinclair Qils.” Tulsawasthe headquar-
tersof the Sinclair Qil Companoy at that timeand
the top executives lived here"

Apparently, among the planesin Tulsa at the
time of theriot, were a Stinson Detroiter, asin-
gle engine plane with an enclosed cabin capable
of holding several people as well as another
tri-motor, make unknown. Stinson did manufac-
ture atri-motor at that time according to person-
nel at the Tulsa Air and Space Center.™

There are many referencesto airplanes during
theriot, but few can be additionally documented
through further research. Mary E. Jones Parrish
included a number of referencesto airplanesin
her book, Events of the Tulsa Disaster. In her
own account of her experiences during theriot,
she mentions seeing “fast approaching
aeroplanes.” Moreover, in her escape from the
riot area, Parrish tells of nearing the “aviation
fields” —in al likelihood the Curtiss- South-
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The losses in the Green wood busi ness dis trict alone—in clud ing two the aters, three ho tels, more than a dozen res tau rants, and scores
of shops, family-run businesses, and professional offices—were staggering. One contemporary observer called the deaths and de-
struction cased by the race riot “without parallel in America” (Courtesy Oklahoma HistoricalSociety).

west Air Field—and seeing the “planes out of
their sheds, al in readiness for flying, and
these men with high-powered rifles getting
into them." Parrish adds that “The aeroplanes
continued to watch over the fleeing peoplelike
great birds of prey watching for avictim, but |
have not heard of them doing any harm to the
people out in the direction where we were."
Events of the Tulsa Disaster also includes in-
terviews including one with Mr. James T.
West, ateacher at Booker T. Washington High
School, who reported that airplanes “flew over
very low, what they were doing | cannot say,
for  wasin my room.” Dr. R. T. Bridgewater,
an assistant county physician, stated that he
was “near my residence and aeroplanes began
tofly over us, in someinstancesvery low to the
ground,” and that he heard a woman say, “look
out for the aeroplanes, they are shooting upon
us.” Mrs. Parrish also wrote that “more than a
dozen aeroplanes went up and began to drop
turpentine balls upon the Negro residences,”
but she gives no source for this statement nor
does it appear that she witnessed this herself.
Lastly, Parrish also included the testimonial of
an anonymous eyewitness, who stated, “Then

| saw aeroplanes, they flew very low. To my sur-
prise, as they passed over the business district,
they left the entire block a mass of flame.”*2
Other contemporary sources also reported the
presenceof airplanes. Walter Whitewrotein the
June 29, 1921 issue The Nation that “eight
aeroplanes were employed to spy on the move-
ments of the Negroes and according to some
were used in bombing the colored section.”**
Mabel E. Little, in her unpublished biogra-
phy, wrote that, “airplanes dropped incendiary
bombs to enhance the burning of Mount Zion
Baptist Church and business buildings.”** A re-
porter for the Oklahoma City Black Dispatch
wrote that "Airplanes were seemingly every-
where. They seemed to fly low and | could see
the men in the planes as they passed us." In an
interview with Dr. Payne and Mr. Robinson that
appeared in the same issue, it was stated that,
“These two men with their wives succeeded in
reaching the open country. They were finally
spotted by the air murderers who showered load
after load of leadened missiles upon them.” W.
|. Brown, a porter on the Katy Railroad who
reached Tulsa Wednesday morning, June 1,
with the National Guard, recited this story:
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“We reached Tulsa about 2 o' clock. Air-
planes were circling al over Greenwood. We
stopped our carsnorth of the Katy depot,going
towards Sand Springs. Theheav enswerelight-
ened up as plain as day from the many fires
over theNegro section. | could seefrommy car
window that two airplanes were doing most of
the work. They would every few seconds drop
something and every time they did therewas a
loud explosion and the sky would be filled
with flying debris.”*®

Bruce Hartnitt, of Tulsa Junior College, in-
terviewed Mabel Bonner Little in 1969 and
1971. Heasked Mrs. Little, “ Do you remember
during the time of theriot itsalf, if there were
any airplanes, people dropping stuff?’ Mrs.
Littlereplied, ”Oh yes, they dropped thosein-
cendiary bombs, that’s what burned those big
buildings down, they couldn’t have destroyed
them with anything else . . .”*°

IncaseNo. 23, 331 filedintheDistrict Court
of Tulsa County between Barney Cleaver,
plaintiff, and The City of Tulsa, one of the de-
fendants was “The St. Clair Oil Company.”
The fourth paragraph of the plaintiffs petition
allegesthat:

“The St. Clair Oil Company, a corporation,
did, at the request and insistence of the city’s
agents, and in furtherance of the conspiracy,
aforementioned and set out, furnish airplanes
onthe night of May 31, 1921, and on the morn-
ing of June 1, 1921, to carry the defendant’s
city’s agents, servants, and employees, and
other persons, being part of said conspiracy
and other conspirators. That the said J.R.
Blaine, captain of the police department, with
others, was carried in said airplane which
dropped turpentine balls and bombs down and
upon the houses of the plaintiff .. .”

The 1921 Tulsa City Directory doesnot list a
JR. Blaine, but it doeslist a G.H. Blaine, apo-
lice captain. Captain Blaine appears in a number
of newspaper articles concerning airplanes and
thereisno question that hewasapi lot or passent
ger on anumber of flights. The same source does
not list a“St. Clair Oil Company,” but its pho-
netic smilarity to the Sinclair Oil Company is
too close to be ignored. It is interesting to note
that Elisha Scott wasthe attorney for the plaintiff

in 1937 when this case was dismissed. Thisisthe
same Elisha Scott, a prominent African American
attorney of Topeka, Kansas, who, according to an
October 14, 1921 article in the Chicago Defender,
clamed to have athirty-one page affidavit sgned
by Van B. Hurley, supposedly a white former
Tulsa policeman, that told of a meeting between
local aviators and officials prior to the invasion of
black Tulsaon the morning of June 1. These indi-
viduals alegedly planned an attack on the black
areaby air planes. Thereisnorecordthata“VanB.
Hurley” ever was a policeman or even existed.
This affidavit was never made public or appar-
ently used in any of the lawsuits. After his death,
Mr. Scott’s home burned and his persona papers
evidently were destroyed. Beryl Ford, anauthority
on Tulsa's photographic history, after examining
photographsof theGreenwood dam age, hasstated
that the buildings were not destroyed by explo-
sives. The debris shown in photographs, he be-
lieves, islocated insde the shells of the buildings,
whereit had fallen af ter theraf tershad burned, and
not outside where it would have been scattered if
explosives had been used. Outbuildings also are
shown to be largely undamaged, something that
was unlikely had explosives been used.

An unidentified newspaper reported that Ed
L ockett was shot from an airplane that had fol-
lowed him for about eight miles from Tulsa. It
was reported that “ several hundred persons saw
the aviator shoot L ockett and were later fired on
by the same plane themselves.” The body of a
man was found on June 6, 1921 near the
Curtiss-Southwest Air Field. Although thereis
no record of an “Ed Lockett,” there is afuneral
home record of an Ed Lockard who was found
eight miles from Tulsa on June 6, 1921, and is
buried in Oaklawn Cemetery in Tulsa.

The Chicago Defender, on June 11, 1921, re-
ported that “at 4:30 a steam whistle sounded
three times. With the coming of daylight air-
planesfromthelocal avi ationfield,inwhichthe
Cadillac company is interested, directed the
movement of the oncoming army. At 6:15 am.
men in the planes dropped fire bombs of turpen-
tine or other inflammable material on the prop-
erty.” The articles goes on to say, “One man,
leaning far out from an airplane, was brought
down by the bullet of a sharpshooter and his

106



body burst upon the ground.” Other newspa-
pers published similar claims.

The St. Louis Argus, on June 10, 1921, re-
ported that “The Negroes held their own until
about 6 o' clock in the morning when a fierce
attack was made upon them from the hill by
cannons, and airplanes soared over the Negro
section dropping fire on their houses.” JW.
Hughes, principal of Dunbar Grade School,
wrote a statement that said that “at five o’ clock
a whistle was blown, seven aeroplanes were
flying over the colored district .. .”*®

As some newspaper accounts mention nitro-
glycerinbombs, itisinter esting tonotethat the
Tulsa World published an article on April 20,
1921 titled, “Tulsa Man First to Transport Ni-
tro by Means of an Airplane.” The article dis-
cusses the great danger in transporting
nitroglycerin and notes that a careless move-
ment “may only leave a grease spot.”

There is quite a bit of information that the
police used airplanes to search the outskirts of
the black area for fleeing people. When indi-
viduals were seen, a message was placed in a
container and dropped to search parties on the
ground. These containers may have been
thought to be bombs by some. In reply to are-
quest for information from people concerning
the riot, one man called in and said that his un-
cle, CharlesFoor, aTulsa policeman, flew one
of these search planes. He said that three planes
were used and they flew ina*®V’ formation
with his uncle in the lead. The planes, he be-
lieved, were used for reconnaissance only.?

OnJdune?, 1921, the Tulsa World reported that
Captain George Blaine of the Tulsa Police De-
partment had flown over anumber of black com-
munities around Tulsato see if any armed mobs
were forming. This was in answer to persstent
rumors that an attack upon Tulsa was being
planned by African Americans in these commu-
nities. His flight took him over Boley, Red Bird,
Taft, Wybark, and others. Blaine, it wasreported,
found no evidence of any such activity.”

Although it is within reason to believe that
some individuals did drop inflammables or ex-
plosives on theriot area, there is very little to

support this. The newspapers targeted to black
readers were full of stories of turpentine or ni-
troglycerin bombs being dropped and men
shooting from planes. Mary E. Jones Parrish
mentions bombing incidents, but one isfrom an
anonymous source and the other may have not
beenwit nessed by her. InBar ney Cleaver’ slaw-
suit, his petition alleges that turpentine bombs
were dropped on his house, thereby destroying
it. How ever, heap par ently did not wit ness this.

Allen Yowsell stated that in 1950 or 1951 he
was having his hair cut in a barber shop in
Tulsa. There be heard a man, who looked to be
50 or 60 yearsold, who said that during thetime
of theriot, he and afriend obtained some dyna-
mite, commandeered an airplane, flew over the
riot area, and dropped the dynamite on a group
of fleeing African American refugees not far
from where some railroad tracks cross East Pine
Street. Yowell said, “the man was bragging
about this, and while he did not know if the story
was correct or not, he felt that the man was tell-
ing the truth. He did not know the man’s name
and never saw him again. %

Another ora informant, Lillian Lough, re-
ported that her grandmother, a recentimmigrant
from Mex ico, lived onthe edge of theblack area
in 1921. At the time of the riot, she saw two
young black boys running down the street being
followed by a two-seater airplane. The man in
the rear seat was shooting at the boys. She then
ran out and grabbed the boys and took them into
the house. The man in the airplane stopped
shooting when she appeared.?®

It iswithin reason that there was some shooting
from planesand even the droppingofincendiaries,
but the evidencewould seemtoindi catethat it was
of a minor nature and had no redl effect intheriot.
Whileit is certain that airplanes were used by the
police for reconnaissance, by photographers and
sightseers, there probably were some whites who
fired gunsfrom planes or dropped bottles of gaso-
line or something of that sort. However, they were
probably few in numbers. It isimportant to note, a
number of prominent African Americans at the
time of theriot including James T. West, Dr. R.T.
Bridgewater, and Water White of the NAACP,
did not speak of any aggressive actions by air-
planes during the conflict.
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Confirmed Deaths:
A Preliminary Report

By Clyde Collins Snow

A Cautionary Foreword

It should be emphasizedthat thisreportis, as
indicated in the title, preliminary. While col-
lecting data for this study, it has become obvi-
ous that much critical information on how
many people were killed and who they wereis
lacking. Much of this information still resides
in the memories and family records and other
persona documents of the survivors and par-
ticipants of the riot - both black and white —
and their descendants. For this reason, we are
reaching out, both locally and nationally, for
moreinformation on possible personskilled in
the riot whose deaths were never recorded. We
also suspect much additional information of
importance is contained in still unexamined
documents such as life insurance claims, will
probates, census records, etc. Hopefully, these
documents still survive in obscure archives.

Until this datais collected and analyzed, no fi-
nal report can be completed.

Acknowledgments

In my final report, | will include afull list of
the many persons who have helped me. In this
preliminary effort acknowledgments must be
limited to the wise and indefatigable Mr. Dick
Warner and Ms. Sue Bordeaux of the Oklahoma
State Department of Health. Much of the basic
information upon which thisreport is based was
originally compiled by Dick; heis also a mag-
nificent fact-checker. Sue Bordeaux’s vast
knowledge of the vital records system and her
enthusiasm in putting it to work in this project
was invaluable. Naturally, neither one of them
are responsible for any factual errors or eccen-
tric opinions which may appear in this prelimi-
nary report — they are all my own.
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From the first shots that were fired at the courthouse on May
31, to the last fight ing that took place on June 1, the Tulsa race
riotprovedto beaparticularly lethal affair. Andwhile a de fin-
i tive death count is still elu sive, it is clear that doz ens of blacks
and whites lost their lives in the catastrophe (Department of
Special Collections McFarlin Library, University of Tulsa).

The Need for Accurate Casualty Counts

During the past half-century, it has become
increasingly common for magjor disasters, nat-
ural and man-made, to become the subject of
public investigation. Such investigations may
be official — that is, conducted by any govern-
mental branch, judicial, executive or legisa-
tive and at any level, federal, state or local.
Unofficial, but no less searching and reveal-
ing, investigations may be conducted by the
press or private entities. Examples of such in-
quiriesin therecent past includethe several in-
vestigations of the deaths of the followers of
David Koresh in the Branch Davidian Com-
pound in Waco, Texasin 1994. Such inquiries
are designed to shed light on the causes of such
disasters, establish culpability when possible
and appropriate and provide guidelinesto pre-
vent or, if they do occur again, design proce-
dures for effectively dealing with them in the

future. When conductedobjectively, they gener
aly attain these goals.

Unfortunately, no impartial investigation was
conducted of the 1921 Tulsa raceriot initsim-
mediate aftermath, while memories of the par-
ticipants and victims were still fresh, and the
physical evidence, including the bodies of the
dead, could be forensically examined. Today,
eight decadesaf ter theevent, only thedoc u men
tary evidence — much of it lost or of doubtful
authenticity — and the fading memories of the
rapidly dwindling survivors remains.

A key piece of information in any investigation
of incidents involving loss of human lifeisan ac-
curate assessment of the number of victims. Such
determinations are important for severa reasons.
For example, where preliminary estimates of the
number of dead are part of an ongoing investiga:
tion, they can be used to make reasonable alot-
mentsof often scarce manpower, equipment, and
financial resourcesto the task and to determine the
overdl investigative strategy.

Accurate estimates of the dead and injured
can also help identify factors contributing to
such disasters and, thus, provide guidelines for
ameliorating the loss of life in similar future
cases. For example, in Honduras, the immigra-
tion of the rural poor to urban areasresultedin
large numbers of them building small houses on
“waste” land along the steep banks of major
river courses and other areas subjecttoflooding.
Asaconseguence, many thousands of such set-
tlers drowned or died in mud slides during the
massive hurricane of 1998. This loss of life
could be minimized by governmental or private
aid to provide housing sites in safer areas or, at
theleast, assurethepromptevacuationof people
from such vulnerable places when warnings of
impending hur ri canesarereceivedinthefuture.

When the disasters are man-made, such as
acts of terrorism, war crimes or other massive
human rightsviolations, an accurate assessment
of the number of victimsis anecessary step in
any forensic investigation conducted to exhume
the victims so that they may beidentified and re-
turned to the families, make suitable reparations
to the persons affected and, hopefully and
above all, provide evidence to bring the perpe-
trators to justice.
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Before the ashes of Greenwood had cooled,
disagreements over the number of dead began
to surface. Estimates of the total number of
dead have varied by an order of magnitude,
ranging from about fifty to as many as five
hundred. They also vary greatly in thereliabil-
ity of the sources on which they are based.
Here, | have chosen a more conservative ap-
proach by compiling a list of persons who
have, at one time or another, been named as
victims of the Tulsa race riot. At the outset, |
should point out that this compilation is not
likely to include all of theriot fatalitiessinceit
is probable that at least some and, perhaps
many, deaths went unrecorded. At the same
time, however, | feel that it may prove valuable
to future scholars since it provides at least a
firm minimum of the number of dead.

Classification of Deaths

Based on the information presently avail-
able, riot fatalities of both races can be divided
into two groups. Within the first are those es-
tablished by primary sources such as death cer-
tificates and mortuary records. The second
group consists of deaths mentioned only in
secondary sources (newspaper stories, maga-
zine articles, books, etc.) dealing with the race
riot. In this study, | have designated individu-
alsinthefirst group as confirmed, and those of
the second as reported deaths.

The digtinction between the two groups is
made clearer when put in a forensic context.
For example, bearing in mind that there is no
statute of limitations on murder and that the
victimskilled in the Tulsaraceriot were homi-
cidevictims, itisat least theoretically possible
that murder charges could be brought against
an allegedperpetrator. If thevictim wereto be
Dr. Andrew C. Jackson, the prominent black
physician who was gunned down after emerg-
ing from his burning Greenwood home with
hishands held high, the death certificate signed
eighty years ago would be unchallengeable ev-
idence of his death in any court.

On the other hand, let usimagine that an el-
derly black man was charged with the death of
awhitewomanidenti fiedonly as“Mrs. Deary”
by the now extremely aged ex-Sergeant ESley
of the TulsaNational Guard. Assumingthat his

story had not changed sinceit wasrecounted in the
Muskogee (OK) Phoenix in 1921, Sergeant Edey
would testify that the victim died in her husband's
arms after being struck by five bullets fired by a
black who stole up behind her while she and her
family were watching the fires in Greenwood
from the front porch of their home on Sunset Hill.
Hemight further state, ashe did eight decades ago,
that, after watching his mother die, Mrs. Deary’s
fifteen year old son joined the riot and helped set
some of the fires. On cross-examination, of
course, Sergeant Edey would be forced to admit
that even in 1921, when he first told his story, he
had not been able to remember the victim’s name
but only . . . “that it sounded like Deary." Further-
more, he was not sure whether she was shot late
Tuesday night or on Wednesday morning. Now
suppose, that the astute defense lawyer introduces
(asthey dwaysdo, at least on televison), a“sur-
prise” witness, and a fragile little old lady makes
her way to the stand.* She would state that her
name was Mrs. S. A. Gilmore and that, in 1921,
shewasliving at 225 E. King in the Sun set Hill ad-
dition, which overlooked the Greenwood district.
On Wednesday morning, while she and her hus-
band were watching the battle below, shereceived
five wounds in the arms and chest. While the
shots came in the direction of Greenwood, it was
never cer tain whether they werefired by ablack or
she was struck by stray shots being fired in the
generd di rectionof Sunset Hill by membersof the
white mob. Taken to Morningsde Hospital, she
lingered close to death for severa days® but even-
tudly recovered. The defense attorney would then
introduce as documentary evidence Tulsa City Di-
rectories which show that Mrs. Gilmore did in-
deedreside at 225 E. King at thetime of theriot in
1921 and, in fact, was stilling living there two
years later. He would aso point out that Mrs.
Gilmore was the only white female reported to
have been shot duringtheriotintheabundantlocal
and national press cov er age. Andfi nally, hewould
show that an exhaustive search of death records
failed to produce any evi denceof thedeath of Mrs.
Deary in the form of funera home, cemetery or,
most importantly, a death certificate. While the
jury would rush out to acquit, the red-faced pros
ecutor would sit contemplating how much he
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would enjoy ripping out the pacemaker of his
star witness, Sergeant Esley.

The hypothetical trials for the murders of
Dr. Jackson and Mrs. Deary, by juxtaposing
the tragic and the comic, serveto illustrate the
crucial difference between confirmed and re-
ported deaths as | have classified them here.
Only the most dim-witted prosecutor would
consider actually takingtheDeary caseto court
based on Sergeant Esley’s story. On the other
hand, the Jackson murder would have been a
strong case for the prosecution since the docu-
mentary evidence clearly establishes his death
and the witnesses, both black and white, could
have provided clear and convincing evidence
of the circumstances of his death. Unfortu-
nately, however, no investigation of this death
was ever undertaken by the Tulsa police or
other city, county, or state officials.

Readers should be aware the categorization
of individual deaths as confirmed or reported
in this preliminary study is not necessarily fi-
nal. Thisisbecausethedatapresently avail able
on many of the victims is still incomplete. As
further information comes to light, at least
some of the deaths classified as reported might
be fully confirmed. Thisis well-illustrated by
the case of Ed Lockard, which will be dis-
cussed in detail in the fina report.

As noted above, much more data must be
collected and analyzed to produce a final re-
port. This is particularly true in regard to re-
ported deaths. Therefore, in this preliminary
report, only the data so far compiled on con-
firmed deaths will be presented.

METHODS AND DATA SOURCES

Analytic Method

The initial effort of this study consisted of
combing all known documentary sources for
the names of individuals mentioned as victims
or possible victims of the riot. The most im-
portant primary sourcewas, of course, contem-
porary local and national press accounts in
which the names of riot victims were given.
These names include not only the reported fa-
talities but, also, those who were wounded se-
verely enough to be admitted to local
hospitals. In addition to press stories, the vari-
ous books, reports, and articles published in

the years since the riot also were a source of
names.

The next step in thisanalysis was to enter the
names, along with other data pertaining to the
victims, into acomputerized database. Once en-
tered, other information on a particular victim
could be pursued. For example, an especially
important procedure was to search for the per-
son’ s death certificate in the files maintained by
the Oklahoma State Department of Health, cen-
sus data, Tulsa City Directories. Funeral home
and cemetery records of the period aso were
helpful,andinafew cases, valuableinfor mation
was supplied by the victim’s family members.

Death Certificates
In 1921, Oklahoma death certificates con-
sisted of two sections, one to be completed by
the undertaker and the other by the physician
who attended the deceased. Normally, the com-
pletionof adeathcer tif i caterequiredfour steps:
1. The undertaker would begin the process by
filling in the personal data on the dead person.
Thiswould include the name, sex, race, age, oc-
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cupation, birthplace and occupation of the de-
ceased as well as the names and birthplaces of
his or her parents. The informant (usually the
next-of-kin) providing this information aso
was asked to sign the certificate.

2. The certificate would then be sent to the
attending physician who provided the date,
time, and cause of death. Signed by the physi-
cian, it was returned to the undertaker.

3. Next, the undertaker would complete his
part of the certificate by listing the cemetery
and date of interment or, if thebody wasburied
elsawhere, the date and place of shipment.

4. Finally, the undertaker would submit the
completed certificateto the vital statistics reg-
istrar of the county in which the death oc-
curred. After assigning it a unique register
number, the registrar would forward it to the
Bureau of Vital Statistics of the Oklahoma
State Health Department in Oklahoma City.

In the case of the riot victims, the orderly
process outlined above was not always fol -
lowed. In particular, the personal informa-
tion on the deceased was sometimes left
vague or incomplete. Informants who were
not immediate family members did not often
know such details as the exact age, marital
status, or birthplace of the deceased, much
less the names of the dead person’s father or
mother. This was especially true for black
victims since their next-of-kin were still in
the detention camps and could not come to
the mortuariesto claim their relativesif, in-
deed, they were informed of their deaths at
al.

The information provided by physicians
also was sketchy. For example, the exact
time of death was not recorded and, in many
cases, it is not clear whether the victim was
dead on arrival at the hospital or survived for
a few hours. Also, the causes of death on
many certificates are laconic: “Gunshot
wound (riot)” with no details on the number
and location of wounds. Such lapses of over-
worked and harried physicians,
overwhelmed by theinflux of several hundred
wounded in addition to the dead, is understand-
able. It isinteresting that the doctors provided
moredetailedinfor mationonthecertifi catesof

those who died under their care afew days after
the riot than those who were dead on arrival or
succumbed afew hours later.

To compound the problem, many death cer-
tificates were signed not by physicians but by
Tulsa County Attorney W.D. Seavers. This
was legal because at the time, state law al-
lowed officers of the court to certify deaths
that had not been attended by a physician. As
nearly the entire Tulsa medical establishment
was tied up in the care of the wounded, no
doctors were available to examine bodies
found at the scene. Apparently, thistask fell to
Seavers, who signed out eighteen victims
whosebodieswerefoundinthestill smoul der-
ing ruins of Greenwood, or who died after be-
ing brought to temporary detention centers
where blacks were held during the first hours
of theriot. Itisnot clear whether Seavers actu-
ally visited the scene to examine the bodies or
whether the death certificates were brought to
him by undertakers.

Mortuary Records

At the time of the riot, the bodies of the
known victims were taken from the hospitals
where they were pronounced dead or, some-
times, directly from the sceneto local mortuar-
ies. Therethey were prepared for burial in Tulsa
or shipped to other cities designated by their
next-of- kin. The records of these establish-
ments (Mobray’s, Mitchell-Fleming, and Stan-
ley-McCune), provide data on the deceased not
found on the death certificates.

Press Accounts

The events of the riot received heavy cover-
age in local, state, and national newspapers as
well as other journals, both white and black, of
the time. Aswith all such news events, press at-
tention was most intensive in the days immedi-
ately fol lowingtheriot, thendwindledrapidlyin
the weeks that followed. Over the years, how-
ever, occasional newspaper feature stories and
magazine articles dealing with theriot and its af-
termath have appeared. The most valuable sin-
gle source for these materials was the extremely
thorough newspaper clippings collection from
the Tuskegee Institute microfilm files.
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While the white riot dead ap pear to have all been given proper buri als, lit tle ef fort was made by the white au thor ities to iden tify the bod ies
of black riot victims. Indeed, as both long-forgotten funeral home records and death certificates would confirm, some unidentified Afri
can-American riot vic tims were hur riedly bur ied in un marked graves at Oaklawn Cem e tery (Courtesy Green wood Cultural Cen ter).

Books and Monographs
Over the years, several books have been
published dealing with the Tulsa race riot.
These include one by ariot survivor and sev-
eral others by historians who have collected
written and oral accounts from survivors and
their descendants.

Miscellaneous Sources
In the course of this investigation, severa
researchers have generously provided unpub-
lished reports and documents on the riot which
they have collected in their own studies of the
event.

DATA ANALYSIS

To date, death certificates on thirty-ninevic-
tims have been found. They arelisted in Table
1 which summarizes the principal variables
presently available on them. It should be noted
that not all of the tabul atedinformation was ab-
stracted from the death certificates alone. For
example, most of the information on the loca-
tion of their wounds was found in other
riot-relateddocuments, particularly contempo-
rary press accounts, which often provide more
specific information on the nature of their inju-
ries than was noted on the death certificates.

See Table 1 Tulsa Race Riot Deaths

Sex

All thirty-ninevictims, includingthestill born
infant, were diagnosed as males. However, it
should be pointed out that the bodies of four
blacks — all signed out by County Attorney
Seavers— were so badly burned that identifica-
tion wasimpossible. Sinceit is often impossible
to deter minethesex insuch caseswithout anacr
topsy, the reliability of a layman’sdiagnosisin
these four casesis questionable.

Race

Twenty-six (66%) of the thirty-nine victims,
including the stillborn, were diagnosed as
blacks. Again, thefour bodiesthat were so badly
burned that the could not be identified (see
above) must be considered. This is especially
true since thermal damage often results in the
destruction of the delicate, paper-thin epidennis
that ismade up of cells which, inblacks, contain
the melanin pigments determining skin color.
When this layer is extensively destroyed, it ex-
poses the underlying dermisthat, in al races, is
no darker than the skin of a light complexion
white person, making it easy for an inexperi-
enced observer to mistakenly diagnosis a
burned black body as white. However, in the
present case, since al the burn victims were
found in fire-destroyed Greenwood, it is likely
that they were indeed those of blacks.
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Age

Asnoted above, among the black victims was
an infant diagnosed as a stillborn. This caseis
interesting sinceit isapparently related to an ac-
count givento Eddie Faye Gatesby ariot survi-
vor, Rosa Davis Skinner. According to Mrs.
Skinner, she and her husband Thomas, alarmed
by the shooting, fled their home at 519 West
Latimer alittle after midnight on the night of
theriot.

“When we got to Greenwood, we met up
with alot more black people who were running
tying to find a safe place. We ran into a couple
— the man was one of [her husband’s] best
friends. The wife had just had a baby that had
died at birth. She had put it in a shoe box and
was waiting until morning to bury it when the
riot broke out. Well durin’ all that runnin’ and
pushin’ and shovin’ when black people were
trying to get safely away from theriot, that po’
little baby got lost! Everybody wasjust runnin’
and bumpin’ into each other. They never did
find that child.”

According to information in the Stan-
ley-McCune mortuary records, sometime on
June 1, policebroughtinthebody of anew born
infant. It had been found in Greenwood earlier
in the day by two white men who turned it over
to the police. The body was described asthat of
a black male measuring “less than twelve
inches long.” It apparently bore no signs of
trauma and was signed out as a stillborn. Like
many of the other black victims, it was buried
in Oaklawn Cemetery. The evidence seems
compelling that the baby lost by its fleeing
mother and that brought to the mortuary were
one and the same. This case is important for
two reasons. Firgt, the story of thistiny victim
provides a poignant glimpse of the madness
that prevailedonthatterri bleday. Second, this
infant is the only one of the thirty-nine known
victims that did not die of gunshot wounds
and/or burns.

Ages are given on the death certificates of
al thirteen of thewhite victims (Table 2). One
of these was apparently an estimate based on
examination of the body. The others were pro-
vided by informants who knew the actual age
of the victim. In contrast, ages are given for

only fifteen (58%) of the twenty-six blacks and,
of these, at least seven are given as estimates
(usudly to the nearest fifth year, eg., “35",
“40", etc.). This distribution again clearly
shows that black victims were signed out with
less care and regard than whites; little or no ef-
fort was made to identify blacks by contacting
their next-of-kin.

See Table 2 Distribution of Known,
Estimated and Unknown Ages by Race
Despite the fact that no age estimates were

givenfor nearly half of the black victims, statis-
tical comparison of the available age dataon the
racesisinteresting. Inthe analysis below, | have
excluded the stillborn which, as a non-violent
death, isclearly a special case (see above). The
mean age of white victims was around
twenty-seven years compared to thirty-four
years for blacks. This difference is statistically
significant (Table 3).
See Table 3 Age of Confirmed Riot Deaths
by Race

Birthplace / Residence

Thedistribution of theknown victims by state
of birth or residence is shown in Table 4. The
state of residence was inferred from mortuary
records which show the state where the body
was shipped for burial. This information is
available in the records of only two (8%) of the
twenty-five black victims. Again, an indication
of the lack of attention given them before their
hasty burials. Thisisin contrast tothewhitesfor
which birthplaces/residence of all thirteen were
given. It is of interest to note that eleven (85%)
of the white victims were from outside
Oklahoma. The significance of this finding will
be discussed morefully below. Inall, nativesor
residents of ten states are representedamongthe
white victims.

See Table 4 Distribution of Confirmed
Deaths by Race and State of Birth or
Residence

Marital Status
Of thewhitevictims, nine (69%) were single,
separated or divorced. Only three were married
and thewife of at least one of these does not ap-
pear to have been living in Tulsa at the time of
hisdeath. Themari tal statusof oneisunknown.
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Among blacks, the marital status of seven-
teen is not given. Of the remaining eight, five
were married and three were single.

See Table S Distribution of Confirmed
Deaths by Race and Marital Status

Occupation

The occupations of ten (40%) of the black
victims are known. Among them were two pro-
fessionals, aphysician, and arealtor (who also
was a tailor). The remaining eight included
five listed as “laborers,” a bank porter, an
iceman, and an elevator operator.

Among the twelve (92%) of the white vic-
tims whose occupations are known, there was
ahigh school student, two cooks, asalesman, a
hotel clerk, and aday laborer. Fivewereskilled
bluecol lar work ersand, of these, threewereail
field workers; the other-two, a boiler maker
and a machinist might also have been em-
ployedin petroleum-related jobs. The sole pro-
fessional among the whites was the office
manager of alargelocal oil company. Thus, at
least one-third and possibly as many as
one-half of the white victims were petroleum
industry workers.

See Table 6 Distribution of Confirmed
Deaths by Race and Occupation

Cause of and Manner of Death

All of thethir teenwhiteswerekilled by gun
shot wounds. Among the twenty-five black
adults, at least twenty-one (84%) died of gun-
shot wounds. The cause of death of the remain-
ing four, al signed out by County Attorney
Seavers, were given as burn but, as noted pre-
viously, any underlying fatal gunshot wounds
may not have been apparent in the absence of
autopsy.

Of the thirty-nine confirmed deaths, the
manner of death of all but that of the stillborn
black malewerehomi cides. Thelat terisclass-
fied as “natural.” At least one, and possibly
two, whiteswerekilled by persons of their own
race who apparently mistook them for blacks.

See Table 7 Cause and Manner of Death of
Confirmed Death Victims

Wounds
Of the twenty-five blacks who died of gun-
shot injury, the wound locations of only four

are documented; al four of these men died in
hospitals on June 2, or later. The wound loca-
tions of the remaining twenty-one blacks, al of
whom died during the first twelve hours of the
riot, were unspecified. The wounds of the
twelve whites whose locations are known were
nearly evenly distributed by anatomical region.
The overall pattern of wound distribution is
rather typical of those seen in hotly contested
armed confrontations carried on at moderate to
distant ranges. In this, it contrasts strongly with
patterns observed in extra-judicia executions
by firing squads.*

See Table 8 Anatomical Distribution of
Gunshot Wounds of Confirmed Death
Victims
Place of Death

At the time of the riot, Tulsa had four mgjor
white hospitals. Tulsa blacks were served only
by Frissell Memorial Hospital, that was burned
during theriot. Greenwood blacks who did not
flee Tulsa altogether were first taken to tempo-
rary detention centers set up in the armory and
Convention Center in downtown Tulsa. The
lightly wounded who were forced to walk to the
detention centers. Those more seriously injured
were either carried to the centers by the un-
wounded or transported there by various means,
including privately owned trucks and automo-
biles, some of which were driven by white vol-
unteers.”

While it appears that small first aid stations
were set up at the detentioncentersearly onJune
1, it must have become quickly apparent that
they were not sufficient to provide the care that
the dozens of wounded required. Accordingly,
the basement of Morningside Hospita was
hastily converted to accommodate blacks. Ap-
parently, this makeshift facility included not
only cots for the wounded but a small operating
room where all surgery on the admitted blacks
was performed. For the next few days, al in-
jured blacks were treated in the Morningside
basement, that may not have exceeded
5,000-square-feet of floor space.® A brief
glimpse of condi tionstherecanbegainedfroma
story in the Tulsa World on June 2, that noted
sixty-three wounded blacks were being treated
there. So far asis presently known, none of the
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other white hospitals in Tulsa opened their
door to African American patients.

All thirteenof thewhitefatal i tiesweretaken
from the scene to one of four hospitals where
they were either pronounced dead on arrival
(DOA) or died later. Unfortunately, the death
certificates are not always clear as to whether
the victims who were admitted late on May 31,
or in the early morning hours of June 1, were
actually dead when brought to the hospital, or
died shortly afterwards. So far as can be pres-
ently deter mined, at least twoandpossi bly four
whites were actually dead on arrival. All four
were pronounced dead at Oklahoma Hospital
by the same physician, Dr. Lyle Archerloss.

Only eight (31%) of the twenty-six black fa
talities were brought to hospitals. Six died in
Morning side, that asmentioned above, wasthe
only one where blacks were treated in the first
few days of theriot. A seventh died in Cinna-
bar Hospital on June 7, about a week after the
riot. Presumably, he had been transferred from
Morningside after Cinnabar had been re-
opened. Thelast died on August 20, in the Red
Cross hospital that was set up in the Green-
wood’ s black Dunbar School after the riot.

The other eighteen (69%) blacks were not
taken to hospitals. The bodies of these sixteen
individuals were found in the downtown area
where the fighting began or in the ruins of
Greenwood. Five days after the riot on June 6,
the badly decomposed body of a black man
was found about eight miles east of Tulsa. He
had died of a gunshot wound of the neck. He
was later identified as a man who had escaped
from atemporary detention center.

All of these bodies were taken directly to
mortuaries and their death certificates were
signed out by County Attorney Seavers. An-
other of these “non-hospital” victims died in
the armory detention center where he was
taken after he was shot down by a teen-aged
member of the mob while trying to surrender
outside his home in Greenwood. Ironically,
this man— aprominent physician — lay with-
out medical attention for several hours before
he finally succumbed to a bullet wound of the
chest. His death certificate was aso signed by
the county attorney.’

See Table 9 Distribution of Confirmed
Deaths by Place of Death

Date of Death

The recordsindicate that four of the white ca
sualties died before midnight on May 31. If this
is correct then these men were most likely killed
in the downtown area where the fighting first
began. Seven others died on June 1, and one on
June 2. The last white fatality died in the early
morning hours of June 6. He was wounded a
few hours earlier when white militia men fired
on the car in which he wasriding. The perpetra-
tors, a least one of whom was wearing his
World War | army uniform, claimed that the
driver of the car refused to obey their orders to
stop.

None of the twenty-six black victimsislisted
as having died on the evening of May 31.
Twenty-one were signed out as having died on
Junel, twoonJune?2, andtwo othersonJune?,
and June 10, respectively. The last black to die
of riot wounds was a twenty-one year old who
lingered until August 20, eleven weeks after the
riot.

Thefact that no black fatalities were recorded
fortheeveningof May 31, iscuri ous. According
to severa sources, many shots were fired by
both sides during the retreat of the blacks from
the courthouse area back to Greenwood, and
some early newspaper accounts describe blacks
lying wounded or dead in the downtown area. If
thelatter aretrue, it suggeststhat no medical aid
was extended to those wounded blacks unfortu-
nate enough to have been left behind during the
retreat to Greenwood.

See Table 10 Confirmed Deaths by Date of
Death

Mortuaries

As in most of the United States at the time,
Tulsa mortuaries were racially restricted. The
three major establishments serving white
Tulsans were Mitchell-Fleming, Mowbray, and
Stanley-McCune. Black funerals were handled
by a single Greenwood funeral home operated
by S. M. Jackson, a graduate of the Cincinnati
(Ohio) School of Embalming. In 1971, Jackson
was interviewed by Tulsa historian Ruth
Avery® His account of his riot experiences is
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valuable sinceit provides someinsight into the
way the dead, both black and white, were han-
dled. Onthe morning of June 1, when thewhite
mob stormed into Greenwood, Jackson's fu-
neral parlor was burned down. At the time, he
was holding four embalmed bodies for burial;
only two of these were retrieved (leaving one
to wonder about the fate of the other two). At
first interned, he was promptly paroled by the
owners of Stanley-McCune who temporarily
hired him to help process the bodieswho were
brought to their establishment. During the next
few days he embalmed severa blacks whose
bodies were to be shipped to other cities for
burial.

Stanley McCune aso had a hastily arranged
contract with Tulsa County to bury
(unembalmed) the bodiesof blackswhoserel a
tives could either not afford to claim them for
private burial or were not informed of the
deaths. In all, Stanley-McCune handled the
arrangements for two whites and eighteen
blacks. The bodies of all of the blacks were
prepared for burial by Mr. Jackson. He em-
balmed two of these that were claimed and
were buried in other cities. The remaining
sixteen were not embalmed and placed in
plain wood coffins. Mr. Jackson was able to
rebuild hisGreenwoodbusi nessandhandled
the funeral of the last black riot victim who
died on August 20, and whose body was
claimed by his family for burial in his native
Mi ssissippi.

See Table 11 Distribution of Confirmed

Dead by Mortuary

Burial Places

Only three of the white victims were buried
in Rose Hill, a privately operated cemetery.
Another was buried in Watonga, a small town
in western Oklahoma. The remaining nine
wereburiedin other states. Fiveof theblack fa
talities were buried outside of Tulsa: two in
other Oklahoma towns and three outside the
state. The remaining twenty-one blacks (84%)
were interred in Oaklawn, the Tulsamunicipal
cemetery.

See Table 12 Burial Places of Confirmed
Dead

The Oaklawn Burials

In light of the controversy surrounding the to-
tal number of black victims of the race riot and
the disposal of their bodies, the documented
burials in Oaklawn take on a special signifi-
cance. Thisis especially true in the light of the
preliminary archaeological findings®

As noted above, twenty-one black victims,
84% of the total, were buried in Oaklawn. At
that time, the cemetery was segregated by race
and blackswereburied in thewest ern-most sec
tion, so it is safe to assume that these black riot
victims also were bur iedthere. Five of thesevic
tims, al of whom died in Morningside Hospital,
were buried by Mowbray mortuary. All these
hospital cases died of gunshot wounds. Their
death certificates were signed by a single physi-
cian, J. F. Capps, M.D. Dr. Capps signed out two
of theseas*“ John Does.” Four died on Junel, and
the fifth in the early morning of June 2.

Theremaining sixteen were bodiesfound at the
scene and taken to Stanley-McCune; their death
certificates were signed by County Attorney
Seavers. Six of these, four of whom were badly
burned, were not identified. A seventh unidenti-
fied body was that of the previoudy described
stillborn. The remaining nine were identified.

These Oaklawn burials were conducted at
county expense. The Mowbray and Stanley-
McCune records indicate that the victims were
not embalmed but buried in plain wooden cof -
fins; they also show that the mortuaries charged
the county $25 for each burial. An important
feature of the Stanley-McCune records was a
notation indicating the “grave number” of each
burial. These numbers form a single sequence
from 1to 19, except for graves 15, 16 and 17. It
is possible that these graves werefilled by three
of the Mowbray. Unfortunately, grave numbers
were not given in the Mowbray records.

The data currently available on these
Oaklawn burialsis givenin Table 13. They are
significant for several reasons. First, should ar-
chaeological exploration of the area go for-
ward, the excavators should encounter them.
Assuming, as the records indicate, that they
were buried in separate gravesin the order indi-
cated by the Stanley-McCune grave numbers,
they should be encountered in an orderly row(s).
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If so, the available information that we have on
them should be valuablein obtaining tentative
identifications. For example, the skeletons in
graves7,9, 13, and 18 should show some signs
of fireexposure. If so, they should provide ten-
tative leads to the non-burned skeletonsin ad-
jacent graves.® By narrowing the number of
possible decedents, the effort (and the cost) of
DNA identification could be substantialy re-
duced.

See Table 13 Burials of Confirmed Dead in
Oaklawn Cemetery

DISCUSSION

Of course, this small group of documented
fatalities cannot be considered a statistically-
defined random sample of those who had some
roleintheriot, either as active membersof the
mob or as passive victims. However, it is prob-
ably typical enoughto provide some glimpses
of the kinds of people who were caught up in
theriot.

The whites ranged in age from sixteen to
thirty-nine years. Asagroup, they tended to be
young, with a median age of twenty-seven
years. Thestate of birth or residence of all thir-
teen are known and, of these, only two were
born in Oklahoma. The bodies of al but four
were shipped to other states for burial and, of
the four Oklahoma burias, only three took
place in Tulsa. Of the ten for whom we have
marital information, seven were single, one
was divorced and another had been separated
from his wife for nearly twelve years. Among
thethree married men, the wife of one was not
living in Tulsa at the time of the riot. At least
four and possibly six were employed in petro-
leum-related jobs; three others held jobs sug-
gesting transient status: two were cooks and
the third listed as a “laborer.” Judging from
their occupations, all were of lower socioeco-
nomic status except one, an oil company junior
executive.

In short, the limited demographic informa-
tion that can be drawn from such a small sam-
ple indicates that these men were probably
fairly typical of white Tulsans of the oil boom
days: young, single, non-professionals from
outside Oklahoma who had been lured to
Tulsa by the promise of good jobs and good

money. With no strong domestic ties to keep
them homethat night, drifting aroundinthebus
tling downtown area on a nice summer evening,
perhaps looking for ladies, liquor or other ex-
citement, they also were the kind who might be
expected to show up around the courthouse
when the talk about lynching a black accused of
assaulting a white girl got started. Since
boot-legging was a busy cottage industry in
Tulsa, it is possible that at least some of them
had high blood-alcohol levels by the time the
trouble began.

Black victims, in contrast, tended to be older
than whites. They ranged in age from nineteen
to sixty-three. Blacks averaged closeto 35 years
in age — nearly seven years older than the
whites. This difference is statistically signifi-
cant. Of the eight for whom marital dataisavail-
able, five were listed as married. While their
occupational status tended to be lower than that
of the whites (and none were employed in the
petroleum industry), two, a realtor who also
owned atailor shop and a highly-regarded phy-
sician, were solidly middle class. Unlike the
whites, most of whom were young, single, new-
comersto Tulsa, thisgroup of black victims ap-
pears to have been stable, older citizens of the
Greenwood community.

These thirty-nine cases al so demonstrate that,
compared to white victims, those who were
black victims were treated with what would to-
day be considered cavalier, if not criminal, care-
lessness. Thisisindi cated by thefact that at | east
onewasallowed to bleed to death without med-
ical attention in adetention center instead of be-
ing taken immediately and directly to a hospital
after being gunned down in Greenwood while
trying to surrender. Another indication of thisis
found in the death certificates. Those of at |east
four of the thirteen whites were pronounced
dead before midnight on May 31, indicating that
they were promptly taken to hospitals. In con-
trast, none of the death certificates of black vic-
timsare dated earlier than June 1, afinding that
suggeststhat whether dead or still alive, they lay
unattended for at least several hours. More evi-
denceisprovided by the fact that adequate treat-
ment facilities were denied blacks until
sometime in the late morning or afternoon of
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June 1, when a makeshift ward and surgery
was hastily set up in the basement of one of the
several hospitals that normally admitted only
whites. Only then were the many black
wounded provided with care, and some al-
lowed to die under the care of nurses and phy-
sicians.

If Tulsa medical care givers were callous
and carelessintheir treat ment of black riot vic-
tims, representatives of the Tulsa funeral in-
dustry were not far behind them. Thisisshown
by the hasty, “county” burials in Oaklawn on
June 1 and 2. Their death certificates in most
cases signed by a layman, County Attorney
Seavers. Much of the vital information on
these certificates such as address, age, marital
status, next-of-kin, etc. was left blank or filled
inwith a hastily scrawled “don’t know”. This
indicates that authorities with the responsibil-
ity to contact families and identify victims did
not bother to track them down in the admit-
tedly crowded and confused detention centers.
Thus, some families that might have been able
and willing to claim their dead and bury them
properly were not given this opportunity.
Whether they could af ford to or not, most prob-
ably did not know for sure that their relatives
were aready dead and buried in unmarked
pauper graves until they were released from
detention.

Another finger of blame points to law en-
forcement authorities at the local and county
levels. As noted previoudly, all of these deaths
— both black and white — were homicides
whichoccurredwithinthejurisdictionof e ther
the Tulsa Police Department (thirty-seven
cases) or the Tulsa County Sheriffs Depart-
ment (two cases). Y et, so far asisknown, these
murder cases were not investigated while at
least some of the perpetrators could be identi-
fied and apprehended. Prosecutorial authori-
ties, both county and state, also are accountable
since they apparently did not aggressively
press for such investigations.

These hard truths cannot be presented with-
out pointing out that many white Tulsans and
Tulsa ingtitutions (particularly some churches
and the loca Red Cross) took a courageous
rolein theriot by offering protection and care

to their black neighbors. Their brave actions
have been well documented elsewhere and will
not be considered in detail here.

It should also be pointed out that what hap-
pened in Tulsacould havetaken placein amost
any other city in the United Statesin 1921. Nor
were the conditions and circumstances leading
to this tragic event a uniquely Oklahoman, or
even “Southern” phenomenon. In the data con-
sidered here, thisis probably best illustrated by
the known birthplaces or residences of the
white fatalities. Of the thirteen men who were
killed, only two were native Oklahomans. None
were from states of the deep South. Five — the
two Oklahomans, a Texan, an Arkansan and a
native of Kentucky — were from Confederate
border states in which the populations were of
deeply divided loyalties during the Civil War.
The remaining seven were from midwestern or
northeastern states.

CONCLUSIONS AND
RECOMMENDATIONS

In summary, perhapsthe least that can be said
of the physicians, undertakers, police, and pros
ecutors of Tulsa of the time was that they were
not hypocritical: they treated their black fel-
low-citizens no better when they were dead than
they did when they were dlive.

Although this preliminary report islimited to
treatment of the confirmed dead, it cannot be
closed without considering the as yet uncon-
firmed dead of the Tulsarace riot. First to be
considered are the eighteen deathsthat occurred
in the Maurice Willows Hospital operated by
the Red Cross until January 1, 1922. A system-
atic search of vital statistics recordsto find their
names and the causes of their deaths has not yet
been made. Some may have died of complica-
tionsof woundsreceived dur ingtheriot; if so, of
course, such deaths would add to theriot deaths.
Others, particularly, if chil drenor el derly whose
homes were destroyed or their family life dis-
rupted, may have succumbed easily to diseases
they may have otherwise survived; while actu-
aly not killed in the riot the deaths of these vic-
tims would certainly have to be considered as
riot-related.

As noted in the introduction of this prelimi-
nary report, we already have the names of many
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possible descendants and, hopefully, may ob-
tain still more. These reported dead will first
be scanned against vi tal statisticsrecordstosee
if their death certificates have been somehow
overlooked. If they are not found, it will not
necessarily mean that they did not die in the
riot since there is at least some tenuous evi-
dence that more people, especially blacks,
died in the riot whose deaths were not re-
corded. Most of this evidence, it is true, isin
the form of wildly varying estimates that ap-
peared in both the Tulsa and national pressin
the days and weeksimmediately following the
riot. Many Tulsans, white and black, have rec-
ollections of bodies of victims being disposed
of inirregular ways in the first few days fol -
lowing the riot. These estimates and stories
cannot be dismissed lightly.

As one whose entire professional life has
been devoted to the investigation of mass di-
sasters such as fires and floods, aircraft acci-
dents, humanrights vi olations, war crimesand
acts of terrorism throughout the world, this
writer is fully aware of the often exaggerated
estimates of the number of victimsthat surface
in the wake of the chaos and confusion follow-
ing such events. At the same time, experience
has shown that in manner of these situations,
official counts of the dead or often serioudy
underestimated.

In the present case, it should be pointed out
that, like nearly al other states at the time of
the riot, Oklahoma had no adequate system for
the medicolegal examination of violent or un-
attended deaths. Today, the law mandates that
al such deaths fall within the medicolegal re-
sponsibility of the State Medical Examiner.
Bodies of such victims are examined and,
when necessary, autopsied by forensic pathol-
ogists to determine the cause and manner of
death. At the time of theriot, the law required
that death certificates be signed by attending
physicians or, as we have seen, certain public
officials in exceptiona cases. However, it ap-
pears that there was no controlling legal au-
thority (to use aphrase currently in vogue) that
required that medically unattended deaths not
coming to the attention of officers of the court
be documented with a state death certificate.

Therefore, it is possible that bodies found in the
ruins of Greenwood during the days immedi-
ately after the riot were ssimply buried without
documentation.

That this may have indeed happened is sug-
gested by a statement ap par ently madeby Major
O. T. Johnson, a Salvation Army officer sta-
tioned in Tulsa at the time. According to stories
in at least two newspapers, the Chicago De-
fender, June 11, 1921 and St. Louis Argus, June
10, 1921, Johnson is said to have stated that he
hired a crew of over three dozen grave diggers
who labored for several days to dig about 150
gravesfor Negro victims. Unfortunately, any of-
ficial report that Mgjor Johnson may have sub-
mitted to the Salvation Army has not yet been
located. However, the possibility the statement
attributed to him was indeed true is at least
partly supported by two witnesses. One, Eunice
Cloman Jackson, thewife of black mortician S.
M. Jackson stated in 1971 that her step-father
was part of a crew of fifty-five grave diggers,
when she was asked where the bodies were bur-
ied, shereplied that “. . .most of them were out at
Oaklawn. That was the cemetery for burying
them. . ..”** Clyde Eddy, a young boy at the
time, remembers seeing large wooden crates,
each containing several burned bodies, await-
ing buria in Oaklawn in the days following the
riot. If bodies were collected from the burned
out area of Greenwood they may well have been
collected in cratesrather than individual coffins
and transported to Oaklawn for burial by Major
Johnson and his large crew of grave diggers.
They most likely wood have been carried on
trucks, railroad flatcars (the Frisco tracks ran
adjacent to Oaklawn), or both, thus accounting
for the several eyewitness reports that bodies
were seen being carried from the Greenwood
area on both trucks and flatcars.

The theory that perhaps as many as 150 bod-
ies were buried in Oaklawn under Major John-
son’s supervision can be framed as an
hypothesis that can be tested by archaeological
exploration of the area described elsewhere in
this volume by Drs. Brooks and Witten.*? Such
an effort would, at the least, result in the recov-
ery of the twenty-one black confirmed dead
from their unmarked graves so that they can be
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more suitably memorialized and, possibly, itwould resultintherecovery of the bonesof the
identi fied. If thehy pothesisturnsouttobetrue,  undocumented dead and, thus, help provide a
solution to alingering mystery.

Endnotes

Theoretical indeed, since at this |ate date the perpetrator most likely would be as dead as his victim and the case,
thereby, moved to a higher (or, possibly, lower) jurisdiction.

The geriatric problems of conducting such atrial would be a nightmare. Imagine the compli cations resulting from
the inter-tangling of iv and catheter tubes of the witnesses and defendant as they traded places on the witness stand!

3Tulsa World, June 3, 1921.

The geriatric problems of conducting such atrial would be a nightmare. Imagine the compli cations resulting from
the inter-tangling of IV and catheter tubes of the witnesses and defendant as they traded places on the witness stand!

3Tulsa World, June 3, 1921.

“Snow, Clyde. 1993 Forensic Anthropology Report. in Anderson, Snow et al. The Anfal Campaign in Iraqi
Kurdistan: The Destruction of Koreme. (Middle East Watch/Physicians for Human Rights, New Y ork and Boston:
1993).

°At thistime, thethreeor four ambulancesin Tulsawereop er ated by mor tuariesand it ap pearsthat all of them were
fully employed in taking wounded whites to the various hospitals.

SWarner, personal communication, November 11, 2000.
"What a excruciatingly cruel fate for a physician to have his death certificate signed by alawyer!

8Avery, R. “African-American S.M. Jack son (Mor ti cian) and hiswife, Eunice Cloman Jack sonon June 26, 1971,
unpublished transcript of taped interview.

See the report of Drs. Brooks and Witten elsewhere in this publication.
11Eddy, loc. cit.
12 Brooks and Witten, loc. cit.
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The Investigation of Potential Mass Grave Locations
for the Tulsa Race Riot

by Robert L. Brooks and Alan H. Witten

Introduction

Onthenight of May 31, and June 1, 1921 the
City of Tulsa witnessed a racial conflict be-
tween whites and the minority black popula-
tion living in the Greenwood section that was
unprecedented in United States history during
the twentieth century. This violence, some-
what erroneously labeled asariot, was brought
about by the inflammatory coverage by the
Tulsa Tribune of an aleged rape attempt of a
whitegirl by ayoung black male. Tensions had
been mounting with a number of racial inci-
dents occurring prior to the night of May 31.
The economic success of the Greenwood com-
munity undoubt edly playedaroleinfuel ingre
sentment among the white population and
further escalating the violence. Through the
night of May 31, and into the morning of June
1, whites virtually destroyed the Greenwood
section. There were an undetermined number
of deaths, both black and white, with estimates
rangingfromtheof fi cial count of 36toap prox
imately 300. Over 1,000 residences were

burned and another 400 looted. The business
district of Greenwood was totally destroyedand
probably accounts for much of the $4 million in
claimsfiled against the city in 1921.' Following
this night of destruction and bloodshed, blacks
were forcibly interned under armed guard.
Eventually, over 4,000 blacks were held at the
fairgrounds and other locations. Under provi-
sions of the imposed martial law, blacks aso
wererequiredtocarry identity or “greencards.”

Thisintroduction only servesto broadly por-
tray the conditions that existed in Tulsa during
the “Race Riot.” Detailed accounting regarding
the causes of theriot, the progression of events,
casualties, and property are discussed in other
chapters of this report. This study focuses on
those who died during the violence, what hap-
pened to their remains, and our efforts to relo-
cate them almost 80 years later.

Casualties in the Tulsa Race Riot
As portrayed in the many studies concerning
the TulsaRace Riot, thereisno well- documented
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evidence for the number of people who died
during the violence. Ellsworth notes that the
Department of Health’s Bureau of Vital Statis-
tics estimate was ten whites and 26 blacks,
whereas estimates in the Red Cross records
were around 300 deaths? There were other fig-
uresin the Tulsa Tribune, in two contradictory
arti cles, of casual tiesof 68and/or 175. Whilean
accurate number of individualswho died during
the violence may not be possible some 80 years
later, some perspective can be gained by exam-
ining the black population of Tulsa and the
Greenwood section and likely mortality profiles
during a conflict of this nature.

It is estimated that approximately 11,000
blacks resided in Tulsain 1921, most living in
the area of the Greenwood section. The black
population probably represented around ten
percent of the total population of Tulsa. Using
the Bureau of Vital Statistics counts, casualties
among blacks using this statistic would be two
percent of the black population.

Given the intensity of the conflict and the
fact that many of the blacks resisting invasion
of their community by whites were armed vet-
erans of World War 1, it would not be unrea-
sonable to estimate 150 to 300 deaths. A death
toll of 150 isonly dlightly greater than one per-
cent of the black population. It is also sus-
pected that the number of whites who died
would exceed the ten individuals cited by the
Department of Health. Unlike many riots, the
racial conflictin Tulsaon the night of May 31,
initially contained well-armed groups of
blacks and whites. Later, as blacks were over-
run by the increasing number of whites invad-
ing Greenwood, they lost the numerical
capability for defending their property and
sometimes, their lives.

The historicity of the Tulsa Race Riot must
also be factored into the intensity of the vio-
lence. World War | ended three years prior to
the violence. Thus, there were many blacks as
well as white males who retained recent
knowledge of warfare and armed conflict.
Some of these veterans probably had retained
their rifles from the war. Simply stated, this
was not ariot of afew individuals with shot-

guns and pistols pitted against unarmed victims,
at least not at the beginning.

Based on these considerations, the mortality
profile would have comparable numbers of
deaths among black and white males initially.
Aswhite numbers swelled and they successfully
made their way into Greenwood, the number of
black deaths would increase and aso would re-
flect increasing numbers of women and children
in residences. This profiling provides some
credibility (although no hard evidence), for ca-
sualty counts between 175 and 300. If there
were a greater number of victims than reported,
then the City of Tulsa and the Army National
Guard would have to deal with a significant
health problem. Based on weather records for
the City of Tulsaon May 31 and Junel, thetem-
peratures hovered around 100 degrees. This
would have made it a necessity that victims be
handled expediently to prevent outbreaks of
disease. One means of dealing with the deaths of
large numbers of peopleisthrough massgraves.
The following section discussesthe plausibility
of mass graves and possible locations.

Mass Graves and the Tulsa Race Riot

There are numerous accounts as to the dispo-
sition of the riot victims. There are reports of
victims being placed on flat bedrail road carsand
moved by rail from Tulsa. Other accounts have
victims being thrown in the Arkansas River or
being incinerated. However, the most fre-
guently reported ver sionisof victimsbeing bur-
ied in mass graves. Some of these are oral
histories of riot survivors. However, in many
other casesthey are secondary histories, stories
that have been handed down through genera-
tions and across kinship lines aswell. The diffi-
culty here has been distinguishing oral histories
that carry a higher level of credibility where
there is some additional thread of evidence, in-
formation, or something that makes that partic-
ular individual’s testimony more believable,
from others of more speculative nature. In sort-
ing through the hundreds of taped oral histories,
telephone calls, and written accounts, three lo-
cations were identified that held greater credi-
bility. Thiswas based on the frequency of their
reporting, the veracity of the individuals giving
the account, and the plausibility of the location.
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Bed frames rise out of the de struc tion in the Green wood dis trict (Cour tesy Oklahoma His tor ical Society).

What ismeant by plausi bil ity iswhether thelo
cation would have functioned as amass grave
or as a means of disposing of the victims. For
example, the city incinerator was reportedly
used to cremateriot victims. However, accord-
ing to Clyde Snow, an internationally known
forensic scientist, this would not have been a
feasible strategy based on what we know of the
size of theincinerator and the likely number of
riot victims. It would have been too time con-
suming and requiring too much engineering
coordination. The three locations frequently
cited and thought to merit further study were
Newblock Park, Oaklawn Cemetery, and
Booker T. Washington Cemetery.

Newblock Park is located adjacent to the
downtown area and the Greenwood section. It
is bounded to the south by the ArkansasRiver,
to the east by a residential areaand 7th Street,
to the north by Charles Page Boulevard, and on
the west by more city property (Figure 1). At
the time of the Tulsa Race Riot, Newblock
Park was the location of the city landfill, the
city incinerator, and a substantial amount of
open land. Because of wooded tree lines,
much of the area of Newblock may have been
blocked from view. Today, Newblock Park is
dramatically altered from the way it appeared
in 1921; much of the park is greenspace. How-
ever, this greenspace hides the remains of old

water pumping system buildings, numerous
utility lines, as well as the Parkview drainage
channel leading to the Arkansas River. Thereis
also arailroad line between the park and the Ar-
kansas River as well as alevee constructed by
the Corps of Engineers in the 1940s. Thus, the
landscape is markedly different than that wit-
nessed by Tulsansin the summer of 1921. There
have been numerousunverifiedaccountsof vic
tims of the riot being buried in Newblock by
whites and/or the National Guard. Accounts of
their remains being subsequently uneartheddur-
ing the many public works projects taking place
there since the time of the riot have been re-
ported. However, no evidence exists in the City
of Tulsa sfilesdocumenting amassgrave or hu-
man remains being found in Newblock. The nu-
merous reports of bodies being placed on the
sand bar north of the 11th Street Bridge also fig-
uresin the Newblock Park account. If victimsof
the riot were to be placed in amass grave in the
Newblock Park area, this sand bar of the Arkan-
sas River adjacent to the park could have served
as astaging areafor the event.

Oaklawn Cemetery is aso located in the
downtown area athough not adjacent to the
Greenwood section. It is bounded to the west by
the Cherokee Expressway (1-444), to the south
by 11th Street, and to the east by Peoria, and to
the north by 8th Street (Figure 2). At the time of
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the riot, Oaklawn functioned as a cemetery,
onethat contained plotsfor people from many
different socio-economic lifestyles, including
white and black paupers. Like much of the
Tulsa landscape, Oaklawn changed signifi-
cantly inthefollowing 80 years. The Cherokee
Expressway did not exist at the time of the
TulsaRace Riot and undoubtedly claimed the
extreme western portion of the cemetery dur-
ing its construction. Reports of victims of the
riot being buried at Oaklawn include individ-
ual graves in addition to the mass interment.
Currently, there are markers for two blacks
who died during theriot in the black section of
Oaklawn. It is not known whether the place-
ment of the headstones for these gravesis ac-
curateor not. Aswith Newblock Park, burial of
theriot victimsis attributed to whites.

The final location that was frequently men-
tioned was Booker T. Washington Cemetery.
Unlike the other sites, Booker T. Washington
Cemetery islocated in south Tulsaat what was
in 1921 arura outlier of the city. Booker T.
Washingtonis bounded to the south by a creek
drainage and sand borrow pit, to the north by
South 91st Street, to the west by a Catholic
Cemetery, and commercial and residential
land to the east (Figure 3). At the time of the
riot in 1921, there was probably little devel op-
ment with most of the area being agricultural
land. The accounts of Booker T. Washington’'s
use as buria place for riot victims also vary
from the other two locations. Accordingtooral
histories of riot survivors, it was blacks that
brought victims to Booker T. Washington for
burial.

This occurred a few days after the riot sug-
gesting that these may have been blacks that
were wounded during the riot and died a few
days after the conflict.

Archaeological Methods and the Search
for Mass Graves

Research conducted by Scott Ellsworth and
Dick Warner revealed the three locations de-
scribed above as holding the greatest potential
for mass graves within the Tulsa city limits.
The problem then was how to examine the
three sites to determine whether they might
yield evidence of alarge communal grave. In

the case of human rights violations in foreign
countries this has been accomplished through the
use of informants and mechanical equipment.
However, in the case of the Tulsa Race Riot,
some 80 yearslater, survivors of theriot’ sknowl-
edge and memory of the 1920s landscape, com-
pared to that of today, is questionable. Without
precise knowledge of mass grave locations, the
use of mechanical equipment to search for re-
mainsis not cost-effective. Thus, archaeological
examination methods were used to seek mass
grave locations in the three Site areas.

Archaeol ogists frequently examine the land-
scape for evidence of prehistoric and early his-
toric peoples settlements. While evidence of
these settlements may be exposed on the sur-
face, they are frequently buried by many feet of
soil deposits. Thus, ar chaeol ogistshaveresorted
to using a variety of methodologica tools to
cost-effectively examine the subsurface. Some
of these methods use conventional mechanical
equipment such as backhoes and hydraulic cor-
ing rigs. These offer the advantage of providing
physical evidence of subsurface remains. Their
disadvantages are that they disturb the ground
subsurface and are heavy users of time and fi-
nancial resources. Beginning in the 1940s, ar-
chaeologists began to explore non-invasive
means of examining the soil subsurface through
application of the principles of physics.® By
sending dif fer enttypesof physi cal impul sesinto
the ground subsurface, archaeologists could
measure dif ferencesbetweennatural soil forma-
tions and culturally altered conditions. These
contrasts are referred to as anomalies. When
sampling over alarge area, the pattern in these
anomalies can often be articulated with recog-
nizable shapes (e.g., houses, fireplaces, graves,
etc.). Geophysical applications in archaeology
were more frequently practiced in Europe from
the 1940s through 1960s, However, following
the transistor revolution of the 1970s, they be-
camewidely used around theworld, particularly
in the United States.” There are three basic
methods of geophysics applied in archaeology:
magnetometer, resitivity, and radar.

The magnetometer measures changesin mag-
netic properties between cultural features and
natural properties of the soil. These changes or
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differences are usually due to the presence of
ferrous metal objects although baked clays
around burned houses or fireplaces also may
present a strong magnetic response. Magne-
tometerstoday are extremely sensitive and can
pick-up responses from small objects such as
nailsor gun parts. Resitivity involves measur-
ing the resistance to an electrical current in-
jected into the subsoil. Typically, the
differencesin valuesyielded by resitivity area
result of variation in ground moisture. These
changes in ground moisture content are fre-
guently due to collection of moisture around
cultural features such as houses, walls, and
privies. The third method applied is ground
penetrating radar. Here, radar signals are pro-
jected into the ground and are reflected back
upon encountering an object or natural feature
(much like sonar on ships). The difference in
the character of soil between a natural soil se-
guence and one where some type of cultural
feature is present (e.g., house, trash pit, or
grave) will variably reflect back to the radar
unit and present an approximation as to the
shape of the anomaly.

There are obvious benefits to use of geo-
physical methods in archaeological investiga-
tions. They permit cost-effective subsurface
examination of large areas. In many, areas, the
highly portable nature of today’ sequip ment al-
lows examination of confined or congested ar-
eas (e.g. wooded areas). Most importantly,
these geophysical applications are
non-invasive and do not physically disturb the
subsurface areas under investigation.” There
are some disadvantages as well. They can re-
spond to nearby surface features and they are
sensitive to “noise’ in the subsurface and may
present distorted signals. In such cases, infor-
mation on anomalies may be misleading or er-
roneous. The other drawback to these methods
isthat they lack a*“ground truth” element. The
actual character of the anomaly can only be
confirmed by physical examination of the
subsurface though excavation.

In the spring of 1998, it was recommended
to the Tulsa Race Riot Commission that a
search for mass graves sites be attempted
through use of geophysical investigations.

Based on the cost-effectiveness of examining
large areas and the non-invasive nature of the
methods, geophysical examination of
Newblock Park, Oaklawn Cemetery, and
Booker T. Washington Cemetery appearedtobe
the most reasonable approach to study of thisis
sue. The Commission at their February, 1999
meeting ap proved useof geophysicsto examine
for potential mass grave sites.

Archaeological Geophysics at the Three
Suspected Mass Grave Locations

Phase I

On July 20 and 21, 1998, initiad geophysica
examination of the three-suspected mass grave
locations was undertaken. David L. Maki and
Geoffrey Jones of Archaeo-Physics conducted
the geophysical investigations. Conditions at the
time of the study were extremely hot and dry.
Temperatures on the two days of fieldwork were
105 and 106 degrees. Asdiscovered later, the ex-
tensive heat and drought of the summer of 1998
had some bearing on the results of the July work.
The following details on Phase | investigations
have been excerpted from Maki and Jones?’

Methods

The search for mass graves at the three loca-
tions was carried out with a pulse EKKO 1000
ground penetrating radar unit (GPR). Ground
penetrating radar was selected for thisinitial ex-
amination because of its successful use in de-
tecting both prehistoric and historic gravesin a
variety of settings. A noted in Maki and Jones
report the GPR unit may locate anomalies
through reflections from disturbed soil associ-
ated with the grave shaft such as bones, coffins,
grave goods, and breakdown in normal soil con-
ditions. Two different frequency antenna's
were used, 450 MHz and 225 MHz. The higher
frequency antennawas used to obtain better res-
olution although thisfrequency al so experiences
alossin the depth of ground penetration. The
antenna utilized was determined by loca soil
conditions at each locality. Each of the three po-
tential mass grave locations was also sketched
andagridimposedover theareatobeex amined.

Newblock Park
Using information obtained from their oral
history research, Scott Ellsworth and Dick
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Warner assisted in the selection of the area for
examination. This area is near the eastern ex-
tent of the park immediately adjacent to the
Parkview drainagechannel. Soilsat Newblock
Park consisted of silt, sand, and clay with rela-
tively high moisture content. From a baseline
established for the study area, data were sys-
tematically collected along transects spaced
some .75 meters (ca. 30 inches) apart using the
225 MHz antenna. A total of 38 transects of
GPR data were collected. Depth of subsurface
penetrationof theradar signal waslimitedto.5
meters to 1.5 meters due to high conductivity
soils.Interpretation of the Newblock Park data
was also complicated by reflection from the
numerous building foundations and buried
utility lines, especially the sewer lines. How-
ever, oneanomalous area of interest wasiden-
tified and is present on Transects 8-11 (Figure
4). Additionally, Transect 10 exhibits sloping
reflections that might represent the walls of a
shallow excavation (or pit). Therealsowasan
inverted reflection that potentialy reflects a
buried object of some nature. Investigations
were inconclusive as to the specific nature of
the reflective pattern.

While one anomaly was revealed during the
work at Newblock Park, thisdoes not discount
the potential for other anomalies in areas not
investigated.

Oaklawn Cemetery

As was the case at Newblock Park, Scott
Ellsworth and Dick Warner assisted in identi-
fying the areas at Oaklawn to be examined.
Here, the study areawas restricted to the black
part of the cemetery. Three areas (A, B, and Q
were targeted for GPR survey. Areas A and B
were square and rectangular plots of land
within the black section of the “The Old Pot-
ters Field” of the cemetery near 11th Street.
Area C was a rectangular plot of land on the
west side of Oaklawn near est theCher okeeEx
pressway. One noteworthy feature of areas A
and B was the presence of recognized single
grave areas as marked by headstones. Soilsin
Oaklawn Cemetery are much like those at
Newblock Park, exhibiting a mixture of silt,
sand, and clay and a relatively high moisture
content. Baseline grids were established for

the three areas. A 15 meter square (ca. 45 feet)
grid waslaid-out for Area A and datawere sys-
temati cally col lected at .75 meter (ca. 30inches)
spacing using a225 MHz antenna. AreaB wasa
grid roughly 25 meters (75 feet) east-west by 7
meters (21 feet) north-south. Area C was agrid
of some 13 meters (40 feet) north-south by 8
meters (25 feet) east-west.

These two areas were inspected using a
transect interval of one meter and 225 MHz an-
tenna. Forty-three transects of ground penetrat-
ing radar datawere col lected. Aswasthe caseat
Newblock Park, depth of subsurface penetration
by the radar signa was limited due to high con-
ductivity soils. There was also a “ringing” re-
sponse that made signal interpretation difficult.
Despite these difficulties, 14 anomalies were
identified at Oaklawn with 13 of these |ocated
within Area A (Figure5). The remaining anom-
aly wasfoundin AreaB. Seven of these anoma-
lies occur with burial markers. Thus, these
distinctive reflections probably reflect marked
and unmarked single interments. No evidence
was found to suggest the presence of a mass
grave in the three areas surveyed at Oaklawn
Cemetery. However, this again does not dis-
count the potential for a mass grave site within
another, unexamined part of the cemetery.

Booker T. Washington Cemetery

With information provided by Scott
Ellsworth and Dick Warner, three areas at
Booker T. Washington Cemetery were selected
for GPR study. Soils here differed from those at
the other two locations, consisting of ahomoge-
nous sand with relatively low moisture content.
Area A was aroughly 40 meter (ca. 120 feet) by
7 meter (21 feet) rectangular segment south of
the gravel road. Area B was a 22 meter (ca. 66
feet) by 22 meter (66 feet) square north of the
gravel road and roughly 20 meters (60 feet)
north of AreaA. AreaC contained two separate
segments. Thefirst wasa40 meter (120 feet) by
8 meter (ca. 25 feet) rectangular unit oriented
north-south, whereas the second was a smaller
18 meter (55 feet) by 3 meter (9 feet) unit ex-
tending east-west approximately 5 meter (15
feet) east of the initial AreaC unit. Ground pen-
etrating radar datawere systematically collected
from thethree unitsusing 1 and 2 meter (3and 6
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feet) transect spacings. Because of the sandy
nature of the soil, both 225 MHz and 450 MHz
antennas were used. The 450 MHz antenna
was used in Areas A and B and both antenna
frequencies were used in the two Area C seg-
ments. A total of 40 transects were collected
from the three areas. One anomaly was identi-
fied in Area A and was thought to potentialy
represent an individual grave. A much larger
anomaly was recorded in the initial unit in
Area C (Figure 6). The reflection suggested a
zone of disturbed soil approximately 6.5 me-
ters(ca. 20 feet) by 3 meters (9 feet) extending
to a depth of at least a meter. This anomaly
was thought to potentially represent a pit such
asone might find with amass grave.

Investigations at Newblock Park, Oaklawn
Cemetery, and Booker T. Washington Ceme-
tery did not conclusively demonstrate the pres-
ence of massgraves. However, anomalieswere
found at Newblock Park and Booker T. Wash-
ington Cemetery that merited further investi-
gation. During the fall of 1998, it was
recommended to the Tulsa Race Riot Com-
mission that these anomalies be physicaly
studied to ascertain whether they represented
mass graves. Thisrequest was approved by the
Commission in October, 1998.

Phase 11

Following approval to study the anomalies
at Booker T. Washington and Newblock Park,
a methodology was developed to allow us to
determine the nature of the anomalies without
significantly disturbing these features. The
plan was to take core samples from each of the
anomalies using a three-inch truck-mounted
bull probe. The three-inch cores would mini-
mally disturb the anomalies while providing
necessary information on the context and con-
tent of these features. This work was per-
formed with the assistance of Dr. Lee Bement
using the Archeological Survey’s truck
mounted coring rig on December 16, 1998.

Newblock Park
Because of the potential for buried utility
linesat Newblock Park, aninitial stepinthein-
vestigation was to obtain from the City of
Tulsaamap identifying the placement of lines
in relation to the anomaly to be investigated.

Withthisinfor mation, avoidanceof ar easwitha
high density of utility cables, conduits, etc. was
accomplished. Ten core samples were drawn
from the anomaly. The cores weretypically ex-
tended to a depth of 2 meters (6 feet). Material
recovered from these samples included brick
fragments, concrete, broken glass and
whiteware, and cinders. The debrisap pearstobe
uni formly distributed through out theareaof the
anomaly with little stratigraphic integrity. The
artifactual data were suggestive of fill for what
was apparently the basement or subfloor of a
water pump station. The reflective shapex of
thisfeatureasdetected withtheground pen etrat-
ing radar probably represents the slightly
slumped subsurface walls of the razed building.
Thus, theanomaly at Newblock Park canbedis
counted as a mass grave site. This does not,
however, mean that Newblock Park can be dis-
counted as holding potential for amass grave.

Booker T. Washington Cemetery

During the study of Newblock Park, the
truck-mounted coring rig was damaged and
could not be used to investigate the anomaly in
AreaC at Booker T. Washington. Thework here
was accomplished using manually operated cor-
ing rods. These rods were capable of probing to
depths of up to 1 meter (3 feet). Between 10 and
15 probes were randomly placed through the
anomaly in Area C. No cultural materia or evi-
dence of graves was obtained during this work.
Soils from the cores were uniform, correspond-
ing to the natural soil stratigraphy, with no evi-
dence of adisturbed context. At approximately
90 cm (35 inches), a sand lens with some clay
content was encountered. This also marked
dightly moister soils. Because of the drought
conditions encountered in July, it appears that
the radar was reflecting back from this moister
clay lens, presenting a pit-like image. The po-
tential singlegravein Area A aso was investi-
gated with three core probes. These were
negative aswell. Although thereare multiple re-
ports of Race Riot victims being buried at
Booker T. Washington, these locations were
not discovered during this work.

Interpretations
The December, 1998 investigations con-
ducted at Newblock Park and Booker T. Wash-
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ington Cemetery failed to substantiate the
anomalies as the sites of mass graves or even
individual graves. Thework did reveal why the
ground penetrating radar presented these
anomalies as pitlike features. This demon-
strates the necessity of physically investigat-
ing such features before viewing them asvalid
mass grave locations. The first two phases of
work also address but small portions of the
three potential locations. That other areas
within Newblock Park, Oaklawn Cemetery,
and Booker T. Washington Cemetery hold
mass grave sites cannot be discounted.

Phase 111

In the spring of 1999, an eyewitness was
found to the digging of a mass grave at
Oaklawn Cemetery. Mr. Clyde Eddy, who was
achild of ten at the time of the riot, witnessed
white laborers at Oaklawn digging a “trench.”
There also wereanumber of black riot victims
present in several wooden crates. While Mr.
Eddy did not directly see the victims being
placed in this trench-like area, it is reasonable
to assume that its purpose was for a mass
grave. Mr. Eddy recalls this area being within
the white section of the “Old Potters Field”
and was able to point out the areain avisit to
Oaklawn during the spring, 1999. Based on
thisnew infor mation, fur ther study of Oaklawn
Cemetery was approved. Because a specific
area was identified, thus limiting the search
area, it permitted a more expansive examina-
tion using geophysical methods. Three differ-
ent geophysical applications were used at
Oaklawn: magnetometer, electromagnetic in-
duction, and ground penetrating radar. Dr.
Alan Witten of the Department of Geology and
Geophysics, University of Oklahoma con-
ducted theseinvestigations at Oaklawn on June
4, 1999 and subsequently, on November 22,
1999.

A rectangular grid of 15 meters (45 feet)
north-south by 50 meters (150 feet) east-west
was established over the area that Mr. Eddy
identi fied. Becausethelocationwasbasedona
visual history from some 80 years ago, the tar-
geted area was enlarged by about a factor of
four to ensure complete coverage. Thisrectan-
gular area lies within 4 meters (12 feet) of the

iron fence facing 11th Street. Fourteen head-
stonesor footstonesare present within the unit.

The unit, referred to as the Clyde Eddy Area,
was first examined using a Geometrics 858 ce-
sium magnetometer. North-south transects were
walked with the magnetometer at 1 meter (3
feet) intervals. Signalswere acquired at arate of
5 samples per second. Numerous magnetic
anomalies were identified. Most of these repre-
sent headstones reinforced with iron rebar or
ferrous objects associated with single marked
interments. However, there was one large mag-
netic anomaly at 24.5 west and 3.5 south that
could not be explained by the presence of the
single graves (Figure 7). This anomaly extends
over an area of some 2 meters (6 feet)
north-south by 2.6 meters (ca. 8 feet) east-west
to adepth of 1 to 1.6 meters (3-5 feet). Thiswas
astrong ferrous object signal. It could represent
a coffin with considerable quantity of ferrous
metal hardwareor afer rousmetal object withno
relation to the cemetery. Because it is doubtful
that victims of the riot would have been buried
with sizable amounts of metal or in metal cof-
fins, thisfeature probably didnotrelatetoburial
of theraceriot victims.

The Clyde Eddy Area was subsequently ex-
amined using electromagnetic induction (EMI)
with a GEM-2. The GEM-2 is a broadband in-
strument that respondsto variationsin electrical
conductivity somewhat like a resitivity device.
Transects were covered in amanner identical to
that for the magnetometer (1 meter spacing with
5samplesper second). TheGEM-2receivessig-
na variation from both high conductivity ob-
jects (metal) aswell as non-metallic conductors.
Data acquired with the GEM-2 obtained results
similar to that of the magnetometer. However,
in addition to these responses, the GEM-2 aso
identified an area in the northwestern quadrant
that exhibits aregular shape and could represent
an areaof altered soil electrical conductivity asa
result of past excavation (Figure 8). This was
roughly an areasome 5 meters (15 feet) square.

Ground penetrating radar was initially per-
formed on June 4, in conjunction with the 200
MHz antennas with a Mala Geosciences
RAMAC system. Transects of systematically
collected GPR datafor the Clyde Eddy Areare-
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vealed no reflections of possible cultural ori-
gin. Thiswork, though, was conductedwithout
the benefit of the results of the magnetometer
and EMI data, A second GPR study was con-
ducted on November 22, 1998.

GPR data acquisition in this second survey
was focused on the two anomalies revealed by
the magnetometer and ENR Two grid areas
were established and north-south transects at 1
meter (3 feet) inter valswererunfor thetwo po
tential features. Both 250 and 500 MHz anten-
naswere used in data collection. The 250 MHz
antenna provided no new data; the reflections
were basically the same as those obtained on
June 4 , 1998. The 500 MHz antenna presented
a much different picture. The radar identified
an anomaly in the same location as that re-
vealed by the GEM-2 unit. Ground penetrating
radar data depict afeature measuring approxi-
mately 5 meters (15 feet) square, a unit essen-
tially the same size as that defined by the
GEM-2. The GPR data additionally suggest
the presence of an isolated object in roughly
the center of the anomaly and that the feature
has walls that appear to be vertical with
well-defined corners (Figure 9).

Interpretations and Conclusions

The third phase of geophysical work at
Oaklawn Cemetery resulted in the identifica-
tion of two subsurface anomalies or features.
One anomaly represents a highly ferrous
subsurface deposit. This is not believed to be
associated with the Tulsa Race Riot. The other
anomaly bears all the characteristics of a dug
pit or trench with vertical walls and an unde-
fined object within the approximate center of
the feature. Because this anomaly showed up
on both EMI and GPR surveys, it is not be-
lieved to be afalse signal. The vertical walls
also support an argument for this being some
sort of dug feature. Without the presence of an
eyewitness, this would just represent another
“anomaly” to be examined. However, with
Mr. Eddy’s testimony, this trench-like feature
takes on the properties of amass grave. It can
be argued that the geophysical study, com-
bined with the account of Mr. Eddy, are com-
pelling arguments for this feature being
considered a mass grave.

Conclusions and Recommendations for
Further Study

Between July,1998, and November, 1999,
geophysical investigations were conducted at
three locations thought to potentially represent
sites of mass graves for victims of the Tulsa
Race Riot. Examination of select areas at
Newblock Park and Booker T. Washington
Cemetery through use of ground penetrating ra-
dar failed to reveal any features suggestive of a
mass grave. As has been reiterated throughout
thisreport, thefailureto identify amassgrave at
specified locations does not negate the potential
for a mass grave within either Newblock Park
or Booker T. Washington Cemetery. It only
documents that such a feature was not present
within the area examined.

Initial study of Oaklawn Cemetery with
ground penetrating radar revealed a number of
individual internments but no evidence of a
mass grave. With an eyewitnessaccount per mit-
ting anarrowing of the search window, a second
examination was conducted at Oaklawn Ceme-
tery. Through use of electromagnetic induction
and ground penetrating radar, a 5 meter (15
feet) sgquare anomaly with vertical walls was
identified within the area pointed out by the
eyewitness as where atrench was dug for bury-
ing riot victims. Whilethis evidence is compel-
ling, it cannot be viewed as factua until the
feature has been physically examined by exca
vation to determine if this represents a grave
site, and, more importantly, if agrave, whether
it contains multiple individuals. The situation at
Oaklawn Cemetery has been further compli-
cated by cemetery records indicating that an
adult white male had been buried there shortly
before the riot and two white children were bur-
ied within the boundaries of thisfeature follow-
ing the riot. This information seems
contradictory to the presence of amass grave at
thislocation.

There are anumber of recommendations that
should be considered. They are enumerated as
follows:

1. Oral history and ar chi val work should cort
tinue the search for more specific data on areas
within Newblock Park and Booker T. Washing-
ton Cemetery. Other locations that have some
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credibility should also be reexamined (if mer-
ited).

2. Continued examination of records at
Oaklawn Cemetery to resolve the somewhat
paradoxical issue of a mass grave where other
non Race Riot related people were reportedly
buried.

3. Further examination of the potential mass
grave feature at Oaklawn with geophysical ap-
plications. This would involve changing the
angleof orientation used in the transects (e.g.,

anorthwest-southeast di rection) toef fectthe re
flection of the signal. Other options would be
the use of different antenna and changing the
signal rate.

4. At the discretion of commissions govern-
ing the Race Riot investigation, the City of
Tulsa, and the Greenwood community limited
physical investigation of the feature be under-
taken to clarify whether it indeed represents a
mass grave. Thisisnot arecommendation to ex-
hume any remains but to clarify the nature of
thisanomaly.
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History Uncovered:

Skeletal Remains as a Vehicle to the Past
By Phoebe Stubblefield and Lesley M. Rankin-Hill

| am invisible, understand, smply because
people refuse to see me.
—Ralph Ellison

Overview

During the last 20 to 30 years, severd large
andnumeroussmall AfricanAmericanskel etal
popul ations have been studied by physical an-
thropol ogists. Each population has contributed
significantly to the reconstruction of African
American lives, experiences, communities,
and historical events. African Americans to a
great extent are the “invisible people” in the
historical record. This is a common problem
whenever one studies non-elite people in the
historical past, especially members of the
underclass. These are the people who facili-
tated the lives of the wealthy and the powerful
of society; they built cities, provided goods
and ser vices, and, toagreat ex tent, werethees
sential elements of a growing society. How-

ever, they remain obscure in publications of
their times and the history books. Elites leave
significant documentation of their livesin ava-
riety of forms and these materials have a high
probability of being archived. The few sources
of documentation for the poor and under classes
of asociety are likely to be lost.

Therefore, when African American skeletal
populations are discovered or recovered they
present auniqueop por tunity toaddtothehistor-
ical record and document the lives of the indi-
viduals and their community. Physical
anthropological studies provide a direct method
of assessment (providing evidence) when skele-
tal populations like the New York African
Burial Ground or the Dallas Freedmen’'s ceme-
tery become available.

African American skeletal populations have
become available under several conditions: 1)
the intentional excavation due to land redevel-
opment or threat of environmental damage; 2)
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the accidental discovery of an abandoned cem-
etery; 3) archaeol ogi cal excavationprojects for
historical/anthropological research and docu-
mentation. These skeletal populations, repre-
sent a broad spectrum of African American
lifestyles throughout the eighteenth, nine-
teenth, and twentieth centuries in the Western
Hemisphere.

Biological and behavioral factors affect the
human skeleton because the skeleton is a dy-
namic system, that undergoes growth and de-
velopment throughout the individua’s life
span. In general, these biological and cultural
factors can interfere in the normal processes of
bone growth and | oss, causingdiseaseepi sodes
and/or periods of delayed growth. These expe-
riences can be usually indelibly recorded on
the skeleton and dentition. Through observing
these “historical remnants’ of bones and teeth,
the physical anthropologist has a means of
measuring a population’s health. In addition,
the skeleton can record the actual cause(s) of
death and/or contributory factors surrounding
death.

Therefore, the potential contribution and
importance of the Tulsa Race Riot victims
skeletal remains would be significant to both
the documentation of the historical event and
to African American history. It is imperative
that these remains be located, recovered,
“given avoice” through skeletal analysis, and
then reinterred with dignity, as most of the Af-
rican American skeletal populations have been
and will be in the future.

A discussion of the basic types of analysis
and information that physical anthropologists
and forensic anthropologists can provide is
presented below.

The Role of Forensic Anthropology in the
Identification of Deceased Individuals
Forensicanthropol ogy hashad an activerole

in American science and medicolegal investi-
gationssinceat least 1878, when Har vard anat-
omist Thomas Dwight published his essay on
identifying human skeletal remains.* Existing
as a poorly recognized subfield of the scien-
tific discipline called physical anthropology,
forensic anthropology received little scholarly
or public notice until the task of identifying

andrepatriating the deceased fromWorld War |1
and the Korean War brought the field into prom-
inent activity. Technical advances at this time
and asteady increase in academic interest in the
field led to its later organization as a section of
the American Academy of Forensic Sciencesin
1972. Sincethat time, forensic anthropology has
been a recognized subfield of physical anthro-
pology and the forensic sciences, requiring the
usual academic rigors of obtaining the higher
degrees in anthropology (at least a Master’s de-
gree), aswell asthe special training and certifi-
cation of its section in the Academy.

A forensic anthropologist is a physical an-
thropologist who has been trained to recognize
and examine human skeletal remainsfor indica-
tions of sex, age, height, unique characters of
the individual, features which might indicate
how the person died, and processes that affect
the skeleton after death. Although aforensic pa-
thologist or other medical doctor may seem a
more appropriate conductor of such analyses,
their education and training focuses on changes
in soft tissue. The forensic anthropol ogist is ex-
pected to recognize bone outside of its natural
context even if it isreduced to small fragments.
Heor shecanidentify all thebonesof thehuman
skeleton, determine if a bone is human or not,
and understand that the shape of a bone is re-
lated to its function in the body and its owner’s
relationship to other animals.

Forensic anthropol ogists serve the public in
several types of investigations. As aresult they
work with the other agents concerned with the
disposition of human remains, such as medical
examiners or coroners, local and federal law en-
forcement and family organizations. The most
common circumstances are criminal investiga-
tionson alocal or federa level, such asalocal
homicide or the results of terrorist activity.
Other circumstances include mass disasters of
natural or human cause, such asthe recovery of
tornado or aviation accident victims. The U.S.
Army maintains a staff of forensic anthropolo-
gists a afacility based in Hawaii who are dedi-
cated to the continued recovery and
identification of Americans lost in the past
armed conflicts. Frequently the public learns of
the forensic anthropologists work when it in-
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volves cases of historical interest, such as the
ex humationof Presi dent Zachary Tay lorforan
investigation of the cause of his death, or the
recovery and identification of the remains of
the last Czar of Russia and his household.

The varieties of occasion that require the
skills of a forensic anthropologist are suffi-
ciently diverse that the anthropol ogist may en-
ter the project at various points and utilize a
wide assortment of skills. The list below is a
summary of exercises that could be employed
in a generic investigation. While it seems a
short list, many activities take place under
each section. While all of the items listed will
be cov ered, most of the remainder of thischap
ter will focus on item three, laboratory analy-
Sis.

1. Scene or locality search for skeletal re-
mains or burials

2. Recovery of remains by surface recovery
or excavation

3. Laboratory anaysis

4. Report production

As previously stated, forensic anthropolo-
gists are trained to discriminate between hu-
man and non-human bone. In many

e

While stories have per sisted for years that the bod ies of riot vic tims were thrown into the Arkan sas River, there s lit tle evi dence to sup port
thisoraltradition. Considerableoral andwritten evidence does exist, how ever, whichpoints to Af ri can-American riot vic tims be ing bur ied in
un marked graves at Oaklawn Cem e tery, Booker T. Wash ing ton Cem e tery, and per haps, Newblock Park (Courtesy department of Spe cial
Collections, McFarlin Li brary, University of Tulsa).

investigations, the anthropologists services be-
ginand end (if no hu man bonesarefound) at this
step when heor sheiscalled to alocality or med-
ical examiner’s office and asked to make a de-
termination. At an investigation scene the
forensic anthropologist will search for and iden-
tify human bone, look for indications of burials,
and conduct necessary excavationsin a system-
atic manner using thorough documentation. In
the search for burials, in addition to using visual
clues, the anthropologist may employ special-
ized equipment and techniques, such as ground
penetrating radar and infrared photography.
Aspart of recovery of remains, the anthropol-
ogist may map the locality in order to have are-
cord of the position of the remains relative to a
fixed landmark and any significant features of
thesite. Thisisatypical part of acriminalinves-
tigation and can be conducted in conjunction
with sceneinvestigators. Locating the site on an
existing map and noting the physical address of
the location may suffice, but in wooded areas or
along roadsides the anthropol ogist may employ
a Global Positioning System (GPS) unit to get
the geographic coordinates of thesite. If aburial
isinvolved the site must be mapped with thelo-
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cation of the burial indicated (sometimes the
burial is the site), while the buria itself re-
ceives a mapping grid. The grid provides a
means of mapping the location of each bone or
artifact found within the burial. An organized
and thorough excavation may provide the in-
formation that allows the reconstruction of the
events surrounding the burial of the deceased.
In one instance the late Dr. William Maples
successfully documented differing times of
death for multiple individuals in one grave,
based on the information gained from his thor-
ough excavation.? In addition to any physical
mapping of the burial, good note taking, pho-
tography and/or videotaping during the exca-
vation also will ensure a good record of what
was found during the excavation.

Once human remains are found, they are
collected in a manner that will protect the pri-
vacy of the family of the deceased, keep mate-
rial remainsin association, and prevent fragile
material from further breakage or deterioration
from exposureto air and sunlight. Theremains
are then maintained in a secure location while
the anthropologist conducts the analysis.
Good security ensures the remains and any
itemswith them stay to gether and are not adul-
terated or atered by outside influences.

What Skeletal Remains Tell Us

In everyday living, our skeletons are frames
from which we work our muscles, frames
which we protectfrombreakingwhenever pos-
sible and rely on as silent partners as we move
through and manipulate the world around us.
Y et human bones are not just a frame for the
flesh, they also are frames for our identities.
An anthropologist can get more information
from askeleton with all of its parts present, no
bones broken, and little or no degradation from
the environment. Even fragmentary remains
will tell much about their former owner. Fo-
rensic anthropologists investigate six proper-
ties when examining skeletal remains. age,
sex, ancestry, stature, unique characters of the
skeleton, and indications of trauma.

Age Assessment
Unless the skeleton is sparsely represented,
forensic anthropologists do not rely on only
one technique to arrive at an age assessment.

The best assessmentsare asummary conclusion
based on as many parts of the skeleton as possi-
ble. This technigue becomes especially impor-
tant when dealing with mature individuals,
because they have fewer age-specific characters
than infants, children, and young adults.

Age Determination in Infants, Children, and
Young Adults

The techniques for determining skeletal age
in children are based on standards of skeletal
and dental maturation developed for living chil-
dren. Infant remains are aged by comparing the
length of the long bones of the legs or arms to
guidelines for the maturation of living infants.
One difficulty in aging infant remains is that
their bones arevery fragile, do not preservewsell
under ground, and are rarely recovered from
burials. Older children, depending on how far
into development they are, can be aged by vari-
ous techniques, including long bone length, de-
gree of completed growth of the teeth, and
degree of completed growth of the long bones.
Age assessments using dental remains are pri-
marily based on the degree of development of
each tooth crown and root, the simultaneous
presence of adult and baby teeth, and whether a
tooth has erupted and if so how far. This tech-
nique is useful from infants with teeth still de-
veloping inside the jaws, to teenagers with
developing wisdom teeth. The dental eruption
sequence may alone be enough to obtain an age
assessment, but eruption of the wisdom teeth
cannot be considered an indication of adulthood
because their eruptiontimesarehighly vari able.

The long bones of the arms and legs each
have amain shaft that develops endsthat fuse as
the person matures. The age that the ends de-
velop and fuse to the main shaft occurs so regu-
larly that age can be assessed within a couple
yearsif enough of the skeleton is present. Limb
bones stop being useful for age assessment in
early adult hood. Thebonesinthearm, beingthe
last to fully develop, do so at about 18 yearsin
women and 19 yearsin men. Asageneral rule
when confronted with a skeleton that |ooks ma-
tureon first glance, the collarbone is examined
first. The collarbone is the latest fusing long
bone, becoming complete by about 25 yearsin
males and females. If the collarbone is com-
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pletely united, the anthropologist uses tech-
niques for aging adult remains.

Age Estimation in Adults

Assessing age in the adult skeleton presents
aspecial challenge because any parts that were
going to fuse as a part of maturation have done
s0. Most standardized techniques for age as-
sessment in adults focus on age related changes
to mature bone in portions of the post-cranial
skeleton. In 1920 and again in 1989, anthropol-
ogists published standards for age changes at
the fibrous joint between the pubic bones, tile
pubic symphysis.®> Similarly, in 1986, anthro-
pol ogistsbeganpublishingstandardsfortheage
changesto the sternal end of the fourth rib.*

Quite frequently a skeleton is too fragmen-
tary or too poorly preserved to retain the pubic
bones or the fourth rib. In such a case more
marginal age estimation techniques may be
used such as closure of the cranial sutures.
Contrary to popular belief, cranial suture clo-
sure, as seen by the disappearance of the lines
separating the bones of the cranium, is one of
the most unreliable techniques for estimating
age. Cranial sutures do not close in a system-
atic fashion in any human population. Asare-
sult, an age estimate of 30 to 50 years is not
uncommon from this technique, which only
signifies that the remains are adult, as was a -
ready known. Crania suturesareused only asa
last resort, such as when only a cranium is
found.

In addi tiontousingthesuitablestandardized
techniquesfor the skel etal remains, theanthro
pologist also examines al the collected re-
mains for general indicators of age. He or she
examines the teeth, to see how worn or de-
cayed they arein order to assess how long they
were in use. Tooth wear is a population de-
pendent character because some populations
usetheir teeth astools, get more dental care, or
eat more grit than others. The joint surfaces
andvertebraealsoareex aminedfor signsof ar-
thritic development. In general, an older body
will show moresigns of lost cartilage and have
more extensive bony growth on the margins of
the joint. Vertebrae in particular begin devel-
oping bony growths called osteophytes as a
person enters his or her 30s. The osteophytes

increase in size and number as a person grows
older. Another indicator of greater maturity is
the presence of ossified soft tissue, such asthe
thyroid and cricoid cartilage of the throat, the
cartilage joining the ribs to the sternum, and
sclerotic portions of the descending aorta. As
stated earlier, every suitable method, beginning
with the most reliable, should be used for an age
assessment, but forensic anthropologists are es-
pecially careful while using qualitative clues.
Anoverused and overworked body will have ar-
thritic development and ossified soft tissue at a
younger age than otherwise expected.

Sex Assessment

It is extremely difficult to estimate sex for
pre-pubertal remains because the characters of
the skeleton that indicate sex do not appear until
after puberty. A few technigues have been pro-
posed for estimating sex in infants, but the reli-
ability of these techniquesis questionable.Hunt
and Gleiser (1955) developed a technique for
children age two to eight, based on a combina-
tion of dental and skeletal development of the
hand and wrist. This technique works better
than 50 percent of the time, but does require a
fairly intact skeleton.

For adult remains, estimating sex can be one
of the simpler partsof a forensic analysisif cer-
tain parts of the skeleton are present. Given a
choice, a forensic anthropologist would aways
prefer to have an intact pelvis, with the second
choice being an intact skull. For either part two
approaches are used to estimate sex, a morpho-
logical assessment and/or a metric assessment.
The morphology or shape of the pelvis differs
between males and females. Thisdifference can
be recorded by noting the presence of features
associated with a particular sex, or by measur-
ing the pelvisand using statistical analysisto es-
timate sex.

Forensic anthropologists understand that the
sex differencesin the human pelvis are related
to differencesin function and are trained to rec-
ognize the physical differences associated with
function. The female pelvis differs from the
male in being designed to pass a large brained
infant through a narrow space. The pelvis is
made of three bones, the two innominates plus
the sacrum. The innominates, themselves are
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composed of three bonesthat fuse at about age
13in girlsand 15 in boys, the pubis, ischium,
and ilium. Asameans of orientation, consider
that when you sit down on a firm surface the
bone that makes contact is the ischium, the
bony hip you rest your hand onistheilium, and
the part that may unfortunately connect with
the bar on amensbikeisthe pubis. Thefemale
pelvis differs visibly from the male by having,
among other features, a rectangular shape to
the body of the pubis, awide sciatic notch be-
tween ilium and ischium, and a pronounced
angle beneath the body of the pubis.

In contrast to the pelvis, sex differences in
the skull make males exceptional. Larger size
plays a part here rather than a different shape,
because while skulls serve the same function
no matter the sex, men tend to be larger and or
more robust than are women. Greater
robusticity meansthat in the male skull projec-
tions protrude farther, and ridges are rougher
and sharper. In the skull, the male brow tends
to project farther thanin females, and the mass
of bone behind the ear, the mastoid process,
tends to be larger. Size and ruggedness aso
will distinguishmalelongbonesandvertebrae.

Forensic anthropologists do not rely solely
on morphology to estimate sex because there
are severa circumstances when this technique
isinsufficient. Skeletal remains are frequently
fragmentary. Also, differences in size and
shape occur as central tendencies surrounded
by variation. Therefore, we can say that the fe-
male pelvis has certain features, but we do not
expect every female pelvis to have all those
featuresinthesamedegree. Inaddi tion, human
populations dif fer inthedegreetowhichmales
are more robust than females. Consider the
contrast of the American quarterback with his
cheerleader girlfriend juxtaposed to the East-
ern European bride. The alternative to, or sup-
port for a morphological assessment is to
compare measurements of the pelvis, skull, or
other parts of the skeleton to statistical samples
generatedforparticular populations. Theequa
tions of Giles and Elliot are frequently used to
determine sex for skulls from Americans of
European and African descent.®> Statistical
procedures are very important in the next two

points of a forensic identification, ancestry and
Stature.

Determining Ancestry

The skull isthe best source of information for
estimating ancestry from the human skeleton.
Just as with the pelvis in sex assessment, mor-
phological and metric analysis of the skull can
show the geographic population to which an in-
dividual belonged. A geographic population is
the large collection of people such as Europe-
ans, Africans, and Asiansthat isusually called a
“race.” Here the term race is avoided because
the skull only indicates genetic ancestry, not the
social connotationsof race. Social issuesof race
such as“passing,” or “one-drop rule,” arerarely
represented by the shape of the skull. In the
same way that someone resembles his or her
other relatives, that resemblance carries down
to the bone and can be approximated with mea-
surements and careful observation. When as-
sessing ancestry we frequently state it in terms
of descent. Typically inthe United States we en-
counter individualsof European, African, Asian
(which includes Native Americans), or mixed
descent. This does not mean that the individual
in question recently immigrated to the United
States; rather, it means that the person’s ances-
try isderived from that population.

Forensic anthropologists determine ancestry
by examining the morphology of the skull and
by taking measurements at several points on the
skull. In a morphological exam the anthropolo-
gist looks for particular sets of anatomical fea-
tures that are found with greater frequency in
certain populations. Closely related people will
share more cranial featureswith each other than
with their more distant relationsonthenext con
tinent. On the other hand, since large popula
tions are not made up of clones, the
anthropologist cannot expect everyonein a par-
ticular population to have the same features in
the same degree or combinations. Also, since all
humans are related, the anthropologist cannot
expect any cranial feature to necessarily be ex-
clusive to aparticular population. Therefore, an
assessment of ancestry is based on a suite of
characters that tend to appear or are found in
similar degreein particular populations. For ex-
ample, the anthropol ogist might look for a short,
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high cranium combined with a narrow nasal
aperture as part of an indication of European
ancestry, but he or she would not require a
short, high cranium because some Europeans
have long craniums. Nor would we look only
for the ratio of skull length to height because
different populations can have the same ratio.
See the table below for a list of some of the
characters used for determining ancestry.

In addition to the morphological assess-
ment, the forensic anthropologist can conduct
ametricanal y sisof theskull. A metricanal y sis
requires that a skull be measured across sev-
eral points, and those measurements compared
to astatistical sample of individuals of known
ancestry. In the United States many forensic
anthropologists rely on another set of equa-
tions designed by Giles and Elliot that distin-
guish between people of European, African,
and Native American descent.® Anthropolo-
gists at the University of Tennessee also have
produced a statistical package called
FORDISC that serves a combined function of
ancestry and stature estimation. Metric analy-
sisis often the preferred route to ancestry de-
termination because it does not require that the
eye be trained to recognize morphological
traits, and becauseit is more effective on frag-
mentary skulls.

Stature Estimation

Estimation of the standing height of the liv-
ing individual is an exclusively metric proce-
dure. Anthropologists have developed
predictive equationsthat esti matestat urebased
on the length of various bones of the body.
These equations exist for several populations,
including Native Americans and Americans of
African and European descent. Trotter and
Gleser designed the most commonly used
equations in response to the repatriation effort
of WWII and K orean War dead.’Normally, leg
length is the greatest contributor to standing
height, so most of the predictive equations are
based on length of thelong bones of theleg, the
femur, tibia, and fibula. Other anthropol ogists
have developed equations for the complete
skeleton, vertebrae, long bones of thearm, and
bones of the hands and feet. In cases where
preservation ispoor and bones are fragmentary

and incompl ete, Steele developed equations for
predicting the complete length of the long
bone.? One additional concern regarding stature
estimation is that as people enter their 40s they
begin losing height, so stature estimates for
older individuals must be corrected. The rate of
correction is minus 0.06 centimeters for every
decade past 30.

Trauma Analysis

The assessment of traumain skeletonized re-
mains requires the ability to distinguish be-
tween perimortem trauma and postmortem
damage. Perimortem trauma is damage caused
to bone in the interval surrounding the time of
death. Theinterval isdefined by thetime period
during which the bone is “green” or behaves
withtheplasticity of itsliving state. Any trauma
that occurs while the bone is fresh and green is
perimortem trauma including damage that oc-
curs shortly after death. Perimortem traumathat
would have either contributed to or is directly
associated with the cause of death is classified
as trauma associated with the cause of death.
For example, perimortemribfracturescanoccur
in a victim without those fractures being the
cause of death, but the accompanying cranial
gunshot wound would be trauma associated
with the cause of death.

Forensic anthropol ogists are trained to recog-
nize the types of trauma that can be found on
bone including blunt force, sharp force, gunshot
wounds, and burning. By visua inspection,
touch, use of alight microscope, and radiogra-
phy, the anthropol ogistcan identify these forms
on trauma from the characteristic marks they
leave on bone. Blunt force traumais associated
with fractured or crushed bone, such as in a
greenstick fracture or a depressed cranial frac-
ture. Blunt force injuries to green bone may
leave clear identifying marks of the instrument
used to inflict the trauma, such as grooves or di-
rect impressions of the weapon. Sharp force
trauma includes incised cuts, stab wounds, and
chopping injuries. Thistypeof traumaleavesan
assortment of marks, such asnicks, punctures or
serrated grooves, which are observable by
touch, plain vision, and under the microscope.
The anthropologist may make a silicone cast of
cutmarks for later comparison to the cutting
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edge of a suspect weapon. Gunshot wounds,
especially to thin or tabular bones, have char-
acteristic beveled shapes. Bullets frequently
leave traces of lead on the bone, which can be
seen on an x-ray. Typical fracture patterns are
found on bone burned during the perimortem
interval. Fire damage may occur in conjunc-
tion with other forms of trauma, so the anthro-
pologist is prepared to find evidence that
might be obscured by the charring and break-
age caused by burning.

Postmortem damage occurs after death, af -
ter the bone has become brittle from decompo-
sition and drying. Some damage may occur
during recovery such as marks acquired during
excavation from shovels, trowels or probes,
damage from careless handling such as break-
age, and marks from scal pels or scissors. Other
forms of damage are from natura agents such
as dog or other carnivore chewing, rodent
gnaw marks, root etching, and flaking and
cracking caused by exposure to sunlight. At-
tempts to dispose of remains also will cause
postmortem damage, such as cutmarks, chemi-
cal burns, and burning from fire. Forensic an-
thropologists are careful to minimize the
occurrence of postmortem damage during and
after recov ery of remains. Postmortemdamage
isdistinguishable from perimortem trauma by
the lack of indicators of plastic behavior in the
bone, a color difference between the outside
bone and the newly exposed bone, and the pat-
tern (e.g., only at joints) or type (e.g., carni-
vore chewing) of the damage.

Idiosyncratic Characters

Individual characters can be the clearest in-
dicatorsof identity in skeletal remains. The fo-
rensic anthropologist carefully inspects the
skeletal remainsin order to document any fea-
tures that might have been noted by family
members or placed in a medical or dental re-
cord. The anthropologist documents healed
fractures, atypical anatomy, signs of diseases
that affect bones such as anemia, syphilis, can-
cer, or medical appliances such as prostheses,
wires and sutures, and dental restorations and
plates.

The anthropol ogist can make positive iden-
tifications by comparing antemortem radio-

graphs to postmortem radiographs of the same
area, and matching the anatomy and/or medical
appliances found in each. Another technique,
called video superimposition, alowsthe anthro-
pologist to match photographs taken in life to
the features of the skull. In cases when the re-
mains represent a complete unknown, the an-
thropologist may build or commission a facial
reconstruction of the deceased based on the as-
sessment of sex, ancestry, age, and published
data on skin thickness. The reconstruction is el -
ther three-dimensional, using clay to represent
the skin, or conceived of intwo dimensionshby a
sketch artist.

The recent advances in genetic analysis has
made it possible to describe the most unique
characters of the individual, hisor her DNA se-
guence. In non-living tissue, bone is the best
preserver of DNA. Therefore, it is possible to
take asmall samplefromthepreservedboneof a
deceased person and match the DNA to a sam-
ple collected while the individual was living, or
to match the sample to the nearest relatives.
Only a small bone sample is needed, because a
technique called PCR (polymerase chain reac-
tion) allows the volume of DNA to be amplified
until there is an abundant amount to sequence.

The Report

After al the analyses and descriptions are
complete, the forensic anthropol ogist generates
areport of his or her findings. This report will
document in a succinct and clear form all the
findings and conclusions regarding sex, ances-
try, stature,traumaanal y sis,andindividual izing
characteristics,made by the anthropol ogist. Any
supporting documents such as radiographs, pho-
tographs, dlides, or videotapes will accompany
the report. Depending on the nature of the in-
vestigation this report will be submitted to a
medi cal examiner,committee, orfamilyorgani-
zation, or, inthe case of aninterdisciplinary pro-
ject, be combined with the reports of the other
project members.

Conclusion
It is clear from the above description that
“dead men do tell tales.” Physical anthropolo-
gistsand forensic anthropol ogiststell the stories
of the individual skeletons and skeletal popula
tions they study. This work identifies individu-
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as, and provides evidence for reconstructing  died in Greenwood in 1921 are recovered they
communities and historical events. The focus  will betreated with respect and their storieswill
of locating theremains of TulsaRaceRiotvic-  be documented. Their voices, therefore, will be
timsisnot to provethat it happened ortocount  added to the historical record, finaly giving
the dead. When the individuals who lived and  them and their families closure with dignity.
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Table 1. Short list of cranial characters and their expression in specific populations

African Asian European
Skull length Long- Long - Long or
short

Skull Narrow Broad Narrow
breadth

Nasal Wide Narrow Narrow
aperture

Incisor shape Spatular Shoveled Spatular
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Riot Property Loss

By Larry O’Dell

An account of the property damage in North
Tulsa during the 1921 Tulsa Race Riot can
impart solid information. But researching the
history of an African American controlled
community seventy-nine years later, however,
entails many problems associated with the ra-
cial cli mateof theera. Through out theresearch
process not just the destruction of property, but
alsothelossof life had to be considered. When
tallying up the monetary value of acommunity
the results are insignificant when compared to
theloss of afather, mother, brother, sister, son,
or daughter. Yet, the physical character of the
community and the property lost are an impor-
tant aspect to any undertaking to understand
this awful occurrencein Oklahoma history.

Most of Tulsa's African American popula-
tion residedinthenortheast sectionof thecity.
Thefirst step in the research involved building
a database of North Tulsa for the years of

1920-1923. This would not only show the resi-
dence of many African Americans affected by
theriot, but also would give a clue to the wealth
and prosperity of black Tulsa by revealing the
addresses of businesses, professionals, and civic
locations. Also, listing the name and location of
aresident in 1920, and then tracking that name
through 1923, should shed insight on whether
there was a huge population lossin North Tulsa
and help to pinpoint citizens that may not have
survived theriot.

The database utilized city directories, 1920
census information, and the appendix to Mary
E. Jones Parrish’s account, Events of the Tulsa
Disaster, which has a partial list of losses and
their addresses. With its document’s comple-
tion, this database became a tool itself when
compared to maps, interviews, Sanborn Insur-
ance maps (created for insurance purposes and
including descriptions of building and the mate-
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(Courtesy Greenwood Cultural Center).

rials they are made of), plat maps, warranty
deed records, building permits, Red Cross re-
ports, and so on. The database highlights prob-
lems in the records for North Tulsa. Many of
the African Americans in the census records
do not show up in the 71920 city directory and
vice versa. Poor research or lack of interest by
the city directory would probably account for
the discrepancies. The census takers would
likely mirror this attitude.

The United States census of 1920 reported
10,903 African Americans living in Tulsa
County. The census also claimed that 8,878
blacks lived in the city of Tulsa, or that 10.8
percent of Tulsans were African Americans.
The influx of African Americans continued,
totaling almost 11,000 by 1921 and, according
to the database founded on city directory esti-
mates, included 191 businesses. There were
fifteen doctors, one chiropractor, and two den-
tists practicing in the district as well as three
lawyers. This section of town contained a li-
brary, two schools, a hospital, and an office of
the Tulsapublic health services. Two newspa-
pers, the Tulsa Star and the Oklahoma Sun,
were publishedin North Tulsa. African Amer-
ican fraternal lodges and churches dotted the
neighborhoods and business districts in the
northeastern quadrant of the city.

THE TULSA RIOT HORROR:  This View Covers the Devastated Area From Archer North, to Stand

The database listed 159 businesses in 1920;
after the riot in the 1922 city directories, 120
businesses are listed. The Red Cross reported
that 1,256 houses burned, that 215 houses were
looted and not burned, and the total number of
building not burned but looted and robbed was
314. According to 1920 census entries, a num-
ber of the residences in North Tulsa contained
more than just one family, Greenwood Avenue
held the heart of the district, with two theaters
and many of the prominent businesses located
there. Distinguished business owners and |lead-
ers of the community resided on Detroit Ave-
nue, the western boundary to the African
American section; across the street were white
houses and businesses. Another economically
prosperous section of the African American dis
trict was the Lacy sector in the eastern part of
the community

Three sources corroborate an approximate
valuefor the destroyed property: the TulsaReal
Estate Exchange Commission; the claims filed
against the city in the City Commission meet-
ings, and the actual damage claimed in court
cases against insurance companies and the city
of Tulsa. The TulsaReal Estate Exchange Com-
mission reported 1.5 million dollars worth of
property damage, with one-third of it being in
the business district. This research by the com-
mission was done shortly after the riot and may
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be suspect because of their temporary involve-
ment in the plan to relocate the black

population and devel opthe Greenwood areafor a
train station.® The Real Estate Commission esti-
mated persona property loss at $750,000. Be-
tween June 14, 1921, and June 6, 1922, Tulsa
resdentsfiled riot-related claimsagainst the city
for over $1.8 million dollars. The city commis-
sion disallowed most of the claims. One excep-
tion occurred when a white resident obtained
compensation for guns taken from his shop.*

The sum of the actual damage filed in the 193
retrieved court cases equaled $1,470,711.56,

and Pipe Hill, East From Hartford and West to Boston.—Black Dispﬂtih .Fublishing Co., Oklahoma City

whichisincloserelationtothe$1.5andthe$1.8
million of the other estimates.

Of course, not all residents took insurance
companies or the city to court, but most of the
prominent businessmen and women, as well as
the influential residents did have detailed peti-
tions drawn out against both entities. In 1937,
Judge Bradford J. Williams summarily dis-
missed most of the court cases. North Tulsans
claimed avariety of possessionsin these cases.
For example, Dr.R.W. Mot ley claimednot only
his surgical instruments and medicines, but
Chippendale book cases, a set of the Harvard

Destruction in the black
business district incurred
most of the financial loss of
the riot (Courtesy of West-
ern History Collections,
University of Oklahoma Li-
braries).
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Ruins of a building com pleted months prior to the riot (Cour tesy Oklahoma His tori cal So ci ety).

Classics, a mahogany library table, asilk mo-
hair library outfit, a Steinway piano, and
Rodgers silverware, among other items. Other
claims were for livestock, rental property, and
other essential materials. A study of these
claims reveals the diverse wealth and poverty
in the community, one that could match or ex-
ceed that of many other many communities in
1921 Oklahoma.

According to Mary Parrish’s book, court
case claims, warranty deed records, and court
clerk records, many African Americans in
Tulsa owned rental property. Black Tulsans
who suffered significant financial loss attrib-
uted to rental properties included R.T.
Bridgewater, J.H. Goodwin, Sadie Partee,
Loula Williams and G.W. Hutchins. Many
other African Americans possessed rental
property, including Carrie Kinlaw, Virgil
Rowe, John Swinger, Emma Works, S.M.
Jackson, J.B. Stradford, Osborne Monroe,
C.W. Henry, Mrs. Warrenand A.L. Stovall.

Also, many white Tulsans conducted real
estate busi nessintheAfri canAmericandistrict
prior to the riot. One of the better known white
businessmen, Cyrus S. Avery, sold multiple

lots in the Greenwood addition to black resi-
dents in the years before the riot. A powerful
member of the chamber of commerce, Avery
served as a member of the Tulsa Water Board
for the Spavinaw water project, and he also di-
rected the Executive Welfare Committee that
collected $26,000 for the Red Cross after the
riot.®> E.W. Sinclair also conducted real busi-
ness in North Tulsa. Sinclair was the president
of Exchange National Bank and vice president
of Sinclair Pipeline. Other significant white
property owners in the district were: S.R.
Lewis, vice-chairman of the taxpayer’ s commit-
tee; W.H. Botkin, real estate financier; Tate
Brady, former Democratic national committee-
man and Oklahoma commander of the Sons of
Confederate Veterans; T.E. Smiley, realtor; R.J.
Dixon, realtor; George Stephens, realtor; H.E.
Bagby, department manager of Exchange Na-
tional Bank; Claude Sample, realtor; H.C.
Stahl, information not found, but probably re-
lated to W.E. Stahl involved ininsurance, loans
and bonds; Earl Sneed, lawyer; Win Redfearn,
proprietor of the Dixie Theater; The Brockman
brothers, realtors; and J.A. Oliphant, lawyer.’

146



-h_:,'“"' - B
e
FWHE PSS

Portion of the Sanborn map dated 1920 with occupants drawn from the 1921 City Direc tory overlapped.

It isproblematic to determine property own-
er shipin 1921 North Tulsafor a vari ety of rea
sons. The city renamed some of the streetsin
the areaaftertheriot, creatingcompli cationsin
the transference of an address from pre-riot to
modern.’® Also, urban renewal and the accu-
mulation of North Greenwood property for the
highway and Rogers State University (Now
OSU-Tulsa), create a gap in the records of
property and cause old addresses, lega and
otherwise, do not display on the county clerk
computer system. City directorieslistresi dents
by their city ad dress, and even com par ingthese
to city plats can cause confusion on the lega
address; but, luckily, all warranty deeds and
other tracking devices are made with the legal
address, making this atime-consuming but not
an insurmountable task. A great problem
arises when the legal address is all that is
known; matching it to astreet addresstendsto
be complex unlessthe owner and not the renter
is listed in the city directory. Oftentimes two

buildings would be on one lot making the as-
signment of street addresses amost entirely
guesswork. Another problem consists of prop-
erty transfer that is conducted by means other
than money convoluting the value of the prop-
erty. In many instances atransfer of deed would
be listed as costing the buyer only one dollar.
When looking for acertain individual or fam-
ily, the best place to begin is the compiled data-
base of city directories. After finding the
address, if it can be located on the existing
Sanborn maps, the size and make up of the struc-
ture and its location on the property can be de-
termined. The Sanborn map will also pinpoint
the legal address. If it is located outside the
Sanborn map areait needsto be examinedonthe
plat maps. Using the legal address, ownership
can be determined by going to the Tulsa County
Clerk’s office. In theory, finding the last trans-
action in the tract indexes before 1921 should
indi catetheowner at thetimeof theriot. Besides
problems listed in the paragraph above, how -
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Black Tulsans sal vaged what they could from their burned homes and busi nesses and be gan to re build on their own, us ing what ever ma te ri-
als they could find. It took some congregations years to rebuild their burned churches (Courtesy Oklahoma HistoricalSociety).

ever, many times the lot will be split and sold
totwoparties,makingitdif fi culttodecidewho
owned what part of the lot.

Examining the properties of Percy and
Mabdl Little providesanexampleof howusing
the database, warranty deed records, plats, and
county court house records can provide needed
data. The Littlesresided at 617 East Independ-
ence, whichisnot on a portion of the Sanborn
Insurance maps. Percy had interest in the Bell
and Little Restaurant on land owned by J.
Hodnett or W. Appleby at 525 Cameron. The
Littles had just bought some land off Green-
wood Avenue at the legal address lots 13-14,
block 8 Greenwood Addition, for $600 from
C.S. Avery on April 12, 1921. The bank re-
leased them from their mortgage on June 8,
1923. The 1923 directory lists P.L. Little at
1301 Greenwood. This residence should be on
the land they purchased. This property before

theriot could have been used as a beauty parlor;
after theriot Mrs. Little put an ad for her beauty
parlor in Mary Parrish’s book, Events of the
Tulsa Disaster, that claimed the address as 1301
Greenwood.™

Another example is Osborne Monroe. Ac-
cording to the 1921 Tulsa City Directory, Mon-
roe and his wife, Olive, lived at 410 Easton, lot
3, block 17 North Tulsa, and worked as a porter
at 117 South Main Avenue. Mary Parrish listed
theloss of their residence as $1,000. According
to the Sanborn Insurance maps their house be-
foretheriot wasa one-story frame house with a
porch. In August 1920, Monroe received a
building permit to build a $2,000 one-story
frame structure on lot 1 block 15 North Tulsa
Addition. In a petition filed against the Me-
chanics and Traders Insurance Company of
New Orleans, Osborne Monroe claimed fire de-
stroyed his property, consisting of two one-story
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shingle-roof, frame building with stone piers
foundation and brick chimneys and flues, on
June 1, 1921. Six months after the riot, Mr.
Monroe requested building permits on Decem-
ber 6, 1921, to build aframe building on lot 1,
block 15 North Side Addition and on Decem-
ber 12, 1921 to build three frame buildings on
lot 1, block 15 North Tulsa Addition at $400
each. Thiswould beon the 500 block of Exeter
or North Elgin Place.*?

By early July 1921, the city of Tulsa began
granting building permitsto African American
residents of North Tulsa. O.W. Gurley re-
ceived apermit on July 2 for aone-story brick
building that wasto cost him $6,000. Theearli-
est torebuild were gener alythe”Deep Green
wood” business owners. For example, Gurley,
Goodwin, Woods, Young, Bridgewater, and
Williams were among the first to gain a build-
ing permit.*® This happened amidst the efforts
of white Tulsa to industrialize this sector with
various codes to prevent black rebuilding.**
The city manager or the fire marshal likely is-
sued more permitsto individual familiesasthe
winter of 1921 approached.*

Although much of the research on owner-
ship of all property in North Tulsa may not be
definitive, thechar acter of theGreenwoodarea
can be deciphered before and after the riot. A
thriving area of the town of Tulsa where the
majority of the business district was owned
and managed by the African American resi-
dents, Greenwood also contained adi verseres
idential area. But, there were extensive

business dealings, especially in rea estate, by
whites and oftentimes, by major leaders of the
white busi nessor civiccommunity conductedin
North Tulsa. The majority of the weath oc-
curred in the “Deep Greenwood” business sec-
tion and in the residential areas around Detroit
Avenue and what was known asthe Lacy Sector
northeast of the bus nessdistrict. Usingthethree
different sources explained above (Records of
The Tulsa Real Estate Exchange Commission,
claims addressed at the Tulsa City Commission
meetings, and the various court cases) each with
its own particular faults, an estimate of just un-
der $2 million of property damage in 1921 dol-
lars can be made. When using a consumer price
index inflation calculator, atool provided by the
website at NASA, a 1921 amount of $1.8 mil-
lion would equal an amount of $16,752,600 in
1999.*°

The tragedy and triumph of North Tulsatran-
scends numbers and amounts and who owned
what portion of what lot. The African American
community not only thrived in an era of harsh
“Jim Crow” and oppression, but when the big-
otry of the maority destroyed their healthy
community, the residents worked together and
rebuilt. Not only did they rebuild, they again
successfully ran their businesses, schooled their
children, and worshiped at their magnificent
churches in the shadow of a growing Ku Klux
Klan in Oklahoma and continuing legal racial
separatism for morethan forty years. Infact, one
of the largest Ku Klux Klan buildings, not only
in the state, but the country stood within a short
walking distance of their community.*’
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Tulsa Klan's New $200,000 Klavern Will
Accommodate 3,000 Klansmen

ERE is the new $zo0,co0 Klavern 3,000 Klansmen and 15 located near the

of Tulsa Klan Number 2, Realm center of the Tulsa business distriet.
of Oklahama. The structure is of brick and steel
The building was hnanced by mem=  finished in stucco
bers of Tulsa Klan whoe purchased (Mfices of the Tulsa Klan have been
stock in the building association at §24  moved to the new build Hiir which was
g share. The new Klavern will seat ready for occupancy i Aay

(Courtesy Oklahoma HistoricalSociety).
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The William’s Dreamland Theater
before the riot, destruction after the
riot, rebuilding process, and opened
after the riot (All Photos Courtesy
Greenwood Cultural Center).

151






/ -F"

f N
" /

OnJune 7, 1921, the Tulsa City Com mis sion passed a fire or di nance whose real pur pose was
to prevent black Tulsans from rebuilding the Greenwood commercial district whre it had
previouslystood. African American at tor ney B. C. Franklin, shown at right, helpedthe legal
effortthatwassuccess fulinoverturningtheordinance (Courtesy Tulsa His torical So ciety).

Assessing State and City Culpability:
The Riot and the Law

By Alfred L. Brophy

TheTulsariot represented the breakdown of
the rule of law.! As Bishop Mouzon told the
congregation of the city’s Boston Avenue
Methodist Church just after the riot, “ Civiliza-
tion broke down in Tulsa.” | do not attempt to
place the blame, the mob spirit broke and hell
was let loose. Then things happened that were
on afooting with what the Germans did in Bel-
gium, what the Turks did in Armenia, what the
Bolshevistsdidin Russia? That breakdown of
law is central to understanding theriot, the re-
sponse afterwards, and the decision over what,
if anything, should be done now.

This essay assesses the culpability of the
city and the state of Oklahoma during theriot,
guestionsthat are of continuing importance to-
day. Thisessay beginsby reviewing the chro-
nology of the riot, paying particular attention
to the actions of governmental officials. It

draws largely upon testimony in the Oklahoma
Supreme Court’s 1926 opinion in Redfearn v.
American Central Insurance Company 10 por-
tray the events of the riot. Then it explores the
attempts of Greenwood residents and other
Tulsans who owned property in Greenwood to
obtain relief from insurance companies and the
city after theriot.

Investigating Tulsa’s Culpability in the Riot

This section summarizes the evidence of the
city’s culpability in the riot. It emphasizes that
Tulsafailed to take action to protect against the
riot. More important, city officials deputized
men right after the riot broke out. Some of those
deputies — probably in conjunction with some
uniformed police — officers were responsible
for some of the burning of Greenwood. After
theriot, thecity took fur ther actiontopreventre
building by passing a zoning ordinance that re-
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Greenwood Business Dis trict dev as tated by the race riot (West ern his tory Col lec tion, University of Oklahoma Libraries).

quired the use of fireproof material in
rebuilding.

“The Riot”

Questions of Interpretation and Sources

In reconstructing the historical record of the
1921 Tulsa Race Riot, there are difficulties in
interpretation. Questions ranging from general
issues such as the motive of Tulsa rioters and
was ariot inevitable given the context of vio-
lence and racia tension in 1920s Tulsato spe-
cific issues such as whether Dick Rowland
would have been lynched had some black
Tulsans not appeared at the courthouse, the na
ture of instructionsthe police gaveto their dep-
uties, and how many people died can be
answered with varying degrees of certainty.?
The record establishes with about as much cer-
tainty as on any issue related to the riot that
“gpecial” deputy police officers were deeply
involved in the burning of Greenwood. Con-
temporaneous reports establish the shameful
record of the hastily deputized police.

Looking for Evidence: The Official
Investigations

Important details of the riot are recorded in
several contemporary accounts. The 1926 *
opinion of the Oklahoma Supreme Court in
Redfearn v. American Central Insurance Com-
pany, the least biased of the contemporaneous
“official” reports of the riot, demonstrates the
close connection between Tulsa' s special police
and the riot.” It culminated a two year suit by
William Redfearn, awhite man who owned two
buildingsin Greenwood: the Dixie Theatre and
the Red Wing Hotel. Redfearn lost both build-
ings, both were insured for a total of $19,000.
The American Central Insurance Company re-
fused payment on either building, citing a riot
exclusion clause in the policies. Redfearn sued
on the policy and the case was tried in April,
1924. The insurance company claimed that the
property was destroyed by riot and the judge di-
rected a verdict for the defendant at the conclu-
sion of thetrial. During thetrial and subsequent
appeal, Redfearn and the insurance company
advanced competing stories about theriot. Their
briefs present one of the most complete stories
of theriot now available.® They also capture the
uncertainty of facts and outcome that is central
to a true understanding of history. For we have
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Curios ity reigned as whites toured the de stroyed Green wood dis trict af ter the riot (Cour tesy West ern His-
tory Collection, University Of Oklahoma Li braries).

the written, neatly stylized version of “ancient
myth” and the other unwritten, chaotic, full of
contradictions, changes of pace, and surprises
aslifeitself.” Aswetry to recovertheunwritten
history, Redfearn’s hundreds of pages of testi-
mony are indispensable. It may no longer be
possibleto think of the events put in motion by
the Tulsa Tribune’s story on Rowland having
any other outcome. However, it is necessary to
understand the contingencies, to put ourselves
back in the events as they were occurring, and
to understand how forces came together in the
riot. We now know the broad contours of the
riot, but the testimony fills in gaps in specific
areas and recovers the chaotic, fearful envi-
ronment in which black and white Tulsans
struggled to prevent violence, even as strong
forces, like the ideas of equality and enforce-
ment of the law against mob violence clashed
with white views of the place that blacks
should occupy. The following account is
drawn from those briefs and is supplemented
with contemporary newspaper stories.

Evolution of the Riot
Asbest aswe can now deter mine, acrowd of
whites began gathering at the Tulsa County
courthouse in the early evening on Tuesday,
May 31. They were drawn there at least in part
by a newspaper story implying that nine-

teen-year-old Dick Rowland had assaulted sev-
enteen-year-old Sarah Page, a white elevator
operator.2 Sometime around 4:00 p.m. to 5:00
p.m. and certainly by 6:30 p.m., rumors that
Dick Rowland would be lynched that eveni n%
circulated in the Greenwood community.
Greenwood residents were becoming more anx-
ious as the evening wore on. William Gurley,
owner of the Gurley Hotel in Greenwood and
one of thewealthiest blacksin Tulsa, went with
Mr. Webb to the courthouse to investigate the
rumored lynching. The sheriff told him “there
would be no lynching; if the witness could keep
hisfolksaway from the courthouse there would-
n't beany trouble.” Gurley then went back to re-
port his conversation with the sheriff to the
crowd gathered outside his hotel. The crowd
was skeptical. “You are adamn liar,” said one
person. “ They had taken awhiteman out of jail a
few weeks before that, and that they were going
totakethisNegro out.” At that point the speaker
“pointed a Winchester at [Gurley], and was
stopped by a Negro lawyer named Spears.”*°

At approximately 9:00 p.m., the situation was
becoming more heated. William Redfearn,
owner of atheater testified:

that he closed his business about 9:00
p.m. or 9:30 p.m. on the evening of May 31.
He closed it because a colored girl came
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into the theatre and was going from one
person to another, telling them something,
and he looked out into the street and saw
several men in the street talking and
bunched up. Upon inquiry as to what was
wrong, someone said there was going to
be alynching and that was the reason they
had come over there.™*

Redfearn went to the courthouse, where
someone asked him to go back to Greenwood,
totry to dissuadetheblack resi dentsfrom com
ing to town. Despite Redfearn’ sefforts, he was
unsuccessful. When he returned, “there was a
bunch of men standing in front of the police
station and across the street when he arrived at
that place; that there was probably fifty or
sixty men in front of the police station.” The
police chief attempted to persuade the blacks
to disperse. Gurley told the court about the un-
stable scene at the courthouse:

That some white man was making a
speech and advised the people to go home,
stating that the Negroes were riding
around with high powered revolvers and
guns downtown; that the speech had some
effect and the crowd started to disperse,
but would soon come back; that whilethis
man was speaking the witness noticed

“some colored men coming from Main
street; that when the machine was up in
front of the courthouse, the people there
closed in around that bunch of men, and
that when they got mixed up a pistol went
off, but the crowd soon dispersed, and he
didn’t know whether anyone waskilled or
not."®

Shooting started after the confrontation.'*

After the shooting, “hell . .. brokeloose,” as
O.W. Gur ley told Wil liam Redfearn when they
met that night.” The record is not as clear on
what happened immediately after the initial
shooting. White witnesses were likely reluc-
tant to testify and few blacks witnessed the
next events around the courthouse.

The mob broke into Bardon’s pawnshop,
looking for guns. Henry Sowders, a white man
who operated the movie projector in the Wil -
liams' Dreamland Theater in Greenwood,

closed up shop around 10:30 p.m. His car had
been com man deered by blacksand hewastaken
back towards the courthouse by ablack man. As
he passed the courthouse, he was told he “had
better get on hometo hisfamily, if he had one, or
else %et some arms, for the thing was coming
on.”” The police department’s reaction to the
events “coming on" was to commission hun-
dreds of white men.”

One of the best descriptions of the unfolding
of events came from Columbus F. Gabe, ablack
man who lived in Greenwood for about 15
years. His testimony at the Redfearn trial pre-
serves the unfolding of the entire riot and thus
allowsusto reconstruct a picture through asin-
gle character. He first heard about the lynching
around 6:30 p.m. He went home to pick up a
gun, and then he went to the courthouse. When
Gabe arrived at the courthouse, there were per-
haps about 800 people there and tensions were
already running high. Some people wereyell ing
to “ Get these niggers away from here.” Mean-
while, Gabe was told by a carload of blacksto
arm himself. Whiteswere going to thearmory to
arm themselves and severa carloads of armed
blacks headed to wardsthe court house. Gabel eft
the courthouse area, but was still within earshot
when the gun that began the riot went off. The
next morning, he was ousted from his house by
two men. One said to the other, “Kill him,” and
the other said, “No, he hasn’t a gun, don’t hurt
him,” and said, “ Get on up with the crowd.” He
was then taken to the Convention Center.'®

Barney Cleaver, ablack member of the Tulsa
Sheriffs Department, presented similar testi-
mony about the way the forces gathered mo-
mentum around the riot. He was policing
Greenwood Avenue when he heard rumors of a
lynching, so he drove up to the courthouse. Ac-
cording to Cleaver, as the blacks were dispers-
ing, agun fired and then people began to run
away. He stayed at the courthouse until about
four o'clock the next morning and then he
headed back to Greenwood, where he met about
15 or 20 black men. He told the group that no
one had been lynched and that they should go
home. Someone then “made the remark that he
was a white man lover.”*
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On the morn ing of June 1, most black Tulsans who were taken into cus tody were brought to Con vention Hall, on Brady Street. Later, de ten tion
areaswerees tab lished at the fair grounds and McNulty ball park (Cour tesy West ern His tory Collection, Universityof Oklahoma Li braries).

The next morning, awhistleblew about 5:00
am., and the invasion of Greenwood began.
Gurley left hishotel around 8:30 a.m., because
he became worried that it might burn and as
white rioters appeared. Gurley stated,

“Those were white men, they was wear-
ing khaki suits, all of them, and they saw,
me standing there and they said, ‘You
better get out of that hotel because we are
going to burn al of this Goddamn stuff,
better get all your guestsout.” And they rat-
tled on thelower doors of the pool hall and
therestaurant, andthepeo plebeganonthe
lower floor to get out, and | told the people
in the hotel, | said ‘1 guess you better get
out.” There was a deal of shooting going
on from the elevator or the mill, somebody
was over there with a machine gun and
shooting down Greenwood Avenue, and
the people got on the stairway goi"né; down
to the street and they stampeded. 2

Gurley hid under a school building for a
while. When he came out, he wasdetained and
taken to the Convention Center.

The Oklahoma a Supreme Court’s Version
of the Riot

The Oklahoma Supreme Court’s opinion in
Redfearn, written by Commissioner Ray, ac-
knowledges the city’s involvement in the riot.
The court wrote that “the evidence shows that a
great number of men engaged in arresting the
Negroesfound in the Negro section wore police
badges or badges indicating they were deputy
sheriffs.” It questions, however, whether the
"men wearing police badges' were officers or
were “acting in an official capacity.”* That
statement indicates Commissioner Ray’s
pro-police bias. The case was appealed from a
directed ver dict against Redfearn, that meant the
trial judge concluded there was no evidence
from which ajury could conclude that the men
wear ingbadgeswereof fi cers. Y et, casesinvol -
ing resisting arrest routinely conclude that a po-
lice badge indicates one's authority to arrest.
Simply put, if one of the blacks involved in the
riot resisted one of the men wearing a badge, he
could have been prosecuted for resisting arrest.
Commissioner Ray could haveinsulated thein-
surance company from liability with the state-
ment that, even assuming the men wearing
badges were police officers, they were acting
beyond their authority and were thus acting as
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rioters. Ray’ sinconsistency in applying prece-
dent suggests that his motive was not a solely
impartial decision of the case before him, but
the insulation of the police department and
Tulsafrom liability.

Thereis substantial testimony in Redfearn’s
brief, moreover, demonstrating a close con-
nection between the “police deputies’ and the
Police Chief Fire Marshal, Wesley Bush,
stated that when he arrived at the police station
sometime after 10:00 p.m.,

the station was practically full of peo-
ple, and that the people were armed; that
there would be bunches of men go out of
the police station, but he didn't know
where they would go; that they would
leave the police station and go out, and
come back - they were out and in, all of
them, that they were in squads, severa of
them together.??

The instructions those special deputies re-
ceived are unclear. According to pleadingsin a
auit filed by ablack riot victim, one deputy offi-
cer gave ingructions to “Go out and kill you a
d__m nigger.”*® Another alegation was that the
mayor gave instructions to "burn every Negro
house up to Haskell Street."** Other contempo-
rary reports contain similar allegations.®

Whether they received ingtructions to “ru[n]
theNegro out of Tulsa,” as one of the photos of
theriot was captioned or not, many of the rioters

AfricanAmericans were de-
tained by many different
white’s, not only the police
| or National Guard (Cour-
tesy Department of Special
Collections, McFarlin Li-
brary, University of Tulsa).

wore badges and started fires® Green Smith, a
black carpenter who lived in Muskogee and wasin
Tulsa for a few days working on the Dreamland
Theater installing a cooling system, testified to the
role of the specid police during theriot. He awoke
before 5:00 am. and went to work at the theater,
but soon heard shooting. The shooting was heavy
from 5:00 am. until around 8:00 am., and then it
let up. But by 9:30, “there was a gang came down
the street knocking on the doors and setting the
buildings afire” Smith thought they were police.
In response to a cross-examination question, how
he could know they were police, Smith testified,
“They came and taken fifty dollars of money, and
| was looking right at them.”*" He saw a gang of
about ten to twelve wearing “ Specid Police” and
“Deputy Sheriff’ badges. ” Some had ribbons and
some of them had regular stars.”® Smith was ar-
rested and taken to the Convention Center.

The insurance company’s brief presents
a different story, one that blames Tulsa
blacks. But perhaps most telling istheinsur-
ance company’ s argument at the end of the
brief, in which the insurance company was
arguing that there was ariot and, therefore,
they did not have to pay for the losses.
There were from a few hundred to several
thousand people engaged in the Tulsarace
riot. They met at different places including
the courthouse, Greenwood Avenue, the
hardware store, and the pawn shop. They
fully armed themselves with guns and am-
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Statement: L. J. Martin, Chairman
City of Tulsa’s Executive Welfare Committee

the damage, so far as can be done, to the last penny.”

“Tulsa can only redeem herself from the country-wide shame and humiliation in which she is
today plunged by complete restitution of the destroyed black belt. The rest of the United States
must know that the real cifizenship of Tulsa weeps at this unspedakable crime and will make good

Ellsworth, Scott - Death In A Promised Land, p. 83

(Photo Courtesy Oklahoma Historical
Society).

Statement: Alva Niles, President
Tulsa Chamber of Commerce

Leading business men are in hourly conference and a movement is now being organized,
not only for the succor, protection and alleviation of the sufferings of the negroes, but to
Jformulate a plan of reparation in order that homes may be re-built and families as nearly
as possible rehabilitated. The sympath
gone out to the unfortunate law abiding negroes who have become the victims of the
action, and bad advice of some of the lawless leaders, and as quickly as possible
rehabilitation will take place and reparation made. . .

Tulsa feels i ly humiliated and
pledges its every effort to wiping out the stain at the earliest possible moment and
punishing those guilty of bringing the disgrace and disaster to this city.

hip of Tulsa in a great way has

of the citi:

ding in the shadow of this great tragedy

Minutes, Tulsa Chamber of Commerce Board Meeting June 15, 1921

munition, with a common intent to exe-
cute a common plan, to-wit: the
extermination of the colored people of
Tulsaand the destruction of the colored set-
tlement, homes, and buildings, by fire.®

Apportioning Blame to the City

Whatever interpretation one places on the
origin of theriot, there seemsto be aconsensus
emerging from historians that the riot was
much worse because of the actions of Tulsa of-
ficids. Major General Charles F. Barrett, who
wasin charge of the OklahomaNationa Guard
during theriot and thus was a participant in the
closing moments of theriot, wrote in his book
Oklahoma After Fifty Years about the role of
the deputies in fueling the riot. The police
chief had deputized perhaps 500 men to help
put down theriot.

He did not realize that in a race war a
large part if not amajority, of thosespecial
deputies were imbued with the same spirit
of destruction that animated the mob.

They became as deputies the most danger-
ous part of the mob and after the arrival of
the adjutant general and the declaration of
martial law the first arrests ordered were
those of special officers whohad hindered
the fire men in their abortive efforts to put
out the incendiary fires that many of these
special officers were accused of setting.*°

Several other white men testified about the
roleof thepolice. Accordingtotestimonyfound
in the Oklahoma Attorney Generd’s papers, a
bricklayer, Laurel Buck, testified that after the
riot broke out he went to the police station and
asked for a commission. He did not receive it,
but he was instructed to “ %et agun, and get busy
and try to get a nigger.”** Buck went to the
TulsaHardware Store, where he received agun.
Like many other men, Buck was issued a
weapon by Tulsa officials. Buck then stood
guard at Boston and Third. In the words of the
lawyer who questioned Buck, he”went to get a
Negro." By that he meant that, if be had seen a
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black man shooting at white people he would
have “tried to kill him.” Hewas “out to protect
the lives of white people. . . under specific or-
ders from a policeman at the police depart-
ment.” And the only reason Buck did not kill
any blacks was that he did not see any. The
next morning he went near Greenwood, where
he saw two uniformedpoliceof fi cersbreakl ng
into buildings and setting them &fire.

Another witness, Judge Oliphant, linked the
police and their special deputies to burning,
even murder. The seventy-three-year old
Oliphant went to Greenwood to check on his
rental property there. He called the police de-
partment around eight o’clock and asked for
help protecting his homes.** No assistance
came, but shortly after his call, agang of men
— four uniformed officers and some deputies
— came along. Instead of protecting propert)é(4
“they were the chief fellows setting fires.”
They shot Dr. A.C. Jackson and then began
burning houses.®

Oliphant tried to dissuade them from burn-
ing. “This last crowd made an agreement that
they would not burn that property [across the
street from my property] because | thought it
would burn mine too and | promised that if
they wouldn't, . . . | would see that no Negroes
ever lived in that row of houses any more.”*
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The record from the testimony of credible
whites before the attorney general and in the
Redfearn case, in conjunction with General
Barrett’ sbook, demonstrate the involvement of
the city in the destruction.

State Culpability: The Divided (and
Ambiguous) Roles of the National Guard

During the opening moments of the crisis, the
local units of the National Guard behaved admi-
rably. They defended the armory against a
crowd of gun-hungry whites, then offered their
assistance to the police in putting down theriot.
However, it is precisely that offer of assistance
and their subsequent cooperation with the Tulsa
police that calls their behavior into question.

There also is substantial evidence that the
out-of-town units of the National Guard — those
who had traveled throughout the night from
Oklahoma City — helped restore order when
they arrived around 9:00 am on the morning of
June 1. They deserve some of the credit for limit-
ing theloss of life caused by the white mobs that
invaded Greenwood. Nevertheless, the local
units of the National Guard may have acted un-
constitutionally in restoring order. The guards-
men arrested every black resident of Tulsa they
could find and then took them into “protective
custody.” That left Greenwood property unpro-
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tected -and vulnerable to the “ specia deputies’
who came aong and burned it.

The key questions then become, what was
theroleof thelocal unitsof the National Guard
that were present in Tulsa even before the riot
broke out and were there throughout the riot?
What was the role of the out-of-town units of
the National Guard that arrived from
Oklahoma City around 9:00 a.m. the morning
of June 1?

The local units knew that there was trouble
brewing in the early evening of May 31. They
closely guarded their supply of ammunition
and guns and waited orders from the governor
about what to do next. Sometime after 10:00
p.m., following the violent confrontation at the
courthouse, the local units, under the direction
of Colonel Rooney, went into action and trav-
eled the few blocks from the armory to the po-
lice station, where they established
headquarters. The soldiershelpedto stop loot-
ing near the courthouse® They then began
working in conjunction with local authorities
totry to quell theriot. There was consideration
given to protecting Greenwood by keeping
white mobs out. But such a plan was aban-
doned in favor of another, which had disas-
trous consequences for Greenwood. The local
units of the Guard systematically disarmedand
arrested Greenwood residents, leaving their
property defenseless. When the “ special depu-
ties’ came aong in the wake of the Guard, it
wasasimpletasktoburnGreenwood property.

After-Action Reports: The Testimony of
the Local Units of the National Guard
The National Guard's after-action reports

describe their role in the riot using their own
words. Two reports in particular suggest that
the local units of the Guard — while ostensi-
bly operating to protect the lives and property
of Greenwood residents — disarmed and ar-
rested Greenwood residents (and not white ri-
oters), leaving their property defenseless,
allowing deputies, uniformed police officers,
and mobsto burniit.

According to the report filed by Captain
FrankVan Voorhis, the police caled around
8:30 p.m. to ask for help in controlling the
crowds at the courthouse. No guardsmen went

tothecourt houseuntil they received or dersfrom
Lieutenant Colonel Rooney, the officer in
charge of the Tulsaunits of the National Guard.
Van Voorhis arrived after the riot had broken
out at 10:30 p.m., with two officers and sixteen
men. They went to the police station, where
they apparently began working in conjunction
withthe police. At 1: 15 am. they “produced”’ a
machine gun and placed it on atruck, along with
three experienced machine gunners and six
other enlisted men. They then traveled around
the city to spots where “there was firing” until
3:00 a.m., when Colonel Rooney ordered them
to Stand Pipe Hill. At that point, Rooney de-
ployed the men along Detroit Avenue, from
Stand Pipe Hill to Archer, where they worked
“disarming and arresting Negroes and sending
them to the Convention Hall by police cars and
trucks.”*® Van Voorhis's report details the cap-
ture of more than 200 “prisoners.” Van
Voorhis' smen were ableto disarm and capture
those Greenwood residents without much gun-
fire. It appears that his men killed no one.
Captain McCuen’s men, however, did fire
upon a number of Greenwood residents in the
process of responding to what the local units of
the Guard called a“Negro uprising.” Sometime
after 11:00 p.m., McCuen brought 20 men to the
policestation, where Col o nel Rooney had set up
headquarters. They guarded the border between
white Tulsa and Greenwood for several hours.
Then they began moving towards Greenwood
and established aline aong Detroit, on the west
side of Greenwood. They began pushing into
Greenwood, using a truck with an old (and
likely inoperable machine gun on it), probably
around 3:00 am. McCuen's men, like Van
Voorhis's, were working in close conjunction
with the Tulsa police. They arrested a “large
number” of Greenwood residents and turned
them over to the “police department automo-
biles,” that were close by “at all times." Those
cars “were manned by ex-service men, and in
many cases plain-clothes men of the police de-
partment.”® The close connection between the
local units of the National Guard and the police
department is not surprising. Mgjor Daley, for
instance, was also a police officer.”® The Guard
established its headquarters at the police station
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. Thelocal unitswereinstructed to follow the
directions of the civilian authorities.** Once
they went into operation, the local units took
charge of alarge number of volunteers, many
of whom were American L egion members and
veterans of the war.*”

Some may argue that the Guard was taking
Greenwood resdentsinto protective custody. 1n-
deed, the locad units of the National Guard told
the men they were disarming, and they were
there to protect them.** Nevertheless, the af-
ter-action reports suggest that the Guard' s work
in conjunction with local authorities was de-
signed to put down the supposed “Negro upris-
ing,” not to protect the Greenwood residents.”

McCuen’'s men did not seem to be working
to protect blacks. In fact, after daylight he re-
ceived an urgent request from the police de-
partment to stop blacks from firing into white
homes along Sunset Hill, located on the north-
west side of Greenwood. “We advanced to the
crest of Sunset Hill inaskir mishlineandthena
little further north to the military crest of the
hill where our men were ordered to lie down
because of the intense fire of the blacks who
had formed a good skirmish line at the foot of
the hill to the northeast among the outbuild-
ings of the Negro settlement which stops at the
foot of the hill.” The guardsmen fired at will
for nearly haf an hour and then the Green-
wood residents began falling back, “getting
good cover among the frame buildings of the
negro settlement.” As the guardsmen ad-
vanced, they continued to meet stiff opposi-
tion from some “negroes who had barricaded
themselvesin houses.” According to McCuen,
the men who were barricaded “refused to stop
firing and had to be killed.” It is unclear how
many they killed. Later, at the northeast corner
of the settlement, “ Ten or more negroes barri-
caded themselves in a concrete store and a
dwelling.” The guardsmen fought along side
civilians, and at this point, some blacks and
whites were killed.*

Asthe guardsmen were advancing, fires ap-
peared all over Greenwood. Apparently, the
white mobs followed closely after the guards-
men asthey swept through Greenwood disarm-
ing and arresting the residents. They fires

followed shortly afterwards. In  essence, the
guardsmen facilitated the destruction of Green-
wood because they removed residents who had
no desire to leave and appeared more than capa-
ble of defending themselves. While the af-
ter-action reports are sparse, they create a
pictureof thelocal unitsof the Guardwork ingin
close conjunctionwiththelocal ci vilianauthori-
tiesto disarm and arrest Greenwood resi dents. It
was those same civilian authorities who were
later criticized for burning, looting, and killing
in Greenwood.

Colonel Rooney, who wasin charge of thelo-
cal units of the Guard, admitted that the Guard
fired upon Greenwood residents. However, he
claimed that his men only fired when fired
upon.*” Rooney’ s men were lined up facing into
Greenwood and they positioned to protect white
property and lives. When the Guard heard that
blackswere firing upon whites, they moved into
posi tiontostopthefiring. WhentheTulsapolice
thought that five hundred black men were com-
ing from Muskogee, they put amachineguncrew
on the road from Muskogee with ordersto stop at
the invasion “at all hazards.”*® When Colonel
Rooney heard arumor that the five hundred black
men had commandeered atrain in Muskogee, he
went off to organize a patrol to meet it a the sta-
tion.”® Yet, in contrast, when whites were firing
upon blacks who were in the Guard’s custody,
they responded by hur ry ingtheprisonersalongat
afaster pace. The Guard seems to have been too
busy working in conjunction with civilian au-
thorities arresting Greenwood residents, or too
preoccupied putting down the ”Negro uprising”
to protect Greenwood property.

McCuen concluded that “all firing” had
ceased by 11:00 am. Thereason for the end of
the fighting was not that the Guard had suc-
ceeded in bringing the white rioters under con-
trol. Rather, it wasthat the Greenwood residents
had been arrested or driven out. “Practically all
of the Negro men had retreated to the northeast
or elsewhere or had been disarmed and sent to
concentration points.”

Interpreting the Local Units’ Actions

There remains the question of how one
should interpret the actions of the National
Guard's local units. Individuals appear to have
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H. A. Guess, Black Wall Street
Attorney & Riot Survivor

such a program?

"Tulsa Will". . .The question is will Tulsa raise to the emergency and make good the losses
which she has visited upon her colored citizens in the upheavel of June Ist, better known as
Tulsa Race Riot? Will her broadminded, big-hearted leaders and town and empire builders
surrender to the whim of a few political buccaneers and land schemers whose ulterior motive
is self-aggrandisement at the expense of the public will, or, will they rush aside some of the
cob-webs of legal technicalities and face the issues of facts in a courageious, generous and
altruistic spirit that has so signally characterized the triumphal march at the head of modern
civilization of the proud Anglo-Saxton race, and proceed to get on foot plans for the
rehabilitation of the burned district?. . .What are some of the things that should be foremost in

Reparation. . . will restore confidence of those whose faith has been seriously shaken; will
give notice to the outside world that if Tulsa is big enough, strong enough, cosmopolitan
enough to match the greatest race riot in American history, she is also generous enough,
proud enough, rich enough and possessing enough respect for law and order and disdaining
anything that savors of greed, graft and legal oppressions, to fail to do entire justice to a
sorely tried people whose accumulations, in many instances, of a life-time, were swept away
in a few hours and too, without any fault on their part. It may very well be said by Tulsa's
legal advisers that there is no precedent for re-embursement in such cases; that a bond issue
and election to make good the losses would be illegal. We answer the race riot was also
illegal and, since the damage wrought was also great, some way should be found to make
good the loss, There is and should be an adequate remedy to adjust every great wrong.

Column, Oklahoma Sun, August 3, 1921

been ar rested based on race. Some haveargued
that the Guard took Greenwood residents into
protective custody and that they protected
lives by doing so. There were simply too few
guardsmen to protect all of Greenwood from
invasion by white mobs.> So the question be-
comes, is it permissible to draw such distinc-
tions based on race in time of crisis? Was it
congtitutionally permissible to arrest (or take
into protective custody) Greenwood residents?
Did the local units of the National Guard be-
have properly? Mary Jones Parrish captured
the frustration of Greenwood residents after
theriot:

It is the general belief that if [the state
troops from Oklahoma City] had reached
the scene sooner many lives and valuable
property would have been saved. Just as
praise for the State troops was on every
tongue, so was denunciation of the Home
Guardson ev ery lip. Many stated that they
[thelocal guard] fooled [the residents] out
of their homes on a promise that if they
would give up peacefully they would give

them protection, as well as see that their
prop erty wassaved. . .. When they returned
to what were once their places of business
or homes, with hopes built upon the prom-
ises of the Home Guards, how keen was
their disappointment to find al of their
earthly possessionsin ashes or stolen.*

Parrish’s account testifies to the belief
among Greenwood residents that the local
troops were culpable and the out-of-town units
were responsible for ending the riot, or at least
for restoring order afterwards.

Whileinex tremely rarein stancesitisper mis
sible for the government to draw invidious dis
tinctions based solely on race,> such action
must be narrowly tailored. In 1921, the Su-
preme Court recognized that it was inappropri-
ate for the government (as opposed to private
individuals) to segregate on the basis of race.>
Thereports of the Guard unitsbased in Tulsaac-
knowl edgethat they ar rested many blacks, begin
ning as early as 6:30 am. on June 1.>° At that
point, much of Greenwood was still intact. It is
likely that had the local units not arrested those
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residents, their homes would not have been va-
cant and they might not have been burned. Ines
sence the Guard created the danger when they
took Greenwood residents into custody.

Much of the United States Supreme Court’s
law on racial arrests arises out of World War
I1. Three casesin particular address the consti-
tutionality of drawing distinctions based on
race: Hirabayashi v. United States, *° decided
in June 1943, and Korematsu v. United
States.>” and Ex Parte Endo, > decided on the
same day in December 1944. They all ad-
dressed the legality of the United States laws
regarding Japanese Americans. Hirabayashi,
the first of the race cases to reach the United
States Supreme Court, addressed the constitu-
tionality of acurfew imposed on Americans of
Japanese ancestry living in Hawaii. A majority
of the court upheld the racially discriminatory
curfew. One concurring justice observed that
“where the peril isgreat and the timeis short,
temporary treatment on a group basis may be
the only practicable expedient whatever the ul-
ti mate per cent ageof thosewho aredetainedfor
cause.”* The concurring opinions were care-
ful to note that distinctions based on race were
extraordinarily difficult to justify. They went
“to the brink of constitutional power.”* While
arrests might be justified upon a showing of
immediate harm, they had to be justified. “ De-
tention for reasonable cause is one thing. De-
tention on account of ancestry is another,”
Justice William O. Douglas wrote.®* Justice
Murphy’s concurrencefurther limitedthegov-
ernment’s power to detain American citizens
without any showing that they posed a
threat.®

While the Supreme Court unanimously up-
held a curfew imposed upon American citi-
zens on the basis of race, in two cases decided
the next year, some justices voted against con-
tinued distinctions based on race. In Ex Parte
Endo, Mitsuye Endo, an American citizen
whose |oy alty to the United Stateswasunques-
tioned, challenged her continued detentionin a
relocation camp. The United States sought to
justify the detention on the ground that there
were community sentiments against her and
that, in essence, she was detained for her own

safety. In rgecting the argument, the United
States Supreme Court observed that community
hostility might be a serious problem, but it re-
fusedtoper mitcontinueddetentiononthatbasis
once loyalty was demonstrated.®®

The most important-and most heavily criti-
cized case of thetrilogy was Korematsu, which
upheld the forced relocation of Japanese Ameri-
cans. The court upheld the relocation, with the
bold contention that “when under conditions of
modern warfare our shores are threatened by
hostileforces, the power to pro tect must becom-
mensurate with the threatened danger.”® The
majority opinion acknowledged that the major-
ity of those interned were loyal.®> We now rec-
ognize the decision as improper. Indeed, the
Civil Rights Act of 1988, that provided $20,000
compensation to each Japanese American per-
son interned during World War Il was premised
on the belief that Korematsu and the relocation
that it upheld waswrong. The act apologized for
the relocation and internment and provided
some compensation for those affected.

Justice Roberts’ dissenting opinion in
Korematsu, argued that the relocation was un-
constitutional, and recognized that citizens
might occasionally be taken into protective cus-
tody. At other times, the government can, Rob-
erts acknowledged, “exclude citizens
temporarily from a locality.” For example, it
may exclude citizens from afire zone.® But the
internments went beyond limited exclusion for
the protection of the people excluded and so
Roberts thought them improper. Korematsu in-
volved internment “based on his ancestry, and
solely because of hisancestry, without evidence
or inquiry concerning hisloyalty. . ..”%’

The evidence seemsto establish that thelocal
unitsof the National Guard, in conjunction with
police deputies, arrested based on race, not on
danger to the Greenwood residents themselves.
The fear of Tulsa's police force was that the
Greenwood residents were engaged in an upris-
ing. Their response was to disarm and arrest, in
some cases taking lifeto do so. That behavior is
suspect even under the majority’s opinion in
Koremastsu. Under Justice Roberts's dissent,
the actions of the local units of the National
Guard areeven more suspect. Thereisoneother
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precedent that is important in interpreting the
National Guard's actions: the United States
Supreme Court’s 1909 decision in Moyer v.
Peabody. ® That casearosefrom aconflict be-
tween miners and mining companiesin Colo-
rado. The president of the Western
Federation of Miners was arrested by the Na-
tional Guard and detained for several weeks,
even though there ‘was no probable cause to
arrest him. Simply put, he had committed no
crime. Colorado’s governor explained that
therewasaninsurrection and that he had to ar-
rest Moyer and detain him to put down the in-
surrection.®® Justice Holmes gave the
National Guard, acting under the governor’s
orders, broad power to arrest in order to put
down an insurrection. Holmes refused to al-
low asuit against the governorfordeprivation
of constitutional rights, aslong asthe gover-
nor had a good faith belief that the arrest was
necessary. It is easier, though, to classify the
arrest of one person in Moyer, as justified,
than the wholesale arrest of Greenwood resi -
dents. Moyer supported limited arreststo stop
insurrections. The local units of the National
Guard, in conjunction with deputized Tulsa
police officers, arrested thousands. In the pro-
cess — according to their own reports—they
killed an unspecified number of blacks. Such
actions are difficult to defend even applying
the legal standards of the times.

Newspaper Accounts of the Official
Involvement in the Riot

The accounts of theriot asit was unfolding
in the Tulsa World show the coordination of
the police, National Guard, and white citi-
zens. Some white menwereworking to arrest
“every Negro seen on the streets.” Many of
those people had at a minimum volunteered
their services to the police.” “Armed guards
were placed in cars and sent out on patrol
duty. Companies of about 50 men each were
organized and marched through the business
streets.” ™" Asthe Tulsa World stated in an ed-
itorial on June 2, “Semi-organized bands of
white men systematically applied the torch
while others shot on sight men of color.””?

The black press presented starker pictures
of official involvement in the destruction. An

account of Van B. Hurley, who was identified
asaformer Tulsa police officer, was printed in
the Chicago Defender in October 192 1. The
account was circulated by Elisha Scot, an at-
torney from Topeka, Kansas, who represented
a number of riot victims. The Defender re-
ported that Hurley, “who was honorably dis-
charged from the force and given splendid

recommendations by his captains and lieuten-
ants,” named city officials who planned the at-
tack on Greenwood using airplanes. Hurley
described “the conference between local avia-
torsand theofficials. AfterthismeetingHurley
asserted the airplanes darted out from hangars
and hovered over the district dropping nitro-
glycerin on buildings, setting them afire.”
Hurley said the officials told their deputies to
deal aggressively with Greenwood residents.
“They gave ingtructions for every man to be
ready and ontheaert and if the niggerswanted to
start anything to be ready for them. They never
put forth any efforts at all to prevent it whatever,
and said if they started anything to kill every b _
son of ab_they could find.””® Hurley’ s account
is somewhat suspect, but it fits with Laurel
Buck’s testimony that the police told white
Tulsansto “get out and get anigger.”

At aminimum, there was substantial planning
by the police for the systematic arrest and deten-
tion of Greenwood residents. Fire Marsha Wes-
ley Bush reported that he saw armed men
comi ng and going from the police station al eve-
ning.” TheTulsa Tribune reportedthat therehad

been plans to take Greenwood residents to
the Convention Center. It is very difficult at
this point to reconstruct the instructions from
the mayor and police chief to the deputies. That
difficulty arises in large part because the city
refused to allow a serious investigation of the
riot. There are, however, a substantial number
of reports of those instructions and the pattern
of destruction certainly fits with those reports.
Quite simply, it is difficult to explain the sys-
tematic arrest of blacks, the destruction of their
property, and the timing of the invasion of
Greenwood without relying upon some coordi-
nation by the Tulsa city government, with the
assistance of the local units of the National
Guard.”
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Many owners of destroyed property took actionagainstinsurancecompanies.

Statutory Liability for City’s Failure to
Protect

Asking for reparationsfor theriot doesnot
requireustoread our ownmoral ity back onto
Tulsa at the early part of the century. Many
states provided aremedy for thecity’ sfail ure
to protect riot victims in the 1920s. At the
time of the riot, for instance, lllinois had a
statute providing a cause of action for dam-
age done by riot when the local government
failed to protect against the rioters. The Illi-
nois law provided that the municipality
where violence occurred was liable to the
families of “lynching” victims. It allowed
claims for wrongful death up to $5,000.7
The Illinois courts construed “I%/nchi ng”’ to
include deaths during race riots.”” If theriot
had occurred in lllinois, there would have
been aright to recover if the policefailed to
protect the victims. Tulsans knew about the
statutes in Illinois and Kansas. They even
consulted an attorney from East Saint Louis
for 7Elelp in understanding their legal liabil-
ity.

The Aftermath of the Riot: Of Prosecutions,
Lawsuits, and Ordinances

As Tulsans began to shift the rubble after the
riot, they asked themselves how had such atrag-
edy oc curred, who wasto blame, and how might
they rebuild. A grand jury investigated theriot’s
causes and returned indictments against about
seventy men, mostly blacks. The city re-zoned
the burned district, to discourage rebuilding, as
Greenwood residents and whites who owned
property in Greenwood filed lawsuits against
the city and their insurance companies. The law-
suits, filed by more than one-hundred people
who lost property, testify to the attempts made
by riot victims to use the law for relief, and its
failureto assist them, even after the government
had destroyed their property.

The Failure of Reparations Through
Lawsuits
Greenwood residents and property owners
(both black and white), filed more than one-
hundred suits against their insurance compa
nies, the city of Tulsa, and even Sinclair Oil
Company, that allegedly provided airplanes that
were used in attacking Greenwood. Not one of
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those suits was successful. One, filed by Wil -
liam Redfearn, awhite man who owned a hotel
and a movie theater in Greenwood, went to
trial and then on appeal to the Oklahoma Su-
preme Court. Redfearn’s insurance company
denied liability, citing ariot exclusion clause.
The clause exempted the insurance company
from liability for loss due to riot.

The Oklahoma Supreme Court interpreted
the damage as due to riot-an understandable
conclusion, and thereby immunized insurance
companies from liability.” Following the fail-
ure of Mr. Redfearn’ s suit, none other went to
trial. That isnot surprising. It isdifficult to see
how anyone could have prevailed in the wake
of the Redfearn opinion. They lay fallow for
years and then were dismissed in 1937.

The Grand Jury and the Failure of
Prosecutions

Just asthelegal system had failed to provide
avehi cleforrecov ery by Greenwoodresi dents
and property owners, thelegal system failed to
hold Tulsans criminally responsible for the
reign of terror during the riot. The grand jury,
convened a few days after the riot, returned
about seventy indictments. A few people,
mostly blacks, were held in jail. Others were
released on bond, pending their trias for riot-
ing. However, most of the cases were dis-
missed in September, 1921, when Dick
Rowland’s case was dismissed. When Sarah
Page failed to appear as the complaining wit-
ness, the district attorney dismissed his case.®
Other dismissals soon followed .** Apparently,
no one, black or white, served time in prison
for murder, larceny, or arson, athough some
people may have been held in custody pending
dismissal of suitsin thefall of 1921.

The grand jury’s most notable action is not
the indictments that it returned but the white-
wash it. engaged in. Their report, which was
publishedinitsentirety in the Tulsa World un-
der the heading “ Grand Jury Blames Negroes
for Inciti ng Race Rioting: Whites Clearly Ex-
onerated,”** told alaughabl e story of black cul-
pability for the riot. The report is an amazing
document, that demonstrates how evidence
can be selectively interpreted. Itis, quite sim-

ply, aclassic caseof interpreter’ sextremebi ases
coloring their vision of events.

The grand jury, which began work on June 7,
took testimony from dozens of white and black
Tulsans. It operated within the framework es-
tablished by Tulsa District Judge Biddson. He
instructed the jurorsto investigate the causes of
the riot. Biddson feared that the spirit of law-
lessness was growing. The jurors conclusions
would be “marked indelibly upon the public
mind” and would be important in deterring fu-
ture riots.®® It cast its net widely, looking at the
riot asit unfolded aswell as social conditionsin
Tulsamore generally.

The grand jury fixed the immediate cause of
theriot asthe appearance“ of acertain group of
colored men who appeared at the courthouse.. . .
for the purpose of protecting . . . Dick
Rowland.” From there it laid blame entirely on
those people who sought to defend Rowland’s
life. It discounted rumors of lynching. “There
was no mob spirit amorélg the whites, no talk of
lynching and no arms.”

Echoing the discussions of the riot in the
white Tulsa newspapers, the grand jury identi-
fied two remote causes of the riot which were
“vital to the public interest.” Those causes were
the “agitation among the Negroes of social
equality” and the break down of law enforce-
ment. The agitation for social equality was the
first of the remote causes the jury discussed:

Certain propagandaand more or less agitation
had been going on among the colored popula-
tion for sometime. Thisagitation resulted in the
accumulation of firearms among the people and
the storage of quantities of ammunition, al of
which was accumulative in the minds of the Ne-
gro which led them as a people to believe in
equal rights, socia equality, and their ability to
demand the same.®

The Nation broke the grand jury’s code.
Charges that blacks were radicals meant that
blacks were insufficiently obsequious. They
asked for legal rights.

Negroes were uncompromisingly denounc-
ing of “Jim-Crow” cars, lynching, peonage; in
short, were asking that the Federal constitu-
tional guar anteesof “life, liberty, andthepur suit
of happiness’ be given regardless of color. The
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Negroes of Tulsa and other Oklahoma cities
are pioneers, men and women who have dared,
men and women who have had the initiative
and the courage to pull up stakes in other
less-favored states and face hardship in a
newer one for the sake of greater eventuad
progress. That typeisever lessready to submit
to insult. Those of the whites who seek to
maintain the old white group control naturally
do not relish seeing Negroes emancipating
themselves from the old system.®

Such was the mind set of the grand jury that
they thought ideas about racid equality were to
blame for the riot, instead of explaining why
Greenwood residents felt it necessary to vidit the
courthouse. Thus, the grand jury recast its evi-
dence to fit its established prgudices. And as it
did that, asit confirmed white Tulsa' s myth that
the blacks were to blamefor theriot, it helped to
remove the mora impetus to reparations.

Preventing Rebuilding?

Given the context of racial vi olenceandseg-
regation legislation of Progressive-era
Oklahoma, it makes sense that one of the city
gov ernment’ sfirstresponseswastoex pandthe

fire ordinance to incorporate parts of Green-
wood. That expansion made rebuilding in the
burned district prohibitively expensive. The city
presented two rationales: to expand the indus-
trial area around the railroad yard and to further
separate the races.®

The story of the zoning ordinance is one of the
few tri umphsof theruleof law toemergefromthe
riot. Greenwood residents who wanted to rebuild
challenged the ordinance asaviolation of property
rights as well as on technical grounds. They first
won a temporary restraining order on technical
grounds (that there had been insufficient notice
before the ordinance was passed). Then, follow-
ing re-promulgation of the ordinance, they won a
permanent injunction, apparently on the grounds
that it would deprive the Greenwood property
owners of their property rightsif they were not
permitted to rebuild.®®

And so, havingwononecourt victory, Greernt
wood residents were left to their own devices:
freeto rebuild their property, but without the di-
rect assistance from the city that was crucial to
doing so. Now the question is whether the city
and statewish to acknowl! edgethat asadebt and

to pay it?

(Courtesy West ern His tory Col lec tion, Univer sity of Oklahoma Li braries).
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Endnotes

This brief report on “the riot and the law” is necessarily summary. For afuller exploration of many of the issues
discussed here, see Alfred L. Brophy, “Reconstructing the Dreamland” (2000), available at

%Black Agitators Blamed for Riot, Tulsa World, June 6, 1921.

*There are seven key questions, which need answersin developing a clear picture of theriot: (1) How did Tulsago
from minor event in elevator to attempted lynching?

(2) How did Tulsago from confrontation at the courthouse to riot?

(3) What was the role of the police? That question has several sub-parts:
(8) How many were commissioned as deputies?

(b) What instructions did police give the deputies?

(c) How much planning was there for the attack on Greenwood?

(4) What was the role of the mayor?

(5) What was the role of the Nationa Guard?

(6) What motivated the changing of the fire ordinance and the rezoning of Greenwood to require building using
fireproof material? How was that resolved?

(7) Was ariot inevitable? That question has several sub-parts:

(8) Was there planning before the evening of May 31, to “run the Negro out of Tulsa,” as some alleged. See, e.g.,
“The TulsaRiots’, 22 The Crisis. pp. 114-16 July 1921. “ Compare Public Welfare Board Vacated by Commission:
Mayor in Statement on Race Trouble”, Tulsa Tribune, June 14, 1921 (reprinting Mayor T.D. Evans speech to City
Commission. June 14, 1921) “It is the judgment of many wise headsin Tulsa, based upon observation of anumber of
years that this uprising was inevitable. If that be true and this judgment had to come upon us, then | say it was good
gener a shiptoletthedestruction cometothat sectionwherethetrou blewashatched up, put in mo tion and whereit had
itsinception.”

(b) Were racial tensions so great that there would have been ariot even without the attempted lynching of Dick
Rowland? See Wal ter F. White, “ The Eruptionof Tulsa’, The Nation, pp. 909-910(detail ingel ementsof racial tension
and lawlessnessin Tulsa). See also: R. L. Jones,” Blood and Oil", Survey 46, June 1921.

On questions of historical interpretation, where the record is only imperfectly preserved, there are inevitable
uncertainties.

221 Pacific Reporter p. 929 (1926).

*Theother “of fi cia” reports, thegrandjury report andthefiremar shall’ sreport, arelesshel pful inreconstructingthe
riot. Thehast ily pre pared grand jury re port blamed Tulsa’ sblacksfor theriot. Thegrand jury report focused blame on
“exaggerated ideas of equality.” See “Grand Jury Blames Negroes for Inciting Race Rioting: Whites Clearly
Exonerated”, Tulsa World, June 26, 1921, pp. 1,8 (reprinting grand jury report). The grand jury report, for instance,
declaredthat theriot wasthedi rect result of “an ef fort onthe part of acer tain group of col ored menwho ap peared at the
courthouse. .. for thepur poseof protecting. .. Dick Rowland....” /d. at 1. Anindi rect causeof theriot wasthe* agi tation
among the Negroes’ forideas"” of social equal ity.” /d. It isan extraor di nary document, whichil lustratesinvividdetail
how an investi gationcanselectevidence, refusetoseek out a ter nativetesti mony, and then formulateaninter pretation
that isremarkably biased in the story it creates.

The fire marshal’ s report cannot be located. There was another investigation, perhaps by a special city court of
inquiry. See“Hundredto beCalledin Probe”, Tulsa World, June 10, 1921. “With the formal empaneling and swearing
in of the grand jury Thursday morning the third investigation into the causes and placing or responsibility for the race
rioting in Tulsa law week was begun.”; “Police Order Negro Porters Out of Hotels”, Tulsa Tribune, June 14, 1921.
“Thisactionfol lowsscathingcriti cismof thesystemthat al lowedtheNegropor terstocarry ontheir nefari ouspractices
of selling booze and soliciting for women of the underworld made . . . at the city’ s court of inquiry held several weeks
ago.”

®Brief of Plaintiffin Er ror, William Redfearn, Plain tiffin Errorv. American Central In sur ance Com pany, 243 P 929
(Okla. 1926), No. 15,851 [hereinafter Plaintiff’s Brief].

Of the previous histori ansof theriot, only Ellsworth haseven mentioned Redfearn’ ssuit. See Ellsworth, supra note
2, a 135, n. 57. No one has utilized the Oklahoma Supreme Court’s opinion or the briefs.

"Ellison, “Going to the Terri tory”, inEllison, Going to the Territory, p. 124 (1986). See also Brent Staples, Parallel
Time: Growing Up in Black and White, 1994, (exploring ways that life unfolds and the ways that individuals and
families perceive, react to, and rewrite that history). Ellison’s essay spoke in terms similar to those employed by
Bernard Bailyn, whose widely read monograph on Thomas Hutchinson, the governor of Massachusetts on the eve of
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the American Revolution, presented a sympathetic portrait of the Loyalist, in an effort to present a comprehensive
por trait of thecoming of Rev olution. SeeBer nard Bailyn, The Or deal of Thomas Hutch in son IX, 1974. One hopes that
the Redfearntesti mony, when com binedwithacareful reading of theother texts, will enableusto “embrace the whole
event, seeit from all sides.” /d. We might even see “the inescap ableboundariesof action; theblind nessof theactors-in
aword, the tragedy of the event.” Id.

The competing narratives of the insurance company and Redfearn showed the ways that Tulsans interpreted what
happened during theriot and thecon clusionsthey drew fromthoseevents. Cf. JudithL. Maute, Peevyhousev. Gar land
Coal and Mining Co. Revisited: The Ballad of Willie and Lucille, 89 NW. U. L. REV. 1341, 1995, (exploringindetail
the background to an infamous Oklahoma case). Redfearn shows the competing interpretations of the riot’s origins
evenwithinthe Greenwood commu nity it self and thecon strai ntsim posed uponthe OklahomaSu preme Court by desire
to limit the city’s liability. The testimony shows the diversity of opinionsin Tulsa and the ways that legal doctrine
shapes those opinions.

Those competinginter pretationscantell usagreat deal about larger Tulsaand Amer i cansoci ety, muchasstudiesof
medicine and law serve as mirrors for society more generally. See, e.g., Edward H. Bearddey, 4 History of Neglect:
Health Care for Blacks and Mill Workers in the Twentieth-Century South VI, 1987, Eben Moglen, The
Transformation of Morton Horwitz, 93 Column. L. Rev. 1042, 1993, (discussing modes of legal history and the
reflections on culture they provide).

8SeeR. Halliburton, “ The Tulsa Race War of 1921", 2 J. Black Studies, pp. 333-57, 1972. (citing story, " Nab Negro
for Attacking Girl in an Elevator”, Tulsa Tribune, May 31, 1921.

Plaintiff s Brief, supra note 6, at 44; 47 (testimony of Barney Cleaver); Brief of Defendant in Error, William
Redfearn, Plaintiffin Errorv. American Central Insurance Company, 243 P 929 (Okla. 1926), No. 15,851 [hereinafter
Defendant’ s Brief] at 74 (Testimony of Columbus F. Gabe).

ODefendant’ s Brief, supra note 9, at 101 (Testimony of O.W. Gurley).
Upjaintiff s Brief, supra note 6, at 30 (Testimony of O.W. Gurley).

Y1pid.
Bipid., at 48-49.

1A somewnhat different, more detailed version of the confrontation appears in Ronald L. Trekell, History of the
Tulsa Police Department, 1882-1990, 1989.

Plaintiff’s Brief, supra note 6, at 48.

"51bid., at 44.

YCharles F. Barrett, Oklahoma After Fifty Years: A History of the Sooner State and Its People, 1889- 1939, 1941.
Bpjaintiff’s Brief, supra note 6, at 40.

Ylbid., at 44.

Defendant’ s Brief, supra note 9, at 106.

21221 Pacific Reporter, at 931.

2Pyaintiff s Brief, supra note 6, at 67.

Zpgtition in Robinson v. Evans, et al, Tulsa County District Court, No. 23,399, May 31, 1923.
“Ibid.

e, e.g., Walter F. White, “The Eruption of Tulsa’, 112 Nation, June 29, 1921.

%See, e.g., Plaintiff s Brief, supra note 6, at 61. It isimportant to note that one early criticism was that the sheriff
failed to deputize of fi cerstoquell fearsof alynching. See” TulsainRemorse,” New York Times, June 3, 1921. General
Barrett “declared the Sheriff could have [pacified the armed men] if he had used power to deputize assistants. The
General said the presence of six uniformed policemen or ahalf dozen Deputy Sheriffs at the county building Tuesday
night, when whites bent on taking from jail Dick Rowland . . . clashed with Negroes intent on protecting Rowland,
would have prevented the riot.”. See also “Tulsa Officials ‘Simply Laid Down’,” Sapulpa Herald, June 2, 1921.
Reporting General Barren’s belief that officials could have prevented riot by dispersing both blacks and whites.

ZPaintiff’s Brief, supra note 6, at 62.

2Ibid., (emphasisin original). While the Oklahoma Supreme Court referred to the some of the special deputies as
sheriff’ s deputies and some evidence mentions sheriffs deputies, it appears that the police were the only officials who
commissioned special deputies. | wouldliketothank Robert Norrisand Rik Espinosafor clar fy ingthispointwithme.

“Defendant’ s Brief, supra note 2, at 207 (emphasis added).
OCharles F. Barrett, Oklahoma After Fifty Years, 1941.

170



31Te£timony of Laurel Buck 30, Attorney General’s Civil Case Files, RG 1-2, A-G Case No. 1062, Box 25
(Oklahoma State Archives).

®Testimony of Laurel Buck, supra note L1, at 32. See also “Witness Says Cop Urged Him to Kill Black”, Tulsa
Tribune, duly 15,1921; “InstructionisDenied by Court”, Tulsa Worid,July 16,1921, (summarizing Buck’ stesti mony).

BTedti mony of John A. Oliphant, a 2, Attorney Genera’s Civil Case Files, RG 1-2, A-G Case No. 1062, Box 25
(Oklahoma State Archives).

*Ibid., at 6.
BIbid., at 7.
F1pid., at 8.

¥See “Wesapons Must be Returned,” Tulsa World, June 4, 1921, (asking for return of weapons and threatening
prosecution if weapons are not returned).

BFrank Van Voorhis, “ Detailed Report of Negro Uprising for Service Company, 3rd Infantry Oklahoma National
Guard,” July 30, 1921.

®John W. McCuen, Duty Performed by Company 3rd Infantry OklahomaNational Guardat NegroUprisingMay
31, 1921" (undated) Oklahoma State Archives.

Seet Rooney Ex plainsGuard Oper ation,” Tulsa World, June4,1921; L .J. F. Rooney and CharlesW. Daley to Adj.
Gen. Bart lett, June 3, 1921 (Oklahoma State Ar chives) “1 asked Major Dal ey where[the machinegun) had come from
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Notes on Contributors

Dr. John Hope Franklin, a native of Rentiesville, is the James B. Duke Professor of History Emeritus at Duke
University. A member of the OklahomaHall of Fame, heis the author of numerous books, including From Slavery to
Freedom, now in its eighth edition. His father, the well-known Tulsa attorney B. C. Franklin, survived the riot.

Dr. Scott Ellsworth was born and raised in Tulsa. The author of Death in a Promised Land: The Tulsa Race Riot of
1921, he formerly served as a historian at the National Museum of American History, Smithsonian Institution.

Dr. Robert L. Brooks is the Director and State Archaeologist of the Oklahoma Archeological Survey. He is
responsible for the management and protection of Oklahoma’s heritage resources, including unmarked graves and
burial sites.

Alfred L. Brophy isaprofessor of law at OklahomaCity Uni ver sity. A special istinproperty law, heis president of
the board of directors of Oklahoma Indian Legal Services.

Dr. Danney Goble, anative Oklahoman, attained hisPh.D. at the University of Missouri. He has authored numerous
books of regional history and the American South. He now is on the faculty at the University of Oklahoma.

Larry O’ Déell is a historian with the Oklahoma Historical Society. Raised in Newcastle, he currently serves as a
research associate for the Encyclopedia of Oklahoma History and Culture project.

Dr. Lesley Rankin-Hill is an associate professor of anthropol ogy at theUni ver sity of Oklahoma. A specialist in the
study of burial remains and historic cemeteries, sheisthe author of A Biohistory of 19" Century Afro-Americans.

Dr. Clyde Snow, of Norman,isaninternationallyrecognizedforensicanthropol ogist. Anex pertintheidentifi cation
of human skeletal remains, he currently serves as a consultant to the Oklahoma State Medical Examiner.

Phoebe Stubblefield is a Ph.D. candidate in anthropology at the University of Florida. A specialist in forensic
anthropology, she is also the grandniece of survivors of theTulsarace riot.

Richard S. Warner, a lifelong Tulsan, is a member of the board of directors of the Tulsa Historical Society. A
well-known author ity onthehistory of Tulsa, hehascontrib utedtothe Chroni clesof Oklahomaand other professional
publications.

Dr. Alan H. Witten isthe Schultz Professor of Geo physicsat theUni ver sity of Oklahoma. Anex pertin near-surface
remote sensing, he has coordinated scientific research for archaeological investigations both in the United States and
oversess.
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Epilogue

By State Senator Maxine Horner

Thereisanintergenerationa effect from the

1921 Tulsa race riot that is the unconscious
transmittal of an ex peri encethatismost myste
rious and intriguing. In response to an incident
like the riot which in effect, was potentialy an
act of ethnic cleansing, the message was clear:
“We abhor you people and wish you were not
here and in fact, are willing to make that hap-
pen.”
There are characteristicsof people who have
been through a shared experience such as the
Great Depression or in thiscase, the“riot” that
emerged haunted as aresult of that experience.
The way they relate to their children and
grandchildren and the world around them is
not how they may have related had it not been
for that experience.

If a people have been terrorized to the de-
gree that North Tulsa survivors and
descendents were, it could be expected that
they would not make themselves noticed or be
noticed by the group that terrorized them in the
first place. Alternative ways of relating and re-
sponding may have to be developed or adapta-
tions made by both groups for good or ill will.
It isthat perspective that allowed the horror of
the riot in the first place. Since statehood and
beyond, Oklahoma has taken its black citizens
through intimidation, stereotypical condition-
ing, segregation, and legal andsocial engi neer-
ing. Some of those conventions were even
transmitted by representatives of the African
American communitysuggesting that they cast
down their buckets where they were — to con-
form as second-class citizens.

Speaking in Boley, Oklahoma during a con-
vention of the National Negro Business
League, famed educator Booker T. Washing-
ton, told the gathering not to worry about being
segregated. He recommended that instead,
they build up the section, which had been as-
signed to them, and they would make friends
and be respected by the whites. Washington
searched for an accommodation with whites,
and acomfort zone for blacks being held back

and terrorized through segregation and racism.
He urged blacks “to pull themselves up by the
bootstraps.” In Tulsa they did. Staying in their
place did not appease whites or inspire the
friendship forecasted by Washington.

After the epitaph for the black boulevard was
written in flames, the aftermath led more toward
aconspiracytofurtherdehumanizethesuf fering
population than to demonstrate a justice toward
its fellow citizens. That city government offi-
cials and real estate interests attempted to force
blacks off their land and devel op the proprieties
as an industrial area is a matter of record.
Churches, schools, homes and business enter-
prises were destroyed. Men, women and babies
were carried away dead, to unknown places, as
funeralswere banned for not too mysterious rea-
sons. The National Guard issued Field Order 4
on June 2, that all able bodied Negro men were
“required to render such service and perform
such labor as required by the military commis-
sion.” In my view that isinvoluntary servitude,
davery by Marshal Law. Why did the National
Guard not clear theareaof all persons, black and
white? Why were 6,000 African American citi-
zens placed in concentration camps and walked
through the streets asadefeated enemy - when it
was in fact, ariot by whites? It was the black
community under attack by terrorists. With esti-
mates of from 150 to 300 dead, it was at best
shameful, at worse, a massacre.

Thisreport does not answer al my questions,
nor did | anticipateit would. It doesdraw aclear
picture of the racial climate at the time, and of -
fersreasonable men and women, if they choose,
adequate information to draw some conclusion.
On June 1, 1921, Lady Justice was blind. In-
deed, her eyes were gouged out. As significant,
accumul ation of wealth was halted and the com-
munity was |eft to begin again only with itsown
meager resources. What is owed this commu-
nity 80 years later is a repairing — education
and economic incentives and something more
thansymbolicgesturesor anof fi cial report asan
apology extended to the survivors. The climate
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wasreal and of fi cial. Thewordsof Mayor T.D.
Evans spoken during the June 14, 1921 meet-
ing of the Tulsa City Commission are brought
to our attention once again:
[T]hisuprisingwasinevitable. If that betrueand
this judgment had come upon us, then | say it was
good generalship to let the destruction cometo that
section where the trouble was hatched up, put in
motion and whereit had itsinception. All regret the
wrongs that fell upon the innocent Negroes and
they should receive such help aswe can give them.
It...is true of any warfare that the fortunes of war
fall upon the innocent along with the guilty. This is
true on any conflict, invasion, or uprising...
Letusimmedi ately gettotheout sidethefact
that everything is quiet in our city, that this

menace has been fully conquered, and that we
are going on in anormal condition.

The mayor had hisway. The conspiracy of Si-
lence was launched. We can be proud of our
state for reexamining this blot on our state and
our conscience, and for daring to place the light
from this report on those dark days. This has
been an epic journey. It can be an epic begin-
ning. There are chapters left to write. To face,
not hide again, the shame from this evil. Some
remedial action is suggested in this report and
othersarepreparedfor statuein SenateBills751
and 788 and House Bills 1178 and 1901 and
House Joint Resolutions 1028 and 1029. The
Oklahoma legidature is now the caretaker of
this past and may disperse to the future forgiv-
ing, fair, kind, deserved and decent justice.
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Tulsa Oklahoma

The African American section of Tulsa contained 191 businesses prior to the
Race Riot of 1921, which included 15 doctors, a chiropractor, 2 dentists, and 3
lawyers. The residents also had access to a library, 2 schools, a hospital, and a
Tulsa Public Health Service. The Polk City Directory listed 159 businesses in
1920 and after the riot, in 1922, there were 120 businesses in the directory. In the
City Directory in 1921 there were 1,149 residences and most of them were
occupied by more than one person--or even one family; the 1920 directory
reported 1,126 residences. After the riot, the 1922 directory listed 1,134

residences.

The Red Cross reported that 1,256 houses were burned, 215 houses were looted
but not burned, and the total number of buildings not burned but looted and robbed
were 314. The Tulsa Real Estate Exchange estimated $1.5 million worth of
damages and one-third of that in the Black business district. The Exchange
claimed personal property loss at $750,000. Between June 14, 1921, and June 6,
1922, $1.8 million of claims were filed against the city of Tulsa and disallowed.
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The Tulsa Race Riot--Map Legend

- Whites; white mob or crowd MG Machine gun
- - in hands of Tulsa National Guard
» Advancing or attacking whites MG Machine gun
- - in hands of white rioters
White defensive or offensive lines State troops:

out of town National Guard units

- Blacks; black crowd
= = = = =  Tulsa Police department officers
» Retreating or advancing blacks .
= % = = % Tulsa County Sheriff's Department
Black defensive line Buildings or homes on fire

Black neighborhoods m City blocks which have been burnes

» Tulsa units of the National Guard
/5&1

Airplanes (all flown by whites)

NVVAAN Tulsa National Guard -- skirmish line
m “Battle” or gunfight
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The Seeds of Catastrophe
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¢ We may never really know what actually happened in the elevator of
the Drexel Building on Monday morning, May 30, 1921. A clerk in a
nearby store thought there had been a sexual assault. Others believed that
there had been a lover’s quarrel between Sarah Page, the white seventeen-
year-old elevator operator, and Dick Rowland, a black nineteen-year-old
who worked in a shoe shine parlor one block away. But the most likely
explanation is that when Rowland entered the elevator that day, he tripped
and accidentally stepped on Page's foot. And when she screamed, he fled.

‘Kenosha

¢ The Tulsa Tribune decided otherwise. The next day, the afternoon
newspaper ran an inflammatory front-page article claiming that Rowland
had attempted to rape Page. More ominously, in a now lost editorial, the
paper may have claimed that Rowland, who was now in police custody,
would be lynched by whites that evening. The May 31, 1921 edition of
the Tulsa Tribune rolled off the presses by three o'clock. Within an hour,
there was -- once again --lynch talk on the streets of Tulsa.

As predicted, whites began to gather outside of the Tulsa County
Courthouse, where Dick Rowland was being held, before sunset. The
crowd soon grew into the hundreds. At 8:20 p.m., three white men entered
the courthouse and demanded that the authorities hand over Rowland, but
they were turned away.

¢ Meanwhile, along Greenwood Avenue, in the heart of the African
American commercial district, word of the impending lynching spread
like wildfire. Cries of "We can't let this happen here" were heard as black
men and women anxiously discussed how to respond to the oncoming
calamity. At nine o'clock, a group of twenty-five armed black men
traveled by automobile to the courthouse. There, they offered their
assistance to the authorities should the white mob attack the Courthouse.
Assured that Dick Rowland was safe, they returned to Greenwood.

4 The arrival of the black men at the courthouse electrified the white
mob, now more than a thousand strong. Whites without guns went home
to retrieve them. One group of whites tried to break into the National
Guard Armory, in order to gain access to the weapons stored inside. But a
small contingent of armed National Guardsmen, threatening to open fire,
turned the angry whites away.

By 9:30 p.m. Tulsa was a city that was quickly spinning out of control.
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The Riot Erupts Tulsa, Oklahoma

May 31, 1921
10:30 p.m.

By half past nine o’clock on Tuesday evening, the white mob outside the County
Courthouse had swollen to nearly two-thousand persons. They blocked the sidewalks and
the streets, and spilled over onto the front yards of nearby residences. There were women
First as well as men, children as well as adults. And with each passing minute, there were
Methodist Mayo more and more guns.

Church Building

Petroleum
Building

Willard M. McCullough, Tulsa County’s new sheriff, tried to talk the would-be

lynchers into going home, but the mob hooted him down. McCullough had, however,
F ift h Stre et organized his handful of deputies into a defensive ring around Dick Rowland, who was

being held in the jail on the top floor of the Courthouse. The Sheriff positioned six men,
armed with rifles and shotguns, on the roof of the building. He also disabled the elevator,
and ordered his men at the top of the stairs to shoot any intruders on sight.

Temple Sinclair
Apartments Building

®  Tulsa police Chief John A. Gustafson later claimed that he too, tried to talk the lynch
mob into going home. But, at no time on the afternoon or evening of May 31st did he
order a substantial number of his sixty-four man police force to appear, fully armed, in
front of the Courthouse. Indeed, by 10 p.m., when the drama at the Courthouse was
nearing its climax, Gustafson was no longer at the scene, but had returned to his office at
Police Headquarters.

County *
Courthouse

In the city’s African American neighborhoods, meanwhile, tensions continued to
mount over the deteriorating situation at the Courthouse. Outside of the offices of the
Tulsa Star ,the city’s leading black newspaper, a large group of men and women had
gathered, debating what to do, and waiting on word of the latest developments downtown.
Smaller groups of armed black men also began making brief forays downtown by car, both

S ixt h St reet to try and determine what was happening at the Courthouse, as well as to demonstrate their

determination to whites that Dick Rowland would not be lynched.

¢ Alittle after 10 p.m.,when a rumor began to circulate that the white mob was
storming the Courthouse, a second contingent of armed African American men, perhaps
seventy-five in number, set out for downtown by automobile. Near Sixth and Main, the
men got out of their cars and marched, single file to the Courthouse. As before, they
offered their services to the authorities to help protect Dick Rowland. Once again, their
offer was refused.

®  And then it happened. As the black men were leaving, a white man attempted to
forcibly disarm a tall, African American World War I veteran. A struggle ensued, and a
shot rang out.

Boulder
MAIN

America’s worst race riot had begun.
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Although the first shot fired at the courthouse was perhaps unintentional, those that
followed were not. Almost immediately, members of the white mob--and possibly some
law enforcement officers--opened fire on this second contingent of African American
men, who returned volleys of their own. The initial gunplay lasted only a few seconds,
but when it was over, more than twenty people, both blacks and whites, lay dead or
wounded.

¢ Outnumbered more than twenty-to-one, the black men quickly began retreating
toward the African American district. With armed whites in close pursuit, heavy gunfire
erupted along Fourth Street. A second--and deadlier--skirmish broke out at Second and
Cincinnati, before the black men, their numbers seriously reduced, were able to head
north across the Frisco tracks. No longer directly involved with the fate of Dick
Rowland, the men were now fighting for their own lives.

Meanwhile at the courthouse, the sudden and unexpected turn of events had an
electrifying effect, as groups of angry, vengeance-seeking whites took to the streets and
sidewalks of downtown. At police headquarters on Second Street, nearly five-hundred
white men and boys--many of whom, only minutes earlier, had been members of the
lynch mob--were sworn-in as “Special Deputies.” According to Laurel G. Buck, a white
bricklayer who was sworn-in, the police instructed the new recruits to “Get a gun, and
get a nigger.”

¢ Shortly thereafter, whites began breaking into downtown pawnshops and hardware
stores, stealing guns and ammunition. Dick Bardon’s sporting goods store, at First and
Main, was especially hard hit, as was J. W. Megee’s shop, located across the street from
police headquarters. Eyewitnesses later testified that uniformed Tulsa policemen took
part in some of the break-ins, handing out guns to whites.

¢ More bloodshed soon followed, as whites began gunning down any blacks who
happened to be downtown. An unarmed African American man was chased down the
alley which ran between Boulder and Main. Near Fourth Street, he ducked into the rear
entrance of the Royal Theater, but whites caught up with him inside, where they
murdered him on stage. Not far away, a white man in an automobile was killed by a
group of whites, who had mistook him to be black.

Around midnight, a small crowd of whites gathered--once again--in front of the
courthouse, yelling “Bring the rope!” And “get the nigger!,” But they did not rush the
building. By then, most of Tulsa’s rioting whites no longer particularly cared about
Dick Rowland anymore. They now had much bigger things in mind.
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Night Fighting
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Tulsa, Oklahoma

May 31 to June 1, 1921
11:00 p.m. to 5:00 a.m.

While darkness slowed the pace of the riot, sporadic fighting took place throughout the night of
May 31 and June 1.

¢ The heaviest occurred along the Frisco tracks. From midnight until 1:30 a.m., scores--perhaps
hundreds--of whites and blacks exchanged gunfire across the tracks. At one point during the fighting,
an inbound train arrived, its passengers forced to take cover on the floor.

¢ A few carloads of whites also made “drive-by” shootings in black neighborhoods, firing
indiscriminately into African American residences. There were also more deliberate murders. When
a group of white rioters broke into one home, they found an elderly black couple inside. As the man
and woman knelt in prayer, the whites shot them both in the back of the head.

¢ By 1:00 a.m., whites also had set the first fires in black neighborhoods. African American
homes and businesses along Archer were the first targets, and when a crew from the Tulsa Fire
Department prepared to douse the flames, rioters waved them off at gunpoint. By 4:00 a.m., more
than two dozen homes and businesses, including the Midway Hotel, had been torched.

¢ The pre-dawn hours of June 1 also witnessed the first organized actions by Tulsa’s National
Guard units. While perhaps as many as fifty guardsmen had gathered at the armory by 11:00 p.m., it
was not until after midnight that the local commander received official authorization to call out his
men to assist the civil authorities.

¢ Initially, the local guardsmen--all of whom were white--were deployed downtown. One
detachment blocked off Second Street in front of police headquarters, while others led groups of
armed whites on “patrols” of the business district. Police officials also presented the guardsmen with
a machine gun, which guard officers had mounted on the back of a truck. This particular gun, as it
turned out, was in poor condition, and could only be fired one shot at a time.

¢ Taking the machine gun with them, about thirty guardsmen positioned themselves along Detroit
Avenue between Brady Street and Standpipe Hill. There, they set up a “skirmish line” facing the
African American district. They also began rounding up black civilians, whom they handed over--as
prisoners--to the police. Guardsmen also briefly exchanged gunfire with gunmen to the east.

¢ About 2:30 a.m., word spread that a trainload of armed blacks, from nearby towns, would be
arriving at the Midland Valley railroad station. Guardsmen were rushed to the depot, but the rumor
proved false.

¢ Ahalf hour later, reports reached guard officers that white residences on Sunset Hill were being
fired upon, resulting in the death of a white woman. Guardsmen, with the machine gun, were then
deployed along the crest of Sunset Hill. They were still there when dawn brought an end to Tulsa’s
longest night--and ushered in its longest day.
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¢ In the city’s African American neighborhoods, word of what had
happened at the courthouse was followed by even more disturbing news. A
light-skinned black man, who could “pass” for white, had mingled with

‘ S some white rioters downtown. There, he overheard talk of attacking black
,NJMENCE L neighborhoods. Returning home, he told what he had heard to Seymour
Williams, a teacher at Booker T. Washington High School, who began
spreading the word among his neighbors on Standpipe Hill.
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to Second and Lewis, where another group was meeting. There, perhaps
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¢® At 2:15 am., Kirkpatrick spoke again with Adjutant General Barrett,
who informed him that the governor had authorized the calling out of the
state troops. A special train, carrying one-hundred National Guard soldiers,
would leave Oklahoma City, bound for Tulsa, at 5 a.m..
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The Invasion of Black Tulsa
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June 1 1971
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Any hope that daybreak would bring an end to the violence was soon laid to rest.
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¢ During the final pre-dawn hours of June 1, thousands of armed whites had gathered along the fringes
= of downtown. They were divided into three main groups. One crowd assembled behind the Frisco freight
W depot, while another waited nearby at the Frisco and Santa Fe passenger station. A third crowd had

assembled at the Katy passenger depot. All told, the white rioters may have numbered as many as 10,000.
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¢ Smaller bands of whites had also been active. One such group hauled a machine gun to the top floor
of the Middle States Milling Company grain elevator off First Street, setting up the gun to fire north along
Greenwood Avenue.
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J REPENBERGE ¢ Shortly before daybreak; five white men in a green Franklin automobile approached the whites who

‘ were massed behind the Frisco freight depot. “What the hell are you waitin’ on?,”> one of the men hollered,
“Let’s go get ‘em.” But the crowd would not budge, and the men in the car set off alone toward Deep
HASKELL PL. Greenwood. Their bodies, and the bullet-ridden Franklin, were later seen in the middle of Archer, near
Frankfort.
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¢ Several eyewitnesses later recalled that when dawn came; at 5:08 a.m., an unusual whistle or siren was
sounded, perhaps as a signal for the invasion to begin. In any event, the white mobs soon made their move.
EASTON While the machine gun in the granary opened fire, the white rioters poured across the Frisco tracks. Up at
the Katy depot, the stream of whites on foot was soon joined by dozens of others in cars, heading east on
Brady and Cameron.

ARCHER
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% ¢ While African Americans fought hard to protect the black commercial district, the sheer numerical
advantage of the whites soon proved overwhelming. John Williams, an entrepreneur who resided in the
family-owned Williams Building at Greenwood and Archer, held off the white invaders with both a rifle
and a shotgun before he fled north, along the Midland Valley tracks. Mary E. Jones Parrish, who later
wrote the first book about the riot; also fled. Dodging bullets, she and her young daughter ran north up
Greenwood Avenue toward the section line at Pine Street.

¢ Soon, however, other perils appeared. As whites poured into the southern end of the African American
district, as many as six airplanes, manned by whites, appeared overhead, firing on black refugees and, in
some cases, dropping explosives.

1st ST.
¢ QGunfire also erupted along the western edge of the black community. Particularly fierce fighting
broke out along Standpipe Hill, where 40 to 50 National Guard soldiers traded fire with African American
~__||2nd sT, riflemen; who had set up defensive lines off of Elgin and Elgin Place. On Sunset Hill, the white guardsmen

2 opened fire on black neighborhoods to the east, using both their standard issue 30-caliber 1906 Springfield

(e N rifles, as well as the semi-defective machine gun given them by the Tulsa Police Department.
3rd ST. l\
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Tulsa, Oklahoma

June 1, 1921
5:30 a.m. to 8:30 a.m.

¢ As the wave of white rioters descended upon black Tulsa, a deadly pattern soon took shape.

¢ First, the armed whites broke into African American homes and businesses, forcing the
occupants into the street, where, at gunpoint, they were marched off to Convention Hall. Anyone
who resisted was shot, as were, it appears, men in homes where firearms were discovered.

¢ Next, the whites looted the homes, pocketing small valuables, and hauling away larger items
on foot.

¢ Finally, the rioters set the homes on fire, using torches and oil soaked rags. House by house,
block by block, the wall of destruction moved northward.

¢ Some of the fires, it seems, were set by whites in uniform. Eyewitnesses later reported that
white men clad in World War I army uniforms—probably members of the ‘Home Guard,’ a loosely
organized group of white veterans— were observed setting fires in Deep Greenwood. Others
claimed that some Tulsa police officers set fire to black businesses along Archer.

¢ African Americans fought back. Black riflemen positioned themselves in the belfry of the
newly completed Mount Zion Baptist Church, whose commanding view of the area below
Standpipe Hill allowed them to temporarily stem the tide of the white invasion. But when whites
set-up a machine gun—perhaps the same weapon that was used at the granary—and riddled the
church tower with its devastating fire, the black defenders were overwhelmed. Mount Zion was
later torched.

¢ Black attempts to defend their homes and businesses were undercut by the actions of both the
Tulsa police and the local National Guard units, who, rather than disarming and arresting the white
rioters, instead began imprisoning black citizens. Guardsmen on Standpipe Hill made at least one
eastward march early on the morning of June 1, rounding up African American civilians, before
being fired upon off Greenwood Avenue. The guardsmen then returned to Sunset Hill, where they
turned over the imprisoned black Tulsans to police officers.

¢ White civilians also took black prisoners, sometimes with murderous results. At about 8:00
a.m., Dr. A.C. Jackson, a nationally renowned African American surgeon, surrendered to a group of
young white males at his home at 523 N. Detroit. “Here I am, I want to go with you,” he said,
holding his hands above his head. But before he stepped off his front lawn, two of the men opened
fire, killing him.

¢ Others went less quietly. A deadly firefight erupted at the site of an old clay pit off of
Standpipe Hill, where several black defenders went to their deaths fighting. Stories have also been
handed down over the years about Peg Leg Taylor, who is said to have singlehandedly fought off
more than a dozen white invaders. And along the northern edge of Sunset Hill, the white
guardsmen briefly found themselves under attack. Black Tulsa was not going without a fight.
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8:00 a.m. to 9:00 a.m

¢ Despite a valiant effort, black Tulsans were simply outgunned and outnumbered.
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¢ The fighting, meanwhile, continued--though now with a startling new development. After
the firefight with African Americans gunmen to the north, the National Guard troops on Sunset
Hill then joined in the invasion of black Tulsa, one detachment heading north, the other to the

northeast.
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N ¢ Initially, the guardsmen met with little armed resistance. About halfway across the district,
Sl however, they exchanged fire with black defenders in houses. A second skirmish broke out near
TS the section line, where guardsmen joined with white rioters in assaulting a group of African

TS Americans who were holed up in a concrete store.
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¢ As black Tulsans fled the city, new dangers sometimes appeared. Stories have persisted for
years that in some of the small towns outside Tulsa, local whites assaulted black refugees.
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¢ Not all whites shared the racial hatred of the rioters. Mary Korte, a maid for a wealthy Tulsa
) KING ST. family, hid African refugees at her family’s farm east of the city, while on the Sand Springs
_ VAV, highway, one white man opened his home to a terrified group of black strangers fleeing Tulsa.

A S Wwhen a recent immigrant from Mexico saw an airplane flown by white gunmen bearing down
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SR | [ on two lost African American boys walking along North Peoria Avenue, the woman ran out into

the street and scooped the children up into her arms, saving their lives.
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¢ As the battle for black Tulsa raged northward, it soon became evident--even in
neighborhoods far from the fighting--that on June 1, there would be no business as usual. One
white assistant grocer arrived at work that morning only to find the owner locking up the store. It
was ‘Nigger Day,’ the boss declared, heading off with a rifle in hand.
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EASTON ¢ Downtown, at the all-white Central High School, several white students bolted from class
] when gunfire was heard nearby. Running north, toward black Tulsa, an elderly white man--
T headed in the opposite direction--handed one of the boys his gun, saying that he was finished
- shooting for the day.

ARCHER

MAD|SON
NORFOLK

y"! — ¢ And along the city’s southern edge, in the well-to-do neighborhood off of 21st Street,
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_ ¢ Even miles away out in the country, people knew that something was happening in Tulsa.
L= ADMIRAL — Ever since daybreak, huge columns of dark smoke had been rising up, hundreds of feet in the air,
= above Tulsa.
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The smoke was still there, four hours later, when the state troops finally arrived in town.
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Arrival of the State Troops  Tulsa, Oklahoma
June 1, 1921

O:15a.m.to 11:30 a.m.
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HASKE The special train from Oklahoma City carrying Adjutant General Charles F. Barrett and
the 109 soldiers under his command pulled into the bullet-scarred Frisco passenger station at
9:15 a.m. The soldiers, who arrived armed and in uniform, were all members of an
Oklahoma City-based National Guard unit. But in Tulsa they came to be known, by both

blacks and whites, as simply the “State Troops.” All of them were white.
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By the time the State Troops arrived in town, Tulsa’s devastating racial conflagration
was already ten and one-half hours old. Much, if not most, of the African American
P community had been put to the torch. Scores and scores of blacks and whites had already
e been killed, while the city’s four remaining hospitals--Frisssell Memorial Hospital, which

/' was black, had already been burned--were filled with the wounded.

RIS | ¢ While the majority of black Tulsans had either fled to the countryside, or were being
\ % , ; SN held against their will at one of a handful of internment centers, there were still pockets of
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% district. Perhaps one-third of black Tulsa’s homes and businesses were standing.
Z
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B The State Troops did not, however, immediately proceed to where the fighting was still
Z ' ';.:::.::‘.; o . in progress. Led by Adjutant General Barrett, one detachment marched to the Tulsa County
o W R\ 1st ST. Courthouse, where an unsuccessful attempt was made to contact Sheriff McCullough.
) Sz Others began taking over custody of imprisoned African Americans--largely domestic
= workers who lived in quarters on the Southside---from armed white vigilantes. One account
2nd ST of the race riot also claims that the State Troops also broke ranks and ate breakfast.
% They certainly had the time. After the failed visit to the courthouse, Adjutant General
3rd ST. l\ - Barrett then went to City Hall, where after conferring with city officials, he contacted
! Governor J. B. A. Robertson and asked that he be given authority to proclaim martial law.
4th ST. TS

¢ Remarkably, while the State Troops were occupied downtown, some of the finest
African American homes in Tulsa had still escaped the torches of the rioters. Located along
5th ST. Detroit Avenue, near Easton, they included the homes of some of Tulsa’s most prominent
black citizens, among them those of Dr. R. T. Bridgewater, Tulsa Star editor A. J.
Smitherman, and Booker T. Washington High School principal Ellis W. Woods.

5th PL.

¢ For several hours that morning, John A. Oliphant, a retired white attroney who lived
nearby, had been telephoning police headquarters. Even though the homes had already been
looted, they had not yet been burned. Oliphant believed if a handful of officers could be sent
over, the homes could be spared. But, so far, he had not any luck.

¢ Oliphant’s hopes were raised when he observed the arrival of the State Troops, figuring
they would soon enter the neighborhood. Instead, Oliphant later testified, between 10:15
a.m. and 10:30 a.m. four Tulsa police officers finally arrived on the scene. Rather than

8th ST protecting the homes, the officers set them on fire.

By the time the State Troops finally marched up the hill, it was too late. The houses
were already gone.
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Tulsa, Oklahoma

June 1, 1921
11:30 a.m. to 8:00 p.m.

® By the time martial law was declared at 11:30 a.m. on June Ist, the race riot had nearly run its course.

Scattered bands of whites--some of whom had been awake for more than twenty-four hours--continued to loot
and burn African American homes, but many were simply going home. Along the northern and eastern edges of
black Tulsa, where houses were mixed with stretches of farmland, the white rioters had a difficult time
distinguishing African American homes from those of neighboring whites.

® A final skirmish occurred around 12:30 p-m., when remnants of the white mob converged upon a two-story

building near where the Santa Fe railroad tracks cut across the section line at Pine Street. For quite some time,
African American defenders inside the building had been able to hold off the invading whites, most of whom
had gathered along the railroad embankment to the east. But when a new group of whites--armed with high-
powered rifles--arrived, the blacks were overwhelmed. The building and a nearby store were then set on fire.

Following the martial law declaration, the State Troops finally began to head toward what remained of
Tulsa’s African American neighborhoods, disarming whites and sending them away from the district. While
black eyewitnesses later condemned both the Tulsa police and the local National Guard units for their actions
during the riot, they largely praised the State Troops.

®  Yet even with an end to the violence, for black Tulsans, a whole new set of ordeals had just begun.

Thousands had fled to the country, hiding in the woods, while hundreds more had gathered near Golden Gate
Park. Homeless, penniless, and often unsure of the fate of loved ones, those who began to venture back to town
soon found themselves placed under armed guard.

¢ Convention Hall having been filled to capacity, black Tulsans were also taken to the Fairgrounds and to
McNulty baseball park. A few blacks also found refuge at First Presbyterian Church, and other white churches
downtown. Crowds of whites often cheered as the imprisoned African Americans were led away.

®  White Tulsans as a whole, meanwhile, were sluggish in their response to martial law. While sporadic

looting continued along the edges of the African American community, crowds of whites continued their search
for African American maids and butlers--though not always with success. Several white families hid blacks
inside their homes.

Additional detachments of State Troops--namely, National Guard units from other Oklahoma towns--

arrived in Tulsa throughout the day, and with their help, the streets were finally cleared. All businesses were
ordered to close by 6:00 p.m., and one hour later, only members of the military or civil authorities--or
physicians and relief workers--were allowed on the streets. Adjutant General Barrett later claimed that by 8:00
p.m. order had been restored. Normalcy, however, was another matter.

® For some, it would never return. Upward of ten-thousand black Tulsans were without homes or businesses,

their lifetime possessions either consumed by fire or carried away by whites. New struggles--first to get free,
then to protect their land, and finally, to rebuild their community--loomed ahead.

¢ Perhaps as many as three-hundred Tulsans--some say more--both white and black, had been killed or lay

dying. Even before the sun set on June 1st, the gravediggers were at work. They would stay busy for days to
come.

®  There were a couple of other details. Sheriff McCullough quietly slipped out of town with Dick Rowland.
Sarah Page refused to prosecute, and Dick Rowland was exonerated.





